THE HIDDEN
HISTORIES OF WAR
CRIMES TRIALS

Edited by Kevin Jon Heller and Gerry Simpson

OXFORD



THE HIDDEN HISTORIES OF WAR
CRIMES TRIALS

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



The Hidden Histories of
War Crimes Trials

Edited by
KEVIN JON HELLER

and

GERRY SIMPSON

OXFORD

UNIVERSITY PRESS

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



OXFORD

UNIVERSITY PRESS

Great Clarendon Street, Oxford, OX2 6DP,
United Kingdom

Oxford University Press is a department of the University of Oxford.
It furthers the University’s objective of excellence in research, scholarship,
and education by publishing worldwide. Oxford is a registered trade mark of
Oxford University Press in the UK and in certain other countries

© The several contributors 2013
The moral rights of the authors have been asserted
First Edition published in 2013
Impression: 1

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in
a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without the
prior permission in writing of Oxford University Press, or as expressly permitted
by law, by licence or under terms agreed with the appropriate reprographics
rights organization. Enquiries concerning reproduction outside the scope of the
above should be sent to the Rights Department, Oxford University Press, at the
address above

You must not circulate this work in any other form
and you must impose this same condition on any acquirer

Crown copyright material is reproduced under Class License
Number C01P0000148 with the permission of OPSI
and the Queen’s Printer for Scotland

Published in the United States of America by Oxford University Press
198 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10016, United States of America
British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data
Data available
Library of Congress Control Number: 2013946680
ISBN 978-0-19-967114—4
Printed and bound in Great Britain by
CPI Group (UK) Ltd, Croydon, CRO 4YY
Links to third party websites are provided by Oxford in good faith and

for information only. Oxford disclaims any responsibility for the materials
contained in any third party website referenced in this work.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



for Deborah Cass (1960-2013)
and
for Bianca, Gretchen, Beatrice,
and Desdemona (you know who you are).

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



Acknowledgements

Editing a book seems so simple on paper. Phone your friends, ask them to come to a
conference and deliver a paper, cajole them into writing a chapter, place the chapters
in a sensible order, write an introduction and send it to the publishers. In the same
way that making a film involves more than pointing a camera at some people and
getting them to act out a script, so, t0o, a book like this relies on the talent of many,
many individuals. Cathy Hutton, conference-organizer extraordinaire, tolerated
our peccadilloes and glacial decision-making, and expertly administered a success-
ful conference in October 2010. With tactful reminders, she continued to harry
authors and editors after the conference. This book came into being thanks to her
efforts and thanks to the skill and good humour of Monique Cormier, the Research
Associate on the ARC War Crimes Project. Monique was a vital part of the untold
stories team. We thank her. The copy-editing task fell first to Jessye Freeman, who
also read the chapters for sense and sensibility, and then to Bianca Dillon, whose
meticulousness ensured that the chapters formed an actual book, not simply a
collection of disparate papers. Hidden Histories is a greatly improved volume thanks
to their work. A number of conference presenters are not included in this volume.
We acknowledge the contributions of Yuki Tanaka, Lia Kent, Suzannah Linton,
Yuma Totani, Tim McCormack, Chris Jenks, Paul Bartrop, Neville Sorab, Magda
Karagiannakis, Joanna Kyriakakis, Martine Hawkes, John Heard, and Hannibal
Travis to the conference. Jennifer Balint was our co-conspirator in organizing the
conference itself. She contributed hugely to the planning of and intellectual
inspiration behind both the conference and book. Funding and support for this
conference and book project was provided by the ARC and by the Asia-Pacific
Centre for Military Law. We are delighted to be publishing this book with our
friends at Oxford University Press—in particular, our all-too-patient and responsive
editors, John Louth and Merel Alstein. The coats featured in the photograph on
the cover of the book formed part of Marking the Stranger, an exhibition by Gerry’s
mother-in-law, the Melbourne artist, Shirley Cass.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



Contents

1able of Cases xiii

1able of Legislation xxi

List of Contributors xxvii

1. History of Histories 1
Gerry Simpson

1. PRE-HISTORIES: FROM VON HAGENBACH
TO THE ARMENIAN GENOCIDE

2. 'The Trial of Peter von Hagenbach: Reconciling History,
Historiography and International Criminal Law 13
Gregory S. Gordon

3. A Supranational Criminal Tribunal for the Colonial Era:
The Franco-Siamese Mixed Court 50
Benjamin E. Brockman-Hawe

4. The Ottoman State Special Military Tribunal for the Genocide
of the Armenians: ‘Doing Government Business’ 77
Jennifer Balint

2. EUROPEAN HISTORIES I: PROSECUTING ATROCITY

5. Justice for No-Land’s Men? The United States Military Trials against
Spanish Kapos in Mauthausen and Universal Jurisdiction 103
Rosa Ana Alija-Ferndndez

6. A Narrative of Justice and the (Re)Writing of History: Lessons

Learned from World War II French Trials 122
Dov Jacobs

7. The Bordeaux Trial: Prosecuting the Oradour-sur-Glane Massacre
Frédéric Mégrer 137

3. EUROPEAN HISTORIES II: AMERICANS IN EUROPE

8. Capitalism’s Victor’s Justice? The Hidden Stories Behind the
Prosecution of Industrialists Post-WW1II 163
Grietje Baars

9. Eisentrager's (Forgotten) Merits: Military Jurisdiction and
Collateral Habeas 193
Stephen I.Viadeck

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



X Contents

4. EUROPEAN HISTORIES III: CONTEMPORARY TRIALS

10. Making Peace with the Past: The Federal Republic of Germany’s
Accountability for World War II Massacres Before the Italian

Supreme Court: The Civitella Case 215
Benedetta Faedi Duramy

11. Trying Communism through International Criminal Law?
The Experiences of the Hungarian Historical Justice Trials 229
Tamds Hofffman

12. Competing Histories: Soviet War Crimes in the Baltic States 248

Rain Liivoja
13. Universal Jurisdiction: Conflict and Controversy in

Norway 267
Julia Selman-Ayetey

5. AFRICAN HISTORIES

14. Reading the Shadows of History: The Turkish and Ethiopian
‘Internationalized’ Domestic Crime Trials 289
Jackson Nyamuya Maogoro

15. Mass Trials and Modes of Criminal Responsibility for
International Crimes: The Case of Ethiopia 306
Firew Kebede Tiba

6. SOUTHERN HISTORIES

16. War Crimes Trials, “Victor’s Justice’ and Australian Military
Justice in the Aftermath of the Second World War 327
Georgina Fitzpatrick

17. Justice for ‘Asian’ Victims: The Australian War Crimes
Trials of the Japanese, 1945-51 348
Narrelle Morris

18. Dirty War Crimes: Jurisdictions of Memory and
International Criminal Law 367
Peter D. Rush

7. HISTORIES OF A TYPE: EXCAVATING
THE CRIME OF AGGRESSION

19. The Crime of Aggression: From the Trial of Takashi Sakai,
August 1946, to the Kampala Review Conference on the
ICCin 2010 387
Roger S. Clark

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



Contents xi

20. ‘Germans are the Lords and Poles are the Servants’:
The Trial of Arthur Greiser in Poland, 1946 411
Mark A. Drumbl

21. The Finnish War-Responsibility Trial in 1945-6:

The Limits of Ad Hoc Criminal Justice? 430
Immi Tallgren

Index 455

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



1able of Cases

Argentina (El Jucio a las Juntas)

Etchecolatz (Causa 2251/06). . .. oottt e e e e 371
Juicio a Christian Federico Von Wernich, Causa 2506/07, Tribunal Oral
en lo Criminal Federal No.1 de La Plata, November 2007 .. ........................ 371
Videla case of 22 December 2010. . . . ..ottt 369, 374
Australia
Frost v Stevenson (1937) S8 CLR 528 . . . .ottt e e e e 358
Hong Kong HK1 trial NAA Canberra A471, 81645 .. ... ... i, 358
Morotai M8 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80769, .. .. oo\t 353
Morotai M9 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80718, .. vt e e i 353
Rabaul RG6 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80744 . .. . oo oo e e 357
Rabaul R9 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80742 . . .. oot e 364
Rabaul R10 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80740 . . ... .o e 364
Rabaul R13 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80737 . . oo i e e 363
Rabaul R 20 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80729 . ..ot et 363
Rabaul R21 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80730 . .. ..o vt 363, 364
Rabaul R23 trial NAA Canberra A471, 80725 . . oot i e e 363
Rabaul R29 trial NAA Canberra A471, 807306 . . . oo ottt et e 363
Rabaul R71 trial NAA Canberra A471,80984 . .. . ..ot 363
Rabaul R8I trial NAA Canberra A471, 80987 . . oot i i e 363
Rabaul R114 trial NAA Canberra A471, 81020 . .. ..ottt e e e 363
Rabaul R117 trial NAA Canberra A471, 81023 . . .. oottt 363
Rabaul R130 trial NAA Canberra A471 81057 .. oot e 363
Rabaul R180 trial NAA Canberra A471, 81208 . .. .o\ttt 357
Re Thompson; Ex parte Nulyarimma (1998) 136 ACTR 9. ..... ... ... ... it 78
Trial of Captain Hoshijima Susumu NAA Canberra A471, 80777 .................... 334, 344
Trial of Captain Kawasaki Matsuhei NAA Canberra A471, 81067 ........................ 339
Trial of Captain Shirozu Wadami et al. NAA Canberra A471,81709 .................. 334, 335
Trial of Civilian Fukushima Masao NAA Canberra, A471, 81218 . ... ... ... ... ........ 341
Trial of Civilian Hayashi Yoshinori et al. NAA Canberra A471, 80779 ..................... 334
Trial of General Baba NAA Canberra A471, 81631 . ... ... .. ... ... 341
Trial of Guard Hirota et al. NAA Canberra, A471,81204. . .. ... ... 342
Trial of Korean Guard Hayashi Eishun NAA Canberra A471,81695....................... 340
Trial of Lieutenant General Adachi Hatazo NAA Canberra A 471, 81652 ................... 334
Trial of Lieutenant Tazaki Takehiro NAA Canberra, A471,80713. .. ... ... ... ... ... 341
Trial of Major General Hirota NAA Canberra A471, 81653 .. ....... ... ... ... oo, 340
Trial of Naval Captain Noto Kiyohisa NAA Canberra A471,81210. . ...................... 339
Trial of Private Fukushima Masao NAA Canberra, A471,81060 ......................... 341
Trial of Sergeant Major Sugino NAA Canberra, A471, 80716 . ....... ... ... ... ........ 342
Trial of Sergeant Matsushima et al. NAA Canberra A471,80915.......................... 340
Trial of Sergeant Miura et al. NAA Canberra, A471, 81214 . ......... ... ... ... .. ... ... 342
Trial of Staff Sergeant Matsutaka et al. NAA Canberra A471, 80754 .. ..................... 335
Trial of Staff Sergeant Sugino Tsuruo NAA Canberra A471,80716 ........................ 334

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



xiv Table of Cases

British Military Court, Hamburg

Prosecutor v Bruno Tesch (Trial) (1946) 1 War Crimes Law Reports 93, 103

(British Military Court, Hamburg). . ...... ... ... . . 114
Prosecutor v Johan Schwarzhiiber (Trial) (Military Court held at No. 1 War

Crimes Court, Curiohaus, Rothenbaumhaussee, Hamburg, 5 December 1946-3

February 1947) ... o 114
Prosecutor v Otto Sandrock (Trial) 1945, 1 War Crimes Law Reports 35, 42

(British Military Court for the Trial of War Criminals, Court House,

Almelo, Holland) . . .. ..o i 114
Trial of Oberleutenant Gerhard Grumpelt (1946) 1LRTWC 55 ... nn. 199
Cambodia
Prosecutor v Eav (Judgment) (Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia,

Trial Chamber, Case No. 001/18-07-2007/ECCC/TC, 26 July 2010) . ............ 236, 238
China
Trial of Takashi Sakai (1946) 14 LRTWC 1 (Chinese War Crimes Military Tribunal

of the Ministry of Defence) 29 August 1946 ....... ... ... ... ... ..., 4,388
Estonia
In re Paulov Case No. 3-1-1-31-00, Riigi Teataja III 2000, 11, 118 (Supreme Court,

Estonia, 2000) . . ..ot 257
Ethiopia
Special Prosecutor v Colonel Mengisty Hailamaraim et al. File No. 1/87, Ethiopian

Federal High Court . ... ... . 303,

316, 317
Special Prosecutor v Colonel Mengisty Hailamaraim et al. Judgment, Criminal File

No. 30181, Federal Supreme Court, 26 May 2008. .. .......ooiiiiiiiinnnneeenon. 306
European Court of Human Rights
Engel v Netherlands (No 1) (1976) 1EHRR G47. .. ... ... o o i i i 126
Farbtubs v Latvia Application no. 4672/02, ECtHR, Judgment (2 December 2004) .......... 261
Kolk and Kislyiy v Estonia, Application nos. 23052/04 and 24018/04, ECtHR,

Decision (17 January 2000) . ... ..ottt e 262
Kononov v Latvia Application no. 36376/04, ECtHR, Decision

(20 September 2007) . . ..ottt e 133, 261, 262
Korbély v Hungary (European Court of Human Rights, Grand

Chamber, Application No 9174/02, 19 September 2008) ............... 237,238, 242-3,

244, 2624
Matyjek v Poland Application No 38184/03, 30 May 2006

(unreported). . ... 126
Penart v Estonia Application no. 14685/04, ECtHR, Decision

(24 January 2000) . ..ottt 262
Tess v Latvia (No. 2) Application no. 19363/05, ECtHR, Decision

(4January 2008) . ... 261
France
Barbie (1985) 78 ILR 136 . .. oottt e ettt e e e e e 265
Touvier (1992) 100 ILR 337, . oottt et e e e e 265

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



Table of Cases xv

French Tribunals Militaire

Prosecutor v Gregorio Lendinez Montes (Trial) (2éme Tribunal Militaire

Permanent de Paris, 25 April 1947) ... ... 115
Prosecutor v José Palleja Caralt (Appeal) (Cour de Cassation de Paris, 23 July 1947) ........... 115
Prosecutor v José Palleja Caralt (Trial) (Tribunal Militaire Permanent de la

5¢me Région, Toulouse, 25 April 1947) ... ... . 115
Hungary
A Magyar Koztdrsasdg Alkotmanybirésdga [Constitutional Court of the Republic

of Hungary] No 11/1992, 5 March 1992 (Decision 11/1992) . ...................... 231
A Magyar Koztdrsasdg Alkotmdnybirdsdga [Constitutional Court of the Republic

of Hungary] No 53/1993, 13 October 1993 ......................... 232, 233, 239-40

A Magyar Koztdrsasdg Alkotmanybirésiga [Constitutional Court of the Republic
of Hungary] No 36/1996, 4 September 1996. Section II. (1)

(Decision No 36/19906) . oottt et e e 233, 240
Févérosi Birésdg [Budapest Metropolitan Court] Case No 13.B.563/2001/18,

20ctober 2002 . . ..o 242
Legfelsébb Birésdg [Hungarian Supreme Court] No X. 713/1999/3,28 June 19............. 241
Legfelsébb Birésig [Hungarian Supreme Court] No. 1344/1998/3, 5 November 1998 ... .. ... 240
Legfelsdbb Birésdg [Hungarian Supreme Court] Case No 1.1.534/1999/5,

13 September 2000 . ... ... 242
Legfelsébb Birdsig [Hungarian Supreme Court] Case No 1.1.535/1999/5,

20 September 2000 .. ... 242
Legfébb Ugyészség [Office of the General Prosecutor] No. NE10718/2010/5-1

17 December 2010. ... ..o o 246

International Court of Justice
Case Concerning the Arrest Warrant of 11 April 2000 (D.R. Congo v Belgium), 2002

IC] 14 February 2002 ... ..o 402
Jurisdictional Immunities of the State (Germany v Italy) Application

instituting proceedings filed in Registry of the Court on 23 December 2008 .. .......... 227
Jurisdictional Immunities of the State (Germany v Italy) Application of

the Federal Republic of Germany, 23 December 2007 ....................... 221, 225-7
Jurisdictional Immunities of the State (Germany v Italy) Counter-Claim,

GIULY 2010, .. oo 226
Jurisdictional Immunities of the State (Germany v Italy, Greece
Intervening) Judgment of 3 February 2012 ........... ... ... ... oL 3,227
Jurisdictional Immunities of the State (Germany v Italy) Greece
requests permission to intervene in the proceedings, 13 January 2011 ..................... 227
Liechtenstein v Guatemala Second Phase, International Court of

Justice 6 April 1955 ... 281
Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua

(Nicaragua v United States of America) (Judgment) [1986] ICJRep 14 ................. 240

International Criminal Court

Prosecutor v Lubanga (Decision on the Confirmation of Charges)
(International Criminal Court, Pre-Trial Chamber I,
Case No ICC-01/04-01/06, 29 January 2007) . . .. veieeee et 236, 318-19

International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda

Prosecutor v Akayesu (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for
Rwanda, Trial Chamber I, Case No ICTR-96-4-T, 2 September 1998) .. .............. 236

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



xvi Table of Cases

Prosecutor v Bagaragaza Case No. ICTR-2005-86-S................................... 269
Prosecutor v Rutaganda, (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for

Rwanda, Trial Chamber I, Case No ICTR-96-3-T, 6 December 1999) ................ 236
Prosecutor v Semanza (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for

Rwanda, Appeals Chamber, Case No ICTR-97-20-A, 20 May 2005). . . ... ..coounn.. .. 238

International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia
Prosecutor v Blaski¢ (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for
the Former Yugoslavia, Trial Chamber I, Case No 1T-94-15-T,
3March 2000) . ..ottt 238,279, 320
Prosecutor v Delali¢ et al (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for the
Former Yugoslavia, Trial Chamber II, Case No IT-96-21-T,

16 November 1998) . . .o i i e e 236
Prosecutor v Furundzija 1T-95-17/1-T 10 December 1998 .. .............. ... ... ... ... 284
Prosecutor v Gotovina et al. (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for

the Former Yugoslavia, Trial Chamber I, Case No I'T-06-90-T, 15 April 2011)........... 236
Prosecutor v Jelisi¢ Case no. 1T-95-10, ICTY Trial Chamber, Judgment

(14 December 1999) . .ottt 259

Prosecutor v Kordi¢ and Cerkez (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for
the Former Yugoslavia, Trial Chamber I, Case No IT-95-14/2-T,

26 February 2001) . ..o oo 236, 238, 320
Prosecutor v Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeals Chamber, Judgment, 17 December 2004. . ... ........ 320
Prosecutor v Krajisnik Case No. IT-00-39-T (27 September 2006) ........................ 426
Prosecutor v Krstié, Trial Chamber, Judgment, 2 August 2001 ....................... 320, 426
Prosecutor v Krstic¢ (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for the Former

Yugoslavia, Appeals Chamber, Case No 1T-98-33-A, 19 April 2004) .................. 238

Prosecutor v Kunarac et al. (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for

the Former Yugoslavia, Appeals Chamber, Case No IT-96-23&IT-96-23/1-A,

12June 2002) .ottt 236, 238
Prosecutor v Kupreskic et al. Case No. IT-95-16-T (14 January 2000) ...................... 425
Prosecutor v Milutinovié et al. (Judgment) (International Criminal Tribunal for

the Former Yugoslavia, Trial Chamber I, Case No I'T-05-87-T, 26 February

2000) . o 236
Prosecutor v Naletili¢ Case No. IT 98-34-A, 3 May 2006 . .. ..o 426
Prosecutor v Staki¢ Case No. IT-97-24-A (22 March 2000). . ... ... ..., 425-6

Prosecutor v Tadic (Decision on the Defence Motion for Interlocutory Appeal
on Jurisdiction) (International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia,
Appeals Chamber, Case No I'T-94-1-AR72, 2 October 1995) [70] (Tadi¢

Interlocutory Appeals) . ... .. ... 236, 237,
238,239,279
Italy
Corte Militare di Appello, Judgment no 72 of 18 December 2007........................ 221
Corte Suprema di Cassazione, sezioni unite civili, Judgment no 5044 of
6 November 2003 . . ..ot 222,223

Corte Suprema di Cassazione, Sezioni Unite Civili, Judgment no 14199 of 6
May 2008, ‘Repubblica Federale di Germania v Amministrazione Regionale of

Vojotia’ in Rivista di diritto internazionale 92 (2009). . ....... ... ... ... ... ... .... 223
Corte Suprema di Cassazione, sezioni I penale, Judgment no 1072 of

21 October 2008, Rivista di diritto internazionale 92 (2009) . ............. 221,222, 223-4
Ferrini, Rivista diritto internazionale 87 (2004)
Tribunale of Arezzo, Judgment no 1403/98 of 3 November 2000 .................... 221,222
Tribunale Militare di la Spezia, Judgment no. 49 of 10 October 2006 . .................... 220

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



Table of Cases xvii

Norway
A v The Public Prosecution; The Public Prosecution v A, Supreme Court Judgment,

I3 April 2011 ..o 273,274,275
Prosecutor v Mirsad Repak Supreme Court of the Kingdom of Norway,

13 April 2011, . oo 275-6
Public Prosecuting Authority v Mirsad Repak 08-018985MED-OTIR/08,

2 December 2008 (Oslo District Court, Norway) .. ..o, 267, 2724, 280
Public Prosecutor v Mirsad Repak LB-2009-24039 (April 12,2010) ............. ... ... ... 274
Poland
Trial of Gauleiter Artur Greiser (1946) 13 LRTWC 70 (Supreme National

Tribunal of Poland) . ........ ... .. .. ... ... ... .. ... ... 4,411-12, 414, 415, 419-24

Permanent Court of Arbitration

Island of Palmas (United States of America v Netherlands) (Decision) (1928) 2 RIAA 829 ... .. ... 234
Spain
Judgment on the Guatemala Genocide, Case No. 327/2003, 25 February 2003.............. 281

Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

Case of Atrocities Committed by German-Fascist Invaders in the City of Kharkov and
Kharkov Region During Their Temporary Occupation (Military Tribunal of

the 4th Ukrainian Front, USSR, 1943) .. .. .. i 251
United Kingdom
Janson v Driefontein Consolidated Mines Ltd [1902] AC484. .. ........................... 71
R Jones and Milling [2006] UKHL 16 . .. ... 5, 401, 405

United States

Abrens v Clark 335 US 188 (1948). . .. oo i it e e e 201
Battaglia v General Motors Corp 169 F 2d 254 (1948) . ... ... ..., 209
Bishop v Jones and Petty 28 Tex 294 (1886) . ... ...t 71
Boumediene v Bush 553 US 723 (2008) . . o oottt e 194
Brown v Allen 344 US 443 (1953) . ..ottt e e e e e e e e e 203
Burns v Wilson 346 US 137 (1953) .« ot i e e e e e et 196, 204, 210
Burns v Wilson 346 US 844 (1953) . oo ittt e 202, 204
Carter v Roberts 177 US 496 (1900) . . . . oottt et ettt et 204
Cushing, Administrator v United States 22 Ct CL 1 (1886) ... ..., 71
Eisentrager v Forrestal 174 F 2d 961 (1949) . ... ... o i 195, 201
Ex parte McCardle 74 US (7 Wall.) 506 (1868) . ... ... ... 209
Ex parte Milligan 71 US (4 Wall.) 2 (1866) ........... ..o 205
Ex parte Quirin 317 US 1 (1942) ... 205, 207
Ex parte Vallandigham 68 US (1 Wall) 243 (1864) ........ ... ... ... ... 204, 205
Fay v Noia 372 US 391 (1963). . ..ottt e e 203
Filartiga v Pena-Irala 630 F 2d 876 (1980). . . ..o oot 284
Frank v Mangum 237 US 309 (1915). ... ..ot 203
Gray, Administrator v United States 21 Ct C1 340 (1886) ........... ..., 71
Hamdan v Rumsfeld 548 US 557 (2000). . .. ..o oo 194
Hiatt v Brown 339 US 103 (1950) ..ottt et e 195, 204, 205
Hirota v MacArthur 338 US 197 (1948) . .o v ittt 205, 207
Ibrahim v Department of Homeland Secretary 669 F 3d 983 (2012)............... ... .. ... 194

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



xviii Table of Cases

In re Grimley 137 US 147 (1890) . . . ..ottt e 204
In ve Yamashita 327 US 1 (1946) .. .o et e 195, 199, 205, 207
Johnson v Eisentrager 338 US 877 (1949) .. ... 202
Johnson v Eisentrager, 339 US 763 (1950) . ......ooiiiiiiiiiiinnno... 4,193-4, 196, 197,

200, 201, 206, 208-11
Johnson v Zerbst 304 US 458 (1938) .o v i ittt e e 203, 204
Kiobel v Royal Dutch Petroleum 133 S Ct 1659 (2013) ... ..ottt 179
Milch v United States 332 US 789 (1947) . . . o oottt e e e 200
Moore v Dempsey 261 US 086 (1923). . ..o viii ittt 203
Rasul v Bush 542 US 466 (2004) . . .. oot e 194
Rasul v Myers 563 F 3d 527 (2009) .. ..ot 194
Shapiro v United States 69 F Supp 205 (1947) .. ... ... i 204
United States v Ali 71 MJ 256 (2012) . . oottt et e e e e e et et 194
United States v Verdugo-Urquidez 494 US 259 (1990) ......... ... . ............ 193, 194, 196
Waley v Johnston 316 US 101 (1942) ... ..ot 202, 203
Woolsey v Best 299 US 1 (1936) . ..ottt ittt 203

United States Military Courts in Dachau

United States v Alfons Klein (Trial) 1945, 1 War Crimes Law Reports 46, 53

(US Military Commission appointed by the Commanding General

Western Military District, USFET) (Hadamar Trial) ........ ... ..o oo 113
United States v Hans Altfuldisch (Review and Recommendations) (Deputy

Judge Advocate’s Office, 7708 War Crimes Group, European Command,

APO 178, Case No 000-50-5, March 1946) .. ........ ... ... ... ... 107, 116, 118-19
United States v Joaquin Espinosa (Review and Recommendations) (Deputy Judge

Advocate’s Office, 7708 War Crimes Group, European Command, APO 407,

Case No 000-Mauthausen-19, 28 January 1948) (Espinosa Review) .................. 108
United States v Joaquin Espinosa (Trial) (Military Government Court,
Case No 000-Mauthausen-19, 9-12 May 1947) 7/8 (Espinosa Trial). . ............. ... 108

United States v Karl Horcicka et al. (War Crimes Board of Review No. 1)

(Office of the Judge Advocate, Headquarters, European Command,

Case No 0000-50-5-32, 30 April 1948) (Horcicka Review) ..............oo.... 108, 111
United States v Lauriano Navas (Review and Recommendations) (Deputy

Judge Advocate’s Office, 7708 War Crimes Group, European Command,

APO 407, Case No 000-50-5-25, 14 January 1948) (Navas Review) .......... 109, 111, 116
United States v Lauriano Navas (Review of the War Crimes Branch—

Accused: Ferndndez, Moisés) (Judge Advocate Division, Headquarters,

European Command, AFO 403, US Army, Case No 0000-50-5-25,

I8 APril 1951) oo 111
United States v Lauriano Navas (Review of the War Crimes Branch -

Accused: Lauriano Navas) (Office of the Judge Advocate, Headquarters,

European Command, Case No 0000-50-5-25, 18 April 1951). ... .....ooooiiiiiit. 111
United States v Lauriano Navas (Trial) (Military Government Court,
Case No 000-50-5-25, 14-21 July 1947) 13/3 (Navas Trial) .......... 109-10, 116, 118-19

United States v Martin Gottfried Weiss (Review of Proceeding of
General Military Court) (Office of Judge Advocate, Third US Army
and Eastern Military District, Case No. 000-50-2, 15 November—13 December 1945) . ...114

Zonal Trials

Government Commissioner of the General Tribunal of the French Zone of Occupation in
Germany v Hermann Roechling et al. 14 Trials of War Criminals Before

the Nuernberg Military Tribunals Under Control Council Law No. 10 .. .............. 188
In re Tesch 3 Ann. Dig. 250 (UK 1946) ..., 113-14, 116, 188
United States v Alfvied Krupp et al. 9 Trials of War Criminals 11 (1950) ............ 179, 185, 429

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



Table of Cases xix

United States v Alstitter er al. 14 ILR 274, 320 (Military Tribunal III,

3—4 December 1947) .. oot 186, 238
United States v Ernst Weizaecker et al. 4 Trials of War Criminals Before

the Nuernberg Military Tribunals Under Control Council Law

No. 10 (1949) o oo it 16, 43, 186
United States v Flick et al. United States Military Tribunal, Nuremberg,
Case No 5,22 December 1947 ... ... ... ... ... 170, 179, 181, 184, 186, 190

United States v Krauch et al. 8 Trials of War Criminals Before
the Nuernberg Military Tribunals Under Control Council Law
No. 10 (1952) .« oo ittt 165, 179, 181-2, 183,
185, 186, 189, 190, 429
United States v Otto Ohlendorf et al. 4 Trials of War Criminals before
the Nuremberg Military Tribunals Under Control Council Law

No. 10, Case NO. O .ot e 71, 184
United States v Pohl (United States Military Tribunal, Nuremberg, Case No 4,

IT August 1948) ... o 186
United States v Sawada Case No. 25, 5 Law Reports of Trials of War Criminals. 1, 7-8

(U.S. Milit. Comm'n Apr. 15, 19406) . ..ottt 198
United States v von Leeb, et al. Judgment of 27 October 1948, Military Tribunal V,

Law Reports of the Trials of War Criminals, XI ........... ... ... o ... 16
United States of America v von Weizsaecker et al. Judgment of 11-13 April 1949,
Military Tribunal IV, Law Reports of the Trials of War Criminals, XIV 16, 43

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



1able of Legislation

Argentina East Timor
Ley de Obediencia Debida 1987 . ... 371,373  United Nations Transitional Administration
Ley de Punto Final 1986 .......... 371,373 in East Timor, Regulation No. 2000/15
on the Establishment of Panels with
Australia Exclusive Jurisdiction over Serious
Regulations for the Trial of War Criminals Criminal Offences (6 June 2000) . ... 290
(Commonwealth) 1945 ........... 356
T4 353  Estonia
r12 335  Act on the Criminal Liability of Persons
War Crimes Bill 1945 Who Have Committed Crimes
S T 353 against Humanity or War Crimes in
War Crimes Estonia], 9 November 1994, Riigi
Act 1945 .......... 327,331, 332, 343, Teatajal 1994 .................. 256
347,351-2,357 Criminal Code...................... 262
S 355 s61 101 ..., 256, 257
S i 354 S61105 ... 256
SO(4) oo 352 S61106 ... 256
ST 352, 354-355, 360 s61107 .. oo 256
S 333, 334 SO8 o 2556
SOL) oo 333, 363 SO0 o 256
s12 352, 354, 357, 360 $$94-109 ... ... 256
Pact of Mutual Assistance, Estonia—
Bangladesh USSR, signed at Moscow,
International Crimes (Tribunal) 28 September 1939, in force
Act 1973 ..o 77 4 October 1939 .. ...l 249
Cambodia Treaty of Peace, Estonia—Russian SFSR,

Law on the Establishment of the

signed at Dorpat [Tartu], 2 February

Extraordinary Chambers in 1920, in force 30 March 1920 ... ... 248
the Courts of Cambodia for the
Prosecution of Crimes Committed Ethiopia
During the Period of Democratic Constitution. . . .o ve e 300, 316
Kampuchea (as amended 27 Art78(2) oo 303
October 2004) Art80(2) oo 303
ChXIX ... o 289  Civil Code
Art 2137 oo 316
China Criminal Code of the Empire of
Law Governing the Trial of War Criminals 24 Ethiopia 1957 .................. 303
October 1946 . ............. 391,399  Criminal Procedure Code
Art80 ..o 316
Council of Europe Arc 109 oo 316
European Convention on Extradition. . . . . 279 Penal Code of the Empire of
European Convention on Human Ethiopia 1957 .................. 323
Rights, ...t 149 Artd oo 316
Art2 Protocol 7 . ... ... 443 Art32 oo 314
Art6 .o 126 Art32(a) oo 314
Art7 oo 126, 262, 450 Are32(1)@) oo 316
Art7(1) oo 262 Are32(1)(b) ..o 316
Art13 o 443 Art32 (1)(Q) vvv e 316
Art34 oo 444 Art37(1) oo 316

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



xxii

Penal Code of the Empire of
Ethiopia 1957 (cont.):

Are281 ... ... 302, 303, 313, 316
Art281(a) v oo 314
Art281(0) v vve i 314
Arts281-286 ... oo it 302
Art286 ... 313,316
Artdl4d ..o 316
Artd16 .o 316
Art522 .o 315

Proclamation Establishing the Office

of the Special Prosecutor

(8 August 1992), Proclamation

No 22/1992

Art6 oo 310

Provisional Military Government of

Ethiopia, Proclamation

No. 1/1967 ...............ou.. 308
Provisional Military Government of

Ethiopia, Proclamation

No. 121/1977 ..o 308, 313
Finland
Constitution. . ... oo et 437
Supreme Court of Finland, decision

2008:94 . ... 443

Treaty of Peace, Finland—Russian SFSR,
signed at Dorpat [Tartu], 14 October

France

Acte constitutionnel no 5 du 30 juillet
1940 relatif 4 la Cour supréme

dejustice ........ ... .l 127
Code d’instruction criminelle de 1808 ... 72-3
Codepenalde ................. ... 1810

Art296 ..o 71
Artd34 ..o 71
Constitution of the Third Republic .. . ... 127
Criminal Code ................. 126, 131
ArtG4 oo 154
Art75 oo 125
Are84 ..o 125
Arc 112-1 oo 124
Declaration of the Rights of Men and
of the Citizens . ................ 1789
Art8 o 124
N 124
Law of Collective Responsibility
1948 ... 142, 148, 152, 155-6
Art2 oo 148
Loi du 24 février 1875 relative 4 'organisation
du Sénat
Art9 oo 127

1able of Legislation

Germany

Code of Criminal Procedure
S153f L. 281
Treaty of Friendship, Cooperation and
Demarcation, Germany—USSR,
signed at Moscow, 28 September

Treaty of Non-Aggression, Germany—
USSR, signed at Moscow, 23 August

1939, o 249
Hungary
Criminal Code ................. 240, 245
ChXI ... 244
Art296(c) v oi 245
Fundamental Law of Hungary
20120 245-6
Law No IV of 1978 on the Criminal
Code of Hungary .. .............. 231
Law No V of 1961 on the Criminal
Code of Hungary .. .............. 231

Law No XX of 1949 on The Constitution
of the Republic of Hungary
Art 7(1) oo 232
Law No XC of 1993 on the Procedure
Applicable for Certain Criminal
Offences Committed in the Course of
the Revolution and War of Independence
Artl oo 233
Law No CCX of 2011 on the Punishability
and the Exclusion of the Statute of
Limitations of Crimes Against
Humanity and on the Prosecution
of Certain Crimes Committed During

the Communist Dictatorship . . . . . .. 246
Official Compilation of Penal Regulations
inForce 1952................... 231

Procedure to Follow in Case of Certain
Crimes Committed During the 1956
War of Independence and
Revolution..................... 232

International Committee of the

Red Cross
Geneva Convention 1929 ............. 208
Geneva Conventions 1949............. 276
Common Art3 ........... 233, 235, 239,
240, 241-2, 246
Art3(1) oo 242
Art391)@) .o 242

Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the
Condition of the Wounded and Sick in
Armed Forces in the Field 1949

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



1able of Legislation xxiii
Art50 .o 234 Art22 oo 450
Geneva Convention for the Amelioration Art23 450
of the Wounded, Sick and Shipwrecked Art24 o oo 450
Members of Armed Forces at Sea Art25(3) oo 398
Art oo 51 Art253)@) ... 318, 323
Geneva Convention III Relative to Art27 o 402
the Treatment of Prisoners of Kampala Amendments
War 1949 Art8bis . ........ . ... .. 392-3, 398, 427
Arc130 ..o 233,234 Art8bis(1) ... 427
Geneva Convention IV Relative to the Art 8bis (2)(@)-(g) ... 394
Protection of Civilian Persons in Arc15bis . ... 393
Time of War 1949 Art25(bis) . ..o 427
Art2 o 242
Art3 o 242 Nuremberg
Artd oo 242 Charter 16. 237 265. 351
e 411, 436, 439, 444
Art 146 ..o 242 Art6 . 392, 395-6, 397
A 14T oo 233, 234, 242 Art6(a) ..o 392, 397, 437
Protocol Additional to the Geneva Art6(b) ..o 437
Comventions of 12 August 1949 ) T 257
and Relating to the Protection of Art6(2)(C) v v o 258
Victims of International Armed Art8 ... .. R REREE 184
Conflicts . .................... 1978 Control Council Law
Art50(1) e 257 Nol0 ............. 16,179, 189, 238
Protocol Additional to the Geneva ArcIT(1)@) o oo 392
Conventions of 12 August 1949 Arc Il oo 178
and Relating to the Protection of ArcII4b) ... 184
Victims of Non-International London Agreement . ....... 140-1, 411, 417,
Armed Conflicts 1978 . ... ... 235,240 436, 437, 439, 444, 446
AL oo 241 A 149
Art 10 ..o 149
International Criminal Court International Military Tribunal of the
Rome Statute of the International Far East
Criminal Court, 2187 UNTS 90,
. Charter
entered into force 1 July
2002, 18, 46, 237, 240, Arcl oo 351
280, 412, 4267, ArtS(A) oo 392
428, 448, 449, 451
AreS5(1) oo 387  International Criminal Tribunal for
ArtS5(2) oo 387  the Former Yugoslavia
Arc6(a) . 259 International Criminal Tribunal for the Former
Art7(1)(@) oo 259 Yugoslavia Statute
Arc7(D(d) 259 Artl o 280
Arc7(2)@ 239 AMS 25 e 280
Are8Q)(F) 236 ARES 425
Artl0 .o 408 ArtO(1) e 280
Art11(1) oo 133 ATE10(2) oot 280
Art 12 oo 402 At 102)@) « oo 280
Arcl7 ..o .. 400, 402, 403, 449, 452
Art 17(1) oo 400 Ira
ArC19(2) oo 401 1
Arc19Q2)(B) o ve e 400  Statute of the Iraqi Special Tribunal . . .. .. 290
Art20 oo 449, 452

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



XXV
Italy
Constitution
Art10 oo 225
Italian Military Criminal Code Applicable
in Time of War
Art 13 oo 220
Art 185 ..o 220
Latvia
Criminal Code. ..................... 261
SO8 o 255
STl o 256
s71108 ..o 256
ST oo 256

Pact of Mutual Assistance, Latvia—

USSR, signed at Moscow, 5 October
1939, in force 11 October 1939......... 249
Treaty of Peace, Latvia—Russian

SESR, signed at Riga, 11 August

League of Nations

Treaty of Versailles 19195 .............. 15
Art 227 o 17
Lithuania
Criminal Code
STl o 255
SO L 256
S100 .. e 256
ss101-113 ... .. . 256
Criminal Code 2001 ................... 7

Law on the Responsibility for the
Genocide of the Population of
Lithuania], 9 April 1992, No.
1-2477,Valstybés Zinios (1992),

No. 13 ... 342
Sl o 255
S 2 e 255

Law On Compensation for the Damage
Inflicted by the USSR Occupation
(Wording of 12 March 1998)....... 255

Law On Liability for Genocide of Residents
of Lithuania (Wording of 9 April
1992 with Subsequent Amendments)
with the Constitution of the Republic
of Lithuania.................... 255

Law On Restoring the Rights of Persons
Repressed for Resistance Against the
Occupation Regimes (Wording of 12
March 1998) ................... 255

1able of Legislation

Pact of Mutual Assistance, Lithuania—
USSR, signed at Moscow, 10 October

Treaty of Peace, Lithuania—Russian
SESR, signed at Moscow, 12 July

1920, . 0o 248
Norway
Constitution
Art97 o 271,277
Extradition Act 1975 .. ............... 279
General Civil Penal
Code 1902......... 272,273,275,278
S 3 e 271
S223 276,277
Art12(3) oo 270
Art 12(4) oo 270
General Civil Penal
Code 2005 ........ 270, 272,275,278
S 271,277
s102 ..o 271,273,277
s103 ... 271,273,277
s103h) ... 271,276
Poland
Decree of 31 August 1944 . ........ 417, 418
Siam

Royal Decree Instituting a Special and
Temporary Court for the Trial of
the Affairs of Tong-Xieng-Kham
and Keng-Chek (Kham-Muon)
1894 ... 58-9, 61

Sierra Leone

Statute of the Special Court for

Sierraleone.................... 289
Turkey
Criminal Procedure Code .......... 86, 296
Law No 80/271 ...t 99
Ottoman Constitution. .. .............. 86
Ottoman Military Code
Art 171 oo 298
Ottoman Penal Code . ................. 87
Artd5 ..o 88, 298
ArtS56 oo 87-8, 298
Art 170 oo 91, 298
Regulations on Martial Law 1877 ........ 86
Temporary Law of Deportation
1915 oo 82,90, 296
Temporary Law of Expropriation
and Confiscation 1915............. 82

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



1able of Legislation XXV
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics United States of America
Criminal Code 1926 Alien Enemy Act 1798 ................ 206
§58 i 253  Constitution ................. 193, 201-2
§59 i 253 5% Amendment ................. 4,194
Criminal Code 1961 6 Amendment ... ... 203
sG4a ... 253  Habeas Corpus Act 1867 .............. 202
Instruction for the Government of the Armies
of the United States in the
United Nations Field (Lieber Code)
Agreement between the United Nations Arcl9 oo 261
and the Government of Sierra Leone Art37 oo 261
on the Establishment of a Special Arc 101 oo 71
Court for Sierra Leone (16 January Military Commission Act 2006 . . . .. 195, 211
2002) . s 290  Military Commission Act 2009 ... .. 195, 211
Agreement between the United Nations
and the Royal Government of
Cambodia Concerning the Prosecution Other
under Cambodian Law of Crimes Act of Military Surrender (Reims) ... ... 1944
Committed During the Period of Art9 oo 199
Democratic Kampuchea (6 June Bonn Agreement 1961, ........... 221,226
2003) 289  Franco-Siamese Convention
Charter ......oooviiiiiiiii 427, 446 1893 o 60, 70
Convention on the Prevention and AreIIT oo 51, 56, 57,
Punishment of the Crime of 68,72
Genocide, entered into force Hague Convention ............. 1907, 293
12 January 1951, .. .. ...oooo. ... 256 Art40 oo 199
AE2 oo 257 Artdl 199
Convention on the Non-Applicability Hague Regulations. . ................. 258
of Statutory Limitations to War Art23(b) oo 261
Crimes and Crimes against Humanity Moscow Armistice 1944............... 433
754 UNTS 73, entered into force Arc 13 ..o 435, 437, 444
11 November 1970 .. ........ 233,239, Moscow Declaration 1943 ............. 417
254  Moscow Peace Treaty 1940 . ... 432, 439, 440
Convention on the Prevention and Paris Peace Treaties 1947 ... ... 221, 226, 433
Punishment of the Crime of Potsdam Agreement 1945
Genocide . ..o 412 PartIIB ... 167
Convention Relating to the International ParcIIl ..o 167
Status of Refugees, signed 28 October Project of an International Declaration
1933, 159 UNTS 199 ............ 119 Concerning the Laws and Customs
Covenant on Civil and Political Rights of War 1874 (Brussels Declaration)
Arc13(b) oo 450 Arcl3 oo 71
N R 450  Treaty of Lausanne 1923 ........... 84, 295
Draft Convention for the Establishment Treaty of Sevres 1920 ............. 15,294
of 2 United Nations War Crimes Court Art 144 ..o ool 83
(30 September 1944) ... ........... 74 Art226 ..o 295
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Art228 ..o 83
adopted 10 December 1948, G.A. Arc23083 ... 295
Res 1386 (XIV) oo 126, 149  Tripartite Pact ....... ... ... .ol 434

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



List of Contributors

Rosa Ana Alija-Ferndndez is a Lecturer at the Universitat de Barcelona.
Grietje Baars is a Lecturer at The City Law School, City University, London.
Jennifer Balint is a member of the faculty of Criminology at the University of Melbourne.

Benjamin Brockman-Hawe is an International Legal Officer at the Court of Bosnia and
Herzegovina.

Roger S. Clark is the Board of Governors Professor at the Rutgers-Camden School of Law.

Mark A. Drumbl is the Class of 1975 Alumni Professor of Law and Director of the
Transnational Law Institute at the Washington and Lee University School of Law.

Benedetta Faedi Duramy is Associate Professor of Law at Golden Gate University School
of Law.

Georgina Fitzpatrick is a Research Fellow at Melbourne Law School.

Gregory S. Gordon is an Associate Professor at the University North Dakota (UND) School
of Law and the Director of the UND Centre for Human Rights and Genocide Studies.

Tamds Hoffman is an Assistant Professor at Corvinus University of Budapest.
Dov Jacobs is Assistant Professor in International Law at Leiden University.

Rain Liivoja is a Research Fellow at Melbourne Law School and Project Director for the
Law of Armed Conflict at the Asia Pacific Centre for Military Law, and Affiliated Research
Fellow, Erik Castrén Institute of International Law and Human Rights, University of
Helsinki.

Jackson Maogoto is a Senior Lecturer at the University of Manchester.

Frédéric Mégret is an Associate Professor at the Faculty of Law, McGill University, where
he holds the Canada Research Chair in the Law of Human Rights and Legal Pluralism.

Narrelle Morris is a Research Fellow at Melbourne Law School.

Peter D. Rush is Associate Professor and Director of the International Criminal Justice
Programme at the Institute for International Law and the Humanities at the University of
Melbourne.

Julia Selman-Ayetey is a practising lawyer and former Lecturer in Criminal Law at
University College, University of Oxford, and former Lecturer in Criminology at Anglia
Ruskin University.

Immi Tallgren is a Research Fellow at The Erik Castrén Institute of International Law and
Human Rights, University of Helsinki, and at the Saint Louis University, Brussels.

Firew Kebede Tiba is a Lecturer in Law at Deakin University.

Stephen I. Vladeck is Professor of Law and Associate Dean for Scholarship at the American
University Washington College of Law.
This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



1

History of Histories

Gerry Simpson’

It is one of the pleasures of organizing a conference and then editing the resulting
book that an idea—and one that had appeared so capricious and odd—materializes
in the hands of intelligent and alert speakers and writers. At the end of 2010, we
convened a conference in Melbourne called ‘Untold Stories: The Hidden Histories
of War Crimes Trials’."! This was the first of four conferences held under the auspices
of an Australian Research Council (ARC) project on the history and theory of war
crimes trials (the others were, in 2011, ‘Affective States and ‘Eichmann at 50°, and
“The Passions of International Law’ in 2012).

The call for papers generated a surprisingly enthusiastic response from colleagues
around the world. There were, it turned out, many stories to be told about war
crimes trials that the discipline had either neglected or under-rehearsed. Sometimes,
these were stories about familiar but under-explored and misunderstood landmarks
in the conventional history of international criminal law. (For example, we had an
instinct that there was more to Peter von Hagenbach than the pantomime cliché,
but Greg Gordon has actually done the work, and enlivened the circumstances and
legal culture around this iconic moment in the field.) Sometimes a trial, unknown
even to the international criminal law cognoscenti, was positioned as a moment
in the field’s pre-development, eg Benjamin Brockman-Hawe’s comprehensive
account of the Franco-Siamese Tribunal and the trial of Kham Muon as an early
example of complementarity enacted in the context of late-empire. Here, from his
chapter (Chapter 3), is the French view of the original Siamese trial:

The authors of the assassination of [Kham Muon] shall be tried by the Siamese authorities.
A representative of France shall be present at the trial and witness execution of the sentence
pronounced. The French Government reserves the right to appreciate whether the punish-
ment is sufficient and, where applicable, claim a new trial before a Mixed Court, whereof it
shall determine the composition.?

" Kenneth Bailey Professor of Law, Melbourne Law School.

! Half the title has survived into print. The other, now missing, half was borrowed from the English
playwright, Alan Bennett. See Alan Bennett, Untold Stories (London: Faber and Faber, 2001).

> Von Hagenbach’s trial, too, is understood as the first in which the interaction between local
prerogative and international trial is played out. As Brockman-Hawe reminds us:

[The Kham Muon Trial ] was only the second time that a supranational court had been accused of
violating an individual’s right to be tried by a court of their home country (jus de non evocando) [the
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Sometimes, the best-known trials (notably, the post-war trials in Germany) were
subject to a re-reckoning (see Rosa Ana Alija-Ferndndez on the Spanish Kapos trials
at Mauthausen, Chapter 5; and Grietje Baars on the trial and non-trial of industri-
alists after the war, Chapter 8). In one instance, an incident that had twice briefly
touched my consciousness became fully illuminated. About ten years ago, I was
travelling through a mid-size French town called Confolens in Limousin. Ten miles
outside of town there was a road sign for the village of Oradour-sur-Glane. The
name seemed familiar to me. I remembered, as a student, reading a novel in which
this village had been the leading character.® I drove into Oradour-sur-Glane. Here
was a village that was now two villages: a fully visible, nondescript contemporary
country exurb and a hidden place surrounded by a high fence and accessible only
through a museum. The latter was the dead village of Oradour-sur-Glane preserved
in its history or, one should say, a single day in its history—the day that the ‘3rd
company of the 1st battalion of Panzergrenadier of the 4th SS-Panzer-Regiment
“Der Fiihrer” of the 2eSS-Panzer-Division “Das Reich” (Mégret)” had entered the
village and massacred the inhabitants. As Frédéric Mégret reminds us, there was a
trial, too. This trial, held in Bordeaux in 1953, is, in a way, a hidden history of a
dead village.

In offering a history of this book and its histories we must make all the usual
apologies concerning selection, amnesia, and the temptations of mistellings and
re-tellings. Nevertheless, we might reflect on at least four modes of historical work
being done here: Consolation, Recovery, Pedigree and Pedagogy. In this collection,
there are terrific examples of each of these four, but some chapters have been exer-
cises in more than one of these modes while others have exploded the categories
altogether.

(I) Consolation

Trial narratives console us just as newly exposed histories of the past can provide
comfort.* Some of the chapters here have rotated around the idea either that an
obscure trial has provided a measure of consolation to the bereaved or the injured
(Faedi Duramy, Chapter 10; Tiba, Chapter 15), or that a trial that might have done
this has failed to do so (Balint, Chapter 4), or that a trial or series of trials that has
consoled the victims has, at the same time, created a new cast of victims by misap-
plying legal procedure to the detriment of the accused (Fitzpatrick, Chapter 16).
One sort of untold story, then, is derived from a form of identity politics or
scholarship. Writing and practice in this genre might concern Japanese slave labour

first being the trial of von Hagenbach before a twenty-eight judge panel at Breisach over four hundred
years before].
* David Hughes, 7he Pork Butcher (London: Constable and Constable, 1984).

4 See Christine Schwobel on the idea of comfort in Gerry Simpson (ed), 7he Passions of International
Law (forthcoming, 2014).
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or the rape of ‘comfort women’.” Telling these stories either in trial or in scholarship
is sometimes derived from a wish to re-inscribe Narrelle Morris’s ‘numerous and
unknown victims’ or ensure that they do not become what Lia Kent, in her paper
at the original conference, called, ‘wandering ghosts’.® Sometimes, this can be a
demand for recognition, as in Jennifer Balint’s plea for an acknowledgement on the
part of the Turkish state that the Armenian genocide took place and was not simply
a series of deportations initiated because of ‘wartime necessity’. And it is Balint who
makes the important point here that law will not always offer consolation. Indeed,
law itself was complicit in these crimes, making them ‘allowable’, as she puts it.

In Benedetta Faedi Duramy’s chapter (Chapter 10) on German massacres in
post-Mussolini Italy, she seeks to tell the untold story of a number of survivors (and,
by implication, those that did not survive). In such instances legal proceedings (and
here these include both the trials of those responsible and the civil proceedings
brought in 2008 by the German state against Italy) occasion a narrative in which
survivors speak directly. The proceedings themselves may be less important in this
regard. No doubt the trial of Joseph Milde (the proximate untold story) and, to a
greater extent the Germany v Italy proceedings at the International Court of Justice,
were significant as legal events. But, for Faedi Duramy, their importance lies in the
way in which such events provide a catalyst for story-telling and, perhaps more
importantly, offer an audience for such stories. People /isten to trial testimony and
extracurial narratives around trials.

The demands of consolation, of course, might become something akin to a claim
for compensation. We might think here of the class actions brought in California
by the victims of slave labour, or civil society agitations on behalf of Korean women
exploited by the Japanese Imperial Army. Yuki Tanaka’s graphic account of the
killing of Nauran Lepers or Firew Kebede Tiba’s compelling chapter (Chapter 15)
on the history of the Derg and its Red Terror in Ethiopia belong in this category.
As Tiba argues, ‘[t]he full scale of atrocities committed in Ethiopia following the
overthrow of the imperial regime in 1974 is yet to be fully told’.

Perhaps, though, there can never be a fully compensatory or truly consoling re-telling,

(II) Recovery

There is, of course, also a scholarly imperative to recover lost histories. Why should
the field keep repeating the same narrative arc from “Tokyoberg’ to The Hague?
Bringing in from the margins under-told trial histories helps to de-Europeanize

> See Yuki Tanaka, Japanese Atrocities on Nauru Island During the Pacific War’ (unpublished
paper, on file with editors) and essays by Nicola Henry and Tina Dolgopol on comfort women in Yuki
Tanaka, Tim McCormack and Gerry Simpson (eds), Beyond Victor’s Justice? The Tokyo War Crimes Trial
Revisited, (Leiden: Martinus Nijhoff, 2011).

¢ See Lia Kent, ‘Special Panels in East Timor: Official Goals and Local Expectations’, (unpublished
paper, on file with editors). See, too, Hannibal Travis’s treatment of the Biafran massacre and the
Bengal killings in his fine-grained historical study, ‘Cold War Genocides: Failures of Global Justice in
Nigeria and Pakistan’ (unpublished paper, on file with editors).
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the history of war crimes trials by showing that trials were also occurring in ‘other
places’. These can be national stories. Georgina Fitzpatrick and Narrelle Morris
(Chapters 16 and 17) tell the story of Australia’s involvement in a series of hidden
trials in the Asia-Pacific region. As Morris powerfully demonstrates, Asian
victims—Iargely absent from the major trial in Tokyo—were much more visible in
the 300-odd trials undertaken by the Australians in the Asia-Pacific region. That
is not to say that ‘Asianness’ was not constructed in a certain way in those trials or
that visibility was not also a fresh form of invisibility. Nonetheless, these are important
trials, and the project (led by our colleague, Tim McCormack) to publish trial
reports arising out of this period is to be greatly welcomed.

Sometimes the conference and book have sought to decentre the major trials
in general. Yuma Totani in her (unpublished) conference paper described the
trials in Tokyo that followed the International Military Tribunal for the Far East,
while Alija-Ferndndez brings to the light the experience of Spanish inmates in
the camps and the way in which they moved back and forth themselves between
nationality and statelessness. Finally, we have Roger Clark’s and Mark Drumbl’s
chapters (Chapters 19 and 20), in which Greiser and Sakai are announced as
major pre-Nuremberg, pre-Tokyo, national landmarks in the history of international
criminal law.

National histories, of course, are often deliberately obscured by a diffident state.
The Australians and Spanish might be keen to see the recovery of their lost histories
of prosecution and trial, but what of the French? The trials of Laval and Pétain
are hardly celebrated moments in French contemporary history, after all. And for
good reason, according to Dov Jacobs, in his Chapter 6. The Turkish authorities,
t00, have been reluctant to advertise the trials they convened after the mass killings
of Armenians. Paradoxically, here is a state that did deliver—through a series of
trials held after the Great War—what Jackson Maogoto (Chapter 14) claims is a
‘measure of justice’ for the victims but now would prefer to see that effort left in
the archive.

Steve Vladeck’s forensic chapter (Chapter 9) also seeks to recover a hidden history,
but one that is embedded in a larger much more visible history. During the US
Supreme Court’s struggle over (and sometimes with) the Bush administration’s
detention of individuals on Guantanamo Bay, a great deal turned on the extent to
which foreign nationals were able to claim constitutional or statutory rights in US
federal courts. The 1950 case of Eisentrager was at the centre of this debate. Yet, as
Vladeck notes, the decision was widely misread, and treated as a precedent for the
view that aliens are not entitled to enjoy Fifth Amendment rights outside the sov-
ereign territory of the United States. Vladeck’s re-reading of the case and his return
to the military commission hearing that provoked the Supreme Court’s review is
an exercise in carefully calibrated recovery.

The lost history recovered by Grietje Baars (Chapter 8) is that of international
criminal law as a retributive structure to be imposed on economic actors guilty of
encouraging, provoking or facilitating war or mass criminality. The ‘economic case’,
as she calls it, has been largely hidden in subsequent accounts of the post-Nuremberg
trials and was comprehensively elided in the West by the time the Cold War was in
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train (though it remained potent in the East as a way of explaining culpability for
Nazism). Indeed, the relationship between political economy and mass atrocity has
remained obscure in international criminal law since that time. Baars captures this
when she says: ‘As such, to paraphrase Miéville, the de facto immunity of business
leaders, a necessary ingredient of economic imperialism, is ICL.

War and atrocity can be attributed to many causes (race, religion, ethnicity), but
‘the “economic” has been removed from the narrative of war’. This is what Baars
calls, in an expressive epigram, ‘capitalism’s victor’s justice’.

(ITII) Pedigree

Tom Franck, who died in 2009, employed the idea of “pedigree” to great effect in
his 7he Power of Legitimacy Among Nations, and in international criminal law, there
is an increasing tendency to identify a lineage or pedigree for what often looks like
a departure from existing norms.” Perhaps as a field matures the turn to history
becomes more attractive. The general idea appears to be: ‘the present seems worked
through, it’s time to do some archacology’ (to use a loaded term) or ‘the system
is buil, let’s find out how it happened’. Pedigree also is partly about establishing
that a new field has not simply engaged in bootstrapping (or ‘making it up as we
go along’, as someone said at the conference). These histories suggest that instead
someone in the past made it up.

Untold Stories took place a few months after the meeting of the International
Criminal Court’s Assembly of States Parties in Kampala. One of the more significant
outcomes of that meeting was an agreed definition of a crime of aggression. Of
course, this crime was desperately short of pedigree when the Nazi and Japanese
elites were placed on trial at Nuremberg and Tokyo. Kellogg-Briand and a passing
reference in the Versailles Peace Treaty hardly constituted firm precedents. The
position improved very little affer 1949. In R v _Jones, the House of Lords and, at an
earlier stage, the Court of Appeal struggled to find post-war evidence of a robustly
prosecuted crime of aggression.® Had there been any prosecutions apart from those
in the zonal trials? Roger Clark, (Chapter 19) with brisk authority, disinters the
‘suggestive’ trial of Takashi Sakai by a Chinese national court in 1946 and makes
the tentative claim that Sakai was the first Japanese to be tried and executed for
the crime of aggression. This would make him only the second person in history
to be prosecuted for the crime of aggression. The first may well have been Arthur
Greiser. His trial before the Supreme National Tribunal of Poland ended with him
being sentenced to death on 9 July 1946 and then executed ‘in the early hours of
the morning of July 21, 1946’. Mark Drumbl’s familiar combination of doctri-
nal sure-footedness and sensitivity to context (Chapter 20) illuminates this trial

7 Thomas M. Franck, 7he Power of Legitimacy Among Nations (Oxford: Oxford University
Press, 1990).
8 R v Jones and Milling [2006] UKHL 16.
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and establishes this mostly untold story as a genuine precursor to Nuremberg and
Kampala.

The pedigree of international criminal law norms or procedures is often established
through an account of a local history. Certainly, this book is greatly concerned with
the recovery of those lost histories of the local that offer pedigree in a different
idiom. Julia Selman-Ayetey’s chapter (Chapter 13) on Norway’s universal jurisdic-
tion laws and the case of Mirsad Repak does precisely this. Norway, it turns out,
enacted a law of universal jurisdiction as far back as 1902. It is a modified version
of this law that permitted Norwegian courts to assert jurisdiction over Mr Repak, a
member of the Croatian Defence Forces (HOS’), during the Bosnian wars. Mr Repak
was sentenced to eight years in prison and was ordered to pay damages to some of
his victims. Here, as in many other instances documented in the book, a domes-
tic court was obliged to engage in an analysis of the nature of a particular armed
conflict and the applicability of international norms in local settings. One theme
that emerges, then, again and again (eg Tallgren) is the way in which international
criminal justice is always hybridized or modified in its encounters with local juris-
diction before sometimes returning again to the cosmopolitan space (see Liivoja’s
discussion of the European Court of Human Rights cases arising out of the Baltic
trials, Chapter 12). And here, too, there is a sense (discernible, as well, in the
chapters by Maogoto and Tiba) that the future of international criminal law—Iike
many of its recovered pasts—may lie not in the grand gesture of the international
trial but in the modest strivings of local jurisdiction.’

(IV) Pedagogy

A final style that emerged in the volume was built around pedagogy and the
problems of historiography. Laurence Douglas’s phrase ‘didactic legalism’ floated
around at the conference, as did the belief that lessons might be learnt or unlearnt
from our untold trials. The past is a foreign country, they do things the same way
there. At least sometimes. Peter von Hagenbach’s trial was grisly in some respects,
but in others, as Greg Gordon points out (Chapter 2), it compared favourably with
the Military Commissions Acts in the US or the detention of Prisoner X. Georgina
Fitzpatrick cautioned us not to simply condemn historical actors, and indeed there
was very little of that in the presentations. In the end, there was genuine curiosity
about how they, in that foreign country, had thought about collective guilt, about
joint criminal enterprise, about complementarity and so on.

9 This combination of local and international justice takes us back to piracy of which Neville Sorab,
at the conference, spoke when discussing some recent piracy trials (on file with the editors). But it is in
war crimes trials in general that piracy is often invoked as a precedent for what would otherwise appear
unprecedented (for example, the assertion of unusual forms of extra-territorial jurisdiction)—thus
the description of Eichmann, at this trial, as a ‘latter-day pirate’. Early piracy trials provide, in other
words, the field’s missing pedigree.
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This book does not tell the story of unenlightened lawyers working in the dark-
ness of history waiting to be redeemed in some great late-twentieth century leap
forward. Instead, we read about acts of imagination and innovation going back to
the nineteenth century, and we read about mistakes that we are familiar with from
the contemporary scene.

In Fred Mégret’s chapter (Chapter 7) we see lawyers themselves engage in pedagogic
efforts. As he puts it:

As in previous and subsequent war crimes trials, both defendants and victim witnesses were
tempted to make grand declarations about what they saw as the issues at stake rather than
simply answer the judges’ factual questions.

Dov Jacobs’ chapter (Chapter 6)—also about the French reckoning with the past but
this time involving the trials of Pétain and Laval—confronts head on the problem
of history and truth-telling through trial. It is clear that the French state wanted a
particular version of history to emerge from these trials: one that blamed a treacher-
ous and superannuated elite for the collaboration and, at the same time, exonerated
France. These narratives, then, ‘shape’ history, but the telling of hidden histories is
also a way of reshaping that same history. Jacobs puts the point forcefully (whether
one accepts his distinction between ‘reasoned analysis’ and ‘illusory truth’):

Only a reasoned analysis of the importance of post-conflict narratives, with their ambiguities,
rather than an over-reliance on an illusory objective truth, can help academics and practitioners
advance in the direction of the desired reconciliation.

Rain Liivoja’s chapter (Chapter 12) also negotiates a tension in the didactic trial,
between what he calls ‘the historical record produced by such trials [and] existing
historical paradigms’. In the case of the Soviet trials held in the Baltic Republics,
the trial record is deeply unreliable. Here we have what Liivoja calls a ‘conscious
falsification of evidence’ (as he notes, the notorious Soviet Prosecutor Andrey
Vyshinsky, who turns up at Nuremberg as well, had engaged in doctoring the
medical reports produced by the Extraordinary State Commission established
as carly as 1942 to investigate alleged Nazi atrocities in the Baltic states). But
even in the case of the investigations undertaken into Soviet offences, the tension
between histories is palpable. In particular, there is the sharp divergence between
the still-persistent Russian ‘myth of war’ and the judicial correction of that myth.
Sometimes this tension becomes explicit:

The trials and tribulations of Mr Kononov had probably something to do with the fact that
on 15 May 2009, Mr Dmitry Medvedeyv, President of the Russian Federation, established a
Commission to Counter Attempts to Falsify History to the Detriment of Russia’s Interests.
Reportedly, legislation is being prepared that would make it a criminal offence to diverge
from the official line of history as determined by the commission. On 30 September 2009,
the Parliament of Lithuania fired back by amending the Criminal Code, criminalising the
denial or justification of crimes against humanity committed by the Soviet Union or Nazi
Germany. The battle of histories continues.

Tamds Hoffmann, traversing similar territory, wonders if international criminal
law is really capable of coming to terms with something we might think of as ‘the
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past’. In his chapter (Chapter 11), he explores the use and misuse of international
criminal law’s categorizations and tropes in the context of Hungary’s investigation
and prosecution of those responsible for communist repression in the period
immediately following the 1956 uprising. This is another story of a local court
either getting the (international) law wrong somehow or creating a distinctively
local rendering of that law (a great deal in the field turns on the difference between
these two positions). But it is also a story about the limits of international justice
in recounting a certain kind of past. Not every hidden history has to have a moral,
but as Hoffman puts it:

If there is any moral in the story—apart from the necessity of reforming the educa-
tion of judges—it is that international criminal law cannot in itself substitute for the
ultimately political project of confronting past wrongs and trying to achieve national
reconciliation.

This sort of reckoning is elusive. Perhaps it is not even desirable. In his chapter
(Chapter 18), our colleague at Melbourne Law School, Peter Rush, pivots around
the film E/ secreto de sus ojos in a series of gestures at the ineffability of pain and
suffering, and the genres of representation that seek to work round that ineffability
and establish what he calls a ‘memorial jurisdiction’ in relation to Argentina’s Dirty
War between 1976 and 1983. This war—a war of terror conducted in official and
clandestine keys—has been the subject of a highly visible campaign of national
reckoning. It has bequeathed a name—the disappeared (or desaparecidos)—and a
politics of memory. Law, of course, a ‘producer of truth’ and memory, is (sometimes)
central to all of this. Indeed, it is a hidden history of Rush’s chapter that the trial
processes have intensified in recent years. Yet Rush is as uneasy as Hoffmann at the
idea that law could provide a definitive accounting or any sort of stable representation
of atrocity or trauma. In a life lived with law, there is always ‘slippage and complexity’
(Rush).

What might ‘we’ do in the face of all of this? On one hand, the Finnish War
Responsibility cases are early examples of trials in which the crime of aggression is
given a local re-interpretation. In this sense, Immi Tallgren’s chapter (Chapter 21)
belongs in the tradition of, say, Roger ClarK’s recovery of the Sakai Trial. Tallgren’s
chapter though—inquisitorial, forthright and tentative—is also about the
(im)possibility of a law that writes history. In this case, law is recruited to com-
prehend and read the relations between Finland, Nazi Germany and the Soviet
Union during the 1940s. But that law, too, had to negotiate Allied demands that the
Finnish leadership during the war with the Soviet Union (the Continuation War)
be held to account, as well as outrage within Finland that wartime leaders ‘who had
tried their best for the nation’ (Soini, quoted by Tallgren) should be prosecuted at all.
The trial proceeded and some important Finnish leaders were convicted and jailed.
The questions then arise: can this juristic history be re-written or unwritten by law?
Should they be? By whom? Told stories can certainly be retold. But in the act of
re-telling, it seems, many other stories emerge from new contexts at different times.

In the end, this book features a series of untold or under-told stories about trials
and histories that have, in some respect or other, been hidden or obscured by the
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imperatives of an official or semi-official disciplinary history. Yet, while acknowl-
edging the expressive value of trial, the scholarly value of recovery, the human value
of consolation and the doctrinal value of pedigree, the contributors have, at the
same time, kept their eyes fixed on the problem of history itself and the boundaries

of the knowable.
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PRE-HISTORIES:
FROM VON HAGENBACH TO

THE ARMENIAN GENOCIDE
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The Trial of Peter von Hagenbach:
Reconciling History, Historiography and
International Criminal Law

Gregory S. Gordon®

(I) Introduction

It is an article of faith among transnational penal law experts that Sir Peter von
Hagenbach’s 1474 prosecution in Breisach for atrocities committed serving the Duke
of Burgundy constitutes the first international war crimes trial in history. Hagenbach
was tried before an ad hoc tribunal of twenty-eight judges from various regional
city-states for misdeeds, including murder and rape, he allegedly perpetrated as gover-
nor of the Duke’s Alsatian territories from 1469 to 1474. Though it remains obscure
in the popular imagination, most legal scholars perceive the trial as a landmark event.
Some value it for formulating an embryonic version of crimes against humanity.
Others praise it for ostensibly charging rape as a war crime. And all are in agreement
that it is the first recorded case in history to reject the defence of superior orders.
Such a perspective has arguably helped invest the Nuremberg trials with greater
historical legitimacy and lent subtle sanction to the development of international
criminal law in the post-Cold War world. But the legal literature typically deals
with the trial in very cursory fashion and its stature as pre-Nuremberg precedent
may hinge on faulty assumptions. As the 1990s explosion of ad hoc tribunal activity
is nearing its end and the legal academy is taking stock of its accomplishments and

* Associate Professor, University of North Dakota (UND) School of Law and Director, UND
Centre for Human Rights and Genocide Studies. This piece would not have been possible without
the wisdom, insight and language skills of Dr Robert G. Waite, a talented and generous German
historian. The author is also quite grateful for the exceptional research assistance of Jan Stone, Head of
Faculty Services at the UND School of Law Thormodsgard Library. I am grateful as well to Dr Scott
Farrington whose excellent Latin translations were essential. Thanks for invaluable editorial help are
also due to Professor Laurie Blank, Director of the Emory Law School Humanitarian Clinic. Special
thanks as well go to research assistants Moussa Nombre and Lilie Schoenack and to UND law student
Vanessa Anderson, whose German translation assistance was very much appreciated. My dear friend
Dominique Latteur also provided invaluable historical insights. And thanks, as always, to my wonderful
wife and children.
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failures, it is perhaps time to look more closely at the Hagenbach trial. This piece
will do that by digging below the surface and revisiting some of the historical and
legal premises underlying the trial’s perception by legal academics.

In the main, international law specialists have relied on older historical accounts
to conclude that Hagenbach’s service as Burgundy’s Alsatian bailiff’ constituted
a five-year reign of terror that culminated in a legitimate and ground-breaking
atrocity conviction.! But revisionist historians tend to see Hagenbach’s ordeal not
as a good-faith justice enterprise but rather as a show trial meant to rebuff the
territorial ambitions of Sir Peter’s master, Charles the Bold.? They emphasize that
liability was grounded on confessions obtained through torture.> And while they
concede that Hagenbach may have been boorish and autocratic, they note that the
first few years of his rule were relatively pacific and the 1474 uprising against Sir
DPeter was primarily a reaction to attempted Burgundian regional encroachments
and perceived feudal suppression of growing urban and bourgeois prerogatives.*
The trial itself, they point out, was not international at all as the men who sat in
judgment of Hagenbach were all subjects of the Holy Roman Empire.” Nor was
it a war crimes trial, since there was no armed conflict at the time the alleged
atrocities took place.®

Buct there are shortcomings in the revisionist analysis as well. The high level of
animosity shown to Hagenbach, as demonstrated by the severity of the torture and
the stripping of his knighthood, as well as a criminal past, indicate that the atrocity
allegations may not be unfounded. Moreover, there is evidence that, in the period
leading up to the trial, Burgundy’s occupation of the territory was hostile and so
the charges against Hagenbach may very well be considered war crimes. Finally, by
1474, the Holy Roman Empire was no longer a viable political entity and so the
ad hoc tribunal may indeed have been international in nature.

This chapter is divided into four sections. Part II examines the conventional
view of Hagenbach in the field of international criminal law (ICL). It demonstrates
that the ICL perception of the case as history’s first ‘international war crimes trial’
finds its origins in a law professor’s Manchester Guardian op-ed published while the
International Military Tribunal (IMT) at Nuremberg was deciding the fate of the
major Nazi war criminals. The op-ed, by English jurist Georg Schwarzenberger,
argued that the Hagenbach precedent supported many of the legal positions taken
by the IMT prosecution at Nuremberg, including charging crimes against humanity

! See, for example, Georg Schwarzenberger, ‘A Forerunner of Nuremberg: The Breisach War Crime
Trial of 1474, The Manchester Guardian (London), 28 September 1946, 4; L.C. Green, Superior Orders
in National and International Law (Leiden: Sijthoff, 1976), 263; Robert Cryer, Prosecuting International
Crimes: Selectivity and the International Criminal Law Regime (Cambridge: Cambridge University
Press, 2005).

2 See, eg, Richard Vaughan, Charles the Bold: The Last Valois Duke of Burgundy (Suffolk: The Boydell
Press, 2002), 283-86.

* Vaughan, above n 2. * Vaughan, above n 2, 266-85.

> Hermann Heimpel, ‘Mitelalter und Niirnberger Prozef8’ in Festschrift Edmund E. Stengel: zum
70. Geburtstag am 24. Dezember 1949 dargebracht von Freunden Fachgenossen und Schiilern (Miinster
[u.a.]: Bohlau, 1952), 449.

¢ Hermann Heimpel, above n 5.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



The Trial of Peter von Hagenbach 15

and rejecting the defence of superior orders. And, following in Schwarzenberger’s
footsteps, subsequent ICL scholars have cited the Hagenbach case in support of
arguments for normative evolution in the field, such as contending that Hagenbach
represents precedent for charging rape as a war crime. Part III considers the case’s
historiography, limning the evolution of a narrative that starts with Hagenbach as
evil incarnate and progresses toward a more charitable view that explains the his-
torical animosity toward him in terms of Hagenbach’s being a francophone outsider
imposing a reform regime on an entrenched, corrupt, germanophone society. Given
the historiographical cleavage, then, each camp has an historical narrative that nec-
essarily diverges from the other. But they also have many points in common. This
part considers the convergences and divergences as well. Finally, Part IV attempts to
reconcile the divergences and concludes that both historic portrayals of Hagenbach
are likely accurate: he was a despised outsider and reformer at first, but became
violent and despotic toward the end of his stewardship when resources to govern
were dwindling and local unrest reached a tipping point. Hagenbach likely committed
atrocities in this final phase. At the same time, and for related reasons, Burgundy
became a belligerent occupying power. And given the atrophied state of the Holy
Roman Empire, those who sat in judgment of Hagenbach represented sovereign
polities. So the trial of Peter von Hagenbach was indeed the world’s first international
war crimes trial.

It is no coincidence that such a unique event took place between the erosion of
medieval hegemony and the imminent establishment of Westphalian sovereignty.
Not until the Westphalian veil was pierced by the Nuremberg trials nearly 500
years later, did the subject of the Hagenbach trial take on contemporary relevance
in the legal literature. In the end, the piece concludes that while some of its details
may be lost in the mists of time and its legal status may remain muddled in theoretic
gray zones, the Hagenbach trial should continue to play an important role as an
historic and conceptual pillar of international criminal law’s ‘pre-history’.

(IT) Hagenbach and International

Criminal Law

International criminal law is a product of the twentieth century. After World War I,
through the treaties of Versailles and Sévres, Allied leaders contemplated using it
to bring to justice Kaiser Wilhelm II and the Ottoman officials responsible for
the Armenian genocide. But the requisite political will to follow through proved
lacking and the formulation and use of ICL would have to wait for the pros-
ecution of the architects of another world war’s horrors. The IMT was, then, a
novel enterprise and thought to be without precedent. As such, at the time of its
establishment, it was subjected to much criticism. Among other things, detractors
accused it of enforcing laws ex post facto and creating out of whole cloth a new
offence—crimes against humanity.

But at least one expert had a very unique view of the Nuremberg proceedings.
Georg Schwarzenberger, an English jurist of Jewish—German descent who had

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com
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fled Nazi persecution in the 1930s, saw an analogy between Nuremberg and an
obscure case from the fifteenth century—the criminal trial at Breisach of Sir Peter
von Hagenbach. In an article written after the close of evidence at the IMT trial,
while the judges were still deliberating, Schwarzenberger published an article in
The Manchester Guardian titled ‘A Forerunner of Nuremberg: The Breisach War
Crime Trial of 1474’ In the article, Schwarzenberger opined that the Hagenbach
proceeding ‘appears to be the first international war crime trial’ and that it was
conducted ‘in accordance with the highest judicial standards’.®

Schwarzenberger explained that, in serving as a governor for the Duke of
Burgundy, Hagenbach ‘established a regime of arbitrariness and terror that went
beyond anything that was customary even in those rather rough times” and he went
so far as to analogize Hagenbach’s conduct with that of the Nazi leaders in the
dock at Nuremberg.? In referring to the trial itself, Schwarzenberger suggested that
Hagenbach was charged with something akin to crimes against humanity. In the
words of the prosecutor, he noted, the accused had ‘trampled under foot the laws
of God and men’” and had committed what would be called today crimes against
humanity.'

Moreover, Schwarzenberger stated that Hagenbach’s trial involved charges of war
crimes because ‘the hold of Burgundy over the pledged Austrian territories was more
akin to the occupation of foreign territory in war-time than to a peacetime occupation
of foreign territory under treaty’.!! Similarly, by Schwarzenberger’s estimation, the
trial was ‘international’ in character since the judges hailed from different sovereign
city-states in the region that were no longer part of the Holy Roman Empire.'?

Finally, the article closed by noting that ‘when judgment was pronounced, the
tribunal rejected the advocate’s preliminary objections to its jurisdiction. It overruled
the plea of superior orders, found Hagenbach guilty, and condemned him to death’.”?

Apparently, the prosecutors at Nuremberg noticed Schwarzenberger’s article.
In the Control Council Law No. 10 ‘subsequent proceedings’, American Chief
Prosecutor Telford Taylor relied on the Hagenbach case to argue to the Nuremberg
Military Tribunal in The Ministries Case, for example, that charging crimes against
humanity did not constitute an impermissible ex post facto application of law.'*
The Hagenbach trial factored into 7he High Command Case as well. In noting
that the provisions of the IMT Charter and Control Council Law No. 10 were
the expression of existing international law, the NMT in 7he High Command Case
judgment referred to ‘the trial of Sir Peter of Hagenbach held at Breisach in 1474.
The charges against him were analogous to “Crimes against Humanity” in modern
concept. He was convicted’.”

7 Schwarzenberger, above n 1, 4. 8 Schwarzenberger, above n 1, 4.
9 Schwarzenberger, above n 1, 4. 10" Schwarzenberger, above n 1, 4.
11" Schwarzenberger, above n 1, 4. 12 Schwarzenberger, above n 1, 4.

13 Schwarzenberger, above n 1, 4.

Y See US v Ernst von Weizsaecker (Trials of War Criminals Before the Nuremberg Military Tribunals
under Control Council Law No. 10) (International Military Tribunal, Ministries case No 11/Vol 13,
October 1946-May 1949) 96-7. See also US v Von Leeb (The High Command Case No 12/Vol 11,
October 1946-May 1949), 476.

5 US v Von Leeb (The High Command Case No 12/Vol 11, October 1946-May 1949), 476.
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And so this became the Rosetta Stone for ICL perception of the Hagenbach
case—forged by Schwarzenberger and embraced at Nuremberg. Schwarzenberger
strengthened its foundation with subsequent scholarly publications. For example,
he devoted a short chapter to it in his treatise 7he Law of Armed Conflict (1968).'¢
Chapter 39 (“The Breisach Trial of 1474’) of Volume Two, titled International Law
as Applied by International Courts and Tribunals, fleshed out the materials of his
Manchester Guardian article."”

By 1976, Professor L.C. Green of the University of Alberta could observe in his
book, Superior Orders in National and International Law:

There seems to be a widely accepted view that the problem of superior orders on the level
of international law is of recent date, originating with the judgment of the Nuremberg
tribunal after the Second World War. In fact, this is not historically correct. In September
1946, Professor Schwarzenberger drew attention to the trial conducted on the orders of the
Archduke of Austria on behalf of himself and his Allies of Peter of Hagenbach, Chatles of
Burgundy’s Governor of Breisach. The trial took place in 1474 before a court made up of 28
judges drawn from Breisach, the other allied Alsatian and Upper Rhenian towns, Berne, a
member of the Swiss Confederation, and Solothurn, allied with Berne. Broadly speaking, the
charges covered what today would be described as war crimes and crimes against humanity.'®

Then, in a passage starkly demonstrating Schwarzenberger’s influence in connecting
the Hagenbach trial to modern ICL antecedents, Green linked Hagenbach to both
Article 227 of the Versailles Treaty (contemplating an international criminal trial for
Kaiser Wilhelm II) and a nascent version of crimes against humanity. ‘Foretelling
the charges specified in the Treaty of Versailles against the Kaiser, Hagenbach was
alleged to have “trampled under foot the laws of God and man”’."?

Subsequent descriptions of the case in ICL literature, with minor variations, are
remarkably consistent with the Schwarzenberger blueprint. Robert Cryer has noted
that, with respect to the Hagenbach trial, ‘the standard reference for international
criminal lawyers remains Georg Schwarzenberger's International Law as Applied by
International Courts and Tribunals II: The Law of Armed Conflict, Chapter 392
And thus Schwarzenberger’s influence extends to every form of scholarship in
ICL, including treatises, compilations, casebooks, law review articles, and internet
commentary.?!

In the meantime, one can discern through this entrenched narrative many of the
important lineaments of modern ICL norm development. In addition to being
traditionally recognized as establishing precedent for rejection of the superior

¢ Georg Schwarzenberger, The Law of Armed Conflict (London: Stevens and Sons, 1968), 462—6.
7 Schwarzenberger, above n 1, 462-6. 18 Green, above n 1, 263.

19 Green, above n 1, 264. 20 Cryer, above n 1.

21 See, eg, Michael 2. Scharf and William A. Schabas, ‘Slobodan Milosevic on Trial: A Companion’,
Continuum, 39 (2002) (‘The history of international war crimes trials begins with the 1474 prosecu-
tion of Peter von Hagenbaclk’); Jules Deschenes, Toward International Criminal Justice, in Roger
S. Clark and Madeleine Sann (eds), 7he Prosecution of International Crimes: A Critical Study of the
International Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (New Brunswick and London: Transaction Publishers,
1996), 30; Cherif Bassiouni, ‘Perspectives on International Criminal Justice’, Virginia Journal of
International Law, 50 (2010), 298.
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18 Pre-Histories: From von Hagenbach to the Armenian Genocide

orders defence?? and formulation of crimes against humanity,® the case is now
credited with helping cultivate new ICL norms. For example, it is now considered
precedent for charging rape as a war crime.? Similarly, the tribunal’s refusal to
accept Hagenbach’s argument that only a court of Burgundy could try him is
thought to have served as a model for the International Criminal Tribunal for
the former Yugoslavias rejection of Dusko Tadic’s plea of jus de non evocando.”
More recently, in response to claims that the International Criminal Court’s Rome
Statute does not brook state self-referral of cases,”® Mohamed El Zeidy has invoked
the Hagenbach trial as proof to the contrary.”’

This phenomenon of citing Hagenbach to help legitimize modern norm crea-
tion is summed up nicely by Timothy L.H. McCormack: “There is a tendency by
some commentators to make too much of the Hagenbach trial by characterizing it,
without qualification as “the first international war crimes trial” and then relying
on it as international legal precedent for more contemporary developments’.?®
Is it appropriate for modern jurists to avail themselves of the Hagenbach case in this
manner? In order to answer that question, we must take a much deeper look at the
historical record and legal issues.

(II) Hagenbach and History

To understand the Hagenbach phenomenon in the ICL context, one must reconstruct
the historical record and then dig below its surface. Given the plethora of historical
narratives regarding the Burgundian bailiff, it is necessary to classify and parse the
materials—in other words, as a preliminary matter, an examination of the case’s
historiography is indispensable. Then the history itself can be considered to identify
the narrative points of convergence and divergence.

22 See, eg, Gary D Solis, ‘Obedience to Orders: History and Abuses at Abu Graib Prisor’, Journal of
International Criminal Justice, 2 (2004), 990 (‘He [Henry Wirtz, Commandant of the Andersonville
prisoner-of-war camp] pleaded superior orders and, like von Hagenbach nearly 400 years previously,
the plea was rejected’).

» See, eg, Evo Popoff, ‘Inconsistency and Impunity in International Human Rights Law: Can the
International Criminal Court Solve the Problems Raised by the Rwanda and Augusto Pinochet Cases’
(Note), George Washington International Law Review, 33 (2001), 364 (‘Aside from the Hagenbach case,
efforts to create and enforce international crimes against humanity were mostly unsuccessful prior to
World War IT’).

24 See Thom Shanker, ‘Sexual Violence’ in Roy Gutman, David Rieff, and Anthony Dworkin (eds),
Crimes of War: What the Public Should Know (New York, NY: 2nd edn, W.W. Norton, 2007), 323.

% Cryer, above n 1, 20.

% See, eg, Gregory S Gordon, ‘Complementarity and Alternative Justice’, Oregon Law Review, 88
(2009), 662 (‘Self-generated referrals, on the other hand, do not inspire the same kind of confidence
[and find] no support in the Rome Statute’s “(travaux préparatoires)”. .. [essentially, they] represent a
government’s request for ICC help in dealing with rebel groups’).

¥ Mohamed M. El Zeidy, The Principle of Complementarity in International Law: Origin, Development
and Practice (Boston, MA and Leiden: Brill, 2008), 211.

2 Timothy L.H. McCormack, ‘From Sun Tzu to the Sixth Committee: The Evolution of an
International Criminal Law Regime’ in Timothy L.H. McCormack and Gerry J. Simpson (eds), 7he
Law of War Crimes: National and International Approaches (Alphen aan den Rijn: Kluwer, 1997), 38.
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(1) Historiography

Over the centuries, history has been progressively more kind to Peter von Hagenbach.
That might have seemed inconceivable in 1474. In the aftermath of his execution,
he was portrayed as evil incarnate. His trial was seen as fair and his execution
entirely justified. Hagenbach’s initial infamy owes primarily to contemporary
narratives published by his foes.”” On the Teutonic side, Swiss chaplain Johannes
Knebel, a conscientious diarist from Basel, chronicled the governorship, trial and
execution of Sir Peter.®® In the words of historian Gabrielle Claerr-Stamm, ‘the
Knebel diary results in a [Hagenbach] biography that is very dark, where everything
is atrocities, brutality, a portrait completely black, without nuance’.?' To a lesser
extent, Johannes von Durlach, Breisach’s notary, also described the Burgundian
bailiff’s supposed depredations in a publication known as “The Reimchronik’, a 1474
collection of rhymed verse.? Claerr-Stamm has noted that for centuries these
first texts would influence historians who would repeat them, without any critical
distance’.?? Historian Werner Paravicini adds: ‘For centuries, histories and poetic
accounts cast this dark figure in the role of anti-hero for the Burgundian occupation
of the Upper Rhine, the quintessential alien French speaker, the man of every
excess, sexual and otherwise.’>

Among those historians (both expert and lay) one would include Charles the
Bold’s Gallic enemies (allies of French King Louis XI), who did not give terribly
flattering accounts of Hagenbach in those early years.> For example, Philippe de
Commines, former counsellor to the Duke of Burgundy, until he switched his
allegiance by becoming a key advisor to Louis XI,*® contributed towards creating
the ‘black legend” surrounding Hagenbach.?” Subsequent French historians wrote
even more damning prose about the Alsatian bailiff. In his History of France, Henri
Martin wrote that Hagenbach’s pastimes were murder and rape.”® PE. Tueffert

» Gabrielle Claerr-Stamm, Pierre de Hagenbach: Le Destin Tragique d'un Chevalier Sundgauvien au
Service de Charles le Téméraire (Riedisheim: Société d’Histoire du Sundgau 2004), 11.

30 Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 11.

31 Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 11 (author’s translation).

3 Werner Paravicini, ‘Hagenbach’s Hochzeit: Ritterlichhéfische Kultur zwischen Burgund und
dem Reich im 15. Jahrhundert 41” in Konrad Krimm and Rainer Briining, Zwischen Habsburg und
Burgund. Der Oberrhein als europdische Landschaft im 15. Jahrhunderts (Osthildern: Thorbecke, 2003).
Paravicini points out that the Reimchronik may also have been written by Berthold Stehelin, the mayor
of Breisach.

33 Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 11.

3 Werner Paravicini, ‘Parler d’amour au XVe siécle: Pierre de Hagenbach et la dame de Remiremont’,
Comptes-rendus des séances de lannée, 147 (3) (2003), 1277, 1278. Paravicini has devoted much time
to reversing this perception of Hagenbach, including publication of a book containing a series of
love letters exchanged between Hagenbach and an anonymous paramour. See Werner Paravicini, ‘Un
Amour Malheureux du XVe Siecle: Pierre de Hagenbach et La Dame de Remiremont’, journal des
savants (2006) 105-81.

35 Claer-Stamm, above n 29, 11-12.

3% See Andrew Richard Scoble, ‘Life of Philip de Commines’ in 7he Memoirs of Philip de
Commines: Lord of Argenton: Containing the Histories of Louis XI. and Charles VIIL, Kings of France,
and of Charles the Bold, Duke of Burgundy (London: Henry G. Bohn, 1856), vol 1, xi—xx.

37 Scoble, above n 36, 8.

3 Henri Martin, The History of France from the Earliest Period Until 1789 (Furne et Compagnie,
Librairies-Editeurs, 1841).
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described Hagenbach as the archetypal feudal monster whose life was one long
string of crime and infamy.?* Perhaps the best known and most influential of these
French historians (and, in many ways, the culmination of the work of previous
ones) was Aimable-Guillaume-Prosper Brugiere, baron de Barante (commonly
referred to as ‘Prosper de Barante’) whose multi-volume work Histoire des ducs de
Bourgogne de la maison de Valois: 1364—1477 figures prominently in any bibliog-
raphy of the Burgundian duchy.*’ Barante, who apparently relied in large part on
the now-missing text of Hagenbach contemporary M. Golbéry (in a journal kept
by sixteenth-century architect Daniel Specklin), provided the classic portrait of
Hagenbach as demonic villain.*!

Nevertheless, a more nuanced view of Hagenbach began to emerge in the latter
half of the nineteenth century. In his study of the final years of the Burgundian
court, History of Charles the Bold, Duke of Burgundy (1868), American historian
John Foster Kirk questioned the reliability of the contemporaneous germanophone
accounts of Hagenbach.*? French historians eventually followed suit. In his book
Peter von Hagenbach and the Burgundian Domination, author Charles Nerlinger
offered this charitable description of Hagenbach: ‘He was a forward-looking
character, but impressionable, guided only by instinct, brooking no dissent and
prone to fly off the handle.”® That trend continued into the twentieth century.
In her 1957 Hagenbach biography, Der Landvogr Peter von Hagenbach, German
historian Hildburg Brauer-Gramm attributed tyrannical qualities to Hagenbach
but found them somewhat mitigated by his capabilities as a soldier and partly
excusable given the boorish culture of the Burgundian court.*

Hagenbach’s reputation was further rehabilitated by English historian Richard
Vaughan in his 1972 study Charles the Bold: The Last Valois Duke of Burgundy.®
Vaughan portrayed Hagenbach as a visionary administrative reformer who was not
given sufficient resources to effect necessary change in the region. Finally, Hagenbach’s
reputation was more recently rehabilitated in Gabrielle Claerr-Stamm’s full-length
biography of Hagenbach. As Paravicini notes: ‘Nerlinger, Witte, Bernoulli, and
very recently Gabrielle Claerr-Stamm have written Hagenbach biographies which

tend to rehabilitate his image: Georges Bischoff goes as far as to call him “Peter the
Good, or the Bold”.”#¢

3 PE. Tueffert, Pierre de Hagenbach (Strasbourg: Revue d’Alsace 1878), 210.

0 Amable-Guillaume-Prosper Brugi¢re de Barante, Histoire des ducs de Bourgogne de la maison de
Valois: 1364—1477 (Paris: Librairie Le Normant, 1854).

1 Georges Bischoff, ‘Noblesse, Pouvoirs, Société: Les Pays Antérieurs de I'’Autriche (Milieu
XIVe Siécle—Milieu XVIe Siécle)’, Doctoral Dissertation (University of Paris, 1996), 34. See also
Joseph Billioud, Les Etats de Bourgogne aux XIVe et XVe siécles (Dijon: Académie des sciences, arts
et belles-lettres 1922), 151 (stating that Barante relied on the Alsatian history of Daniel Specklin
(1536-1589) whose manuscript disappeared in 1870).

2 John Foster Kirk, History of Charles the Bold, Duke of Burgundy (Philadelphia, PA: ].P. Lippincott, 1864).

# Charles Nerlinger, Pierre de Hagenbach et La Domination Bourguignonne (Persée, 1890), 156.

# Hildburg Brauer-Gramm, Der Landvogt Peter von Hagenbach (Northeim and Zurich: Musterschmidt
Verlag, 1957), 48.

# Vaughan, above n 2, 84. 4 Paravicini, ‘Parler d’amour au XVe si¢cle’, above n 34, 1278.
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So which historians have it right—those relying on the contemporaneous accounts
or the revisionists? Are there any degrees of consensus between them? The section
that follows will attempt to stitch together an historical record from the various
strands of available narratives.

(2) History
(a) Points of consensus in the record

(i) Overview: The Duchy of Burgundy in a time of upheaval and transformation
The pre-Westphalian political Europe in and around the time of Peter von Hagenbach
bears little resemblance to today’s continent. While the nation-state represents the pre-
dominant contemporary European unit of organization, a less homogenous political
configuration predominated in the fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries. Alongside
the larger kingdoms and imperial realms, the landscape was dotted with lordships,
principalities, cantons, grand duchies, prince-bishoprics, federations, abbeys, petty
lordships, countships, fiefdoms, margraviates, and city-states. The proliferation of
these smaller polities was in part responsible for a rather volatile transnational
environment with strategic manoeuvring and jostling for position and power
throughout the continent—sometimes directly in competition with larger king-
doms, nascent nation-states and the continent’s supranational behemoth, the Holy
Roman Empire. Against this backdrop played out the bloody battles of, among
others, the end-stages of the Hundred Years War and the incipient clashes of what
would become the Protestant Reformation and culminate in the Thirty Years War.

Some of the era’s tumult was due to the emerging erosion of certain medieval power
structures, such as the Holy Roman Empire and the Catholic Church. Glimmerings
on the horizon of the Protestant Reformation, the resolution of dynastic struggles,
and embryonic yearnings for democracy and ethno-linguistic self-determination
can certainly account for much of this change. On the other hand, some of the
violent upheaval of the time was very personality driven—certain ambitious rulers
wished to expand their domains and were willing to engage in armed conflict to
make that happen.

One such ruler in the latter half of the fifteenth century was Charles, Duke of
Burgundy, whom history remembers by the colourful cognomen, ‘the Bold’. His
detractors referred to him as Charles ‘the Terrible’. The Valois Burgundian duchy
that Charles took over in 1465 had grown considerably in size, wealth and power
in the century since Charless similarly-dubbed great-grandfather, Philip the Bold,
received it in apanage from King John II of France. Originally a relatively modest
fief in the northeast portion of France, it became something of a middle kingdom
between England, France, and the German Holy Roman Empire. It eventually
stretched from the Low Countries to parts of modern-day Germany and its posses-
sions included, among others, Franche-Comté, Flanders, Brabant, Luxembourg,
Lorraine, and Alsace.

Charles the Bold, aggressively following the expansionist policies of his father, Philip
the Good, was responsible for bringing the duchy’s growth to its apex. Notwithstanding
that growth, there were significant north-south territorial gaps in the Burgundian
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realm and Charles wanted to bridge them to form a united super-landmass, the
‘Kingdom of Lotharingia’, under his rule in the heart of Europe. He also had hopes of
parlaying such power into a bid for accession to the Holy Roman Imperial throne.
As a consequence of such ambition and expansionist aims, as well as a series of
shifting alliances among other sovereigns vying for power in the region, Charles
found himself within the eye of a bellicose Continental storm that would eventually
consume him.

More precisely, to the west, as Burgundy sought to maintain and enlarge its
territory in France, Charles was engulfed in a turf war with French King Louis XI.
To the east, the Duke incurred the enmity of the Swiss and Austrians after gaining
control of Alsace and subjecting its citizens to the authoritarian stewardship of
Hagenbach. He would ultimately be squeezed between these two axes of conflict.

At the same time, the Europe of Peter von Hagenbach was transitioning from a
feudal, land-based civilization to an increasingly urbanized, bourgeois society. Much of
the tension precipitating the armed conflicts was also due to this increasing rift between
these old and new orders during the High Middle Ages. Peter von Hagenbach and
his master Charles the Bold represented the old order. The emerging nation-state
of France, whose king, Louis XI, appreciated and supported the sociological and
economic shift from medieval to modern, represented the new order. So did many
of the Swiss cantons and Alsatian free city-states. The rising burgher class in these
pre-modern territorial pockets would lock horns with Charles and his bailiff and
history would never again be the same.

(ii) The conflict with Louis XI
The contest between Charles the Bold and Louis XI began not long after Louis’s
ascension to the French throne. In an effort to extend and centralize royal power,
Louis began to limit the prerogatives of the French nobility—assessing them new
levies and stripping them of much authority. At the same time, Louis discharged
some of his father’s most loyal and competent ministers and officers and they, in
turn, intrigued with the nobility to stir up rebellion against the French monarch.
The foremost champion of their cause was Charles the Bold, who used Louis’s
young and ineffectual brother Charles, the Duke of Berry, as the figurchead of a
nobility opposition group, known as ‘the League of the Public Weal’.¥” Led by
Burgundy, the League went to war against the King of France.*® The position of the
two sides ebbed and flowed.* But after royal forces failed to check a Burgundian
advance on Paris, Louis, a very shrewd diplomat (later dubbed the ‘Universal
Spider’) gave the impression that he was yielding to the League’s demands. All
these measures, however, were seemingly taken in an underhanded effort to break
up the League. Louis was temporizing. Within months of ceding Normandy to his
brother, for example, he reclaimed it. In the end, France was saved from collapse
by the refusal of the lesser gentry to rise up against its king, and by the alliance of
Louis with the citizen class, especially the growing ranks of city dwellers.

47" Christopher Hare, 7he Life of Louis XI: The Rebel Dauphin and the Statesman King (London and
New York: Harper & Brothers 1907), 99-100.
4 Hare, above n 47, 102. 4 Hare, above n 47, 102—09.
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But the larger war between Louis XI and Charles the Bold continued and entered
a new phase. Louis extended an olive branch to certain key members of the League
by returning to them various estates and privileges and beginning the process of
turning them against Charles. Over the next few years, Charles would win various
military campaigns against Louis but could not bring him down. Louis had some
success on the battlefield as well and in 1472, after an unsuccessful invasion of
France, Charles was obliged to make a lasting truce with Louis. Yet another phase
opened in which Charles’s projects were to be concentrated primarily on his eastern
flank, toward the German-speaking territories. In the meantime, Louis kept his
eye on Charles’s new endeavours and waited for his chance to destroy Burgundy
through new diplomatic alliances.

(iii) Austria, Switzerland and Alsace

To put the case of Peter von Hagenbach into context, one must also consider the situ-
ation on Charles’s eastern flank—the area that now comprises Switzerland, Austria,
and Germany. The Holy Roman Empire took control over the territories of modern
Switzerland in approximately Ap 1033. Over the next two centuries, certain Swiss
cantons entered into a political alliance known as the ‘Old Swiss Confederacy’. By
the mid-fifteenth century, the Confederates, or Eidgenossen, formed a loose affiliation
of about a dozen largely independent small states.

Although they had the status of ‘imperial immediacy’ within the Holy Roman
Empire (ie, directly under the Emperor), they had been for some time under the
effective control of Austria’s ruling family, the Habsburgs. The latter resisted Swiss
efforts to gain independence and this led to a series of fourteenth-century battles
against Habsburg forces that the Swiss won decisively, most notably the Battles
of Sempach and Nifels. By the time Charles assumed the Burgundian mantle in
1465, there was still much bad blood between the fiercely independent Swiss and
their former Austrian feudal overlords. And the Swiss were expanding their control
over territory in the Rhine region. The Confederacy controlled most of the land
south and west of the Rhine to the Alps and the Jura mountains and was poised to
take the Sundgau portion of the Rhine territory (southern Alsace). Ultimately, the
Eidgenossen agreed not to attack this region in exchange for a significant reparations
pledge from the Austrians.

Unfortunately for the Austrians, Archduke Sigismund (also known as ‘Sigmund’)
was in dire financial straits and could not afford to pay the Swiss and/or maintain
control over his possessions on the Upper Rhine. So he agreed to mortgage these
Alsatian lands to Charles the Bold. By the treaty of St Omer, entered into on
9 May 1469, Charles acquired Habsburg possessions on both sides of the Rhine,
including the Landgraviate of Alsace, the counties of Ferrette and Hauenstein
(with a large part of the Black Forest), the towns of Breisach and Ortenburg,
and the four so-called ‘Forest Towns™ of Rheinfelden, Seckingen, Lauffenburg,
and Waldshut. In exchange, Sigismund received 50,000 Rhenish florins and a
promise from Charles that he would pay the Swiss reparations in the sum of an
additional 10,000 Rhenish florins. Title to these possessions could be redeemed
by Sigismund but only upon a lump-sum payment made at a specified place—it
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was not contemplated that Sigismund would ever be solvent enough to regain his
Upper Alsace lands.

So what exactly did Charles acquire for 60,000 florins? His new possessions might
be described as an archipelago of city-states more or less accustomed to independ-
ence given the absentee-landlord role played by Sigismund while he was nominally
in control. Assuming Charles could keep the citizens of these newly-acquired towns
happy, the Treaty of St Omer put him in quite an advantageous position. In con-
cluding the entente with Sigismund, Charles and the Austrian archduke both gave
and received pledges of friendship and support to one another. After all, Charles
would be solving for the Austrian ruler a thorny financial and administrative
problem in Alsace and in return Sigismund would help quench the Burgundian’s
thirst for territorial aggrandizement. At the same time, Charles would extinguish
Sigismund’s reparations debt to the Swiss Confederacy. This could help strengthen
the longstanding friendly relationship between the Confederacy and the House of
Burgundy.

On the other hand, from Charles the Bold’s perspective, the new arrangement
was fraught with peril. For one thing, the Eidgenossen, likely believing Sigismund
incapable of satisfying his reparations debt, were prevented by Charles’s assumption
of the debt from acquiring new territory. Moreover, the new Austro—Burgundian
arrangement might have convinced the Swiss that Charles had formed a strong
alliance with Sigismund, the Confederacy’s perceived oppressor and sworn enemy.
This could potentially put Charles in a precarious position vis-a-vis the militarily
powerful Eidgenossen.

Moreover, the smaller power brokers of the parts of Upper Alsace not within
Burgundian control—the independent city leaders and Imperial regional governors,
for example, would now have to coexist with the acquisitive Duke of Burgundy
in their backyard, and they were justifiably concerned about Charles’s territorial
ambitions. Further, all these independent neighbourhood polities, in addition
to those in Chatles’s possession, were German-speaking. The Burgundians were
francophone—and no overlord in this largely Germanic region had ever spoken a
foreign language. That could certainly become a source of friction.

So while the Treaty of St Omer could understandably have brought many
strategic advantages to Charles, it certainly had the potential to upset the rela-
tively harmonious relations his duchy had previously established in the region.
If governed judiciously, the new Alsatian possessions might promote ducal pres-
tige, generate tax revenue, serve as a strategic buffer and perhaps further solidify
Charles’s relations with his Germanic allies. If governed maladroitly, Charles
could alienate his eastern neighbours and perhaps make attractive an alliance
with the ever-scheming Louis XI that could squeeze Burgundy within dangerous
pincers.

Thus, Chatles the Bold seems to have needed someone effective and politically
astute to administer these territories. In the event, he chose Peter von Hagenbach,
a trusted lieutenant whose dog-like loyalty and blind devotion had endeared him
to Charles through years of Burgundian court intrigue and military conquest.
Unfortunately, while the ideal candidate might have won the region over with a
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light touch and effective diplomacy, Charles’s deputy ultimately terrorized Upper Alsace

with blunt force trauma and what some accounts would describe as a reign of terror.

(iv) Peter von Hagenbach

The origins of Peter von Hagenbach are rather obscure®—even his year of birth is
unknown (although estimated to be 1420).5' His father Anton was a lesser noble-
man of southern Alsace and his family had been under the feudal dominion of the
Habsburgs since the middle 1300s. Anton hailed from the town of Hagenbach,
where his family’s like-named ancestral castle was located. This small municipality
was within the vicinity of Mulhouse, a larger town that would later factor promi-
nently in Peter’s life as a servant of the Duchy of Burgundy. Records indicate that
Anton von Hagenbach became a citizen of Thann and entered into the service of
the powerful Habsburgs.>? In 1428, he became the mayor of Thann and in 1440
he was named Habsburg Council at the Court of Ensisheim.>

When Anton von Hagenbach met Peter’s mother, Catherine, she was the widow
of a French nobleman by the name of Jean de Montjustin, the Lord of Belmont.**
Belmont’s castle, in which Peter was raised, was located in the Franche-Comté,
a nearby francophone Burgundian province. Reflective of his parents’ respective
mother tongues, Peter was fully fluent in French and German.

Peter von Hagenbach appears to have received his education in a francophone
monastery and then turned to a life of military and ducal court service. Historian
Werner Paravicini writes that an ‘unknown intermediary opened the door for him
[Hagenbach] to the Burgundian court’ . An early reference to his service to the
Duchy appears in 1443, when he apparently took part in a military operation in
Luxembourg conducted under the aegis of Charles the Bold’s father, Philip the Good.”
Perhaps not coincidentally, in the same year, Peter was made a Knight of the Order
of St George of Burgundy.®® The year 1443 played a significant role in Hagenbach’s
personal life too as he then married Marguerite d’Accolans, a noblewoman of the
Franche-Comté.»

By 1448, Sir Peter von Hagenbach’s darker side had begun to manifest itself.
According to historian Hildburg Brauer-Gramm, Hagenbach kidnapped a certain
Marquard Baldeck, a banker from Basel with whom he had dined the previous
evening.® Hagenbach demanded a ransom from Baldeck’s family.®’ The plot was
foiled when, at Philip the Good’s behest, Baldeck was immediately released without
the ransom being paid.®

5 Heinrich Witte, “Zur Geschichte des burgundischen Landvogts Peter von Hagenbacl’, Zeizschrift
ﬁﬁ die Geschichte des Oberrbeins, 8 (1893), 646.
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In the early 1450s, Hagenbach’s name first appears in official Burgundian court
records as Aquenbacq’ or Archembault’.®> By 1460, he was a maitre d’hotel at the ducal
court and the career prospects of the ambitious courtier were rapidly improving.®*
According to Duchy of Burgundy expert Richard Vaughan:

Soon after then [Hagenbach] took sides with Charles, then count of Charolais, in the quarrels
between him and his father Philip the Good, and he was able to earn Charles’s undying
gratitude in the summer of 1462 when he exposed Jehan Coustain’s alleged plot to murder
him, a plot which he himself may have contrived on Charles’s behalf in order to eliminate
Coustain and discredit his patrons the Croys. It was probably soon after this that Charles
wrote to Hagenbach addressing him as ‘my very good friend’ and assuring him that he
would neither abandon nor fail him whatever might happen.®®

Hagenbach’s exploits on the battlefield during the 1460s further endeared him
to Charles, particularly with ‘Hagenbach winning military renown in the 1465
war of the League of the Public Weal’.® That conflict began in June with Charles
attacking the French Count of Nevers's towns of Péronne, Roye, and Montdidier,
with Péronne being ‘captured by a nocturnal escalade’ in October—Hagenbach’s
‘most brilliant exploit’, according to Richard Vaughan.®

Vaughan also credits Hagenbach’s military renown to his participation in Charles’s
bloody campaigns against Dinant and Li¢ge, two rebellious towns in the Burgundian
territory of what is now Belgium.® For example, disregarding the preference for noc-
turnal siege operations, Hagenbach brazenly took the lead in charging Dinant in the
middle of the day. Kirk notes that his ‘vigour and resolution strongly recommended
him to the favour of a commander [Charles the Bold] personally so distinguished
for these qualities, and obtained for him ultimately a place in Charles’s confidence
productive of fatal consequences to both’.’

Hagenbach was also valuable to Charles off the battlefield. Owing to his fluency
in German, for example, he was frequently utilized on diplomatic missions.” It was
Hagenbach, for instance, who negotiated the 1465 alliance between Burgundy and
the count palatine of the Rhine.”! In the estimation of Richard Vaughan: ‘In the
summer of 1469, [Hagenbach] was an obvious choice for the post of ducal bailiff
in Upper Alsace.””?

(b) Points of divergence in the historical record—the bailiff years

(i) The demonic portrait of Hagenbach
There are differing accounts of Hagenbach’s time as Charles’s bailiff in Upper Alsace.
The older and more contemporaneous accounts tend to paint him as a tyrannical,
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sexually deviate, bloodthirsty monster. This portrait was nicely encapsulated
by French historian Prosper de Barante. In introducing readers to Hagenbach,
Barante noted that the Alsatian bailiff was ‘one of the most cruel and violent men
to hold power over a people’.”® ‘He knew no justice’, Barante elaborated, ‘and
the slightest refusal to satisfy his whims was tantamount to a death sentence’.’*
Barante observed that he had people killed without even giving the slightest clue
as to why—many of them with his own hand.” For example, Barante described
the case of four citizens of the Alsatian town of Thann who were sent by the Thann
government to complain to Hagenbach about exorbitant taxation (this incident
would eventually become a focal point at Hagenbach’s 1474 trial).”® “Without any
sort of trial’, Barante recounted, ‘Hagenbach had these four unfortunate burghers
decapitated’.”

As this incident reveals, Hagenbach’s taxes were responsible for sowing much
discontent in the Upper Alsace. One of the conditions on which the Alsatian lands
were mortgaged to Charles, Barante explained, was that the liberties of their
residents be preserved and respected.”® Barante recounted that Hagenbach paid
no heed to that guarantee and ultimately violated it by imposing a one-pfennig tax
on each bottle of wine consumed in the region.” Barante then detailed a series of
other violations of the Alsatian rights under his stewardship: (1) farmers were sub-
jected to compulsory labour service and thereby prevented from engaging in their
agricultural work; (2) soldiers were regularly quartered in the homes of the citizens
without their consent and the soldiers would mistreat the homeowners without
the latter having any legal protection or recourse; (3) noblemen were deprived of
their right to hunt; and (4) sexual violence was visited on young girls from all walks
of life and classes, including nuns.®

With regard to sexual depredations, Johannes Knebel, the Basel chaplain,
reported that the bailiff became acquainted with a cloister of nuns in Breisach.®!
Among them was a beautiful young vestal.®> Knebel reported that Hagenbach
‘stared at her with burning desire’.®> He threatened her with death if she did not
submit to his desires.®* One of his lieutenants searched the cloister, found the
attractive holy woman, and took her to Hagenbach, who raped her.®> Hagenbach’s
lieutenant threatened the other nuns with death for having attempted to hide
Hagenbach’s victim.*
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Prosper de Barante focused on one particularly heinous incident wherein Hagenbach
invited a town’s married couples to his residence for a party.®” Once all were assembled,
he removed the husbands from his residence and forced the wives to strip naked.
Following this, he placed a covering over the head of each woman. The husbands
were then ordered to return and inspect the naked bodies of the masked women.
Those who were not able to identify their wives in this state were thrown down
a long flight of stairs. Those who recognized their wives were rewarded by being
forced to ingest copious amounts of alcohol that rendered them fatally ill.*

According to Barante, Hagenbach’s hatred for the inhabitants of his ducal charge
was particularly intense toward the townspeople, as opposed to the rural residents.®
And this included the towns outside the Duke’s direct authority, such as Strasbourg,
Colmar, Schelestadt, and other cities under Imperial aegis. Hagenbach is supposed
to have subjected them to a regular litany of insults and poor treatment. Strasbourg
in particular seemed to bear the brunt of the bailiff’s wrath. He subjected Ortenberg
Castle, owned by the Strasbourgeois, to a military siege and then occupied it as ducal
property. He imposed the dreaded wine tax on Strasbourg and then demanded that
its citizens swear an oath of allegiance to the Duke of Burgundy.”® ‘In the end’,
writes Barante, ‘no one knew when the limits of the bailiff’s tyranny would be
reached’.”!

However, Hagenbach’s greatest mistake by far, writes Barante, was alienating the
Swiss, the House of Burgundy’s traditional ally and good neighbour. This began
with Hagenbach’s seizure of the seigneury of Schenkelberg, which was property
of the Swiss city of Berne. Later on, one of Hagenbach’s deputies arrested near
the town of Breisach a group of Swiss merchants travelling with their fine cloths
to the Frankfurt Fair. “They were mistreated, their goods were confiscated, and
they were imprisoned in the Schuttern Castle, where their captors demanded from
them a ransom of 10,000 crowns.””* These prisoners were liberated by soldiers of
Strasbourg who burned Schuttern Castle to the ground.” This helped forge an
alliance between the Swiss and the free cities of Alsace.”

(ii) The revisionist portrait of Hagenbach

Later chroniclers of the period have taken a much more charitable view of
Hagenbach’s role in alienating Alsace and its neighbours. In his work, A History
of Charles the Bold, Duke of Burgundy (1863—67), John Foster Kirk pointed out
that surviving contemporaneous accounts, those supporting Barante’s history, were
written by the chroniclers of Hagenbach’s judges and executioners. “The truth is,
these chroniclers—monks and municipal scribes at Basel and Strasburg—recorded
simply from day to day, without personal cognisance or investigation, whatever
rumours had currency and a special interest in their localities.””

87 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 407. 8 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 407.
89 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 408. % Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 408.
91 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 408-9. 92 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 410.
9 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 411. 94 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 411.

% Kirk, above n 42, 471.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



The Trial of Peter von Hagenbach 29

And the negative reports regarding Hagenbach, he noted, date from his final
year in Alsace—there is little to nothing during the first four years.” Nevertheless,
even Kirk acknowledged that Charles the Bold ‘left Alsace to the mercies of a
tyrannical steward, the minor villain of the piece, in whom the vices of his principal
were mixed with others still more odious, whose cruelty and craft had no false
lustre, no redeeming trait’.”

British historian Richard Vaughn refused to accept wholesale the cartoonish
depiction of Hagenbach ‘as the archetypal tyrant, the Burgunidan bogeyman, the
iniquitous immoral official of a detested foreign regime’.”® Instead, Vaughan focused
on the fact that Charles was not very concerned about the administration of his
Alsatian properties.” And thus Hagenbach was left to fend for himself with few
resources and little direction. Given his aristocratic sense of superiority, his gruff
military demeanour and his disdain of the region’s Swiss, urban and lower class
citizens, he soon ostracized the Alsatian population.!®

Vaughn opines that the situation was aggravated by fears of Charles’s territorial
ambitions in the region and further exacerbated by his administrators” speaking a
foreign language:

Unlike the Austrians, the Burgundians were welsch, or French-speaking foreigners, in a
thoroughly Germanic area. Their arrival and the administrative activities which accompanied
it, aroused the suspicions and distrust of Charles’s ally the imperial Landvogt of Alsace, Frederick
the Victorious, elector palatine of the Rhine, as well as of two of the most powerful and populous
cities on the Rhine, Strasbourg and Basel.!"!

Concerns about Charles’s desire for land acquisition seemed to reach their peak in
September 1473, when he met with Holy Roman Emperor Frederick III in Trier
to discuss Charles’s possible ascension to the Imperial crown.!®

Alsatian historian Georges Bischoff has noted that, in addition to local fears about
Burgundian expansion, the citizens of the Upper Rhine resented Hagenbach’s strict
administration and his curbing of corrupt practices in the region.'”® He went so
far as to add that Hagenbach’s administrative reforms, so abhorred by the Alsatians
and Rhenians, presaged the structures instituted by Louis XIV two centuries later.!*
Heinrich Heimpel noted that Hagenbach went through the territory with an ‘iron
sweeper —imposing duties, improving castles, establishing a road-police, improving
trade and organizing a court system moulded after the Burgundian, and reforming
cloisters.'” Certainly, one of Hagenbach’s most impressive achievements was in
the area of public safety and roads administration. During his tenure, Charles
Nerlinger pointed out, ‘security on the roads was so good that one could carry
across the region gold or silver attached to nothing more than a bindle stick’.!%
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Vaughan believed that Burgundian problems in the region were well illustrated in
the case of the imperial city of Mulhouse, whose citizens had been enduring a wave of
criminal attacks by brigands in the region.'”” In response, in May 1470, Hagenbach,
‘in his typically forthright manner’, demanded that Mulhouse ‘should accept in
perpetuity the protection of the Duke of Burgundy and his successors...But
though the Burgundian bailiff stormed, threatened, and coaxed Mulhouse...she
remained resolute in her opposition to any sort of Burgundian penetration’.!®
Over time, the Alsatian population was subjected to a rising level of insults, threats
and occasional physical violence—behaviour that in the final months of his service

Vaughan described as ‘increasingly arbitrary, offensive and indecorous’.'*

(¢) Hagenbach’s downfall

Regardless of whether one subscribes to the older view of Hagenbach as blood-
thirsty monster or the revisionist version of him as tactless bully, one thing is certain: he
managed to whip up hatred within the region and unify the citizens of the Upper
Rhine in passionate opposition against him. With encouragement from Louis XI,
in March—April 1474, the Swiss Confederation, the Austrians and the free/imperial
towns entered into an alliance, known as the ‘League of Constance’, to achieve ‘the
peace of the land’ and extricate it ‘from the tyranny of the Duke of Burgundy and
his wicked bailiff Peter von Hagenbach’.''* The first order of business was to redeem
Sigismund’s mortgage from Charles the Bold. This was achieved through the
funding of the towns of Basel, Colmar, Sélestat, and Strasbourg.''! Subsequently,
Sigismund appointed his own bailiff, Sundgau nobleman Hermann von Eptingen,
to replace Hagenbach.'?

By this point, events were closing in on Peter von Hagenbach and he knew it.
He appealed to Charles the Bold for additional troops but the request was denied
as Charles had military ventures occupying his troops in other parts of Europe
including the Low Countries and Lorraine.'”® Thann had been Hagenbach’s
headquarters but he feared for his safety there since its citizens had, from his
perspective, plotted against him the previous summer.!* So he decided to make his
stand in Breisach, a walled and more easily defensible town on the Rhine,'"® and
he fortified it with a large garrison of Picard and German mercenaries.''® It was
bruited about town that Hagenbach planned to expel the citizens of Breisach and
then drown them in the Rhine. There seemed to be a great sense of urgency that
League of Constance troops launch an assault against the Burgundians and save
Breisach’s civilians.

107 Nerlinger, above n 43, 95. 108 Nerlinger, above n 43, 95.
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" Vaughan, above n 2, 278. 112 Vaughan, above n 2, 284.
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(i) The arrest, inquisition and torture

In the end, though, it was not the direct action of enemy troops that led to the
Burgundian governor’s demise. Unfortunately for Hagenbach, Charles the Bold
had not provided sufficient funding for the bailiff’s tiny garrison and they began to
mutiny against him on Easter Sunday, 10 April 1474. Vaughan notes that the local
citizenry which ‘had suffered at Hagenbach’s hands the total abrogation of their
civic institutions and liberties, encouraged and supported them’.!"” The mercenaries
were expelled from the city and Hagenbach was placed under house arrest (he had
been living in the house of the Breisach mayor and would remain there for a few
days).!!® The day after his arrest he was bound in cords.!”” Three days later he was
removed to a dungeon in the public prison, his body covered in chains, his wrists
secured in handcuffs, and his legs set in stocks.!

Prison conditions were apparently quite harsh. A note from his jailers in mid-April
acknowledged that ‘the harsh handling of the prisoner seems to be in order...so he
is not able to escape’.'?! Kirk added that ‘three strong men were appointed to watch
him day and night’ until the arrival of Archduke Sigismund.'?? The latter reached
Breisach at the end of April and ordered that instruments of torture be brought
there from Basel.'” Sometime during that week, Hagenbach was interrogated
while being subjected to torture on six different occasions.!** While the interro-
gation focused on Hagenbach’s conduct as bailiff in Upper Alsace from 1469 to
1474, it also dealt with Charles the Bold’s territorial ambitions, particularly the
details regarding his meeting with Holy Roman Emperor Frederick III at Trier in
September of 1473.'%

On 5 May 1474, ostensibly because of poor prison conditions, Hagenbach was
taken from the dungeon to what was known as “The Water Tower’ (on the other
side of town) for additional interrogation.'** Unable to move his broken body of his
own force, he was transported in a wheelbarrow while onlookers derisively heckled
him."” During the transfer, he ‘cried loudly’ and at one point he shouted ‘murderer’.
He was tortured severely on that day—four separate times. He supposedly admitted
to his misdeeds and named accessories.'”® Among other things, he is supposed to
have admitted that he intended to remove forcibly the citizens of Breisach from the

17 Vaughan, above n 2, 283. 118 Vaughan, above n 2, 283. See also Kirk, above n 42, 484.
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120 Kirk, above n 42, 488. See also Bernhard Emanuel von Rodt, Die Feldziige Karls des Kiihnen,
Herzogs von Burgund (Schafthausen: Hurter, 1843), 221.
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city with the intention of eventually exterminating them.'”® One of Hagenbach’s
associates, an official in the Breisach government, was detained and questioned about
the bailiff. Pursuant to physical coercion, he admitted that Hagenbach intended to
deport the citizens of Breisach and have them exterminated.'’

(ii) The trial

Now that Hagenbach had confessed to his supposed crimes, what was to follow? In
that era, one might have supposed that the prisoner would be summarily executed.
He escaped lynch-mob justice on Easter Sunday only thanks to Breisach resident
Friedrich Kappelar’s decision to arrest him and await instructions from Archduke
Sigismund."" In his book Die Feldziige Karls des Kiihnen (1843), German historian
Bernhard Emmanuel von Rodt related that, when presented with the situation,
Sigismund made a startling decision for the time. Given Hagenbach’s position as
bailiff to the Duke of Burgundy, Sigismund concluded that he was entitled to an
open, public hearing and ‘his fate would be decided by it’.'** Eminent German
historian Hermann Heimpel has noted that the contemplated trial was consistent
with other legal actions in late fifteenth-century Swabia.'??

What might have seemed entirely unprecedented, though, was the make-up of
the court that would sit in judgment of Hagenbach. He was not to be tried by a
local judge. Instead, numerous representatives of sovereigns from around the region,
twenty-eight in all—including sixteen knights, would sit as part of an international
ad hoc tribunal."* As described by Georg Schwarzenberger: ‘Eight of [the judges]
were nominated by Breisach, and two by each of the other allied Alsatian and
Upper Rhenanian towns [Strasbourg, Sélestat, Colmar, Basel, Thann, Kenzingen,
Neuburg am Rhein, and Freiburg im Breisgau], Berne, a member of the Swiss
Confederation, and Solothurn, allied with Berne.'¥

In fact, each sovereign represented a member of the League of Constance (Berne
being the only representative of the Swiss cantons).!*® As one contemporaneous
account put it, Hagenbach ‘was judged on behalf of all the members of the alli-
ance’.’” Heimpel elaborated: “The assembly of this court shows that the League of
Constance. ..was more than a “political union” in the modern sense of the term;
those united saw themselves as a legal community, such as a medieval union, and
such entities set up courts for special cases.’’*® As Breisach’s sovereign, Austria
provided the presiding judge.'®

On 9 May 1474, at 8 am, Peter von Hagenbach’s ‘special’ case opened for trial
before an enormous crowd assembled outdoors in front of the Breisach mayor’s
residence (not far from the Water Tower).'** The open-air setting was consistent
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with an old Germanic judicial custom that was still observed at the time.!*! Thomas
Schutz, the chief magistrate of Ensisheim, was designated as the tribunal’s presid-
ing judge.'”? The nominal trial prosecutor was Sigismund’s new Alsatian bailiff—
Hermann von Eptingen.'® Eptingen, for his part, chose Heinrich Iselin, one of the
commissioners from Basel,'** to present the prosecution’s case to the court.!'”” The
other representative from Basel, Hans Irmy, took on Hagenbach’s representation.'#

The proceedings began with the presiding judge requesting the prosecution to
make its opening statement.'?” According to most accounts, Iselin began dramatically
by explaining to the tribunal that Hagenbach had ‘trampled under foot the laws of
God and man’.!*® He then read the indictment, consisting of four counts:

1. Murder in relation to the 1473 beheading of the four Thann citizens
without any validly rendered judgment in violation of imperial law;'*

2. Perjury in relation to Hagenbach’s oath to uphold the laws of Breisach, which
he violated by restructuring certain governmental offices, stripping certain
government representatives of their power, illegally quartering soldiers in
homes, pillaging and plundering property, and imposing onerous taxes on
the town’s citizens;

3. Conspiracy to commit murder in relation to the supposed plot to expel and
exterminate the citizens of Breisach;!>°

4. Rape of numerous women and gitls in the region, including nuns.!

141 Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 175. 142 Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 175.
143 Heimpel, above n 123, 324-5. 144 Kirk, above n 42, 435.
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Given these charges, the prosecutor notified the tribunal that he would be seeking
a death sentence.'>

Hagenbach’s counsel, Hans Irmy, then gave his opening statement. He began by
challenging the jurisdiction of the tribunal. He argued forcefully that ‘the Tribunal
was not competent to decide this case’ because ‘only the Duke of Burgundy could
be [Hagenbach’s] judge and his superior’.!® The tribunal rejected the jurisdictional
challenge and found that it was competent to sit in judgment of Hagenbach for
the crimes charged.”

The prosecution then put on its case-in-chief, which consisted of the testimony
of six witnesses who had heard Hagenbach’s confession to the crimes charged.”
After this, Hagenbach asked for a recess and requested that two additional attorneys
be added to his defence team. The tribunal then assigned to the Hagenbach team
one representative each from Colmar and Sélestat.’”® After Hagenbach conferred
with his attorneys, the defence put on its case, which consisted of the following
arguments:

1. Regarding the execution of the Thann citizens, they had tried to rise up
in rebellion to Burgundian rule and were executed pursuant to the Duke’s
orders with the consent of the Holy Roman Emperor;

2. He acknowledged he swore to respect the Breisach citizens’ rights but they
subsequently swore a new oath of allegiance to the Duke which had the effect
of overriding Hagenbach’s pledge regarding previously existing rights—the
actions he took after the Breisachers swore their new oath of allegiance was
pursuant to orders from the Duke;

3. Regarding the quartering of troops, that was again pursuant to the Duke’s
order—Hagenbach does not seem to have directly answered the charge that
he planned to deport and exterminate the Breisachers;

4. As to the charge of rape, Hagenbach responded that his accusers were just as
guilty as he was of that crime and that he never actually committed violence
against the women in question—he paid to have consensual sex with them.">’

Given that all of Hagenbach’s conduct was at the behest of and under the aegis
of the Duke, his attorneys renewed their motion to dismiss on jurisdictional
grounds—only the Duke could sit in judgment of his servant.!”® In the words of
defence counsel Hans Irmy:

Sir Peter von Hagenbach does not recognise any other judge and master but the Duke of
Burgundy from whom he had received his commission and his orders. He had no right to
question the orders which he was charged to carry out, and it was his duty to obey. Is it not
known that soldiers owe absolute obedience to their superiors? Does anyone believe that
the Duke’s Landvogt could have remonstrated with his master or have refused to carry out

152 Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 177. 153 Von Rodyt, above n 120, 224.
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the Duke’s orders? Had not the Duke by his presence subsequently confirmed and ratified
all that had been done in his name?'»

After presentation of the defence, the motion appears to have held more sway.'®
Remarkably, the judges seem to have recognized that it was a close call. So persuasive
must the defence argument have been that prosecution attorney Heinrich Iselin
actually made a motion to withdraw the charges.!®!

In response, a new attorney for the prosecution, Hildebrand Rasp, was appointed
and he reasserted the charges of the indictment, arguing as well that Hagenbach
confessed to many other crimes that were not even charged.'® The defence responded
that such admissions were invalid as they were the product of torture. Rasp’s dubious
retort: the admissions were made when Hagenbach was not actually on the rack so
they were made freely.'® Several new witnesses were then called to testify and they
corroborated that Hagenbach did not make the confessions during torture.®*

Nevertheless, Rasp advanced an alternative argument. Even if the confessions
were deemed tainted, Hagenbach had committed the crime of lése-majesté. In other
words, by testifying that Charles and the Holy Roman Emperor had ordered
conduct by Hagenbach that was manifestly in violation of the law, he slandered these
leaders.'® It was not possible, he concluded, that they could have given Hagenbach
such orders.1¢¢

Hagenbach’s defence counsel Hans Irmy then called for an adjournment of the
trial.'”” He wanted time to serve the Duke of Burgundy with interrogatories asking
whether, in fact, he had given Hagenbach the orders as asserted by the defence.!®®
In the annals of the law, this was a watershed moment. If the judges had granted
the continuance motion and sought to verify the factual accuracy of Hagenbach’s
testimony regarding the Duke’s directives, the defence of obeying superior orders
would have been implicitly reaffirmed. Instead, the Tribunal made history. It found
an adjournment unnecessary.'”” Even if Hagenbach had received orders to commit
the charged conduct, he should have known such orders were patently illegal.!”

The parties having rested their cases, the Tribunal retired and deliberated for some
time. According to Charles Nerlinger:

The President of the tribunal then addressed the judges and asked if they found Peter von
Hagenbach guilty. The judge representing Strasbourg, Peter Schott, rose and asked that
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he and the other judges be allowed to retire and deliberate on the weighty issue they were
asked to resolve. They remained for a long period in deliberations, more than one of them
undoubtedly aware that his sense of confidence regarding the bailiff’s guilt had been shaken.
Finally, they returned and in hushed silence they declared slowly, one after the other, that
Peter von Hagenbach was guilty and sentenced him to death.'”!

According to John Foster Kirk, a herald advanced and, standing in front of Hagenbach,
declared his degradation from the order of the Knights of St George’s Shield.!”?
‘Another functionary followed, who, with a glove of mail, struck him a blow upon

the right cheek.'”

(iii) The execution

The Tribunal had not specified in what manner the sentence would be carried out.
The judges permitted Hagenbach to be heard on this issue. Given that the manner
of his execution would likely shape the way posterity viewed his legacy, the heretofore
stoic Landvogr suddenly became emotional:

[The prisoner] lost, for the first time, the firmness and composure which he had manifested
throughout the day, and which had been rendered the more conspicuous by the contrasted
spectacle of his enfeebled and emaciated frame. His head sank upon his chest. His red eyes,
instead of their customary flashes of menace and derision, sent forth from their deep recesses
a glance of timid supplication. ‘Have pity’, he whispered, ‘and execute me with the sword!
Strange to say, the appeal was not disregarded. Each member of the court, as he was called upon
by name, gave his voice that Hagenbach should die by the sword.!”

Hans Irmy, for his part, fought hard for his client to the last. He renewed his motion
to adjourn the proceedings to seek verification from the Duke that he had given his
bailiff the supposed orders that gave rise to the charged crimes.'” This final appeal
was rejected.'”® It was 4 pm and the trial was over.!”

Preparations were then made for the execution. The judges rode on horseback
at the head of a long, torch-illuminated procession toward a field just outside of
town.!”® The condemned man was marched on foot at the centre of the cavalcade, a
confessor holding a crucifix before his eyes as he strode beside him.!”” Apparently, the
role of executioner was quite coveted and seven headsmen (from as many different
towns) vied for the privilege.’® The honour was ultimately bestowed on Colmar’s
official, a ‘short man with a short sword’.!8!

On the scaffold, Hagenbach made his last public announcement:

I am not concerned about my life; I have risked it enough on the field of battle. But I lament
that the blood of many an honest man should be shed on my account. For assuredly my noble
master, the Duke of Burgundy, will not suffer this deed to go unavenged. I regret neither my
life nor my body: I ask only that you forgive me for having done what I have been sentenced
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for and for other things even worse than that. Those of you for whom I served as governor for
four years, please forgive what I have done through lack of wisdom or through malice. I was
only human. Please pray for me.'®

The disgraced knight then bequeathed his gold chain and sixteen horses to a
religious house in Breisach. He asked that this provision be honoured by the prof-
ligate Sigismund. His hands were then tied, he genuflected, said another short
prayer and finally placed his head on the block. The executioner’s blade then sliced
through the air and found its mark. Five years to the day after Charles the Bold
signed the treaty of St Omer, Burgundy was officially expelled from the Sundgau

and its governor was dead.

(d) The aftermath

Kirk reports that, when hearing of Hagenbach’s execution, the Duke of Burgundy
‘fell into a paroxysm of rage’.!3? Nevertheless, he failed to take immediate action.'® By
summer, though, he was ready for reprisal measures. In August, Burgundian troops,
led by Peter’s brother Stefan von Hagenbach, conducted a raid in the Sundgau region
wherein they looted, pillaged and burnt everything in their path.'® They murdered
and displaced a large number of Alsatian residents and took children to be sold and
enslaved.!®

This incursion might be considered the opening salvo in a protracted conflict
between Charles the Bold and the League of Constance, known to history as the
‘Burgundian Wars’.'s” The hostilities culminated in three decisive battles. The Duke
of Burgundy drove into modern-day Switzerland but his forces were defeated by
Confederate troops at the Battle of Grandson in March 1476.'% Within three
months, Charles the Bold had gathered a new army and marched yet again into
Swiss territory. But he would lose once more in the June 1476 Battle of Morat.'®
Finally, in January 1477, Swiss troops fighting with an army of the Duke of
Lorraine beat Charles in the Battle of Nancy, the war’s decisive engagement.!”
Charles himself had taken the battlefield with his troops outside the walls of Nancy
and his badly mutilated body was found in a ditch three days after the defeat.!”!
Such was the fate of the last of the Valois Dukes of Burgundy.

When Charles the Bold died in battle without sons, Louis XI declared the Duchy
extinct, and he absorbed into the French crown its territorial portion lying in modern-
day France.'”” The Burgundian Low Countries possessions were ultimately trans-

ferred to the Habsburgs (via the marriage of Chatles the Bold’s daughter, Mary,

182" Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 186. 183 Kirk, above n 42, 502.

184 Kirk, above n 42, 503—4. '8 Vaughan, above n 2, 285.

186 Kirk, above n 42, 505—6.

'87 Nicholas A. Hooper, The Cambridge Illustrated Atdlas of Warfare: The Middle Ages, 768—1487
(Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996), 150.

'8 Vaughan, above n 2, 375-8. '8 Vaughan, above n 2, 390-5.

190 Vaughan, above n 2, 429-32. 1 Vaughan, above n 2, 432.

192 George Ripley and Charles Anderson Dana, The American Cyclopaedia: A Popular Dictionary of
General Knowledge (New York, NY: D. Appleton, 1873), 451.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



38 Pre-Histories: From von Hagenbach to the Armenian Genocide

to Archduke Maximilian of Austria)."”® This gave rise to two centuries of hostilities
between France and the Habsburgs (Spain/Austria) over possession of these
lands."* And two major conflagrations followed—the Thirty Years War and the War
of the Spanish Succession.'”

(IV) Final Analysis

(1) Who was Peter von Hagenbach?

In life, Peter von Hagenbach played a significant role in bringing about the fall of the
House of Burgundy, which ultimately led to a seismic realignment of the European
balance of power.!® In death, he has traditionally been portrayed as evil incarnate
and the subject of the world’s first international atrocity trial. But is his infamy
deserved? And should his legacy take on such mythic proportions? As with most
matters related to Hagenbach, it is hard to say with certainty.

But the traditional view seems more consistent with the available evidence. That
said, a reasonable argument can be made that any insights into Hagenbach’s
character and actions during his time as bailiff must be parsed sequentially. Put
another way, the Hagenbach of 1469 was not the Hagenbach of 1474. Revisionist
historians have emphasized the relative dearth of bad press for Hagenbach during
the first years of his Alsatian administration. And that makes sense. At the beginning
of the relationship between Hagenbach and the Duke’s new subjects, everyone was
apparently on his best behaviour (and during that early period, Hagenbach was
often away from Alsace still engaging in military service for the Duke).!”’

But over time, the local citizenry grew weary of Hagenbach’s insults, his aristocratic
animosity towards townspeople and the bourgeoisie, his boorish behaviour, and his
use of progressively more strong-arm tactics to raise revenue and exert control over
the region for Burgundy. And it did not help that he was perceived as linguistically
and culturally foreign—a feudally-oriented francophone in a germanophone region
then developing a merchant class and trending toward urbanization. By 147374,
uneasy relations between a restive population and its by now desperate bailiff dete-
riorated to such a degree that Hagenbach was arrested, tried and executed.

Revisionist historians also point out that Hagenbach was attempting to enact
administrative reforms to help modernize the region and make it run more efficiently.
But for that he needed the proper personnel and material. Revisionists contend
that, in large part, Charles the Bold’s failure to provide him with that is what led

193 Carlos Ramirez-Faria, Concise Encyclopaedia of World History (New Delhi: Adantic Publishers and
Distributors 2007), 683.

Y4 Encyclopaedia Britannica, ‘House of Habsburg’ (11th edn, 1910), vol 12, 789.

195 Encyclopaedia Britannica, above n 194, 789.

1% See Vaughan, above n 2, 255 (‘the course of events and with it the entire destiny of Charles the
Bold and of Burgundy was decisively affected by the attitudes and antics of Peter von Hagenbach
[who] made a [great] impact on history.’).

197 See Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 112.
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to his lieutenant’s downfall. The old guard, on the other hand, believed firmly that
Hagenbach’s own follies, namely his tyrannical, capricious and violent methods,
precipitated his demise.

But these superficially competing explanations can perhaps be reconciled. The
Duke’s financial and logistical support of Hagenbach’s administration was indeed
lacking. But that does not tell the whole story. With few resources at his disposal,
Hagenbach may have chosen to fulfil his duties in a progressively violent and arbi-
trary manner so as to rule more effectively by fear. He did not have the personnel
necessary to quell an increasingly restive population—perhaps terror was used to
compensate for this.

Consistent with this view, as resources were choked off even further during the
final months of his satrapy, Hagenbach’s intimidation tactics escalated until spiral-
ling out of control in 1474. The historical record permits such an inference. The
bulk of specific allegations against the Burgundian bailiff are from his final year in
power. It would make sense then, that the charges lodged against him at trial were
related to conduct of recent vintage. Seen in this light, we can understand that the
citizens of the Upper Rhine were at first only berated, taxed and put upon. They
were likely terrorized and violated only toward the end. In the words of historian
Ruth Putnam: ‘It is in this period of Hagenbach’s life that the stories of gross excess
are told...his personal passions...were permitted to run riot and he spared no
wife nor maid to whom he took a fancy’.'?®

What evidence supports the view that the good burghers of Alsace were the
victims of Sir Peter’s violence? Their treatment of the wayward knight after his
arrest is most revealing in this regard. While torture may have been commonplace
in ordinary criminal inquisitions of the time,'” the severity of torment inflicted
leads one to believe it was inspired by and directed at the kind of mass, depraved
criminality of which Hagenbach has traditionally been accused.?™ Significantly, in
this regard, in addition to enduring horrific torture, he was stripped of his knight-
hood. Degradation of knighthood was exceedingly rare in the Middle Ages and
reserved only for the most extreme and infamous crimes.*!

And there is other evidence to suggest Hagenbach’s culpability for atrocities.
Most telling perhaps is the trial record itself. Hans Irmy, it must be remembered,
mounted a valiant and spirited defence to the very end. And yet the record does
not reveal his even attempting to refute the charge that Hagenbach planned to

198 Ruth Putnam Charles the Bold, Last Duke of Burgundy (New York, NY: G.P. Putnam’s Sons, 1908),
380. As mentioned previously, rape, as opposed to murder, appears to have been Hagenbach’s pre-
ferred weapon of terror and atrocity.

1% See Rinat Kitai-Sangero, ‘Detention for the Purpose of Interrogation as Modern “Torture”’,
University of Detroit Mercy School of Law Review, 85 (2008), 156.

20 On the other hand, it would appear the torture ended once Hagenbach ‘confessed’ to his crimes.
21 See The Caputo Family Association, ‘Knighthood and Noble Titles', Noble Dynasty [website],
<http://www.nobledynasty.com/knighthoodandnobletitles.htm> (accessed 28 February 2013) (‘In
extreme cases...a knight...could lose his honour by formal degradation—a public ceremony in
which his accoutrements were taken from him.’); Jeri Westerson, ‘Degradation of Knighthood’,
Getting Medieval [blog], <http://www.getting medieval.com> (accessed 28 February 2013) (‘It’s some-
thing in the history of chivalry that doesnt often come up’).
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exterminate the citizens of Breisach?®? or that he murdered the four petitioning
residents of Thann. At most, he offered the rejected defence of superior orders. Nor
did Irmy (or Hagenbach, for that matter), directly deny the rape charges (merely
objecting that taking women in this fashion was common practice and/or he had
paid for services rendered).??

Did Hagenbach slaughter thousands of innocent civilians in concentrated liqui-
dation campaigns? There is no evidence to suggest he did—he was not a fifteenth-
century proto-Nazi. But the record suggests that he terrorized the local population by
murdering civilians, raping numerous women and conspiring to commit a large-scale
massacre in Breisach. It should be noted that the rape charges are the most persuasive
as there are numerous examples and they were never directly refuted.

And Hagenbach’s backstory further validates this view of him. He was the product
of a Burgundian ducal culture that was steeped in and glorified violence—the
reflection of its bellicose chief, Charles the Bold (known to his enemies as Charles
the Terrible).?** The duchy was in almost a permanent state of war with one enemy
or another during Charles’s reign.?”> Charles the Bold’s Burgundy was in the
practice of laying siege to towns and routinely killing civilians who resisted—Liege,
Dinant, Neuss—all were subjected to horrific violence by Burgundian troops and
Hagenbach played a leading role in the first two.?°° And within that violent culture,
Hagenbach was Charles’s fiercest, most loyal lieutenant. In that regard, Sir Peter’s
steadfast reliance on superior orders at trial speaks volumes.

And it is not to be overlooked that a criminal disposition was apparent even
before Hagenbach cast his lot with Charles the Bold. The reported kidnapping of
Marquard Baldeck, the Swiss banker for whom Hagenbach demanded ransom,
is telling in that regard. Hagenbach also seems to have fabricated a murder plot

202 Emile Toutey provides a plausible explanation for why Hagenbach would have wanted to murder
the citizens of Breisach. Hagenbach was aware of other towns that had plotted to kill him during
the previous year and, when requesting entry to create defensive fortifications in anticipation of an
attack by the League of Constance, he had already been denied admittance with his troops into Thann
and Ensisheim. He was only able to gain entry into Breisach because his mercenaries were already
there. Given the animosity shown him in these other towns and the previous conspiracy to kill him,
Hagenbach did not want to take any chances. Killing Breisach’s citizens would have permitted him to
use the town as a defensive fortification without the risk of an uprising from its citizens. Emile Paul
Toutey, Charles Le Temeraire et La Ligue De Constance (Paris: Hachette, 1902), 136-7.

203 Tt seems quite implausible to accept that women of the cloth, supposedly among Hagenbach’s
victims, would have accepted payment for sexual services.

204 See Hugh Chisolm, Encyclopaedia Britannica (1910), 824 (describing Charles as ‘violent,
pugnacious. . . treacherous’).

205" See Bruce D. Porter, War and the Rise of the State (New York, NY: Free Press, 2000), 29. (‘Charles the
Bold...waged a decade-long war (1467-77) aimed at carving out a separate Burgundian Kingdom.’).
26 ‘Dinant Travel Guide’, Eupedia [website], <http://www.eupedia.com/belgium/dinant.shtml>
(accessed 28 February 2013) (describing the siege as ‘the darkest moment in local history’ wherein the
‘city was completely pillaged and burnt down’); Mark Twain, Personal Recollections of Joan of Arc (San
Francisco, CA: Ignatius Press, 1989) (recounting the ‘unspeakable atrocities which Charles the Bold
inflicted upon the men and women and children of Dinant’); Vaughan, above n 2, 40 (explaining
that Charles the Bold ‘sacked Dinant and demolished Li¢ge’); Nicholas Michael, Armies of Medieval
Burgundy 1364—1477 (Oxford: Osprey Publishing, 1983) (detailing that at the halfway point of a
year-long siege, ‘the gates of Neuss had been reduced to rubble by Charles’s 229 guns [and] everything
down to the last rat had been eaten’).
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against Charles the Bold, which he falsely pinned on a court rival to have him
eliminated.?"”

Add to this Hagenbach’s contempt for the emerging bourgeoisie and townspeople,
as well as a deep animosity toward the Swiss, and his stewardship of the Upper
Rhine represented the perfect storm. By 1474, he had indeed become the scourge
of the Sundgau. In this regard, it is interesting to note Burgundy expert Richard
Vaughan’s insight that, in fact, it may have been Hagenbach driving policy and
tactics in Charles’s Alsatian territory, not the other way around:

Many of Hagenbach’s activities were undertaken at [Charles’s] express command, though
often as a result of representations made to him by Hagenbach in the first place.
It is possible, for example, that Charles only agreed to sign the treaty of St Omer on
Hagenbach’s persuasion. In the duke’s letters to Hagenbach of 8 August 1470 he orders
him to undertake the siege and conquest of Ortenberg castle, ‘in accordance with your
memorandum (advertissement)’, which seems to imply that Charles was here acting on
detailed advice to take Ortenberg sent him by Hagenbach. As to other mortgaged places,
the bailiff wrote to Charles describing how he had seized possession of Landser and seeking
the duke’s approval, which was given on 6 January 1474.... On 26 December 1470 he
wrote congratulating Hagenbach on taking Ortenberg.?%

Finally, it should be pointed out that Hagenbach may be responsible for atrocities
in the region, even if he did not personally commit or order them. In particu-
lar, the Picard and Wallon mercenaries he hired toward the end of his reign had
a well-known reputation for being unruly, violent and hostile toward the local
Alsatian population.?” French historian Emile Paul Toutey, for example, describes
Picard soldiers engaging in mass rape of Breisach’s women toward the very end
of 1473.21% These troops may have acted on their own initiative but Hagenbach
was their superior and, at the very least, he bore command responsibility for their
actions.

(2) Was the 1474 Breisach Proceeding history’s first

international war crimes trial?

Those who critique Georg Schwarzenberger’s conclusion that the Breisach
Trial was Nuremberg’s precursor, spearheaded by German historian Heinrich
Heimpel,?'! are supported in this view by two fairly straightforward and super-
ficially compelling arguments: (1) the trial was not ‘international’ because those
who sat in judgment of Hagenbach owed their allegiance to the same sovereign—
the Holy Roman Empire; and (2) no war crimes were implicated as the ‘war’
between Burgundy and the League of Constance had not yet officially begun.
Looking at each of these points a little more carefully, however, tends to vindicate

Schwarzenberger.
27 See Vaughan, above n 2, 255. 208 See Vaughan, above n 2, 99.
209 Toutey, above n 201, 102. 219 Toutey, above n 201, 101.

211 See Heimpel, above n 5, 449.
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(a) An ‘international’ trial?

Nominally, the trial was presided over by a group of judges representing different
political entities (primarily city-states, such as Strasbourg and Basel) in the Upper
Rhine region. The argument that the trial was not international in nature hinges
on the assertion that each of the entities represented was incorporated into a larger
political superstructure—the Holy Roman Empire, which had been founded by
Charlemagne in the year 800.%'2 But is this a credible claim? Many historians are
of the view that, by the late Middle Ages, the Holy Roman Empire had ‘ceased to
be an effective entity’.?"? In particular:

[Consisting of ] more than 300 principalities. .. the Holy Roman Empire emerged from the
Middle Ages a weak and fragmented entity. Even the fabled Hohenstaufen Emperors were
unable to prevent the emerging sovereignty of territorial princes.... Aptly described by
Voltaire as neither holy, nor Roman, nor an empire, this historical atavism was moribund
long before its final dissolution.?*

In this sense, by 1474, perhaps it is more accurate to describe the Holy Roman
Empire as something more akin to an intergovernmental organization with hundreds
of independent member states. Could it be rightly compared, for example, to the
modern Commonwealth of Nations, which consists of sovereign states that were
formerly part of the British Empire?*” If so, the men who sat in judgment of Peter
von Hagenbach clearly represented sovereign entities, not imperial subjects.

On the other hand, it must be pointed out that the murder charges were based
on ‘imperial law’. That indicates the Holy Roman Empire may have been a bit
more than the modern equivalent of the British Commonwealth. Might it look
more like the European Union, for example? Even if that is the case, it does
not necessarily diminish the sovereign status of the political entities represented
at Breisach that day. To analogize in modern terms, an ad hoc tribunal using
European Union law to resolve an issue—but not convened by or operating
explicitly under the authority of the European Union—would not signify that the
individual European states participating in the tribunal (France and Germany, for
example) had lost their sovereignty. In this regard, it cannot be ignored that the
Tribunal was convened by Sigismund, the Archduke of Austria, not by Emperor
Frederick IT1.21¢

212 See, eg, Heimpel, above n 5, 449.

23 Tony Allan et al, World and Its Peoples, Germany and Switzerland (Tarrytown, NY: Marshall
Cavendish Reference, 2009), 318.

214 Roderick Stackelberg, Hitlers Germany: Origins, Interpretations, Legacies (London: Routledge,
1999), 26.

215 See  ‘Profile: The Commonwealt’, BBC: News [website], <http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/
europe/country_profiles/1554175.stm> (accessed 28 February 2013). In fact, two members of the
Commonwealth were not formerly part of the British Empire—Mozambique and Rwanda.

216 As Heimpel points out, ‘[t]he staffing of the court was noble-Austrian’: above n 5, 446.
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(b) A ‘war crimes’ trial?

Regardless of its international nature, the other key issue is whether the Hagenbach
inquest can be properly characterized as a ‘war crimes’ trial. Telford Taylor summarized
the argument against calling it a war crimes trial in his Ministries Case opening
statement: ‘The acts of which he was accused were not committed during actual
hostilities or in time of war and, therefore, under our modern terminology would
be akin more to crimes against humanity than to war crimes.”?"” But Taylor’s statement
may be erroneous on both factual and legal grounds.

First, from a factual perspective, by April 1474 a state of hostilities did arguably
exist between the Duchy of Burgundy and the League of Constance principalities
and city-states. The League was formed in March 1474 with the primary purpose
of expelling Burgundy from the region. Not coincidentally, at about the same
time, Hagenbach took up fortifications in Breisach and prepared for an attack—
he knew a state of hostilities existed. Indeed, House of Valois expert Richard
Vaughan concludes that there was an ‘authentic armed revolt against Charles the
Bold [in] Alsace in April 1474’28

Second, from a legal perspective, even assuming Burgundy was not officially at
war with the League by April 1474, it is still arguable, under modern conceptions
of the law of war, that Hagenbach engaged in war crimes. According to law of
war expert Yoram Dinstein, ‘belligerent occupation may be carried out without
any hostilities either preceding or following it Dinstein then elaborates: ‘If the
occupation of the territory of State A (in whole or in part) by State B is suffused
with coercion, the occupation is belligerent and the relationship between States
A and B shifts from peace to war (even in the absence of hostilities.) %

In the case of the Burgundian occupation of Alsace, it had clearly turned coercive
during the first part of 1474. In the first place, funded by the League of Constance,
Sigismund had paid off his debt and he and his League allies sought to reclaim
the Alsatian lands held by Charles the Bold as collateral pursuant to the Treaty of
St Omer. Consistent with this, Sigismund appointed a new bailiff for the region,
Herman Eptingen. The population’s entreaties to Charles the Bold to remove
Hagenbach had fallen on deaf ears and Hagenbach clearly perceived rebellion in
his midst during those final months of service to the Duke. In addition to the
defensive fortifications at Breisach, Hagenbach’s claim he extra-judicially killed the
citizens of Thann on grounds of rebellion attests to this.

Nevertheless, in the absence of a more detailed bill of particulars, we cannot
know with certainty which of Hagenbach’s charged crimes took place during this
period of coercion. In fact, it is difficult to identify the precise date on which the
occupation could be safely described as ‘coercive’. Nor is it clear whether a coercive
occupation in 1474 existed in the same manner and degree in each of the Alsatian

217 US v Ernst von Weizsaecker above n 14, 96—7.

218 Vaughan, above n 2, 403.

29 Yoram Dinstein, 7he International Law of Belligerent Occupation (Cambridge: Cambridge
University Press, 2009), 31.

220 Dinstein, above n 219, 35.
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territories occupied by Charles the Bold where any of Hagenbach’s charged crimes
may have occurred. And so, as is true with so much else in this case, no definitive
conclusions are possible.

(3) Crimes against humanity?

But perhaps it is well to reconsider Telford Taylor’s analysis that Hagenbach was
charged and convicted of misdeeds akin to the modern formulation of crimes
against humanity. For ICL purposes, along with the rejection of the superior orders
defence, this could be the trial’s most significant legacy. Modern experts routinely
quote prosecutor Heinrich Iselin’s opening charge that Hagenbach had ‘trampled
under foot the laws of God and marn’. But where is that supported in the histori-
cal record? Heinrich Heimpel contends it is nowhere to be found in the original
source materials.??! Of the non-contemporaneous historians, Prosper de Barante
appears to be the earliest quoted source of Iselin’s most famous words. And from
that source, succeeding generations of historians have quoted one another, in echo
chamber fashion, as support for Iselin’s weighty utterance. But what exactly are the
words used in Barante’s treatise? The relevant passage follows:

On 4 May 1474 [Hagenbach] was...brought before his judges on Breisach’s town
square... Henrich Iselin, of Basel, then addressed the court as Herman Eptingen’s representa-
tive, acting on behalf of Duke Sigismund and the country. He spoke more or less in these terms:
‘Peter von Hagenbach, knight, chief steward of his lord the Duke of Burgundy, and the Duke’s
governor in the territory of Ferrette and Upper Alsace, should have respected the privileges he
swore to protect when taking his oath of office; but not only did he violate the rights pledged
and guaranteed in this country, he zrampled under foot the laws of God and man.**

And where exactly did Barante himself find evidence of Iselin’s peroration?
Barante’s treatise offers no clues—there is no specific citation in support of the text
(or approximate text). Consistent with Heimpel’s conclusion, my research has not
unearthed reports of that exact language in contemporaneous accounts.””? There
are hints of it, however, in the journal of Basel’s diarist Johannes Knebel, the most
frequently quoted contemporary chronicler (and, according to historian Charles
Nerlinger, ‘the most reliable source’).”?* For example, Knebel quotes Iselin in his

221 Heimpel, above n 5, 450 n 1.

222 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 14-15 [emphasis added]—author’s translation. ‘More or less’” might
also be translated as ‘approximately.” The original French text reads as follows: ‘Pierre de Hagenbach,
chevalier, maitre d’hotel de monseigneur le duc de Bourgogne, et son gouverneur dans les pays de
Ferrette et Haute-Alsace, aurait i respecter les privileges réservés par I'acte d’engagement; mais il n’a
pas moins foulé aux pieds les lois de Diew et des hommes que les droits jurés et guarantis au pays.’

22 In addition to Knebel’s diary and the previously mentioned Reimchronic (see above n 32), Richard
Vaughan cites Die Berner-Chronik by Schilling and Die Strassburgische Chronik by Trausch. See
Vaughan, above n 2, 262 n 1. The author has not read the latter two, which are not widely available
and kept in locations not currently accessible to the author. Of course, it is possible Barante relied
on the manuscripts of Schilling or Trausch but this seems unlikely given that he cites neither in his
treatise.

224 Nerlinger, above n 43, 127 n 1. Some consider Knebel the sole source of reportage on the trial.
John Foster Kirk refers to Knebel as ‘#be chronicler’. Kirk, above n 42, 494 [emphasis added].
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opening statement as follows: ‘And after the tribunal was summoned, Heinrich
Iselin...began to lay charges against Peter von Hagenbach. .. First, that in [1473],
in [Thann], he caused four citizens. . . to be decapitated without tribunal or justice,
and so had acted against the law of the divine emperors > Knebel has Iselin go on
to say: Also, he had overwhelmed by force and against their will many married
women, maidens, even nuns...and had done the same things against God, justice,
and all honesty.***

Thus, while Knebel’s Iselin quotations allude to Hagenbach’s acting ‘against
the law of the divine emperors’ and ‘against God, justice, and all honesty’, with
specific respect to the first and fourth counts of the indictment, they do not have
Iselin generally charging Hagenbach with ‘trampling under foot the laws of God
and man’.

The discrepancies can perhaps be explained, though. First, according to Gabrielle
Claerr-Stamm, Barante constructed his Hagenbach history, at least in part, rely-
ing on another old chronicle kept by a prominent architect of Strasbourg, Daniel
Specklin.?”” Barante indicates in his book that Specklin’s manuscript was compiled
based on the contemporaneous accounts of a certain M. Golbéry, an official of the
Alsatian city-state of Colmar.??® Unfortunately, the portion of the Specklin chroni-
cle dealing with Hagenbach (the entire year 1474, for that matter) was lost in a
fire after the Strasbourg library holding it was shelled in 1870 by German troops
during the Franco—Prussian war.?? As a result, it is quite possible that Barante’s
rendering of the Iselin-opening derives from the missing portion of the Specklin
manuscript (to which, for example, twentieth-century historian Heinrich Heimpel
would not have had access).

There may be yet another simple explanation. Barante essentially acknowledged
that he was only paraphrasing Iselin (qualifying his reporting of Iselin’s words as
‘approximate’ or ‘more or less—a peu prés in French). Given the admitted loose
transcription, there is arguably enough consistent language in Knebel to reconcile

25 Knebel, above n 81, 86 [emphasis added]. The original Latin reads: ‘Et judicio bannito cepit
Heinricus Ysenlin nomine domini Hermanni de Eptingen balivi contra dominum Petrum de
Hagenbach querulare et quatuor articulos contra eum proposuit: [1] primo: quod anno preterito, vide-
licet 73, in Tannis quatuor cives, probos et honestos viros, absque judicio et justicia fecisset decapitari,
unde contra legem divorum imperatorum fecisset.” Scott Farrington translated the Latin into English.
226 Knebel, above n 81, 86—7 [emphasis added]. The Latin reads: ‘Multas eciam in civitate Brisacensi
mulieres maritatas, virgines, eciam moniales vi oppressisset et contra ipsarum voluntatem, et similia
non solum ibi, verum eciam in multis aliis opidis et villis fecissez contra deum, justiciam et omnem hon-
estatem.” As before, Scott Farrington translated the original Latin into English.

277 Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 186 (‘Barante...relied on the chronicle of Daniel Specklin, which
has disappeared’).

228 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 405.

22 Claerr-Stamm, above n 29, 186. See also Rodolphe Reuss, Les Collectanées de Daniel Specklin,
Chronique Strassbourgeoise du XVIéme Siécle (Strasbourg: Librairie J. Noiriel, 1890); Georges
Delahache, ‘La Cathédrale de Strasbourg: Notice Historique et Archéologique (1910)°, University
of Toronto Libraries: Internet Archive [website], <http://www.archive.org/stream/lacathdraledes00de-
lauoft/lacathdraledesO0delauoft_djvu.txt> (accessed 28 February 2013) (‘Specklin left a manuscript
that was partially destroyed in a fire of the city’s library during the 1870 bombardment and that was
published in retrievable fragments by Rod. Reuss) (translated by the author).
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the slightly different language in Barante. In this regard, the notion that Barante
was a less than careful historian is reinforced by an obvious mistake two sentences
before the recounting of Iselin’s opening statement. In particular, Barante intro-
duced the section by informing readers that Sir Peter’s trial took place on ‘4
May 1474°.%%° It is universally acknowledged that Sir Peter von Hagenbach was
tried and executed on the ninth of May 1474, not the fourth. Ironically, given
its future impact on the development of international criminal law, a potentially
minor transcription error in a Burgundian side-plot may be the most signifi-
cant legacy of Barante’s mammoth ten-tome history of the Burgundian House
of Valois!®!

Even if we can chalk up Barante’s inadvertent proto-formulation of crimes against
humanity (via Iselin) to a transcription error, Hagenbach was arguably guilty of
our modern understanding of the offence all the same. The Rome Statute of the
International Criminal Court defines crimes against humanity as a series of heinous
acts, such as murder or rape, committed as ‘part of a widespread or systematic
attack directed against any civilian population, with knowledge of the attack’.?
As with war crimes, legal analysts could quibble about exactly when Hagenbach
committed various acts of murder, rape and other crimes in relation to a widespread
or systematic attack (or whether he had knowledge of the attack). But as most of
the crimes charged at the Breisach Trial were committed in and around a period of
hostility between Burgundy and the Alsatian polities, the requisite nexus between
Hagenbach’s individual transgressions and a widespread or systematic attack can
likely be established.??? Similarly, given that he was in charge of the forces engaging
in the widespread or systematic attack, it is not a stretch to impute knowledge to
him of any such attack.

230 Barante, above n 40, vol 9, 14.

21 Another possible source of the phraseology is suggested by historian Ruth Putnam. She explains
that the anti-Burgundian alliance sent Emperor Frederick III a letter in August 1474 explaining why
Sigismund had reasserted dominion over the mortgaged Alsatian territories. In particular, she recounts
the letter informed the Emperor that Charles the Bold’s ‘appointed lieutenant had been peculiarly
odious and had broken the laws of God and men’ (Putnam, above n 198, 394 [emphasis added]). To
support this, Putnam cites to page 442 of the 1902 treatise Charles le Téméraire et la ligue de Constance
by French historian Emile Paul Toutey. But the cited language in French reads as follows: ‘Il a inquiété
gravement les prétres, dans leurs corps et dans leurs biens, honteusement outragé des femmes et des
filles, fait passer de vie & trépas beacoup d’innocents, contre Dieu et le droit, sans acun jugement.” Emile
Paul Toutey, Charles le Téméraire et la ligue de Constance (Hachette, 1902) 442 [emphasis added]. The
author translates this passage as follows: ‘He seriously harassed the priests, with respect to both their
persons and possessions, shamefully offended women and girls, and put to death many innocent per-
sons, against God and the law, without judicial sanction.” Putnam’s translation seems a stretch and the
language quoted by Toutey is not even close to Barante’s formulation of ‘les lois de Dieu et des hommes .
Even if Putnam’s translation is accepted, it is quite possible that that letter’s authors were merely quot-
ing Iselin’s words at trial.

%2 Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, 2187 UNTS 3, opened for signature 17 July
1998 (entered into force on 1 July 2002), Art. 7.

23 Given the widespread and systematic attack, Heimpel’s assertion that the trial involved only gar-
den variety charges of murder and rape is ill considered. See Heimpel, above n 5, 450.
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(V) Conclusion

In illuminating the hidden history of the 1474 Breisach Trial, this chapter has
attempted to identify and resolve certain vertical and horizontal dissonances in
Hagenbach scholarship. With respect to the former, this has amounted to an exercise
in historiographic and historical archacology. The recent attention lavished on the
case by ICL experts is informed by a cartoonish conception of the defendant—an
ultra-violent, sexually depraved monster who ran amok for years along the Upper
Rhine and terrorized its population. Consistent with that interpretation, the
authorities who captured and tried him engaged in a righteous and visionary justice
enterprise. They came out on the winning side of a Manichean struggle that gave
birth to ICL and ennobled its pedigree.

Digging deeper, though, one finds a very different narrative developed initially
by nineteenth-century historians and embraced by most of their twentieth-century
confreres. They saw Hagenbach as a would-be administrative reformer whose efforts
were thwarted by xenophobic subjects and a parsimonious superior. In trying to
transform a fragmented archipelago of city-states into a cohesive governmental entity,
Hagenbach was despised because he threatened an ingrained culture of seigneurial
privilege and parochial complacency. In his efforts to redeem property put in hock
by Sigismund, he likely reinforced views of Burgundy as excessively acquisitive and
bent on conquest (this was exacerbated by Charles’s own efforts to accede to the
imperial throne). And in levying taxes to pay for good government, Hagenbach
stoked local fears of financial servitude and ruin. But in doing the Duke’s bidding,
he did not have the Duke’s support. So he was left to flounder, his undoing has-
tened by his admitted crass and prurient behaviour. They point out that his trial,
a marketplace spectacle based on torture-extracted confessions, was little more
than drumbhead justice. It was akin to executing Charles the Bold in effigy. Peter
von Hagenbach may not have been the most adroit governor and perhaps he did
manifest contempt for the rising merchant and urban classes. But, the revisionists
would contend, his final deserts were not just at all.

Digging deeper still, the bottom layer of historiography consists of the journalistic
rough draft and the first generations of historians that followed. It is largely consistent
with the modern ICL expert view but without the larger historical perspective and
legal focus. And it is more regionally tinged and archaic. This layer is at once more
reliable, given its comtemporaneity or relative proximity, and less reliable, given
the inherent biases of its initial chroniclers and the disproportionate influence they
exerted on sixteenth- to eighteenth-century historians.

Buct this piece has demonstrated that each layer is not necessarily inconsistent
with the others. In fact, there are many points of convergence. And it is there that
a unified, coherent narrative can be stitched together. Hagenbach was coarse and
confrontational. But he was also hardworking and loyal and wanted to do right
by his master. His entire career had been built on pleasing Charles the Bold. He
undoubtedly meant to reform and upgrade the administration of his Alsatian fief-
dom. And, consequently, resentment of the bailiff grew over the years as he pushed
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while the Alsatians pulled. Hostilities boiled over in 1473 and matters came to
a head in 1474. Charles’s loyal lieutenant with a criminal past and odd sexual
predilections felt increasingly boxed in and he eventually lashed out. The almost
exclusive procedural focus of his defence at trial strongly supports accounts of the
resulting crime spree.

It should also be noted that modern Hagenbach scholarship is characterized by
a certain horizontal dissonance as well—between jurists and historians. Given the
historical points of convergence just noted, however, these two schools ought to
find common ground too. Certain views of the revisionist historians concerning
the Hagenbach judicial proceedings are not without merit. The Breisach ad hoc
tribunal may not have been a kangaroo court but it bears no resemblance to the
comparatively well-oiled machine of modern international criminal justice admin-
istration. The defendant was hideously tortured for days before the trial. He was
given no notice of the charges or allegations against him in advance of the hearing.
He had no time to speak with a lawyer before standing in front of the judges. The
proceeding itself was held on a market square in a circus atmosphere and con-
cluded within a matter of hours. He was not able to call his most important (and
only) witness to the stand—Charles the Bold. And there is no indication of a high
burden of proof or that any such burden even rested with the prosecution. The
Breisach Trial was certainly not the paragon of due process.

On the other hand, this was the late Middle Ages—centuries removed from our
modern notions of due process. Torture was part of standard pre-trial procedure
at that time. And the trial itself seems relatively fair for that era. Hagenbach was
represented by a zealous advocate in Hans Irmy and he was given two additional
lawyers of his choice. There is as well a flip side to the ‘public spectacle’ aspect of his
trial—transparency. Hagenbach could have been summarily condemned in front
of a secretive Star Chamber but his trial was held in public (and that was consistent
with local custom). He was able to confront witnesses called against him. He had
twenty-eight finders of fact (compared to twelve in the modern jury system). And
Charles the Bold, his sole designated witness, was not allowed to testify because
the defence of superior orders was rejected ab initio. As well, the proceedings lasted
from early in the morning until late at night—which could equate to two or three
modern court days. There seems to have been significant deliberation among the
twenty-cight judges suggesting that a consensus was cobbled together after care-
fully sifting through the evidence. In an age of witch-hunts, trials by ordeal, the
Star Chamber, and the Inquisition, this was an exceedingly fair trial.

And in many ways it seems inappropriate to use twenty-first century ICL ter-
minology to analyse a fifteenth-century judicial proceeding. But if that terminol-
ogy is used, this chapter has demonstrated that the Breisach Trial has many of the
hallmarks of a modern international atrocity adjudication. As a threshold mat-
tet, regardless of anything else, it is the first recorded case in history to reject the
defence of superior orders. In itself, that distinction invests the trial with universal
historic importance in the development of atrocity law.

But has the Hagenbach inquest left a larger legacy? Is it the world’s first inter-
national war crimes trial? Did it bequeath us the first primitive formulation of
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crimes against humanity? As this chapter has demonstrated, given the relatively
circumscribed writ of the Holy Roman Empire by the late fifteenth century, it is
not unreasonable to classify the trial as ‘international’. And Burgundy’s hostile
occupation of the Sundgau in the first part of 1474 means Hagenbach’s transgres-
sions may arguably be recognized in contemporary terminology as war crimes.
Moreover, the bailiff's apparent widespread and systematic attack against the
Alsatian civilian population (most clearly via rape and murder)—made with his
commander’s knowledge of the attack—seems to qualify as crimes against human-
ity as it is understood today.

Whether, on that fateful Monday morning in the spring of 1474, Heinrich
Iselin spontaneously and intuitively attempted to vocalize the raw concept of a new
kind of atrocity crime—offences violating ‘the laws of God and man'—may never
be known for sure and, in any event, is beside the point. Since the modern birth of
international criminal law in 1945, experts have perceived that the Swiss procurator
articulated a new juridical concept that morning—crimes against humanity. That
perception has undoubtedly had an influence, however nuanced or attenuated, on
the modern development of ICL. And it has lent the subtle sanction of ancient
pedigree to jurists attempting to blaze new trails with respect to ICL theories of lia-
bility, defence, and procedure. This chapter has shown that though they might be
grounded in inaccurate or superficial understandings of history, modern perceptions
of the trial are at least not based on unsubstantiated myth. Perhaps this chapter will
disabuse ICL of its one-dimensional portrait of Hagenbach as history’s consummate
bogeyman. But it should also enhance appreciation for the important semiotic and
iconographic space the Breisach Trial now inhabits in transnational legal discourse.

The case did set an epochal precedent. Nothing in history leading up to that
moment in 1474 would have suggested the remarkable course of action taken by
Sigismund. It is tempting to see that decision as an historic anomaly that would
not be repeated for centuries to come. But on closer inspection, Sigismund’s choice
to hold a trial before an international court fits well within the historical narrative
of that era.

It was a time of religious and political disintegration. The Holy Roman Empire
was fading into irrelevance and the Catholic Church was on the verge of losing its
European hegemony. It was the eve of the nation-state—a unique moment when the
old collective structures were dying and the new ones had yet to be born. Given the
interstitial political turbulence, the time was ripe for a plural approach to law enforce-
ment in the cosmopolitan geographic centre of Europe. Hagenbach’s inter-regional
depredations, which helped forge a rare pan-Germanic consensus, provided the per-
fect forum to experiment with international justice during that fragmented time.
The Westphalian order, already on the horizon, would foreclose any such future
experiments until Nazi brutality put a chink in the Westphalian armour and inspired
an unprecedented transnational justice operation in the wake of a truly global war.
In that sense, although on much different scales, Breisach and Nuremberg have
much in common. And should the nation-state ever manage to reassert its absolute
supremacy again, Breisach will undoubtedly be on the lips of future international
jurists seeking, as before, to end impunity at the expense of sovereignty.
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A Supranational Criminal Tribunal
for the Colonial Era:

The Franco-Siamese Mixed Court

Benjamin E. Brockman-Hawe'

(I) Introduction

The year 1892 was one of great change for the institution of French colonialism. The
emergence of a French electorate preoccupied with colonial matters and sensitive to
threats, real and perceived, to Frances imperialistic pretensions' coincided with a
rise in the political fortunes of the most opportunistic and demagogic members of
the parti colonial to create an environment favorable to the adoption of aggressively
expansionist policies and projects. The impetus towards expansion manifested early
on as a breakdown in French-Siamese relations. When the British government
announced in 1892 its intention to cede its territorial rights over the Southeast
Asian statelet of Chieng-Keng to Siam, the decision was seized upon by the parti as
evidence of an international conspiracy to expand England’s regional influence at
the expense of French Indochina. Championing a policy of forceful confrontation and
military intervention, the pars successfully agitated for the dispatch of a ‘police
force’ to occupy the easternmost territories of Siam.?

The French anticipated a quick and uncomplicated victory, but the campaign
took an unexpected turn when Inspecteur de la Garde Civile Grosgurin died at the
hands of Siamese troops at Kham Muon. Grosgurin’s demise further whipped
the parti and the French nation into a nationalistic frenzy, so much so that an

" 'This chapter is dedicated to my mother, Dr. Linda Brockman, who has always encouraged me to
dig deeper.

! Tt was only after colonial problems were reframed as issues of inter-European competition that wide-
spread public interest in colonial affairs was realized. C.M. Andrew and A.S. Kanya-Forstner, “The French
“Colonial Party”: Its Composition, Aims and Influence, 1885-1914’, Historical Journal, 14 (1971), 100.

2 Patrick Tuck, The French Wolf and the Siamese Lamb: The French Threat to Siamese Independence
1858—1907 (Bangkok: White Lotus 1995), 104. France first challenged Siam’s suzerainty over the ter-
ritories of Laos in 1867, when French negotiators insisted that all phrases that might be construed to
imply their acceptance of Laos™ tributary status be removed from a proposed treaty with Siam: 27-9.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



A Supranational Criminal Tribunal for the Colonial Era 51

Article specifically related to the incident was inserted into one of the two treaties
that marked the end of hostilities between France and Siam. Pursuant to Article 11T
of the Franco-Siamese Convention of October 1893:

The authors of the assassination of [Kham Muon] shall be tried by the Siamese authorities.
A representative of France shall be present at the trial and witness execution of the sentence
pronounced. The French Government reserves the right to appreciate whether the punishment
is sufficient and, where applicable, claim a new trial before a Mixed Court, whereof it shall
determine the composition.

This provision was exceptional among colonial-era agreements; the establishment
of a Mixed Court represented a radical departure from precedent, which favoured
the trial of persons accused of crimes committed during military operations before
the national courts ‘of the belligerent in whose hands they [were]’.> How such an
unusual article came to be included in an otherwise typical colonial-era agreement
is discussed in greater detail in section II. Sections III and IV will describe the
prosecutions of the ‘author of the assassination’, initially before a Siamese Special
Court and later before the Article III Franco-Siamese Mixed Court. This chapter
concludes with a discussion of the significance of the Mixed Court as an international
criminal law phenomenon, including its role as a progenitor of contemporary ICL
mechanisms and the substantive and procedural laws they apply.

(II) The Affair of Kham Muon and Negotiation
of the Convention of 3 October 1893

Although France was relatively late to stake a claim in Southeast Asia, by 1885 it
had established effective control over most of the territory comprising contemporary
Vietnam and Cambodia. The French, however, remained covetous of the more
lucrative trade routes thought to lie just beyond their grasp to the west, and in
1886 and 1889 sponsored missions into Laos, a Mekong River-straddling suzerain of
Siam whose easternmost frontier delimited the border between French Indochina
and Siam. The purpose of these incursions was two-fold: first, to legitimate French
claims that the Mekong was the appropriate border between the two sovereigns by
uncovering archival evidence that Laotian territories running along the east bank of
the river rightfully belonged to states that were now French colonies; and second,
to pave the way for a French commercial and political presence in the Mekong
Valley by negotiating the withdrawal of Siamese garrisons along the east coast of
the River.*

August Pavie, the leader of both missions and future French consul to Bangkok,
failed to achieve cither objective. The explorer unearthed so little evidence supportive

3 Institute of International Law, Manual of the Laws of War on Land (adopted 9 September 1880),
Part I1I (Chapean and Article 84); James W. Garner, ‘Punishment of Offenders Against the Laws and
Customs of War’, American Journal of International Law, 14 (1920), 76-9.

4 Tuck, above n 2, 85-96.
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of a theory of Vietnamese (and by extension French) possession that in his final
report he recommended avoiding negotiations with Siam until his employers were
prepared to answer competing territorial claims with force, and the Siamese effec-
tively counteracted the commercial and political aspirations of the Missions Pavie
by denying the eponymous leader permission to negotiate directly with civilian
and military leaders living in the Mekong valley.” Frustration over these failures
prompted the parti to contemplate more forceful means of compelling Siam into
ceding the disputed Laotian territories to France. A suitable casus belli for the
deployment of French troops to the disputed region was found in December
1892, when the English handed over control of the northern Mekong territory
Chieng-Keng to Siam. The move convinced key colonialists that England had
insidiously been encouraging the Siamese to reject French claims over eastern
Laos all along, and the parti eventually convinced the French parliament to accept
their plan for an immediate and forcible eviction of Siamese officials and troops
from the Mekong’s east bank.® After receiving the blessing of the Chamber of
Deputies, the parti leadership wasted no time in dispatching armed columns of
French and Annamite (Vietnamese) soldiers to the contested region, and by April
1893 French ‘police forces” had established a toehold in Laos.”

Because the parti expected Siam to offer only a ‘comic gesture of resistance’
it came as a considerable surprise when Captain Luce telegrammed Paris that the
Siamese Commissioner of Kham Muon, Phra Yot, who had initially agreed to
peacefully relinquish the contested territory and to leave for Outhene under the
‘protection’” of an armed escort led by M. Grosgurin, had in fact ‘secretly sent for
a band of 200 armed Siamese and Laotians[,] who surrounded. .. the house where
[M. Grosgurin] was lying ill, and “assassinated [him] with a revolver” whilst the
band massacred the escort’.” The parti immediately demanded full reparations for
the ‘act of treason’, sent three men-of-war from Saigon to Bangkok and ordered the

5> Tuck, above n 2, 89, 9-97.

¢ Archives d’Outre-Mer (AOM), Pavie to Ribot, 29 December 1892, No. 40 (referring to an
carlier report by the Resident Superior of Hue suggesting that a ‘de facto occupation...will lead
promptly...to the withdrawal of Siamese troops” from the contested area). The parliament budgeted
180,000 francs for the operation: Tuck, above n 2.

7 Foreign Office (FO) 881/6373, Inclosure ‘Extract from Le Matin of 5 April 1893’, Marquis of
Dufferin to Rosebery, 5 April 1893, No. 44 (describing the French occupation of Stung Treng); FO
881/6373, Inclosure ‘Extract from Le Matin of 10 April 1893’ in Marquis of Dufferin to Rosebery,
5 April 1893, No. 48 (describing the French occupation of the Island of Khone). The French author-
ized a ‘police action’ specifically to avoid the appearance of waging an open war against Siam: Tuck,
above n 2, 123.

8 Archives du Ministre des Relations Exterieures (MRE), Asie-Indochine 83, Jules Harmand,
‘report from Novembre 1892°. August Pavie was of the opinion that {tJhe Siamese government, seeing
that it has exceeded the limits that our forbearance had seemed to authorize, will doubtless move from
one extreme to the other as is generally the case with Asiatics’s Letter from Pavie to Le Myre, 12 December
1893, “The Escalation in Franco-Siamese Relations’, Auguste Pavie: The Barefoor Explorer, <http://
pavie.culture.fr/rubrique.php?rubrique_id=60&lg=en#ecran2> (accessed 3 March 2013).

? FO 881/6793, Inclosure ‘Extract from Le Matin of 27 June 1893’ in Phipps to Rosebery,
27 June 1893, No. 139. See also FO 881/6793, Inclosure ‘Extracts from Lindependant de Cochin-China
of 16 June 1893 in Marquis of Dufferin to Rosebery, 25 July 1893, No. 146.
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capture of the Gulf Islands in the Bay of Samit and Luang Prabang.'® The Siamese,
however, doubted the veracity of Luce’s telegram, and refused to pay reparations
unless and until additional reports confirmed that events had taken place in the
manner described therein.!

News of Siam’s temporizing in the face of Grosgurin’s ‘murder’ remained on
the front page of the major Parisian periodicals for over a month,'? where it fed a
wave of anti-Siamese sentiment that emboldened the parzi to enlarge their territorial
claims and agitate the remainder of the French political establishment into action.'?
On 20 July 1893 the French parliament communicated its first formal ultimatum to
Siam, by which Bangkok was required to (1) relinquish all rights to the east bank
of the Mekong; (2) pay an indemnity to the victims of various acts of Siamese
aggression; and (3) punish the officers responsible for various attacks on French
troops, including the Grosgurin attack. Failure to accept the terms of the ultimatum
within forty-eight hours would result in a blockade of the Siamese capital.'* The
Chamber of Deputies also unanimously ratified the decision of Foreign Minister
Jules Develle to send Charles Le Myre de Vilers, the parliamentary deputy for
Cochinchina, to Bangkok, with instructions to negotiate a treaty that would
guarantee French territorial rights along the Mekong River and secure compensation
for Siam’s various ‘violations of jus gentium’."

10 Valter E.]J. Tips, Siam’s Struggle for Survival; The Gunboat Incident at Paknam and the Franco-Siamese
Treaty of October 1893 (Bangkok: White Lotus 2006), 65 (journal entry for 18 June 1893); AOM,
Siam 3/46, Lanessan to Declasse, 11 June 1893, No. 95. M. Develle, the French Foreign Minister,
warned the English Minister in Paris that he would ‘present matters in their true light to the Chamber
of Deputies if Siam did not address France’s grievances. Develle assured the English Minister that the
Chamber would escalate the conflict by committing an additional 10,000,000 francs and 6,000 men
for the operation, and authorizing military operations against Bangkok: FO 881/6479, Phipps to
Rosebery, 30 June 1893, No. 6.

" Prince Devawongse, the Siamese Foreign Minister, protested to Pavie that:

The event would have happened on the seventh, four days marching away from Kam
Muon and it is starting from the ninth that the Annamites bring this news. The Siamese
officer would have brought two hundred men from Outhene and...it appears that in
Outhene there were only fifty men. The officer, who is Phra Yot, is moreover known as
an honourable man and his whole character goes against this accusation of assassination.

Tips, above n 10, 64 (journal entry for 17 June 1893). Pavie, who knew Phra Yot from his time
spent surveying Laos during the 1889 Mission, was reported to have had ‘nothing bad to say’ about
the Siamese Commissioner at this meeting.

12 See for example, ‘Le Guet-Apens de Keng-Kien', Le Figaro (Paris, France), 17 June 1893; ‘Au
Siam’, Le Matin (Paris, France), 17 July 1893; ‘Le Question au Siamy’, Le Matin (Paris, France), 27 June
1893. Rolin-Jaequemyns confirmed that the incident produced ‘great emotions in Paris’. Tips, above
n 10, 65 (journal entry for 18 July 1893).

13 FO 881/6479, Inclosure No. 1 ‘Extract from the Zéemps of 19 July 1893’ in Phipps to Rosebery, 19
July 1893, No. 78. See generally Tuck, above n 2, 112.

4 Ministre des Affaires Etrangeres (MAE), Documents Diplomatique, Affaires du Siam, Develle to
Pavie, 19 July 1893, No. 12. See also FO 881/6479, Phipps to Rosebery, 19 July 1893, No. 80; FO
881/6479, Rosebery to Jones, 20 July 1893, No. 88; Tips, above n 10, 97-8 (journal entry for 20 July
1893).

5 Documents Diplomatique, above n 14, No. 1. See also No. 78 above n 13; FO 881/6479,
Inclosure ‘Extract from the Journal Officiel of 19 July 1893’, in Phipps to Rosebery, 19 July 1893,
No. 82.
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Two days later Gustave Rolin-Jaequemyns, the Belgian General Advisor to the
King of Siam, drafted and sent a qualified acceptance in which Siam (1) agreed
to withdraw their military posts from the disputed territory within the month,
but suggested that the dispute over ownership of the territory be submitted to
international arbitration; (2) consented to paying the indemnity demanded, but
proposed that a Joint Commission be established to investigate the French claims;
(3) confirmed its readiness to deposit a 3,000,000-franc guarantee with the French,
but emphasized that the Siamese counted on ‘French justice’ to restore to them
any sum remaining after the ‘equitable adjustment of all claims’; (4) assented to
the punishment of any individuals ‘responsible for personal attacks not in com-
pliance with national and international law’; and (5) accepted responsibility for
paying reparations to the families of the deceased ‘in accordance with ordinary
justice’.' Alas, the Siamese reply was considered ‘insolent’ and ‘unsatisfactory’ by
Develle, and prompted the umbrageous French cabinet to escalate their demands
once more."” After announcing the imposition of a blockade on 26 July 1893, the
French sent a ‘declaration’ to supplement the terms of the ultimatum, inter alia
obliging the Siamese to withdraw all troops located within twenty-five kilometres
of the Cambodian border and accept the French occupation of Chattaboon.'®
The Siamese, fearful of losing additional territory, unconditionally acquiesced to
the ‘second Ultimatum’ that same day."”

Le Myre’s arrival in Bangkok on 16 August 1893 marked the beginning of the
second phase of negotiations between France and Siam.? Although Develle had
cautioned the Plenipotentiary to adopt ‘an attitude of benevolence’ during the

16 FO 881/6479, Jones to Rosebery, 23 July 1893, No. 118; Tips, above n 10, 99 (journal entry for
21 July 1893). By this time French officials had deposed survivors of the events at Kieng Chek and
their accounts forwarded to the Siamese. These records apparently confirmed that the French had
‘grossly misinterpreted the circumstances’ and that Grosgurin had been killed in the course of a ‘regular
battle’ between French and Siamese forces: Tips, above n 10, 72 (journal entry for 26 June 1893). See
also FO 881/6479, Jones to Rosebery, 10 July 1893, No. 19.

17 FO 881/6479, Marquis of Dufferin to Rosebery, 26 July 1893, No. 158. The Marquis ‘could not
help thinking that there was something artificial in the indignation [Develle] expressed, not unlike
that exhibited in a conversation on the banks of a stream between two individuals whose memory
has been embalmed by a great fabulist’. Develle is reported to have stated that Siam’s ‘disrespectful
hesitations and suggested modifications were intolerable when preferred by so insignificant a State to
so great a Power as the Republic, and would fully justify France in now taking whatever military or
other measures she might deem expedient’: Cabinet Papers 34/34, Marquis of Dufferin to Rosebery,
27 July 1893, No. 41.

'8 Tips, above n 10, 105 (journal entry for 27 July 1893). See also MRE, Correspondence Politique
des Consuls (CPC) Siam 16, Pavie to Develle, 23 July 1893, No. 93; FO 881/6479, Jones to Rosebery,
1 August 1893, No. 245.

! Documents Diplomatique, above n 14, Nos.19-21; Tips, above n 10, 111 (journal entry for
31 July 1893).

20 When the French Plenipotentiary arrived in Siam, Rolin-Jaequemyns immediately sent a letter of
introduction explaining his royal authorization to negotiate the terms of a treaty. Le Myre, however, had
instructions to ‘categorically...spurn the intervention of foreign advisers’ and refused to negotiate with
anyone other than Siamese officials. When Rolin-Jacquemyns learned of these instructions, and upon
receiving no reply to his overtures to the French negotiator, he considered resigning from his post.
Ultimately he elected to deny the French the ‘pleasure’ of seeing him leave the service of the King and
continue advising Prince Devawongse (the Siamese Foreign Minister) behind the scenes: Documents
Diplomatiques, above n 14, No. 1; Tips, above n 10, 136-137 (journal entry for 20 August 1893).
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negotiations,” Le Myre made no secret of his intention to impose ‘very harsh’
measures on the Siamese, with whom he considered negotiating ‘a waste of time’.”
Indeed, the record of negotiations is rife with instances of Le Myre attempting to
deceive, bully and frustrate the Siamese negotiator, Prince Devawongse, into sur-
rendering more than the ultimatum had demanded.” For example, during their
second meeting Le Myre requested that the Prince affix his signature to an unexamined
copy of the proposed Treaty of Peace and Friendship ‘as a matter of form’. When
the Prince politely declined, Le Myre menacingly reminded him that the French

warships stationed in the Gulf could make matters ‘at any moment quickly change

for the worse’.24

Le Myre’s conduct was particularly egregious with respect to the settlement of what
had come to be known as the Affair of Kham Muon. The French Plenipotentiary
arrived in Siam determined to see Phra Yot brought before a predominantly French
Franco-Siamese Mixed Court,?> but with the exception of one presumptive and off-
hand remark to Devawongse that the ‘culprits’ of the Affair of Kham Muon would
‘of course’ face a court composed of the ‘competent Siamese authorities in conjunc-
tion with [French] Consul® Le Myre refused to discuss the matter, preferring to
hold it in terrorem over the Siamese.?” The telegrams exchanged between Le Myre
and Devawongse tell their own story: throughout September 1893 the French
Plenipotentiary constantly protested that Siam had failed to fulfil its obligation to
punish ‘guilty parties” involved in the Kham Muon incident, and demanded that
Siam grant additional concessions as a consequence,®® even as Devawongse affirmed
Siam’s willingness to bring the individuals the French considered guilty before an

2 MRE, MD Asie-Indochine 87, Develle to Le Myre, 5 August 1893. No. 5.

2 MRE, CPC Siam 16, Le Myre to Develle, 24 August 1893 (Le Myre believed that ‘European
diplomatic niceties are inappropriate in Siam. With Asiatics, you impose your will when you are the
stronger, or you stand aloof if you are the weaker.”). See also MRE, MD, Asie-Indochine 87, Le Myre
to Develle, 3 August 1893.

2 FO 881/6479, Inclosure ‘Statement of Circumstances and Proceedings Connected with M. Le
Myre de Vilers' Special Mission to BangkoK’, in Jones to Rosebery, 25 August 1893, No. 423; FO
881/6479, Inclosure ‘Second Meeting of the Conference for the New Treaty of Peace and Friendship’,
in Jones to Rosebery, 13 September 1893, No. 454. See also ‘France Not Yet Satisfied—New Demands
Daily Forced Upon the Siamese’, New York Times (New York, USA), 30 August 1893.

2 No. 423, above n 23. See also Tips, above n 10, 141 (journal entry for 24 August 1893).
Rolin-Jaequemyns writes in his journal of a letter sent by Le Myre to Devawongse that is ‘unusually
insolent, [and] written in a mocking tone which would be sufficient, in an ordinary negotiation, to
justify a breaking off’. Neither the Belgian nor French archives hold a copy of this letter. Tips, above
n 10, 157 (journal entry for 18 September 1893).

» A telegram from Le Myre to Develle from 21 August 1893, drafted three full days before his arrival
in Siam, contains the earliest draft of what would eventually become Article III of the Convention.
AOM, Siam 4/51, Le Myre to Develle, Draft of the proposed terms of a Franco-Siamese Convention,
21 August 1893, No. 12. Develle initially attempted to persuade Le Myre to reduce Article ITI to a
right to demand a retrial before a Siamese court, but later capitulated and agreed to allow Le Myre
‘to be the judge’ of how best to handle the matter: AOM, Siam 4/51, Develle to Le Myre, 23 August
1893; AOM, Siam 4/51, Develle to Le Myre, 25 August 1893.

%6 No. 454, above n 23. There is nothing in the minutes to indicate that Devawongse even heard
this stray remark.

2 FO 881/6479, Jones to Rosebery, 14 September 1893, No. 411.

28 FO 881/6479, Inclosure No. 1 ‘Le Myre de Vilers to Prince Devawongse’, in Jones to Rosebery,
13 September 1893, No. 453. See also FO 881/6479, Inclosure No. 2 ‘Le Myre de Vilers to Prince
Devawongse’ in, Jones to Rosebery, 26 September 1893, No. 494.
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impartial domestic court, pending confirmation from the Plenipotentiary that this
would satisfy France.”

The question of Phra Yot’s fate came to a head on 29 September 1893, when Le Myre
handed Devawongse a draft Treaty and draft Convention, the latter incorporating
his as yet unseen proposal for a trial of Phra Yot before a Mixed Franco-Siamese
Court (Article I1I), and announced his intention to leave for Saigon with or without an
agreement within four days. Rolin-Jaequemyns spent the evening reviewing the terms
of the proposed Convention and, finding himself in agreement with Devawongse
that Article III was ‘completely unacceptable’, immediately began work on a noze
verbal summarizing Siam’s objections.” In the note, which was delivered to Le Myre
on 31 September 1893, Rolin-Jaequemyns protested that ‘the Siamese govern-
ment do not think that it is in their power to violate by a retroactive disposition
the individual right, recognized by Treaties, of any of their subjects to be judged by
a competent Court of their own nation’.?!

On 1 October 1893, the two Plenipotentiaries commenced a final round of negoti-
ations. Le Myre flatly refused to alter the language of the Convention itself, but agreed
to address Siamese concerns over Article III in a proces-verbal to be appended to
the Convention.*> He also insinuated that a rejection of the draft Treaty and the
unmodified draft Convention would incite the French to authorize additional
attacks against Siam.*® Facing a ‘third Ultimatum’,** mindful of the inferiority
of Siam’s armed forces, and exhausted by months of French cavilling, deception
and abuse,® the Prince finally capitulated and signed the Treaty and Convention,

» No. 453, Inclosure No. 2 ‘Prince Devawongse to Le Myre de Vilers’, above n 28. See also No. 494,
Inclosure No. 3 ‘Prince Devawongse to Le Myre de Vilers’, above n 28.

30 Tips, above n 10, 168 (journal entry for 1 October 1893). Captain Henry Jones, British Minister
in Bangkok, agreed that ‘the demands of Article III are in violation of all reason and justice: FO
881/6479, Jones to Rosebery, 12 October 1893, No. 516.

31 MAE, Siam 16, Enclosure No. 1 ‘Note Verbal sur le Convention’, in Le Myre to Develle, 4
October 1893, No. 110. Rolin-Jaequemyns’ citation to ‘treaties’ was probably a reference to the Treaty
of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation between France and Siam, which in Article 9 provided that
if ‘a Siamese commit any crime or offence against Frenchmen, he shall be arrested by the Siamese
authorities, and punished according to the laws of the country’: Siam Government, State Papers of
the Kingdom of Siam, 1664—1886, Compiled by the Siamese Legation in Paris (William Ridgeway,
1886), 43, available in the General Archives of the Kingdom of Belgium, Papiers du Gustave
Rolin-Jaequemyns, dossier 1, T-423-1.

32 In the proces-verbal Le Myre responded to Rolin-Jaequemyn’s objections by noting that ‘foreign
jurisdiction is already recognised in Siam, and... Mixed Courts already exist’: FO 881/6479, Jones to
Rosebery, 2 October 1893, No. 432.

3 Although it appears that no record was kept of this final meeting between the French and Siamese
negotiators, Devawongse later told Rolin-Jaequemyns that threats of renewed violence had compelled
him to sign the Treaty and Convention: Tips, above n 10, 167 (journal entry for 1 October 1893).
James G. Scott, Captain Jones successor, confirms that Le Myre ‘threatened to leave if he did not
obtain the Prince’s signatures; he actually went through the theatrical performance of keeping up
steam on the board the Aspic and putting his baggage into the innards of that gunboat at the French
Legation steps’: FO 881/6586, Scott to Rosebery, 28 January 1894, No. 44.

3% Tips, above n 10, 167 (journal entry for 1 October 1893).

3 Even Develle agreed that Le Myre de Vilers had conducted himself in a reprehensible manner
throughout the negotiations. In personal letters Develle described Le Myre de Vilers as ‘an idiot who
almost jeopardised everything’, remarked that Le Myre’s demands were ‘violent, brutal and excessive’,
and complained that Le Myre’s draft treaties, ‘formulated in a pretty dishonest manner, ... actually
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thereby committing Siam to trying Phra Yot before a domestic court and, at the
discretion of the French, before a Mixed Court as well.

Rolin-Jaequemyns was furious at Devawongse’s ‘act of inconceivable weakness’ and
drafted a letter to Le Myre ‘highlight[ing] the gaps™ of Article II1.3 In his last-ditch
effort to alter the Convention language, Rolin-Jaequemyns characterized Article IIT’s
inclusion in the signed Convention as a ‘common oversight’, suggested extricating
the Article from the Convention before news of the agreement was publicized, and
reiterated the concerns of his letter of 31 September 1893, adding that:

[I]f there is some sort of mixed jurisdiction in civil cases where both parties belong to different
nationalities, there is none at all in criminal cases. .. It would thus be a serious infringement on
individual rights to create a Mixed Court for the trial of past crimes or offences, infringement
all the graver if the composition of the Court depends upon a State to which the accused
do not belong.”

Le Myre again declined to remove the controversial provision, arguing that Rolin-
Jaequemyn’s ‘reasoning [was] based on an incomplete draft of the Convention’,* and
on 3 October 1893 the Siamese government publicly acknowledged their acceptance
of the unmodified Treaty and Convention.*

(ITIT) Phra Yot’s Trial before a National Tribunal

(1) Designing the Special and Temporary Court

The Siamese were understandably sceptical that anything other than a guilty verdict
coupled with a harsh sentence would mollify France. In a final effort to avoid the
humiliation of having a Siamese subject who had resisted France be brought before
French judges, in January 1894 the Siamese sent a telegram to Pavie proposing
the creation of a ‘Mixed International Court’ presided over by neutral American
and Dutch consular officials and an English Law Officer from Singapore.®’ A trial
before such a court, the Siamese argued, would provide the French government and

destroyed our text’: Les Archives de la Sarthe (ADS), Fonds Paul d’Estournelles de Constant, 12 J
119, Develle to d’Estournelles de Constant, 9 October 1893; MRE, MD Asie-Indochine 87, Develle
to Paul Revoil, undated.

3¢ Tips, above n 10, 168-9 (journal entries for 1 October 1893 and 2 October 1893).

% FO 881/6479, Inclosure ‘Prince Devawongse to M. Le Myre de Vilers' in Jones to Rosebery, 15
October 1893, No. 552. See also MAE, Siam 16, Enclosure No. 2 ‘Letter from Prince Devawongse
to Le Myre de Vilers, in Le Myre to Develle, 4 October 1893, No. 110. Rolin-Jaequemyns did not
expect that the French would completely expunge Article III from the Convention, but had hoped to
‘obtain some attenuation, during the time which precede[d] the ratification of the treaty’: Tips, above
n 10, 169 (journal entry for 2 October 1893).

3% MAE, Siam 16, Le Myre to Develle, 4 October 1893, No. 110. Rolin-Jaequemyns confirmed that
‘de Vilers [had] not wanted to hear anything about our objections™: Tips, above n 10, 170 (journal
entry for 3 October 1893).

39 The full text of the Treaty, Convention, and proces-verbal are available at FO 881/6479, Inclosures
No. 1-3 in Jones to Rosebery, 12 October 1893, No. 516, and on the website of the MAE at <https://
pastel.diplomatie.gouv.fr/choiseul/> (accessed 14 May 2013).

4 FO 881/6586, ‘Prince Devawongse to M. Pavie’, in Scott to Kimberley, 19 March 1894, No. 78.
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the European public with ‘guarantees of impartiality’ beyond those of a national
court.”! But Pavie was intransigent, and dismissed the suggestion as contrary to the
terms of the Convention,* leaving the despondent Siamese with no alternative but
to sign into law a Royal Decree creating a ‘Special and Temporary Court’ to try
Phra Yot.%?

Despite the virtual certainty that Phra Yot would end up before French judges,
the Siamese went to considerable effort to design a domestic court that, under
different circumstances, might have brought the Affair of Kham Muon to a mutually
satisfactory resolution.* The Court applied existing Siamese legal codes but operated
according to procedural rules inspired by the laws of England and France.® Special
Court proceedings were adversarial in nature but presided over by six judges and
one Chief Justice with broad powers to summon foreign subjects, compel Siamese
subjects to give evidence or produce documents, and generally to ‘take proper
measures to enlighten the conscience of the Court and to remove from the proceed-
ings all causes which appear of a nature to prolong it’.* The accused had the right
to the assistance of one or more counsel, as well as the right to provide a full answer
to the charges, to cross-examine any prosecution witness, to produce witnesses and
evidence in his defence, and to have ‘the last word’ in Court.*” He was also entitled

4 FO 17/1220, Prince Bidyalath to Prince Svasti, received 5 February 1894, 52. See also ‘Prince
Devawongse to M. Pavie’, n 40 above..

2 The Siam Free Press, whose editor and correspondents were partial to the French position, was
no doubt conveying the thoughts of the French Representatives when it published the opinion that
‘[o]nly the most sanguine, obstinate, and deluded of persons could put any trust in an “International
Court” or arbitration: No. 78, above n 40, Inclosure No. 9 ‘Extract from Siazm Free Press of 2 March
1894’. That the Siam Free Press was little more than a mouthpiece of the French legation is confirmed
by an interview with M. Byrois, a correspondent with the Press, who in 1894 described M. Lillie (the
editor of the his paper) as a ‘devoted friend of France’ and provided examples of instances in which Le
Myre rewrote his articles to make them more ‘vigorous and aggressive’: FO 17/1221, ‘Extract from La
Patri¢, in Dufferin to Rosebery, 15 April 1894, page 243, No. 148. See also FO 881/6586, Scott to
Rosebery, 18 February 1894, No. 54.

# No. 78, above n 40. Scott felt that ‘[t]he refusal of the French Representatives to entertain the idea
of a Mixed International Court forced the conclusion that from the beginning they had no intention
of accepting the decision of the Siamese Court, and that finality of decision was the last thing they
desired. The literal fulfilment of this suspicion still further dismays the Siamese’. Rolin-Jaequemyns,
the primary author of the Royal Decree, initially conceived of a trial for Phra Yot before a Siamese
court-martial, but for unknown reasons abandoned that idea in favour of a trial before a regular crimi-
nal court: Tips, above n 10, 164 (journal entry for 25 September 1893). See also No. 54, above n 42.

4 Tips, above n 10, 211.

® The Siamese and English considered the Special Court to be more French than English.
Devawongse felt that the Court applied ‘very nearly same law of France’ and Scott reported that
the procedural rules were ‘very much more founded on French than on English forms of law, and is
certainly not too favourable to the accused’: No. 54, above n 42; FO 17/1220, Prince Devawongse
to Prince Svasti, 15 February 1894, 147. M Pavie, however, would later ascribe the (perceived) slug-
gishness of the proceedings as ‘entirely [due] to English procedure’: India Office Archives, MSS F278,
George Scott’s Diary (11), entry for 28 February 1894, 24. The Siam Free Press derided the Siamese
for binding the Special Court to a ‘mongrel procedure’: No. 78, above n 40, Inclosure No. 9 ‘Extract
from the Siam Free Press of March 2, 1894’.

4 Rule 16, 17, 22 of the Royal Decree Instituting a Special and Temporary Court for the trial of
the affairs of Tong-Xieng-Kham and Keng-Chek (Kham-Muon), in Full Report, With Documentary
Appendices, of the Phra Yot Trial Before the Special Court at Bangkok, Bangkok Times (Bangkok, 1894).

47 Royal Decree, above n 46, rules 10 and 21.
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to a translated copy of any evidence brought against him in a language he did not
understand.*® The Court was obliged to work without interruptions other ‘than
those which [were] necessary for the ordinary wants of life’ and to deliver a judgment
within twenty-four hours of the conclusion of the closing arguments.* The Royal
Decree also authorized a representative designated by the French government to
confer with the Siamese prosecutor as to the content of the indictment, request that
a particular witness be heard, cross-examine a defence witness and offer ‘remarks’
to the prosecution concerning the content of their closing arguments.>

(2) The culture of the courtroom

Dr John MacGregor, an English Officer in the employ of the Indian Medical
Service, happened to be passing through Siam for the commencement of Phra Yot's
trial on 24 February 1894. He captured the occasion in his memoirs:

'The court-room, where the case was tried, was in one of the large public buildings within the
enclosure of the walled city; and it was only a comparatively small room, though honoured
with so great a trial. On the elevated dais sat the six Siamese judges, in the centre of whom
sat and presided HRH Prince Bitchit. To the right hand of the court and below the dais sat
the French advocate, the French consul, and a French legal expert, who had come all the
way from Saigon to watch the case. To the left of the court and facing the French party sat
the defending pleaders, consisting of an English and a Cingalese lawyer, while the Crown
Prince’s ex-tutor acted the part of interpreter, in preference to coming with me through the
wilds of Siam. Immediately in front and behind the judges was the Recorder’s table, with
three or four people sitting at it; and this party seemed to me to act the part of a ‘buffer
state’ between the other two parties, and thus prevented a fresh collision on the floor of the
court house.

Last, but not least, there sat in front of the Recorder’s table no less a personage than Phra
Yott [sic] himself, who was being tried for his life for all these crimes mentioned above, and
who was the immediate cause of all this hullaballoo, the echoes of which have not yet quite
died away. It is needless to say that he was the observed of all observers. He was dressed in a
blue coat and waistcoat, and a skirt that bore some distant resemblance to a kilt, but folded
up behind in Siamese fashion, while on his feet he wore the daintiest little pair of pumps,
and the long white stockings, reaching above the knee, which are so very much affected at
the present time by the real Pink-"uns of Siam.!

After a preliminary objection to the presence of a key prosecution witness in the
court room during open session (sustained) and a request that the trial be adjourned
for ten days to allow the defence team additional time to prepare (overruled), the
court recorder read out the acte d’information.>* Phra Yot had been charged with
ordering the wilful and premeditated murder of Grosgurin and an unknown

4 Royal Decree, above n 46, rule 15.

# Royal Decree, above n 46, rule 23. According to Scott’s report, this rule was inserted upon the
suggestion of the French: No. 54, above n 42.

> Royal Decree, above n 46, rules 7, 11, 14 and 21.

> John MacGregor, Through the Buffer State: A Record of Recent Travels Through Borneo, Siam, and
Cambodia (London: EV. White, 1896), 100.

52 “The Trial of Phra Yot—TFirst Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 1.
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number of Annamite soldiers, robbery, arson, and the infliction of severe wounds
or bodily harm on Boon Chan, Grosgurin’s Cambodian interpreter, and Nguen
van Khan, an Annamite soldier hospitalized as a result of wounds inflicted by the
Siamese at Kieng Chek.>

Despite the gravity of the accusations levelled against him and the severity of the
punishments he potentially faced,’® Phra Yot displayed perfect sangfroid during the
reading, a reaction that made quite an impression on the audience. The Bangkok
Times correspondent covering the trial noted Phra Yot’s ‘considerable resource and
self control’,>> James G. Scott, British chargé to Bangkok, wrote in his personal
journal of Phra Yots ‘peaceful” presence,”® and Dr MacGregor effervesced that:

[The Accused] was as cool as the proverbial cucumber, chewing his betel all the while
with appreciative gusto. He did not appear bloodthirsty or ferocious in any way, and had
nothing in his appearance to distinguish him either as a felon or a hero. After the usual
preliminaries had been gone through, and after Phra Yott [sic] had pleaded ‘not guilty’ to
the series of charges laid against him, he left the Recorder’s table, and went to sit beside his
counsel to the left of the court, and still under the guard of a Siamese soldier, who always
stood behind him.

By this time he had got tired of chewing his betel-nut, and so he calmly took out of his
pocket a great big cheroot, and commenced to smoke it there and then! The scene would
strike any European with surprise, if unacquainted with the ways and manners of Eastern
nations—to see the prisoner, tried for his life, and yet pulling away at his cheroot in the open
court, as if the results of the trial were a matter of mere indifference to him. Most Europeans
would have their throats a little too dry for smoking under the circumstances, and I should
have liked very much to have possessed the brush of a ready artist, to depict the scene which
I am now trying to describe with the more humble material of a scribbling pen.””

The attitude and conduct of the two French Representatives (M. Pavie and
M. Ducos, President of the Court of Appeal in Saigon) left an equally indelible
impression on those who attended the trial. In his official account of the pro-
ceedings for the Foreign Office, Scott took care to report that the representatives
‘scoffed openly at the whole proceedings, habitually came late, knowing that. .. by
the terms of the Convention...the Court could not sit without them, and did
not hesitate to repeat daily that the trial was a mere waste of time, because the
case must of necessity be tried again before a French Court’.”® Comparing the
‘high handed’ behaviour of the representatives to that of Le Myre de Vilers, Scott also
informed the British Foreign Office that Ducos, who had worked with the Siamese

>3 FO 17/1222, Acte d’Information, pages 95—6.

>4 Phra Yot could be sentenced to death, mutilation, lashing and imprisonment, condemned to cut
grass for elephants or fined: Acte d’Information, above n 53.

%> “The Trial of Phra Yot—First Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 1.

%6 Scott Diary, above n 45, 24 (journal entry for 26 February 1894).

57 MacGregor, Buffer State, above n 51. The accused was not the only smoker in court. One corre-
spondent reported ‘the judges, counsel. .. witnesses, policemen, and spectators, all sit smoking cigarettes
and cigars’. Apparently tea was ‘handed round occasionally’ as well: ‘A Trial in Siamy’, Lancaster Gazette
(Lancaster, England) 14 April 1894.

58 No. 78, above n 40. Scott also reported that Ducos dismissed the Special Court as a ‘useless formality’
and a ‘farcical waste’ to the Siam Free Press: No. 78, above n 40. See also No. 54, above n 42.
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prosecutors to frame [the acte d'information] in accordance with his ideas™ and
drafted what would become rules 22 and 23 of the Royal Decree,** and Pavie, who
had consented to the Royal Decree and declined to object to the appointment of
the Siamese judges,®' had both subsequently refused to publicly acknowledge their
role in the development of the Court.

(3) Phra Yot’s vindication by the Special Court

The representatives doubtlessly anticipated that, by their belligerence and mendacity,
they could disrupt the trial proceedings and frustrate Siamese efforts to legitimize
the Special Court in the eyes of the European public. Although Pavie and Ducos
achieved some success in accomplishing the lacter, they utterly failed to bring
about the former. In fact the Justices, drawing on the testimonies of the single
prosecution witness (Boon Chan) and seven defence witnesses (including Phra
Yot) that were heard over eight days of public session, impressively managed to
pull together the first complete and convincing narrative of the events leading to
the affray at Kieng Chek.

According to the Court’s exonerating verdict of 17 March 1894, in mid-May 1893
an armed column of French and Annamite soldiers commanded by Captain Luce
was dispatched to Kham Muon with orders to depose the Siamese Commissioner
of the province. The Commissioner (Phra Yot) resisted the French for several days,
but on 23 May 1893 submitted under protest and agreed to be escorted to Kieng
Chek, in Outhene, by a small contingent of Annamite troops under the command
of Inspector Grosgurin. Phra Yot's protests were recorded in a letter addressed to
Captain Luce, in which the deposed Commissioner insisted upon Siam’s ‘continued
absolute rights’ over the territory, committed Kham Muon ‘to the care’ of the French
until such time as he ‘received any instructions’, whereupon he would ‘arrange the
measures to be taken subsequently’, and required that the letter be forwarded to
the Siamese government ‘so that the matter may be examined into, and a decision
may be arrived at’.%> Phra Yot then surreptitiously sent a second letter to the nearby

% No. 54, above n 42; No. 78, above n 40.

% No. 54, above n 42. The only evidence that Ducos contributed to the development of the Siamese
Court in this manner comes from Scott’s reports to the Foreign Office.

¢! No. 54, above n 42. In letters to Siam’s plenipotentiary in Europe, Devawongse purported to
have ‘consulted the French minister on every step: as to how the Court shall be constituted, and as
to who shall be the judges of the court’: FO 17/1220, Prince Devawongse to Prince Svasti, 1 March
1894, 41. See also Prince Devawongse to Prince Svasti, 15 February 1894, above n 45, wherein Prince
Devawongse explained that the President of the Court would be ‘Prince Bichit, with the regulations
for the proceeding which [the French Minister] agreed’. Despite his involvement, Pavie ‘refused to rec-
ognise the Tribunal’: ‘Colonial Affairs’, Le Temps (Paris, France) 17 April 1894. Pavie also reneged on a
promise that he would provide the Siamese with a ‘description of the charges’ that should be brought
against Phra Yot, and delayed the start date of the proceedings by failing to act on Siam’s pre-trial
requests for evidence in a timely manner: Prince Devawongse to Prince Svasti, 1 March 1894, above
n 61. See generally Prince Bidyalath to Prince Svasti, above n 42; FO 17/1220, Scott to Rosebery, 26
February 1894, No. 61.

¢ Letter reproduced in “The Trial of Phra Yot—Tenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 35-6.
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Commissioner of Outhene, Luang Vichit, in which he appealed for assistance, in
the form of men and arms, in overcoming his French escort.®3

When the convoy reached Kieng Chek Inspector Grosgurin was informed that
Phra Yot’s second in command, Luang Anurak, had been seen publicly advocating
armed resistance against the French. Luang Anurak was promptly arrested and
taken to Grosgurin’s house, where he remained in custody. Phra Yot, anxious that
he would face a similar ‘act of violence’, secretly set out for nearby Wieng Krasene
that evening. Along the way he met troop commanders Nai Tooi and Nai Plaak,
who had been ordered by the Commissioner of Outhene to take fifty troops and,
with the cooperation of forces from Kham Muon, secure Phra Yot and eject the
foreign soldiers from the country.*

On 3 June 1893 Phra Yot, Nai Tooi and Nai Plaak led approximately twenty
Siamese soldiers to Grosgurin’s residence in Kieng Chek. As they communicated their
demands to the Inspector, who was in poor health, Luang Anurak ran out of the
house, prompting the Annamite soldiers to fire upon the Siamese. Nai Tooi, Nai
Plaak and Phra Yot held a brief consultation and jointly issued an order to return fire.
Inspector Grosgurin, approximately twelve Annamite soldiers, six Siamese soldiers
and one Siamese translator were killed during this exchange.®®

The Justices unanimously absolved the accused of all direct or indirect responsi-
bility for Grosgurin’s death, Boon Chan’s and Nguen van Khan’s wounds, the thefts
and the house fire.®® In a poorly organized but otherwise insightful and compelling
opinion the Justices explained that Phra Yot was not in command of the Siamese
soldiers that had fired upon the French and Annamite forces:

It is true that the accused had a higher position in the permanent service than the two
officers; but his authority extended only to the districts of Kham Kurt and Khammuon
[sic]. If the accused had acted like this when he first met M. Luce he would have born the
whole responsibility; but it was otherwise when the accused allowed the Annamite soldiers
to drive him out of the stockade and to escort him to the frontier. Even if he could get
away from the authority of M. Grosgurin he could only consider himself under the orders
of other people, namely, in this case, of Nai Tooi and Nai Plaak. These, again, were acting
under the order of Luang Vichit Sarasate, who was the civil and military Commissioner at
Tar Outhene and Kammoun... The accused could only be considered as a councillor, as
the soldiers were under the command of the two officers.. . Even, therefore, if the accused
should have given such orders, the only orders, which could be obeyed, were the orders
given by the officers.”’

The Justices also addressed the prosecutor’s allegation, not mentioned in the acte
d’information but developed during their closing arguments, that Phra Yot had,
by his letter to Captain Luce of 23 May 1893, ‘implicitly engaged himself not

&

6 Copy of letter reproduced in “The Trial of Phra Yot—Ninth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 34.
¢4 Copy of orders reproduced in “The Trial of Phra Yot—Ninth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 34.
¢ “The Trial of Phra Yot—Fourteenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 57-61.

6 “The Trial of Phra Yot—Fourteenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 59-61.

67 “The Trial of Phra Yot—Fourteenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 60.
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to commit any act of hostility against the French’.®® The Justices rejected this
interpretation, stating that:

[I]f Counsel for the Prosecution maintains that [the letter] is a handing over according to
Treaty, and that [Kham Muon] could not be recovered by force of arms, they have wrongly
interpreted those words. We must understand the letter to mean that the accused expressed
his unwillingness to accede to the request of the French, and that he would take measures
to recover when occasion offered. The letter cannot be considered as binding as a Treaty, as
Phra Yot had no right to act in this matter for his Government.”

The Justices further adduced in dicta that the accused had been acting pursuant
to the orders of a superior, and was therefore absolved of any legal responsibility:

The soldiers who were examined in Court stated that they acted according to the orders
of the officers. Even, however, if the accused had to share the responsibility with the two
officers it can only be said that he acted under the orders of [Luang Vichit] ... For the affray
itself no individual responsibility exists.”

Finally, in one of the more abstruse sections of the judgment, the Justices suggested
that Phra Yot’s issuance of the order to fire was excused as a matter of self-defence
or duress, and was a reasonable response to the danger faced by the Siamese forces.

Thus:

When the officers saw that several Siamese had fallen it became the duty of the soldiers to
resist. They soon saw, however, that whether they offered resistance or not they had to die,
and therefore the fire was returned. The Siamese soldiers were far more numerous than
the opposing party and the result was what might have been expected. The fault does not
lie with the accused or his men. We are, therefore, unanimously of the opinion that the act
of the accused, and the two officers was done in strict execution of their duty.”!

The Justices did not explicitly address the defence submission that the law of war
applied to the affray between France and Siam in Kieng Chek, and that Phra Yot
had acted entirely consistent with his obligations under international law.”> The
reluctance of the Justices to rule on this issue is understandable. The French had
maintained that its engagements with Siamese forces and incursions into disputed
territories had not amounted to declarations of war,”? and a ruling by a Siamese
court to the contrary would have endangered the fragile dérente that had prevailed
between the two powers since October 1893. However, there is little doubt that,
had the political stakes been lower, the Justices would have resolved this question
in favour of the accused; throughout the judgment the Justices repeatedly referred
to French and Annamite forces as ‘armed invaders’ and the ‘attacking party’.”

68 “The Trial of Phra Yot—Tenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 37.
 “The Trial of Phra Yot—Fourteenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 61.

70 “The Trial of Phra Yot—Fourteenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 60.

7! “The Trial of Phra Yot—Fourteenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 60.

72 “The Trial of Phra Yot—Eleventh Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 50-1.

73 See discussion section V(1) below.

74 “The Trial of Phra Yot—Fourteenth Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 60-1.
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(IV) Phra Yot’s Trial before the Franco-Siamese Mixed Court

Public opinion on the Special Court’s verdict was split along predictable lines. The
non-French expatriate community in Siam and the Siamese regarded Phra Yots
exoneration as reasonable and the Special Court proceedings as fundamentally
fair,”” while the French in Paris and Bangkok perceived the decision as inevitable
and a blow to ‘all who were hoping that the Franco-Siamese Agreement would lead
to just satisfaction’.’® In an interview published in Le Matin, Le Myre explained
that he was ‘not at all surprised” at the verdict given his familiarity with ‘the Asian
temperament and their approach to interpreting Treaties’, and pledged that the
‘blatant efforts of the Siamese Government to support its officials will run afoul of
our firm commitment to demanding just satisfaction’.”” One high-profile French
official who wished to remain anonymous declared to a correspondent from the
Eclair that an ‘ordinary conviction’ would have caused him the ‘deepest amazement’,
and promised that Phra Yot would be convicted by a mixed tribunal on the basis of
‘arguments and a surfeit of evidence that will humiliate and shame Siam’.”8

(1) The jurisdiction and rules of the Mixed Court

Ducos made known his intention to constitute the Article III tribunal one day
after the Special Court handed down its decision, and on 26 May 1894 the French
and Siamese ‘mutually consented’ to rules of procedure that established a mixed
court with jurisdiction over the Kham Muon affair.”” The Mixed Court was to be

75 “The Trouble in Siam’, Ashburton Guardian (Ashburton, New Zealand) 22 March 1894; ‘Phra
Yot's Case’, Daily Advertiser (Singapore) 20 June 1894; “The Phra Yot Trial’, Daily Advertiser, 4 April
1894 (Singapore) Page 3. According to Henry Norman, an English journalist, ‘[Prince Bijit’s] special
talents made him the only possible man to occupy the very difficult post of Presiding Judge at the
recent State Trial of Pra Yot [sic]. Throughout the prolonged proceedings his conduct was such as to
win him the highest praise from all the Europeans who were present’: Henry Norman, 7he Peoples
and Politics of the Far East: Travels and Studies in the British, French, Spanish and Portuguese Colonies,
Siberia, China, Japan, Korea, Siam and Malaya (London: T. Fischer Unwin, 1895), 450.

76 FO 881/6586, Inclosure ‘Extracts from the Matin of 18 and 19 March 1894, in Phipps to
Rosebery, 19 March 1894, No. 53. See also FO 881/6586, Inclosure ‘Extracts of the Eclair of 3 April
1894’, in Marquis of Dufferin to Kimberley, 2 April 1894, No. 58. One French correspondent sug-
gested that the Special Court had made Phra Yot out to be a ‘great patriot’ as part of a Siamese scheme
to lay ‘an indictment for persecution and barbarism against France, incite hatred of the French name
and place Siam under the protection of the British Lion’: FO 881/6586, Inclosure No. 10 ‘Extract
from the Courrier d’Haiphong of 17 March 1894, in No. 78, above n 40.

77 No. 53, above n 76.

78 No. 58, above n 76. This same official stated that since ‘[i]t would be unwise to count on absolute
justice in political or international matters even in our own country, we can therefore imagine what
this kind of justice means in the mind of a Siamese’.

79 Although the Constitution of the Mixed Court confirms that ‘slight alterations’ to (France’s)
initial draft of the Rules of procedure were made by ‘mutual consent’, there are no documents in the
French, Belgian or English archives that show which party had input into which rules. ‘First Part—
Constitution of the Mixed Court—Rules of Procedure’ in The Case of Kieng Chek Kham Muon Before
the Franco-Siamese Mixed Court— Constitution of the Mixed Court and Rules of Procedure—The Trial,
Judgment and Condemnation of Phra Yot (June 1894)

<http://www.archive.org/details/caseofkiengchekkOOfranrich> (accessed 3 March 2013).
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presided over by two French judges, two Siamese judges and a French President,
each authorized to ‘ask from the witness or the accused any explanation. .. necessary
to discover the truth’.®” The accused was entitled to:

1) receive a copy of the acte d'accusation at least three days in advance of his
trial;

2) ‘appear free’ before the Justices;

3) the assistance of counsel;

4) receive a faithful translation of the proceedings;

5) respond to the testimony of prosecution witnesses;

6) put questions to a prosecution witness through the President;

7) present exculpatory evidence, including evidence that undermined the cred-
ibility of a prosecution witness.®!

The Rules also defined the crimes over which the Mixed Court would exercise
jurisdiction (murder, assassination, theft, incendiarism, parricide, infanticide and
poisoning) and listed the applicable modes of liability,*? pursuant to which the pros-
ecutor submitted the following acte d'accusation on 27 May 1894:

‘The accused Phra Yot Muang Kwang, about 40 years of age, Siamese mandarin.... ., is accused:

1) Of having, at Kieng Chek, been an accomplice in a wilful homicide committed on
the person of... Grosgurin, in provoking by culpable machinations and artifices, the said
homicide; in giving himself to the author or authors instructions for its committal; in
procuring arms and other means of action, knowing they would be used for that purpose
and in aiding and knowingly abetting the authors in the acts which prepared, facilitated,
and consummated it. With this circumstance, that the said homicide was committed with
premeditation.

2) Of having, under the same circumstances of time and place, and by the same means
enumerated above, become accomplice of the crime of wilful homicide committed on the
persons of diverse Annamite militiamen and of the Cambodian interpreter Boon Chan.
With this circumstance, that the said homicides were committed with premeditation.

80 “First Part—Constitution of the Mixed Court—Rules of Procedure’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed
Court, above n 79, rules 2 and 8. Interestingly, only the President was granted the authority to ‘obtain
all information...necessary to discover the truth’: ‘First Part—Constitution of the Mixed Court—
Rules of Procedure’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, rule 9.

81 ‘First Part—Constitution of the Mixed Court—Rules of Procedure’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed
Court, above n 79, rules 1-4 and 8. The accused retained his Cingelese attorney from the national
proceedings, Mr Tilleke, in addition to the French-speaking M. Duval of Saigon.

82 Crimes were listed in Articles 1, 2, 6, 8 and 10. Assassination was defined as ‘murder committed
with premeditation or through ambush’: ‘First Part—Constitution of the Mixed Court—Rules of
Procedure’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, Article 2. Although the Rules did not explicitly
provide for principal liability, the applicability of this mode of liability may be inferred from Article
4: ‘Accomplices of a crime or an offence shall incur the same punishment as the authors of such a crime
or offence, except when the law will have disposed otherwise.” Article 5, which defined the scope of
accomplice liability, is noteworthy for its comprehensiveness:
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3) Of having, under the same circumstances of time and place, been an accomplice in diverse
thefts of personal property, effects and apparel, arms and munitions, committed to the preju-
dice of the same and of the Annamite militiaman Nguen van Khan and knowingly concealing
all of part of the articles stolen.

4) Of having, under the same circumstances of time and place, been an accomplice of the
crime of wilful incendiarism of diverse Laotian huts used for habitation, in giving instructions
for its committal and knowingly aiding and abetting the authors in the acts which prepared,
facilitated and consummated it.®

The Rules prescribed capital punishment for an accused found guilty of mur-
der, assassination, theft or incendiarism, but permitted the judges to exercise
their discretion and reduce a death sentence to between five and twenty years hard
labour if, in their opinion, ‘extenuating circumstances in favour of the Accused’
existed.®

(2) Phra Yot’s re-trial before the Mixed Court

Phra Yot’s trial before the Mixed Court, which commenced on 4 June 1894,
was a theatrical affair. The trial itself was held in the French Embassy, in a room
guarded by marines armed with loaded rifles and fixed bayonets. Entry to the trial
was granted exclusively to individuals who had received a ticket from the French
legation, and the accused was transported to and from court in chains.*> Over the
course of four days President Mondot (President of the Court of Appeal at Hanoi),
Judge Cammatte (Councillor of the Court of Appeal at Saigon), Judge Fuynel
(Procurer of the French Republic at Mytho), Judge Maha Thibodia and Judge
Phya Sukari heard the testimony of the accused, Nguen van Khan and six defence
witnesses.® Almost all of the witnesses had already testified or had their statements
read before the Siamese Special Court, and their evidence before the Mixed Court

(Individuals who] [s]hall be punished as accomplices of an action termed crime of offence:

Those who by gifts, promises, menaces, abuse of authority or power, culpable machinations
or artifice, shall have provoked such an action.

Those who shall have procured arms, instruments or any other means employed to commit
the action, knowing that they were to be employed to commit it.

Those who knowingly shall have aided or abetted the author or authors of the action, in the
facts which led up to, or facilitated or prepared it, or those that completed it.

8 ‘Second Part—TFirst Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 9.

8 “First Part—Constitution of the Mixed Court—Rules of Procedure’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed
Court, above n 79, rule 11 and Article 12.

8 FO 881/6628, Scott to Kimberley, 25 June 1894, No. 46 (describing the trial as ‘stagey and melo-
dramatic in the extreme’). Gustave Rolin-Jaequemyns, James G. Scott and various Siamese Ministers
attended the trial. See generally Walter E.J. Tips, Gustave Rolin-Jaequemyns and the Making of Modern
Siam: The Diaries and Letters of King Chulalongkorn’s General Adviser (Bangkok: White Lotus, 1996),
69; Scott Diary, above n 45, 62 (journal entry for 4 June 1894). Rolin-Jaequemyns encouraged King
Chulalongkorn not to attend, arguing that ‘[w]hatever may be the final result, the fact of a Siamese
subject being tried by foreign judges, is in itself a sad and unfortunate event and it is better that
the King’s presence should be kept as far as possible from it’: Tips, Gustave Rolin-Jaequemyns, 70.

8 The Court read into evidence Phra Yot's letters to Captain Luce and Luang Vichit, as well as Boon
Chan’s testimony before the Special Court read into evidence, Boon Chan having died in the interim
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was consistent with the version of events that each had previously provided. Only
President Mondot’s examination of the accused is noteworthy, not for its particu-
larly effective extraction of hitherto undiscovered evidence, but for the President’s
aggressive style of questioning:

Q: Did Grosgurin explain to you why he arrested Luang Anurak?

A: He told me because Luang Anurak had spread certain alarming rumours at Kham Muon
that the Siamese would return in force.

The President. Grosgurin had a perfect right to arrest Luang Anurak after that, in self
defence, for he was in an unknown country and only had a handful of men whose fidelity
was doubtful....

Q: Considering that France and Siam were not at war at the time, why did you take such a
large body of men to ask for the release of Luang Anurak, seeing that Grosgurin and the
Annamites were living in private houses?

A: Thad not at the time the least intention of attacking Grosgurin. I simply went to ask for
the release of Luang Anurak.

Q: It is quite impossible to believe that Grosgurin who was sick and whose party was the
weakest would be the first to attack. The Siamese witnesses have stated that there were
at least 100 men surrounding the house....

Accused here stated that after Grosgurin had been told that peace would be broken Luang
Anurak jumped from the verandah when immediately a shot was fired from the house
which killed a soldier from Korat. Several other shots followed and two more men fell
before the Siamese began firing. The men of Grosgurin were arrayed at the foot of the
stairs. Grosgurin was above.

The President: That version is difficult to believe, all the witnesses have agreed that this was
not so, in their depositions in Saigon and Bangkok.®”

(3) The Mixed Court’s verdict

On 13 June 1894 the Affair of Kham Muon was brought to a close when the
accused was found guilty by majority (the two Siamese judges refused to sign the
verdict) as an accomplice to the assassination of Grosgurin and fifteen Annamite
soldiers, but acquitted of any thefts and burning that took place during or after the
gunfight.®® The gravamen of the verdict lay in the fact that:

By [his letter] dated May 28 Phra Yot repudiated the formal engagement contained in the
letter he had written five days before to Capt. Luce; in breaking thus the compact which he

between trials: ‘Second Part—Second Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 17. The
Court spent only a little over an hour examining all six defence witnesses: ‘Second Part—Third Sitting’
in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 18-22.

87 ‘Second Part—First Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 9-13. The President
adopted a decidedly more conciliatory tone with the prosecutions sole witness, Nguen van
Khan: ‘Second Part—Second Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 14-16.

8 “Third Part—Judgment’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 37-8. Le Temps suggested
that the vote of the Siamese judges could be explained by the fact that the judges were of the same caste
with the accused: ‘Siamy’, Le Temps (Paris, France) 28 July 1894.
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had freely made with the French officials without even being able to pretend now that he
had received at that moment any order, any advice which led to that sudden determination
he not only committed a disloyal act, he spontaneously and voluntarily assumed the penal
responsibility of the crimes which would necessarily result as the immediate consequence
of that provocation.

It was [Phra Yot] who caused troops to arrive, who went himself to fetch them at Wieng
Kratone, and who conducted them to the place where, under his direction and with his
assistance, they committed the murder which it is the duty of the Court to punish.®

The majority recognized Kham Muon as French territory” and reasoned that the
laws of war could not be applied to the case, inasmuch as Convention Article I1I had
described the act the Court was charged with examining as ‘attentar’ and thereby
confirmed that ‘[p]eace reigned between France and Siam’ at the time the crime
was committed.”’ The majority also declined to exonerate the accused on the
grounds of self-defence, noting that:

If the law allows the legalisation of an act committed when we are menaced with death, it is
only in the case in which the imperious necessity of self-preservation makes it a duty. One
can only resist an aggression; and it is evident that Grosgurin, confined to his room by ill-
ness, as is attested by all the witnesses who were near him, surrounded by a small number of
Annamites, could not for an instant have thought of attacking the numerous armed troops
which surrounded his house.”?

Phra Yot was sentenced to death for the assassinations, but had his sentence com-
muted to twenty years hard labour on the grounds that he had not acted with
the ‘view to gratify. .. cupidity and to satisfy [the] feeling of hatred or personal
vengeance that characterized the ‘ordinary assassin’.”

The Siamese, who had always suspected that French judges would be biased
against the accused,” toyed with the idea of refusing to carry out any sentence and
contemplated ‘forcible resistance’ against the French as early as 10 June 1894,
several days before the verdict was handed down.” But it was France’s decision to
follow the verdict with a demand that Phra Yot serve his time in a French penal
colony that cemented Siam’s will to resist.”® The Siamese government expressed its
willingness to carry out Phra Yot’s punishment on Siamese territory, but categorically

8 “Third Part—Judgment’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 36—7. These paragraphs
reflect the entirety of the Mixed Court’s determination of liability, the remainder of the opinion being
devoted to a description of the facts of the Affair.

% “Third Part—Judgment’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 35.

! “Third Part—Judgment’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 36.

92 “Third Part—Judgment’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 36.

9% “Third Part—Judgment’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 37, 39.

% See Letter of 6 June 1894 from Prince Damrong to Rolin-Jaequemyns in Tips, Gustave
Rolin-Jaequemyns, above n 85, 70 (in which Damrong writes of his feeling that Phra Yot's fate ‘has been
decided before [the trial]. The verdict has been guilty.’).

% FO 17/1222, Scott to Kimberley, 10 June 1894, No. 37. See also FO 881/6586, Scott to Kimberly,
10 June 1894, No. 99.

% Damrong wrote to Rolin-Jaequemyns ‘the news which reached me today that they want to take
[Phra Yot] away from his native land is too much to bear. I quite agree with the attitude taken by my
brother [Prince Devawongse]. There is really no other alternative, in my judgement, but to make a
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refused to allow the former Commissioner to be removed from Siam to a place
where ‘all language, climate, ideas, would be totally unknown, unintelligible, and
foreign to him, and where he would lose, from the first moment, any prospect of
ever seeing again his country, his friends and his own family’.”” Only the timely
intervention of the British Foreign Office prevented the fragile peace that prevailed
between Siam and France from breaking; under a British-brokered plan Phra Yot
served his sentence in a Siamese prison, and a member of the French legation visited
him periodically to check that his punishment was duly carried out.”®

(V) An Assessment of the Mixed Court

Situating the Franco-Siamese Mixed Court in the dominant contemporary narra-
tive of historic international criminal law, which portrays the international justice
enterprise as indelibly righteous and even-handed, is not an easy or straightfor-
ward task. The Mixed Court is redolent of ‘victor’s justice’ and is inexorably linked
to the exploitive institution of colonialism, and Phra Yot's treatment at the hands
of the French instinctively offends our contemporary notions of due process.
Moreover, the potentially redeeming qualities of the Court are difficult to defini-
tively characterize as such in the absence of impartial records. Were the Rules of
Procedure that afforded the accused basic rights a hard-won victory by the Siamese
or a cynical indulgence by French plenipotentiaries confident that their Court
appointees would render a verdict favourable to France? Did the French judges
perceive themselves to have transcended any quid pro quo associated with their
appointment and to have fairly judged the accused? Was the creation of the Mixed
Court inspired by the proliferation of neutral inter-state arbitral tribunals that
predated it, or was it an extension of the resented and magisterial ‘consular court’
system maintained and operated by the centres of colonial power throughout their
respective spheres of influence? Although the biased, fragmented and, in some
cases, incomplete papers maintained in the French, Belgian and British archives
provide no definitive answers to these questions, in this section I will make a very
preliminary attempt to describe the relevance of the Mixed Court to modern ICL
in a manner that is consistent with the available evidence.

stand and take the consequences’ Letter of 15 June 1894 from Prince Damrong to Rolin-Jaequemyns,
in Tips, Gustave Rolin-Jaequemyns, above n 85, 70.

97 FO 881/6628, Inclosure No. 7 ‘Prince Devawongse to M. Pilinski’, in Scott to Kimberley, 18
June 1894, No. 27. Devawongse threatened to resign rather than hand over the former Commissioner,
and King Chulalongkorn was prepared to resist the French on this point, even if it cost him the
throne: No. 46, above n 85; FO 881/6586, Scott to Kimberley, 16 June 1894, No. 106.

% No. 46, above n 85. See also FO 881/6586, Inclosure ‘Memorandum’, in Marquis of Dufferin
to Kimberley, 22 June 1894, No. 112. King Chulalongkorn, with the permission of the French,
pardoned Phra Yot in 1898: Tips, above n 85, 133. Phra Yot has been memorialized with a statue in
the Nakhom Phanom province of Thailand, an exhibit related to his case in the Court Museum in
Bangkok and through the play ‘Pra Yod [sic] of Muang Kwang’ by Sompop Chandraprabha.
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(1) The character of the Court and the genesis of complementarity

Impressing the ‘international court’ appellation on the Mixed Court has implications
beyond the theoretical; the more international the Court is perceived to be, the
more significance will be ascribed to its existence and jurisprudence.

The strongest argument in favour of characterizing the Court as an international
entity would be that the judges did not completely foreclose the possibility of applying
the international law of war to the proceedings. Recall that the judges rejected the
laws of war on the grounds that the 1893 Convention purportedly established that
a state of peace prevailed between the France and Siam. This reasoning suggests that
the judges believed they could have employed the law of war but for the Convention
language to the contrary, and by extension that the Court, with its apparent access
to law set forth outside of the four corners of its constituent agreement, was more
international than not.

To be sure, this interpretation has a certain intuitive appeal. The conflict between
France and Siam falls squarely within the modern conception of war, and crimes
of the sort Phra Yot was accused of perpetrating are specifically prohibited by
contemporary jus in bello. It must be recalled, however, that in 1893 armed engage-
ments, even engagements between two militias acting under the authority of their
respective governments, were often still considered mere ‘acts of reprisal’ (measures
of forcible coercion short of war to which the laws of war did not apply).”” Indeed,
neither France nor Siam ever acknowledged that they were engaged in a ‘war’.
France explicitly referred to the existence a ‘state of reprisals’ between the two adver-
saries in its 29 July 1893 Statement of Blockade,!® and there is no indication that
the Siamese deduced that a state of war existed from the fact that French military
operations had been carried out in Siamese territory.'’ While it is tempting to
conclude that the parties intended to terminate a state of war from the fact that
the October 1893 Treaty was referred to as one of ‘Peace and Friendship’ in the
Convention of the same date, there is precedent against drawing this inference.'%?

9 See William J. Ronan, ‘English and American Courts and the Definition of War’, American
Journal of International Law, 31 (1937), 649.

100 FO 881/6749, Inclosure No. 3 ‘Notification of Blockade, dated 29 July 1893’, in Admiralty to
Foreign Office, 8 September 1893, No. 394. Louis Dartige Du Fournet, Commander of the Comeéte
(one of two French ships to have exchanged fire with Siamese ground forces in July 1893 in what would
come to be known as the Paknam Incident) repeatedly suggested that France and Siam were not in a
state of war: Louis Dartige du Fournet, Journal d'un Commandant de La Cométe: China-Siam-Japon
(1892-1893) (Plon, 1915) 234, 237, 249 (journal entries for 20 July 1893, 25 July 1893 and 3 August
1893).

100 MAE, Siam 16, Enclosure No. 1 ‘Note Verbal’ summarizing 2 June 1893 meeting between
Devawongse and Pavie, in Dispatch from Bangkok, 25 June 1893, No. 109 (in which Devawongse
inquires of Pavie whether Siam’s capture of France’s Captain Thoreux was a lawful response to an act
of war on the part of France); Tips, Siam’s Struggle, above n 10, 91 (journal entry for 14 July 1893)
(in which Rolin-Jaequemyns describes how he explained to the King that the two French gunboats
that had been sent to Bangkok in response to the Affair would abstain from attacking Siam as the two
countries were not officially at war).

102 See Cushing, Adm. v United States, 22 Ct. Cl. 1 (USA, 1886). See also French Spoilation Claims:
Message from the President of the United States Transmitting a Communication from the Secretary of State,
Accompanied by a Report of Somerville R Tuck, in Relation to French Spoilation Claims (Govt. Print.
Off. 1888), 12.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



A Supranational Criminal Tribunal for the Colonial Era 71

The superior view is that the Court’s insinuation that it had the power, in theory,
to draw upon the law of war amounts to specious overreaching. Had the judges
actually applied international law, it would have been to acts that the relevant
states acknowledged were not governed by that body of law, a result that is counter-
intuitive and against a great deal of coeval authority.!®

Although the Mixed Court lacks for the most distinctive hallmark of interna-
tionality (the ability to apply international law) it cannot be understood as a
singularly French or Siamese institution.'” The ad hoc nature of the Rules and
their appearance in a legal instrument agreed to by two states, the presence of
judges from two states on the tribunal,'® and Siam’s agreement (however coerced)
to ‘mix’ its jurisdiction with that of France to try the purported criminal Phra Yot,
suggests that the Mixed Court is best understood as the first modern supranational
criminal tribunal. It is this last component, the pooling of jurisdiction, that is
undoubtedly one of the Mixed Court’s most noteworthy features, as it denotes a
shift from restrained notions of criminal jurisdiction towards the more expansive
and flexible conceptions and practices that would come to characterize the field in
subsequent centuries.!%

195 See eg, Janson v Driefontein Consolidated Mines, Lrd. [1902] AC 484 (‘However critical may be the

condition of affairs. .. so long as the government of the State abstains from declaring or making war
or accepting a hostile challenge, there is peace.’); Gray, Adm. v United States, 21 Ct. Cl., 340 (USA,
1886) (Finding that a state of war did not exist between France and the United States where ‘[t]here
was no declaration of war; the tribunals of each country were open to the other—an impossibility
were war in progress;... there were retaliation and reprisal, but such...have often occurred between
nations at peace; there was a near approach to war, but at no time was one of the nations turned into
an enemy of the other in such a manner that every citizen of the one became the enemy of every citizen
of the other’); Cushing, Adm. v United States, 22 Ct. Cl. 1 (USA, 1886) (Holding that ‘Congress did
not consider war as existing, for every aggressive statute looked to the possibility of war in the future,
making no provision for war in the present, and France, our supposed enemy, absolutely denied the
existence of war.’); Bishop v Jones & Petty, 28 Tex. 294 (1886) (in which the Supreme Court of Texas
held that ‘[h]ostile attacks and armed invasions of territory or jurisdiction of a nation, accompanied
by the destruction of life and property by officers acting under the sanction and authority of their
governments, however great and flagrant provocations to war, are often atoned for and adjusted without
its ensuing.’).

104 In fact, the substantive law applied by the Court was based on French law. A comparison between,
for example, the definition of the crime of assassination found in Article 2 of the Rules of the Court
and analogous definitions in Article 296 of the French Code pénal de 1810, Article 101 of the Lieber
Code (1863), Article 13 of the Brussels Declaration (1874) and Article 8 of the Oxford Manual
(1880) establishes that this portion of the text was inspired by the French statute, as opposed to the
more expansive and comprehensive articulations of the crime found in the pre-existing codifications
of the jus in bello. The definition of the crime of arson that appears in Article 11 of the Rules is similar
to Article 434 of the Code pénal, though it appears to have been modified to fit the particulars of the
crime Phra Yot was accused of perpetrating (ie, house-burning).

15 The trial record reflects that the Siamese judges participated only twice in the day-to-day
proceedings of the trial, at one point attempting to clarify the meaning of some physical evidence for
the Accused, and later to question a witness. ‘Second Part—First Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed
Court, above n 79, 13; ‘Second Part—Second Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79,
17. Ultimately, however, the minority status and nominal participation of the Siamese judges erodes
but does not extirpate the Court’s veneer of supranationality.

19 For example, the Einsatzgruppen court justified the existence of the Nuremberg Military Tribunals
as a valid exercise of pooled jurisdiction, explaining that ‘if a single national may legally take jurisdiction
in such instances, with what more reason may a number of nations agree, in the interests of justice,
to try alleged violations of the laws of war’. US v Obhlendorf et al (‘Einsatzgruppen Case'), reprinted in
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Remarkably, the Convenion also anticipated the basic ‘complementarity’ framework
that is a hallmark of international crimes prosecutions in the modern era. Convention
Article III on its face presumed that a Siamese national court would dutifully fulfill its
obligation (regrettably articulated as an obligation to ‘punish’ as opposed to ‘try’)
while creating a supranational authority capable of re-adjudicating the matter in the
exceptional event that domestic proceedings were deficient. Although the poten-
tially revolutionary impact of this arrangement went unrecognized at the time—the
Mixed Court was neither mentioned in contemporaneous issues of the Revue de
droit international et de législation compare or the Revue générale de droir interna-
tional public, nor discussed by the delegates at the subsequent meetings of /Tnstitut
de Droit international or the International Law Association—the Court’s creation
pursuant to an instrument that (even insincerely) acknowledged the primacy of a
domestic court marks a point of inflection in the development of the idea that a
supranational tribunal can be vested with supplemental jurisdiction.

(2) The birth of international due process

Because the Mixed Court is so distinctively ‘modern’ it feels natural to bring our
present-day expectations about the nature and quality of international justice to
bear upon the Court. From the perspective of today’s reader, the record of the Mixed
Court’s operation is rife with questionable decisions and procedural shortcomings.
The most obvious of these are the seemingly brief time (one week) the Defence was
afforded to prepare its case, the combative and heavy-handed attitude demonstrated
by the President of the Court as he questioned the Accused, and the Court’s super-
ficial analysis with respect to the inapplicability of the Law of War and the guilt of
the defendant.

It is possible, however, to explain each of these ‘laws’ without recourse to theories
of deceptiveness or tendentiousness. The 1808 Code d’instruction criminelle (‘the
Code’), which was applied throughout France and French Cochinchina'” (and with
which the three French judges would have been most familiar), did not oblige
criminal judges to maintain an appearance of impartiality during trial proceedings.
Instead, the Codle vested criminal judges with broad discretion to take any action at
trial considered ‘useful to discovering the truth’, subject only to the limits of their
honour and conscience.'”® No French observer would have expected President
Mondot to maintain an impartial facade if his judicial instincts suggested he do
otherwise. Nor would the insouciantly brief nature of the verdict have shocked
French citizens. While the Code obliged judges to submit written opinions, the
French never adopted the practice of issuing lengthy or discursive decisions in the

IV Trial of War Criminals before Nuremberg Military Tribunals Under Control Council Law No. 10
(US GPO, 1951), at 492.

107 Peter Zinoman, The Colonial Bastille: A History of Imprisonment in Vietnam, 1862—1940 (Berkeley,
CA: University of California Press, 2001), 40.

198 Code d'instruction criminelle de 1808 (France), Article 268.
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manner of their common-law counterparts.'® It is also to the credit of the Mixed
Court that the accused had seven days to prepare his case, as the Code and the Rules
of the Court afforded the Accused a mere three.!'® Lastly, while hardly constituting
definitive evidence that the French judges excercised their judicial duties without
bias, it is noteworthy that they commuted Phra Yot's death sentence, a decision that
is reported as having been unpopular with the French community in Bangkok.'!

Moreover, while the decision to decline to apply the laws of war to an armed
affray between two state militias may seem prejudicial today, particularly when that
body of law may have favoured the accused,'"? it must be recalled that in 1894 the
line between reprisals and war was fluid, and many eighteenth- and nineteenth-
century courts struggled to develop a test that could reliably distinguish between
the two states.'”® While it is true that at the time of Phra Yot’s trial a number
of foreign courts had developed and applied multipart tests that accounted for
the ‘objective realities” associated with the conflagration at issue, including the
intent of the parties, the degree of armed resistance to the ‘challenge’ issued by
an intervening state and the scale and duration of the hostilities, judges of a more
conservative disposition persisted throughout the nineteenth century in looking
only to whether an official declaration of war had been issued by at least one of the
belligerent parties.!!* Taking into account the the unsettled status of the law, the
Mixed Court’s ultimate eschewal of the jus in bello in favour of the ad-hoc law set
forth in the Rules should not of itself be regarded as evidence of bias.

Of course there are other indications that the French judges, ‘if indeed they had
not definite orders, came full of the conviction that if they did not find Phra Yot
guilty and punish him they would be found wanting themselves by their country-
men, and would have suffered accordingly’.' Le Myre had openly treated the
verdict as a foregone conclusion, and the French judges that heard Phra Yot’s case
enjoyed prestigious positions in France’s colonial possessions. British chargé James
G. Scott reported that the President openly scoffed at the defence witnesses before
they had even begun to testify, displayed the ‘strongest animus’ towards the accused
and excluded his Siamese co-adjutors from deliberations.!'® Moreover, it is inherently
difficult to regard as unprejudiced a court that took a little over an hour to examine

19 William D. Popkin, Evolution of the Judicial Opinion: Institutional and Individual Styles (New York,
NY: NYU Press, 2007), 38.

110 “First Part—Constitution of the Mixed Court—Rules of Procedure’, above n 79, rule 1; Code,
above n 108, Article 184. Moreover, as the factual record was well developed at the first trial, the
judges, Plenipotentiaries and parties may simply have assumed that additional time to prepare was
unlikely to result in the discovery of additional evidence.

111 No. 27, above n 97.

112 “The Trial of Phra Yot—Eleventh Day’ in Full Report, above n 46, 50-1.

113 See for example United States v Plenty Horses (1891), in which the existence of a state of war
between the Lakota Nation and the United States was contentiously debated: Gary D. Solis, 7he Law
of Armed Conflict: International Humanitarian Law in War (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,
2010), 30.

114 See above n 103.

115 No. 46, above n 85.

116 No. 27, above n 97. The trial transcript confirms that the President disparaged at least one defence
witness; as Honiu Visot took the stand, the President remarked that he ‘did not appear [to be] very
intelligent’: ‘Second Part—Third Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 21. There may
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all of the defence witnesses, and originated in a convention signed under duress
and an Article that prima facie presupposed the guilt of the accused.

Although it is unlikely that the cloud of suspicion hanging over the trial will ever
fully dissipate, it is commendable that the Rules of the Court afforded Phra Yot more
rights than any enacted or proposed international legal instrument with a criminal
component drafted prior to the 1944 Draft Convention for the Establishment of
a United Nations War Crimes Court.""” Regardless of any structural or procedural
defects that marred Phra Yot’s actual trial, the Rules of the Mixed Court, gua Rules,
represented a major stepping stone towards the complete internationalization of the
principle that an individual brought before a criminal tribunal is entitled to a fair
trial and the benefits of codified procedural protections.

(3) The Mixed Court and the cultivation of new substantive norms

Rolin-Jaequemyns™ objections to the creation of a Mixed Court, raised during the
negotiations between Devawongse and the French Plenipotentiary, mark the first
time that the legality of a supranational criminal court was challenged on the grounds
(1) that one of the state signatories to the establishing treaty lacked the authority to
delegate its criminal jurisdiction to such a court; and (2) that bringing an accused
before a new tribunal with retroactive jurisdiction over ‘past crimes or offences’
would amount to a serious violation of their rights (nullum crimen, nulla poena sine

have been similar incidents that simply went unrecorded, as there is some indication that the
transciptionist or publisher may have elected, for reasons of their own, to provide a less than complete
picture of the trial. For example, during his closing arguments defence counsel M. Duval responded to
the President’s (alleged) insinuation offered ‘in the course of [the] debates’ that defence witnesses were
‘repeating a lesson learnt by heart, yet the President is nowhere recorded as having made any such
insinuation: ‘Second Part—Fourth Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 29.

17 United National, Draft Convention for the Establishment of a United Nations War Crimes

Court (30 September 1944) Article 15, reprinted in Historical Survey of the Question of International
Criminal Jurisdiction, UN Doc. A/ICN.4/7/Rev. 1 (1949), 112.

Gustave Moyneir’s 1872 proposal for an international criminal court afforded broad discretion to
individual trial panels in determining the rules of procedure they would apply: Christopher Hall,
“The first proposal for a permanent international criminal court, International Review of the Red Cross,
322 (1998), 57. The treaties establishing the nineteenth-century anti-slavery ‘mixed courts of justice’,
which lacked criminal jurisdiction over the crews of slave vessels but had the authority to remit crew-
members to their home country to face domestic criminal proceedings, did not provide procedural
protections for the crews of seized ships, but did require that judges and arbiters take an oath to judge
fairly and with impartiality. See eg Treaty Between the United States of America and Great Britain, for
the Abolition of the African Slave Trade, signed 7 April 1863, 12 Stat 1125 (entered into force 25 May
1862). See also Jenny Martinez, ‘Anti-Slavery Courts and the Dawn of International Human Rights
Law’, Yale Law Journal, 117 (2008), 591.

In January 1919 the British Committee of Inquiry into the Breaches of the Laws of War called for
the creation of an international tribunal to try ‘enemy persons alleged to have been guilty of offences
against the laws and customs of war’. Although the British proposal established minimum procedural
protections to which the accused would be entitled, the Allies, acting through the Commission on the
Responsibility of the Authors of the War and on Enforcement of Penalties, however, eventually agreed
only to suggest the creation of an international tribunal authorized to ‘determine its own [rules of]
procedure’: CAB 24/72, First Interim Report from the Committee of Inquiry into the Breaches of the
Laws of War, 13 January 1919, 16. ‘Commission on the Responsibility of the Authors of the War and
on Enforcement of Penalties’, American Journal of International Law, 14 (1920), 122.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



A Supranational Criminal Tribunal for the Colonial Era 75

praevia lege poenali). Additionally, it was only the second time that trial before a
supranational court had been disparaged as a breach of an individual’s right to be
tried by a court of their home country (jus de non evocando), the first being the trial
of von Hagenbach before a twenty-eight judge panel at Breisach over four hundred
years before.!'® Although these objections (regrettably) were not introduced during
the trial and therefore were not addressed in the verdict, the establishment of the
Mixed Court implicitly affirms the precepts that states can pool their criminal
jurisdiction, that the principle of legality does not proscribe an ex posz facto supra-
national court tasked with examining violations of jus gentium from ruling on the
individual criminal responsibility of an accused,'” and that jus de non evocando
does not preclude a trial before judges of a supranational criminal jurisdiction.
The Mixed Court is also notable as the first distinctively Westphalian suprana-
tional tribunal'® to apply the then-nascent doctrines of participative liability and
command responsibility,'?' as well as to consider motive a mitigating circumstance
in the imposition of sentence.'** Alas, the judges’ reasoning is too opaque, their incli-
nation to intermingle discussions of fact with findings on liability and sentencing
too pronounced, their verdict too brief and their impartiality in too much doubt to
ascribe much meaningful precedential value to any of their scant legal findings.

(VI) Conclusion

In light of the international criminal lawyer’s voracious appetite for precedent and
the sheer number of successful and unsuccessful attempts to create international
courts since 1893, it is shocking that the Mixed Court has not already assumed

118 Robert Cryer, Prosecuting International Crimes: Selectivity and the International Criminal Law
Regime (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005), 19.

11 The French considered Phra Yot’s actions a violation of jus gentium but not a violation of the laws
of war: see above section V(1) and n 15.

120° See “Third Part—Judgment’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 37. Von Hagenbach was
tried before twenty-eight judges representing different political entities (principally city states) in the
Upper Rhine. These political entities were not ‘states’ in the Westphalian sense and their relationship
with the Holy Roman Empire (and by extension their status and the status of the von Hagenbach
court in international law) is contested: see Timothy McCormack, From Sun Tzu to the Sixth
Committee: The Evolution of an International Criminal Law Regime in Timothy L.H. McCormack and
Gerry ]. Simpson (eds), 7he Law of War Crimes: National and International Approaches (Boston, MA
and Leiden: Martinus Nijhoff, 1997), 38; George Schwarzenberger, International Law as Applied in
International Courts and Tribunals (London: Stevens & Sons, 1968), 466.

121 The Rules of the Court blended these two modes of liability by providing for command responsi-
bility only to the extent that an individual who ‘abused authority or power’ qualified as an accomplice
to a crime: ‘Second Part—TFirst Sitting’ in Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, 9; ‘First Part in
Franco-Siamese Mixed Court, above n 79, Article 5.

122 The judges did not clarify whether it was Phra Yots desire to follow the Commissioner’s orders or
his goal of ejecting the French soldiers from Kham Muon that warranted mitigation. For an example
of a contemporary international court adopting a similar approach to mitigating circumstances and
sentencing, see International Criminal Court R.P. & Evid. Rule 145 (instructing the Chambers of the
International Criminal Court to account for inter alia ‘the degree of participation of the convicted
person’ and ‘the degree of intent’ during sentencing).
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the same totemic status as the trial of von Hagenbach. How has the Mixed Court
slipped through the cracks? '

R. John Pritchard, writing on the similarly neglected international crimes trials
that followed the Great Powers intervention in Crete in 1898, has theorized that
the Allies downplayed their experiences with international criminal law in an effort
to conform to the anti-international trial stance maintained by the United States at
the close of World War I.12* This theory is not entirely implausible, as there is some
evidence that suggests that the Mixed Court was at one time considered worthy
of remembrance. There is tantalizing hint, for example, in the form of an 1895
Sydney Morning Herald article discussing the potential criminal liability of Chinese
officials for the massacre of European and American missionaries, that the Mixed
Court briefly came to stand for the (then novel) proposition that the de facto
immunity political figures implicated in mass crimes directed at foreign citizens
enjoyed before domestic courts should be circumvented with fair and impartial
international tribunals.'® There is also a passing reference to the Mixed Court in a
1931 Recueil des Cours entry on municipal courts, state responsibility and denials
of justice, implying that the Court remained relevant to international law experts
even after the turn of the century.!?

Lacking a legacy, it falls to the current generation of international lawyers to
bestow one upon the Court. Certainly there is no shortage of material to work
with. The motifs of imperialism, intercultural enmity, fairness and accountability
run through the story of the Mixed Court, as they do through the competing
narratives interested parties have associated with twentieth and twenty-first cen-
tury international judicial institutions, and the Mixed Court, as a treaty-based and
statutorily-regulated supranational judicial machine applying ad hoc law, is readily
identifiable as direct forerunner of these more ambitious and powerful successors.
With this in mind, it is clear that the most interesting chapters on the Mixed Court
remain to be written.

123 None of the proposals for the creation of international tribunals that followed WWT and WWII
so much as mentioned the Franco-Siamese Mixed Court. See generally Historical Survey, above n 117;
‘Commission on the Responsibility of the Authors of the War’ above n 117; Committee of Inquiry,
above n 117.

124 R. John Pritchard, International Humanitarian Intervention and Establishment of an International
Jurisdiction over Crimes against Humanity: the National and International Military Trials in Crete
in 1898 in John Carey, Willian V. Dunlap, R. John Pritchard (eds), International Humanitarian
Law: Origins, Challenges, Prospects (Ardsley, NY: Transnational Publishers, Inc. 2003) 80-1.

125 “The Massacres in China’ Sydney Morning Herald (Sydney, Australia), 7 August 1895 (in which an
anonymous European resident in Foochow called for the chief officials of the province to ‘be brought
to formal trial before a mixed tribunal, as was the case with Phra Yot...Let these men be tried in the
some way, before a tribunal in which representatives of China, Great Britain, France, and the United
States sit as Judges. If guilt cannot be brought home, well and good, but if it be shown that they
instigated the riots. .. let sentence be passed upon them adequate to their offence’.).

126 Jacques Dumas, ‘La Responabilite des Etats a raison des crimes et des Delits commis sur leur
territoire au prejudice d’etrangers’, Receuil des Cours, 36 (1931), 200.
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The Ottoman State Special Military
Tribunal for the Genocide of the

Armenians: ‘Doing Government Business’

Jennifer Balint’

Legal stories are often buried. Political and social processes subvert and suppress the
findings and processes of law. What begins as an important authoritative statement
of harm becomes hidden. We see many cases of this. With the political settlement
between the new state of Bangladesh, India and Pakistan, for example, the international
crimes prosecutions initiated in Bangladesh in the wake of the 1971 war of secession
were derailed and the proposed tribunal aborted.! Another hidden story has been
the in absentia trials of Pol Pot and leng Sary at the end of the Khmer Rouge
regime which, despite their importance to many victims at the time, due to the
Cold War context and as political trials were shunned by the international community.?
In Australia, the 1881 Parliamentary Board of Inquiry into the management of
the Coranderrk Aboriginal station in the Australian state of Victoria that ruled in

* Note: the spelling of names, places and terms follows the materials used, which are translations
from original documents, resulting in some variations with different authors. Some authors refer to
Cemal and others to Kemal. Bey and Pasa are used interchangeably as titles. Spellings can depend
on whether the Ottoman or modern Turkish spelling is followed (for example, place names can
be different—DBaiburt or Bayburt). Some authors refer to the Attorney-General, and some to the
Procuror-General.

! The new Bangladeshi government passed an Act to ‘provide for the detention, prosecution and
punishment of persons for genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes and other crimes under
international law’ (International Crimes (Tribunals) Act 1973). Special tribunals were established
to try Bangladeshi citizens who had collaborated with the Pakistani armed forces. National prosecu-
tions commenced at the end of January 1972, under the Bangladesh Collaborators (Special Tribunals)
Order: International Crimes (Tribunal) Act 1973. A tribunal comprising Bangladeshi Supreme
Court justices was constituted. These proceedings are now being resurrected. See further, Bina
D’Costa and Sarah Hossein, ‘Redress for Sexual Violence before the International Crimes Tribunal
in Bangladesh: Lessons from History, and Hopes for the Future’, Criminal Law Forum, 21 (2010),
331-59.

% The first decree passed by the new People’s Revolutionary Council of Kampuchea after the over-
throw of the Khmer Rouge by Vietnam in 1979 was Decree-Law No 1, ‘providing for the setting up
in Phnom Penh of a People’s Revolutionary Tribunal to judge the genocide crimes committed by the
Pol Pot-Ieng Sary clique’: International Covenants on Human Rights, Lezter dated 4 October 1979
from the Permanent Representative of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam to the United Nations addressed
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favour of local Aboriginal residents in their efforts to stay on the land, was subsumed
under political developments that saw the enactment of legislation known as the
Half-Caste Acts and the subsequent breaking up of the station.> Another example is
the judgment by a state court in Australia that found genocide had been committed
in the course of British colonization, yet that judgment has failed to enter public
consciousness.* Stories of injustice recognized by law, yet hidden.

These findings of state crime, of genocide and crimes against humanity, are often
contested by the state. Legal statements of state-perpetrated harm are the most
disputed stories, as they go to the core of state identity and nationhood. The case of
the Ottoman Courts-Martial established in the wake of World War I to prosecute
the genocide of the Armenians, with an estimated sixty-three trials run, yet abandoned
due to the rise of Kemalism, is a key illustration of this. What had been a recognized
and mourned event by the Ottoman state became, through the changed political
situation in the formation of modern Turkey, a denied and disputed genocide, with
the trials subsequently forgotten. These trials both tell a mostly untold story, that of
the Armenian genocide, as well as being a hidden story themselves.

Modern-day Turkey has waged such a campaign of denialism that it has been
mostly left to the Armenian community to remember the genocide perpetrated
againstits members from 1915-1918.5 Claims have been made that the deportations

to the Secretary-General, UN Doc.A/C.3/34/1, New York: United Nations, 1979. The former Prime
Minister Pol Pot and his deputy leng Sary were tried in absentia and found guilty of genocide by the
Revolutionary People’s Tribunal of the People’s Republic of Kampuchea. See People’s Revolutionary
Tribunal, Held in Phnom Penh for the Trial of the Crime of Genocide Committed by the Pol
Pot-leng Sary Clique, Ministry of Information, Press and Cultural Affairs of the People’s Republic of
Kampuchea, Phnom Penh, August 1979.

3 The 1881 Inquiry was established by Victorias Chief-Secretary. The nine commissioners sat for
two and a half months. Twenty-one of the sixty-nine witnesses who were examined were Aboriginal.
This story has been resurrected recently through the Minutes of Evidence project, an Australia Research
Council collaboration between the University of Melbourne and artists, researchers, education experts
and community members to promote new modes of publicly engaging with historical and structural
injustice through performance, education and research, including the verbatim theatre production
Coranderrk: We Will Show the Country which uses the record of this inquiry. See further at <htep://
minutesofevidence.com/> and Jennifer Balint, Julie Evans, Nesam McMillan, Giordano Nanni and
Melodie Reynolds, “The Minutes of Evidence Project: Creating Collaborative Fields of Engagement
with the Past and Present’, in Lynette Russell and Leigh Boucher (eds), Governance, Race and the
Aboriginal Problem’ in Colonial Victoria 1851—1900, (forthcoming: Aboriginal History Inc. and ANU
E Press, 2013).

# Justice Crispin of the Australian Capital Territory Supreme Court found, in proceedings initiated
by members of the Aboriginal Tent Embassy (Wadjularbinna Nulyarimma, Isobel Coe, Billy Craigie
and Robbie Thorpe): “There is ample evidence to satisfy me that acts of genocide were committed
during the colonisation of Australia’: Re Thompson; Ex parte Nulyarimma (1998) 136 ACTR 9. See
further, Jennifer Balint, ‘Stating Genocide in Law: The Aboriginal Embassy and the ACT Supreme
Court, The Aboriginal Tent Embassy: Sovereignty, Black Power, Land Rights and the State, in Gary Foley,
Andrew Schaap and Edwina Howell (eds) (Routledge, 2013).

> The Turkish government has sent out reams of books and pamphlets countering the genocide, as
well as financing public propaganda campaigns and funding (and disrupting) research. See Richard
G. Hovannisian, “The Armenian Genocide and Patterns of Denial’, in Richard G. Hovannisian (ed),
The Armenian Genocide in Perspective (New Brunswick and London: Transaction Publishers, 1998),
111-33; Roger Smith, ‘Denials of the Armenian Genocide’, in Isracl W. Charny (ed), Encyclopedia of
Genocide (Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO 1999), 161-6. Smith relates how a conference in Tel Aviv

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com


http://minutesofevidence.com
http://minutesofevidence.com

The Ortoman State Special Military Tribunal 79

(the main feature of the genocide) were a ‘wartime necessity’ (yet communities away
from the war zone also faced deportation)® or that the Armenians were an internal
threat (yet the Courts-Martial in its indictment noted that ‘the deportations [rep-
resented] neither a military necessity, nor a punitive disciplinary measure’,” and
documentary evidence gathered by the Tribunal also disproves this allegation).®
Recent attempts within Turkey have begun to counter the official national myth.’
Parliaments around the world are acknowledging this genocide.!” Reparations
claims now being brought by the Armenian community may well provide a recogni-
tion that has been denied. Bringing the record of these trials to light, may also serve
to counter official denialism.

There has been scant academic analysis of these legal proceedings. The Turkish state
archives have been closed to most scholars, and while some of the Courts-Martial
proceedings were included at the time as special supplements in the government
gazette lakvim-i-Vekdyi, these remain unpublished and untranslated as a single
collection.!! Further, as Taner Akgam notes, the location of the complete official

was disrupted in 1982 with threats to the safety of Jews in Turkey: Roger W. Smith, Eric Markusen
and Robert Jay Lifton, ‘Professional Ethics and the Denial of the Armenian Genocide’, Holocaust
and Genocide Studies, 9 (1995), 1-22. When I was an undergraduate student studying genocide in
the early 1990s with Professor Colin Tatz at Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia, there were
more books produced by Turkey denying genocide than scholarly works on the genocide itself, and
the Turkish government also sent an emissary to one of my tutorials to ‘counter’ what we were taught
about the genocide.

¢ Vahakn Dadrian points out, as verified by documents presented to the Tribunal as well as
Ottoman census sources, that 61,000 members of the 63,605-strong Armenian community in Ankara
were deported, despite Ankara being the ‘farthest removed from all war zones’: Vahakn N. Dadrian, ‘A
Textual Analysis of the Key Indictment of the Turkish Military Tribunal Investigating the Armenian
Genocide’, Journal of Political and Military Sociology, 22 (1994), 135-6.

7 Takvim-i-Vekdyi, 3540: Dadrian cited above n 6, 136.

8 Evidence given included, in the first trial held at the Courts-Martial, a cipher telegram of 14
July 1915 from Colonel Sahabeddin addressed to Colonel Recayi in Ankara, stating that ‘there was
no evidence whatsoever’ about any uprising being planned (hig bir delail olmadigi) (2nd sitting, 8
February 1919). See Vahakn N. Dadrian, “The Turkish Military Tribunal’s Prosecution of the Authors
of the Armenian Genocide: Four Major Courts-Martial Series’, Holocaust and Genocide Studies, 11
(1997), 36.

? These include the statements by author Orhan Pamuk in 2005 that a million Armenians had
been killed (which saw him prosecuted for ‘insulting Turkishness), the translation into Turkish of
Vartkes Yeghiayan, British Foreign Office Dossiers on Turkish War Criminals (which contains the case
information on suspected war criminals compiled by the British), and the publication by lawyer
Fethiye Cetin in 2008 of her memoir My Grandmother (New York, NY: Verso, 2008) that revealed
that her grandmother had been Armenian, and the subsequent publication of gathered stories of
Armenians in Turkish families, published as 7be Grandchildren (Fethiye Cetin and Ayse Giil Altinay,
Istanbul: Metis, 2009). See Maureen Freely, ‘Secret Histories, Index on Censorship, 39 (2010), 14-20.

10" See Rouben Paul Adalian, ‘International Recognition of Armenian Genocide’, in Israel W. Charny
(ed) Encyclopedia of Genocide, Vol 1 (Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO, 1999), 100-1.

" Annette Hoss, “The Trial of Perpetrators by the Turkish Military Tribunals: The Case of Yozgat', in
R.G. Hovannisian (ed) 7he Armenian Genocide: History, Politics, Ethics(New York, NY: St Martin’s Press,
1992), 221, fn 5. Further, as Dadrian notes, outside Turkey only the Jerusalem Armenian Patriarchate
Archive and the Nubar Library in Paris own the originals of these ‘supplement issues: Dadrian, above
n 7, 30. Kirakossian also notes that the French newspaper La Renaissance published in Constantinople
also published materials of the sessions: John S. Kirakossian, 7he Armenian Genocide. The Young Tiurks
Before the Judgment of History (Madison, CT: Sphinx Press, 1992), 162.
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court records is unknown (while some copies are filed in the Armenian patriarchate in
Jerusalem, these are handwritten and not original copies).'? What this has meant
is that much of the work has of necessity focused on piecing together a picture
of the trials, including drawing on other government sources such as the United
States and British archives. The main analysis until recently—with the publica-
tion of Raymond Kévorkian’s 7he Armenian Genocide: A Complete History, which
includes a section on the trials, and of Taner Akcam’s A Shameful Act: The Armenian
Genocide and the Question of Turkish Responsibility, and the recent publication of
Vahakhn Dadrian and Taner Akcam’s Judgment at Istanbul, the first major work
on the trials—has been the substantial work of Vahakhn Dadrian." It is primarily
upon Dadrian’s work, together with that of John Kirakossian and Taner Ak¢am,
that I rely for information on the Courts-Martial.

(I) The ‘Forgotten Genocide’ of the Armenians

The genocide of the Armenians was perpetrated by the Ottoman state under the
cover of World War I. With the entry of Turkey into the war, an opportunity arose
for the destruction of what was seen as an alien nation, the Christian Armenians, and
the establishment of a ‘Pan-Turkic empire’. The Committee of Union and Progress
(CUP) or Ittihad Party (known as the Young Turks), which had on its establish-
ment been a force for change, moved away from what Richard Hovannisian has
described as egalitarianism Ottomanism to the ideology of Turkism.' Under the
leadership of the Young Turks, the Ottoman state moved to annihilate the Armenians

12 Taner Akcam, A Shameful Act: The Armenian Genocide and the Question of Turkish Responsibility,
transl Paul Bessemer (New York, NY: Metropolitan Books New York, 2006), 5-6.

13 See in particular, Dadrian: above n 7, 28-59; The History of the Armenian Genocide. Ethnic
Conflict from the Balkans to Anatolia to the Caucasus (Oxford and New York, NY: Berghahn Books,
3rd edn, 1997); “The Documentation of the World War I Armenian Massacres in the Proceedings
of the Turkish Military Tribunal’, International Journal of Middle East Studies, 23 (1991), 549-76.
In 2008, Vahakn N. Dadrian and Taner Ak¢am, Zehcir ve laktil: Divan-i Harb-i Orfi Zabitlari.
Ittihad ve Terakkinin Yargilanmasi, 1919—1922 was published in Turkish by Bilgi University Press.
This is the first major book devoted to the trials. An English language edition was published in late
2011: Vahakn N. Dadrian and Taner Ak¢am, Judgment at Istanbul. The Armenian Genocide Trials
(Oxford and New York, NY: Berghahn Books, 2011). Other work includes Taner Akcam’s A Shameful
Act: The Armenian Genocide and the Question of Turkish Responsibility (New York, NY: Henry Holt
and Company); Raymond Kévorkian’s 7he Armenian Genocide: A Complete History (London and
New York, NY: I.B. Tauris, 2011) which includes a section on the trials, John S. Kirakossian, above
n 13; Annette Hoss, “The Trial of Perpetrators by the Turkish Military Tribunals: The Case of Yozgat’,
in R.G. Hovannisian (ed), 7he Armenian Genocide. History, Politics, Ethics (New York, NY: St Martin’s
Press, 1992), ].E. Willis, Prologue to Nuremberg: The Politics and Diplomacy of Punishing War Criminals
of the First World War (Westport, CT: Greenwood Press, 1982). Vartkes Yeghiayan has collated two
sets of documents: the British case notes on suspected Turkish war criminals—British Foreign Office
Dossiers on Turkish War Criminals (La Verna, CA: American Armenian International College Press,
1991), and the translation of the Courts-Martials transcripts— 7he Armenian Genocide and the Trials
of the Young Turks (La Verna, CA: American Armenian International College Press, 1990).

4 R.G. Hovannisian, “The Historical Dimensions of the Armenian Question, 1978-1923’, in
R.G. Hovannisian (ed), 7he Armenian Genocide in Perspective(New Brunswick and London: Transaction
Publishers, 1986), 28.
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in their search, as Hovannisian has noted, for a homogeneous Turkey rather than
a multinational Ottoman Empire.” The entry into the war provided the oppor-
tunity for this. The secret decision to destroy the Armenian people was taken by
the key leaders of the Ittihad Party—Talat, Enver and Cemal (the ‘triumvirate’).!
Robert Melson notes that the deportations were coordinated between Talat Pasha’s
Ministry of the Interior, which was in charge of the civilian population, and Enver
Pasha’s Ministry of War, which was in charge of the disarmed labour battalions
(which contained Armenian soldiers).!”

The genocide was perpetrated in stages. First came the separation of Armenian
soldiers serving in the Ottoman armies into labour battalions. Then, on the night
of 24 April 1915, Armenian political, religious, educational, and intellectual leaders
throughout the Ottoman state were arrested, deported into Anatolia, and killed.'®
Armenian populations across the Ottoman state were forcibly deported and
stripped of their possessions. Armenians serving in the Ottoman armies were also
killed. The mass deportation of Armenians was intended to result in their death,
with abductions and starvation along the way, together with great cruelty to the
mainly women and children. As Hovannisian explains:

The adult and teenage boys were, as a pattern, swiftly separated from the deportation caravans
and killed outright. .. The greatest torment was reserved for the women and children, who
were driven for months over mountains and deserts, often dehumanised by being stripped
naked and repeatedly preyed upon and abused. Intentionally deprived of food and water,
they fell by the thousands and the hundreds of thousands along the routes to the desert.”

Eyewitnesses were later to report on the horrific use of medical experimentation on
children, and on the brutality of the destruction of the Armenians in villages and towns
throughout the Ottoman state.?* The orders to destroy the Armenians came from the
centre through a series of telegrams sent by the ruling Ittihad leaders to ministers and
local governors. One telegram sent by Cemal to the Minister of the Interior stated
that the ‘number of Armenians deported from Diarbekir amounted to 120,000,
and that ‘every Muslim who tries to protect Armenians will be hanged in front
of his house, and his house will be burned down’.*! Governors were instructed to
implement the orders without question. Those who refused were demoted.

15 Hovannisian, above n 15.

16 See Dadrian, “The Documentation of the World War I Armenian massacres’, above n 14, 550.

'7 Robert Melson, ‘Provocation or Nationalism: A Critical Inquiry into the Armenian Genocide
of 1915°, in R.G. Hovannisian (ed), 7he Armenian Genocide in Perspective (New Brunswick and
London: Transaction Publishers, 1986).

'8 Richard G. Hovannisian, “The Armenian genocide’, in Isracl W. Charny (ed), Genocide: A Critical
Bibliographic Review (New York, NY: Facts on File Publications, 1991), 95; Vahakn N. Dadrian,
‘Documentation of Armenian Genocide in Turkish Sources’, in Isracl W. Charny (ed) Encyclopedia of
Genocide, Vol 1 (Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO, 1999), 94.

1 Hovannisian, above n 19, 95.

20 See Vahkhn N. Dadrian, ‘The Role of Turkish Physicians in the World War One Genocide of
Ottoman Armenians’, Holocaust and Genocide Studies, 1 (1986), 169-92.

2! Cited in John S. Kirakossian, 7he Armenian Genocide, above n 11, 169.
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An estimated 1.2 million Armenians (which included also the Assyrians and
Pontiac and Anatolian Greeks) were killed from 1915-1918. Henry Morgenthau,
the American Ambassador at the time, wrote: ‘I am confident that the whole history
of the human race contains no such horrible episode as this. The great massacres and
persecutions of the past seem almost insignificant when compared to the sufferings
of the Armenian race in 1915.7%

Law was a partner to this destruction. The Temporary Law of Deportation, Sevk
ve Iskin Kanunu, was drafted in May 1915 to legitimize the deportations of the
Armenians. This use of law is interesting, in that while the Deportation Law was
drafted after the deportations had begun, it was still seen as important to have leg-
islation to authorize it. Using #be term ‘deportees’ rather than ‘Armenians’, the law
was deliberately not introduced to Parliament and instead ratified by the Grand
Vizier and Cabinet.”? In the subsequent Courts-Martial, the verdict against the
‘Responsible Secretaries and Delegates’ found that the deportations were ‘exploited
as a pretext for personal gain’ (in that they gained access to Armenian property)
and that ‘[tJhe deportation was carried out in a manner [so as] to include every
part [of the country], in contradiction to the spirit behind the wording of the
Law on Deportation’. Law thus, while a tool of the genocide, was still designed
to set limits.

The following year a law to allow the release of prisoners to serve in the Special
Organization Unit, the group responsible for much of the killing, was rushed
through Parliament—ryet the prisoners had already been released and most
of the killings completed.”® A law to authorize the confiscation and selling of
Armenian property—the Temporary Law of Expropriation and Confiscation—
was passed in late 1915 with one sole voice of opposition in the Senate, Senator
Ahmed Riza, who stated that the law was ‘inimical to the principles of law and
justice’.?

These laws made the perpetration of this state crime ‘allowable’.”” They provided
a framework of legitimation for persecution. It was a call to law, yet the genocide
was not implemented through law—rather, law was used as a tool of legitimation,
with the relevant legislation either passed after the event or not passed through the
proper channels at all. It was only after the war that law came to play a far more
important role—that of securing redress for a genocide that had been legitimized
by the legal and political processes themselves.

22 Henry Morgenthau, Ambassador Morgenthau’s Story (London: Gomidas Institute, 1918), 321-2.

% On this, see Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 221.

% Dadrian and Akgam, Judgment at Istanbul, above n 13, 315-16.

» Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 236. 26 Dadrian, above n 25, 223.

¥ See further, Jennifer Balint, Genocide, State Crime and the Law: In the Name of the State
(London: Routledge-Cavendish, 2012), in particular Chapter 2.
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(II) The Promise of International Proceeding

Any trials were supposed to be internationally driven. On 24 May 1915 the Allies
(Britain, France and Russia) made the following joint declaration:

In view of these new crimes of Turkey against humanity and civilisation, the Allied govern-
ments announce publicly...that they will hold personally responsible...all members of
the Ottoman government and those of their agents who are implicated in such massacres.®

Several Articles stipulating the trial and punishment of those responsible for the
genocide had been inserted into the Peace Treaty of Sévres, signed on 10 August
1920. Article 144 stated that ‘[tJhe Turkish Government recognises the injustice of
the law of 1915 relating to Abandoned Properties (Emwval-i-Metroukeh)’ and outlined
measures of restoration, Article 228 stated that ‘[t]he Turkish Government under-
takes to furnish all documents and information of every kind, the production of
which may be considered necessary to ensure the full knowledge of the incriminating
acts, the prosecution of offenders and the just appreciation of responsibility’, and
Article 230 continued:

The Turkish Government undertakes to hand over to the Allied Powers the persons whose
surrender may be required by the latter as being responsible for the massacres committed
during the continuance of the state of war on territory which formed part of the Turkish
Empire on August 1, 1914.

The Allied Powers reserve to themselves the right to designate the tribunal which shall try
the persons so accused, and the Turkish Government undertakes to recognise such tribunal.

In the event of the League of Nations having created in sufficient time a tribunal competent
to deal with the said massacres, the Allied Powers reserve to themselves the right to bring the
accused persons mentioned above before such tribunal, and the Turkish Government under-
takes equally to recognise such tribunal.”

‘Crimes against humanity’ was the original charge, which was changed to massacres
(it had been opposed by the US, who preferred ‘crimes against the law of war’,
and Japan). Yet the court provided for in Article 230 of the Treaty of Sévres—the
Allies reserved ‘the right to designate the tribunal which shall try the persons so
accused’ —never eventuated, and in fact the Peace Treaty of Sévres was abandoned
(signed but never ratified). There was even a provision for a court established by
the League of Nations to be the designated tribunal. Article 230 of the Treaty
bound Turkey to recognize its jurisdiction if the League ‘created in sufficient time

% Cited in Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 216. The first draft, proposed by Russia, contained
the phrase ‘crimes against Christianity and civilisation’, but it was changed to ‘crime against human-
ity and civilisation’ by France in light of the Muslim populations in the French colonies: see Ulrich
Trumpener, Germany and the Ottoman Empire (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1968),
210, fn 26.

» 'The Treaty Of Peace Between the Allied and Associated Powers and Turkey Signed at Sévres,
10 August 1920, Armenian News Network [website], <http://www.groong.com/treaties/sevres.html>
(accessed 27 February 2013).
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a tribunal competent to deal with the said massacres’. Yet this international court
was not established.

Taner Ak¢am notes that ‘the Allied Powers tied the terms of the peace treaty
to the Ottoman government’s attitude toward punishing the perpetrators of the
massacres’.*® In fact, there was a belief among the Allies that the Turkish nation as
a whole should be punished—the British deputy high commissioner in Istanbul
wrote in 1919 to the Paris peace conference:

Punishing those responsible for the Armenian atrocities means punishing all Turks. That is
why I propose that the punishment, on the national level, should be the dismemberment
of the last Turkish Empire, and, on the individual level, putting on trial the senior officials
on my list so as to make an example out of them.’!

Accountability for genocide was, however, connected to Allied ambitions over the
Ottoman state—for the Russians, claims over the Straits, and for the ‘Great Powers’ as a
whole, the partitioning of Anatolia and a desire to ‘throw the Turks out of Europe’.3
Britain also felt a great deal of guilt towards the treatment of the Armenians, having
withdrawn from an earlier agreement that would have seen the Armenian provinces
put under Russian instead of Ottoman control.?

The successor to the Treaty of Sévres, the Treaty of Lausanne, omitted all mention of
war crimes.* Despite holding many indicted war criminals hostage on the islands
of Mudros and Malta, allegedly for their safety, the British held no trials. There
had been great public outrage in Britain as to the treatment of the Armenians,
with calls for trials to be held. The British had begun arresting Ottoman officials
and suspected war criminals, together with giving lists of suspects to be arrested
to the Ottoman authorities.” Yet Turkish opposition to Ottoman nationals being
tried before foreign courts led to the cessation of any British trials (together with a
concern that there was insufficient documentary evidence to convict). The prisoners
were handed back to Turkey in October 1921 after a promise by the Kemalist gov-
ernment that they would be tried. As Ak¢am notes, however, ‘most of them moved
to Ankara and were given posts in the nationalist government’.* The British Foreign
Secretary, Lord Curzon, was to write in 1922, ‘T think we made a great mistake in
ever letting these people out. I had to yield at the time to a pressure which I always
felt to be mistaken.’?”

Despite a beginning that saw the Allies boldly proclaim they would ‘hold personally
responsible. ... all members of the Ottoman government and those of their agents who
are implicated in such massacres’, and recognition of the massacre of the Armenians at
the Paris Peace Conference by the Commission on the Responsibility of the Authors
of the War and on Enforcement of Penalties, no international or Allied trials were
held. Legal proceedings convened by the British concerned not the killings of
the Armenians, but atrocities committed against British soldiers. The irony of the

3 Ak¢am, above n 13, 215. 31 Cited in Ak¢am, above n 13i, 216-17.
32 Akgam, above n 13, 211-13. 3 See Akcam, above n 13, 233-4.

34 Willis, above n 13, 162. % See Akcam, above n 13, 239.

% Akgam, above n 13, 362. 37 Cited in Willis, above n 13, 163.
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original Allied declaration is thus that with the defeat of Turkey, the end of World
War I, Turkey’s signing of the Armistice on 30 October 1918, and the cessation
of the genocide against the Armenians, it was not the Allies who initiated legal
proceedings against the perpetrators of the genocide, but the Turks themselves.
In fact, the Ottoman state had begun this process already.

(ITI) Establishing the Courts-Martial

The process of establishing a legal process of accountability to address the crimes
perpetrated against the Armenians began in the Ottoman Parliament. This was in
part due to the public outcry at the escape from Istanbul on 1 November 1918 of
seven key leaders of the Young Turks (Mehmed Talat, Ismail Enver, Ahmed Cemal,
Drs Mehmed Nazim and Behaeddin Sakir) and police and security chiefs Osman
Bedri and Hiiseyin Azmi. As Kirakossian notes, based on records of speeches
printed in Zakvim-i-Vekdyi, in the aftermath of the Armistice signed on 20 October
1918, ‘the Armenian massacres became the primary topic of conversation in the
Ottoman Parliament’, with one parliamentarian decrying ‘[w]e inherited a country
turned into a huge slaughterhouse’.?®

On 2 November 1918, a motion for a trial of the ministers of the two wartime
cabinets was introduced by a Deputy in the Chamber of Deputies of the Ottoman
Parliament, invoking ‘the rules of law and humanity’.** The motion included as an
attachment ten charges against the ministers, including aggression, military incom-
petence, political abuses, and economic crimes. Charges No. 5 and No. 10 related
to the killings of the Armenians. No. 5 challenged the enactment of the Temporary
Laws, with their associated ‘orders and instructions” and subsequent ‘disasters’ being
‘completely contradictory to the spirit and letter of our Constitution’. Charge No.
10 indicted the ministers for the creation of ‘brigands [¢ezes] whose assaults on life,
property and honour rendered the ministers guilty as co-perpetrators of the tragic
crimes that resulted’.%

At the same time, the upper chamber of the Ottoman Parliament, the Senate,
began debating the matter of investigating and prosecuting the wartime crimes.
A motion was submitted by General Ciiritksulu Mahmud, former minister of
Public Works, who proposed in subsequent debate that investigation of the abuses
be related to ‘the conduct of internal affairs policy (dahiliye siyaseti) and govern-
ance’.*! This tension between a focus on ‘bad governance’ and on the massacres
themselves was to continue throughout the trials. The Ittihad was blamed for
‘hurting the interests of the nation and the country’ and, with the Armenians now
pushing for independence, ‘for the wrong done to the integrity of the Ottoman

Empire’.4?
38 Kirakossian, above n 11, 160, 162. 3 Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 319.
4 Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13. 41 Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 337, fn 11.

42 Session of Military Tribunal 8 March 1919, cited in Kirakossian, above n 11, 171.
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Two inquiries were subsequently established in late November 1918: the Fifth
Committee of the Ottoman Chamber of Deputies (Besinci ube Tahkikat Komisyonu)
and what was known as the Mazhar Inquiry Commission, headed by Hasan
Mazhar.®* The Fifth Committee conducted hearings, during which ministers were
interrogated. It also gathered key documents that demonstrated the collusion
between the military and the executive in the genocide of the Armenians.* The
Mazhar Commission was established by the Sultan and charged with investigating
the conduct of government officials. It gathered key documents, in particular
telegraphic orders from twenty-eight provinces identified as centres of deportations
and massacres.® As Kevorkian notes, ‘Hasan Mazhar sent an official circular to the
provincial prefects and sub-prefects, demanding the originals or certified copies of
all orders received by the local authorities in connection with the deportation and
massacre of the Armenians’.“ Local inquiry commissions were also established to aid
regional trials. The results of all investigations were provided to the Courts-Martial.

(IV) The Ottoman State Special Military Tribunal

The Courts-Martial were established by Imperial authorization on 14 December
1918. Tribunals around the country were to be established ‘in accordance with
the Regulations on Martial Law of 20 September 1877°.47 On 8 January 1919, the
Extraordinary (or Special) Courts-Martial were declared operational.*® By mid-January
1919, the Mazhar Inquiry Commission forwarded 130 separate dossiers of suspects
to the Courts-Martial. Its recommendation, following the Criminal Procedure
Code, was that the evidence was incriminating enough to warrant the commence-
ment of criminal proceedings against the suspects.®” The tribunal began its work
on 12 February 1919. On 8 March 1919, the statute of the new Courts-Martial

was introduced.>®

% Mazhar had been the governor of Ankara who had been dismissed from his position in 1915 for
refusing to obey Talat’s orders to deport the Armenians: Session of Military Tribunal 8 March 1919,
cited in Kirakossian, above n 11, 160.

# See further, Raymond Kevorkian, 7he Armenian Genocide: A Complete History (London and
New York, NY: 1.B. Tauris, 2011), 725-33.

4 See further Kevorkian, above n 44, 735-8.

4 See further Kevorkian, above n 44, 4.

47 Dadrian and Ak¢am, Judgment at Istanbul, above n 13, 254.

4 According to Kevorkian, three courts-martial were established in Istanbul, as well as in ten juris-
dictions in the provinces. In Istanbul, Court-Martial 1 tried people accused of committing crimes
against the Armenian population, Court-Martial 2 specialized in cases involving the illegal seizure of
assets, and Court-Martial 3 judged senior officers: Kevorkian, above n 44, 739-40.

% Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 320-1.

50 There was debate in the Parliament, the press, and during the first two sittings of the military tribunal, as
to whether the defendants should be prosecuted before the High Court, before the Military Tribunal,
or regular criminal courts. It was concluded that as martial law as implemented by the Ittihadists on
12/25 April 1909 was still in force (and according to Article 113 of the Ottoman Constitution this
meant that civil laws are suspended), the Courts-Martial were the only option.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



The Ortoman State Special Military Tribunal 87

During its life the Courts-Martial underwent a number of changes: from a
military-civilian to a military Courts-Martial, as well as changes to its staff, including
a high turnover of judges.’' Grand Vizier Damad Ferid had put forward a proposal
to include the participation of the neutral governments of Spain, Switzerland,
Netherlands, Sweden and Denmark in the prosecution. This was not accepted,
and in March 1919, the Courts-Martial went from being a military-civilian to a
strictly military Courts-Martial.

The basis of legal proceedings was Ottoman law. The Courts-Martial prosecutors
relied on the Ottoman Penal Code for the charges. The key charge was ‘deportation and
massacre’. Although the charges came from the existing Penal Code, their application
(to the charge of massacres of the Armenians) was new. One of the Courts-Martial’s
chief aims was to establish the systematic manner in which the massacres of the
Armenians took place, and to allocate institutional (primarily to the Ittihad Party)
as well as individual responsibility. This is reflected in the organization of the trials.
The indictment emphasized that ‘the investigation of massacres and illegal, personal
profiteering, is the principal task of this Tribunal’.>> The main indictment as read by
the Ottoman Attorney-General stated in part:

The principal subject matter of this investigation has been the event of the disaster befall-
ing the deported Armenians—an event which occurred at various times and places. Legal
steps are now being taken against individuals responsible for that occurrence. The disaster
visiting the Armenians was not a local or isolated event. It was the result of a premedi-
tated decision taken by a central body composed of the above-mentioned persons; and the

immolations and excesses which took place were based on oral and written orders issued
by that central body.”

The Ottoman State Special Military Tribunal focused on the massacres of the
Armenians as well as on ‘illegal, personal profiteering’ and Turkey’s entry into the war.
The charges of ‘overthrow of the government’ (added in April 1920), and ‘rebellion’
and ‘violation of public order’ were also included. Documents found by the inves-
tigatory Commissions, and the Courts-Martial, in particular coded telegrams sent
by the main defendants outlining the actions to be taken against the Armenian
population, were used as key evidence. Importantly, the trials were established and
conducted around the view that the Armenians had been intentionally massacred.
As noted by Dadrian, in all its verdicts, the Courts-Martial ‘sustained the charges
relating to the destruction of the Armenians, pointing to evidence on “the organi-
sation and implementation of the crime of murder (¢akzil cinayeti), by the leaders
of Ittihad. This fact has been proven and verified (tahakkuk)”’ >4

In fact, the court in the Yozgat trial rejected the Attorney-General’s wish to
prosecute the accused under Article 56 of the Ottoman Penal Code, which pertains

51 See Dadrian, above n 8, 31-2.

52 Takvimi Vekdyi, No. 3540, cited in Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 324.

> H.K. Kazarian, ‘Turkey Tries its Chief Criminals: Indictment and Sentence Passed Down by
Military Court of 1919, The Armenian Review, 24 (1971), 10.

4 Takvimi Vekayi, No. 3604, cited in Dadrian, “The Documentation of the World War I Armenian
Massacres’, above n 13, 556.
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to ethnic or other groups pitted against each other in mutual slaughter.> It used
instead Article 45, which distinguished between victims and perpetrators.”® Hoss
notes that not only did this preclude the prosecution of the general civilian population
of Yozgat, but it demolished the myth that the Armenians were involved in an
insurgency and that the massacres could be classified within the context of justifiable

civil war.”’

(V) The Operation of the Trials

The main trials were held in the building of the Ottoman Parliament in Istanbul, in the
Great Hall of the Ministry of Justice. The official government gazette, Zakvim-i-Vekayi,
published extracts daily and the proceedings, unusually, were public, in order,
according to the presiding judge, ‘to demonstrate the intent of the Court to conduct
the trials impardially and in a spirit of lofty justice [kemali adil ve bitaraf]’ >
He continued: “The court is simply trying to help the defendants and facilitate
their defence.””

Original estimates were that twenty-four trials were held; however, this has
now been revised to at least sixty-three trials—with only some reported.®® Over
200 files had been prepared on individuals—government, military and Party offi-
cials alleged to be participants in the genocide—creating, together with the trial
records, a substantial documentary record of the genocide. There were four main
series of trials, within the framework of the Courts-Martial:

o Jttihadist leaders and Central Committee members;

* Ministers of the two wartime cabinets (these first two were merged after the
sixty-three prisoners were taken by the British to Malta and Mudros in May
1919);

e Responsible Secretaries and Delegates (who organized and supervised
deportations) and those of the ‘Special Organization” (who did the killings); and

* Officials in provinces where the massacres took place.

%> The claim by the Prosecutor that the Armenians bore guilt for the treatment they received resulted
in the walking out of the three Armenian lawyers representing the victims: Dadrian, above n 9, 34-5.

56 Dadrian, above n 9, 39.

57 See Héss, above n 11, 220.

58 Takvimi Vekdyi, No. 3540, cited in Dadrian, 7he History, above n 14, 322. This was to later
change.

> Dadrian, “The Documentation of the World War I Armenian massacres’, above n 13, 555.

6 See Dadrian and Ak¢am, Judgment at Istanbul, see above n 13, 202. Ak¢am notes that while
twelve of the trials were documented in Takvim-i-Vekdyi, these were recorded in different ways—some
were complete or partial records of the trials such as the indictments, minutes and verdicts, and
others solely through the Sultan’s confirmation of the Courts sentence: Akgam, above n 13, 288. It
also appears that there were a number of military tribunals operating at the same time in this early
stage—necessitating that the main Tribunal, responsible for the ‘deportation cases’, be known as the
‘First Military Tribunal’: Ak¢am, above n 13, 285.
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There were further trials ready to proceed, yet with the rise of the Nationalist

Movement and the challenge to the Grand Vizier, these were abandoned. While some

proceedings were in absentia, many indicted persons were present for the trials.
The Courts-Martial prosecutions focused on three classes of perpetrators:

* The organizers of the genocide;
* Those who carried out the perpetration in the provinces; and

¢ Those involved in what were termed ‘economic crimes’.

Within those responsible for the genocide, the defendants were classified as either
principal co-perpetrators (cabinet ministers, leaders of the Ittihad Party, Responsible
Secretaries) or accessories (those who carried out the massacres, namely in the prov-
inces).®! The series of trials that focused on the Ittihadist leaders, Central Committee
members, and ministers of the two wartime cabinets is known as the Key Indictment,
and ran from 28 April 1919 until 5 July 1919. This indictment of ‘principal
co-perpetrators’ focused on the ministers of the two wartime cabinets and the leaders
of the ruling Ittihad Party: Enver, Cemal and Talat. The indictment also focused
on institutions: the Ittihad Party (particularly its Central Committee—namely Drs
Nazim and Sakir), the General Assembly, and the two provincial control groups. The
Defence Ministry, the War Office (particularly the Special Organization), and the
Interior Ministry were also targeted. The Young Turk Ittihad Party’s objectives and
methods were declared criminal by the Procuror-General.®> Dadrian notes that in
this series of trials ‘the Court considers the investigation of these deportations and
massacres as its “integral task” and not only premeditation and decision-making, but
the organization, supervision, control, and implementation of genocide’.®* Further,
it highlighted the secretive nature of the decision-making process, and ‘asserted
that the deportations and massacres constituted a comprehensive attempt to radically
solve the Armenian question (ha/l vefasl)’.** Those on trial were shown to have operated
both as cabinet ministers as well as being involved in directing the genocide.
The Indictment was also amended. According to Dadrian:

It refers to the crimes of ‘massacre’, ‘plunder of properties’, ‘torching of corpses and buildings’,
‘rape’, and ‘torture and torment’. The amendment also charges that these crimes were
committed ‘in a particularly organised way.. . in the capital and in the provinces. .. repeated’.
'The preamble to the new indictment speaks of ‘the extermination of an entire people con-
stituting a distinct community’, and of ‘the admission and confession’ of the defendants
(kabul ve itiraf).

Judgment in the Key Indictment was handed down on 5 July 1919. The Court
found the cabinet ministers guilty both of orchestrating the entry of Turkey into
World War I and of committing the massacres of the Armenians. Former leaders
Talat, Enver, Cemal, Dr Nazim (and Dr Behaeddin $akir in a separate prosecution on
13 January 1920) were found guilty of ‘first degree mass murder® and given the

¢! Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 327. ¢2 Dadrian, 7he History, above n 13, 323.
6 Dadrian, above n 8, 44. 4 Dadrian, above n 8, 44-5.
% Dadrian, above n 8, 46. % Dadrian, above n 8, 50.
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death penalty in absentia.®” Other ministers were given prison sentences, including
the former economics minister, and the former commerce and agriculture minister
who received sentences of fifteen years each.

The Responsible Secretaries trial ran from 21 June until 13 July 1919, with thirty
defendants. These were the officials of the Ittihad party who had organized the
deportations. The majority had evaded arrest, with only eleven of the indicted on
trial, and eighteen absent. The trial also included other officials. As Dadrian writes:

The centrepiece was the accusation that the defendants had gained control of the state appa-
ratus and imposed upon the government their party objectives. They treated the Central
Committee as the supreme instance for governmental decision-making. The special law on
deportation was the result of this procedure. The deportees were ‘annihilated’ (imha) and
their goods and properties ‘plundered and pillaged’ (nehb u garer) by brigands and gangs of
outlaws engaged (zerib) for this purpose.®®

Itisin the trial of the Responsible Secretaries that the meaning of the Deportation Law
was most clearly demonstrated. The verdict found that the Responsible Secretaries
‘used the May 14/27, 1915 Temporary Deportation law. .. to perpetrate. .. massacre,
plunder of goods, appropriation and hoarding of riches’.*” The verdict also found, as
Dadrian relates:

‘The massacre and destruction of the Armenians and the pillage of their goods [were] organised
and set in motion (zertip ve ihzar) by these Responsible Secretaries and Delegates. They relied
on and engaged criminal gangs and mobs. Some of them tricked the victims and managed to
appropriate their abandoned goods after pretending to be helping them.”

Yet the officials were viewed by the Court as ‘accessories to the crime’ and escaped
any death penalty, with most found guilty of ‘robbery, plunder, and self-enrichment
at the expense of the victims’.”!

Trials that focused on the provinces were those of Trabzon,”” Yozgat, Harput,
Erzincan, Bayburt, and Mosul.”? Other locational trials were being prepared when
the Courts-Martial was dismantled, including those for atrocities against Armenians
in Adana, Aleppo, Bitlis, Diarbekir, Erzerum, Marash, and Van.” Three individuals
were executed—all came from the trials of officials in provinces where the massacres
took place. These were Nusret Bey, the Governor (Prefect) of Urfa, sentenced to
death on 20 July 1920, Abdullah Avni, the officer in charge of the Erzincan
gendarmery, executed on 22 July 1920, and Kemal Bey, district governor of Yozgat,
executed on 10 April 1919.

Prior to the trials of the Ittihadist leaders, government ministers and Responsible
Secretaries, the local officials responsible for the deportation in the district of Yozgat,

¢ Willis, above n 13, 156. In 1921, Talat was assassinated in Berlin—in his defence, the perpetrator
Soghomon Tehlirian argued that he had been sentenced to death in absentia by the Tribunal:
Kirakossian, 7he Armenian Genocide, above n 11, 171.

% Dadrian, above n 8, 42. % Dadrian, above n 8, 43. 70 Dadrian, above n 8, 43—4.

7! Dadrian, above n 8, 44.

72 For a discussion of this trial, held between 26 March and 17 May 1919, see Dadrian, above n 8,
39-42.

73 For an account of these trials see Kevorkian, above n 44, 791-5. 74 Hoss, aboven 11, 210.
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were put on trial. This was the first trial held by the Courts-Martial in Istanbul.
In this district, which comprised the counties of Bogazhyan, Akdag Madeni and
Yozgat, 31,147 of a total pre-war Armenian population of 33,133 in Yozgat district,
who lived mainly in villages, were ‘deported’.”” Dadrian notes that ‘at the first trial
of the series (February 5, 1919), the Attorney General disclosed that out of about
1,800 Armenians from the town of Yozgat proper, only eighty-eight survivors could
be counted’.”®

The Yozgat Officials trial ran from 5 February to 7 April 1919, in eighteen
sittings. Mehmed Kemal (Kemal Bey), Mehmed Tevfik and Abdul Fayaz—all officials
from Yozgat—were indicted. They were accused of the ‘mass murder of Yozgat’s
Armenian deportees at Keller and elsewhere, the pillage and plunder of the victim’s
goods, and the abduction and rape of many members of the convoys’.”” The offences,
notes Hoss, were termed ‘anti-human’.”® One witness spoke of ‘doing government
business’.” The Court heard testimony and received affidavits from Muslim leaders
from the district as to the horrific means by which the Armenian population was
slaughtered.®® They also heard from eighteen Armenian survivors. In an affidavit
from Major Mehmet Salim, the Military Commandant of Yozgat, requested by the
Mazhar Inquiry Commission, the point was stressed that ‘underlying the entire
scheme of deportations lay “a policy of extermination” (imba siyaseti)’.®' The verdict
emphasized that ‘[t/heir handwritten documents confirm the nature of the real
purpose of these guards [the so-called escorts of the deportee convoys]—the
massacre of the people of these convoys’.*? In his analysis of the judgment,
Dadrian writes:

Perhaps the most important feature of the Verdict was its conclusion that the deportations
were a cloak for the intended massacres. “There can be no doubt and no hesitation’ on this
point, it declared in that conclusion (siiphe ve tereddiit birak- madigindan).®

On 8 April 1919 Mehmed Kemal, who had been sub-district governor of Bogazliyan
and subsequently interim district governor of Yozgat, was convicted of ordering the
robbery and murder of Armenians and sentenced to death under Article 170 of the
Ottoman Penal Code, which prescribes death for the crime of premeditated murder.
His sentence was carried out in Istanbul’s Beyazit Square on 10 April 1919.%4
While there had been public statements in the Parliament and the media as to the
nature of the massacre of the Armenians, and condemnation of it, the wider popula-
tion seemed reluctant to accept the legal process and its verdicts.® This reflected the

75 Dadrian, above n 8, 33. 76 Dadrian, above n 8, 33. 77 Hoss, above n 11, 213.
78 Hoss, aboven 11, 213. 79 Hbss, above n 11, 220. 80 See Dadrian, above n 8, 36-8.
81 Dadrian, above n 8, 37. 82 Hoss, above n 11, 218. 83 Dadrian, above n 8, 39.

8¢ Mehmed Tefkik was sentenced to fifteen years’ hard labour as an accessory. Abdul Fayaz had ear-

lier been removed from the trial for a proposed second Yozgat trial—released on bail, he had escaped
to join the Kemalists in the interior and later became a deputy in the Grand National Assembly: Hss,
aboven 11, 218.

8 Hass relates that due to the public unwillingness to accept Armenian testimony during the Yozgat
trial, in his closing arguments the Prosecutor-General told the court that he was intentionally exclud-
ing all evidence supplied by Armenian witnesses, and was concentrating on documentary evidence
and evidence supplied by former government officials: Héss, above n 11.
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schism in the Ottoman state between support for the Ittihad party and the desire
to create distance from it and its actions. The execution and subsequent funeral
of Mehmed Kemal turned into a large-scale nationalist demonstration, where
anti-British and anti-occupation slogans were heard, and wreaths reading ‘Kemal
Bey, the Great Martyr of the Turks were laid, and after which 20,000 Turkish
pounds were raised for his family.%

(VI) The Record of the Trials

While short lived, these trials created an important legacy for the prosecution of
genocide and, critically, provided a further source of documentation on the geno-
cide of the Armenians. The trials also reflected on a state’s own acts against its
civilians, and ones it had not usually protected. As Dadrian notes, ‘[f]or the first
time, Ottoman-Turkish authorities of the highest rank were being held accountable
for their crimes against these [non-Muslim] nationalities’.¥”

There is, in these trials, an official acknowledgement of the harms perpetrated.
The indictment began: ‘The principal subject matter of this investigation has
been the event of the disaster befalling the deported Armenians—an event which
occurred at various times and places.”® The Courts-Martial subpoenaed documents
that provided evidence of the policy to annihilate the Armenians as a people, and
of the chain of command that implemented this policy. It was this evidence of szate
crime that makes these trials so important as a record; the trials demonstrated how
the genocide of the Armenians was a coordinated and deliberate policy of the ruling
Young Turks. As Kirakossian outlines, ‘the most important conclusion arrived at as a
result of the investigation [by the Courts-Martial] was that the crimes inflicted upon
the Armenians in various places and at various times, were not isolated events’.®’

The trials also showed how this policy was transmitted to the provinces by Talat,
Enver and Kemal through telegram orders, and how what was known as the ‘Special
Organization, the Teshkilat-i Mahsoosé, was specifically established to carry out the
massacres. These included, outlined in the indictment, a telegram sent by Talat to
the administrative heads of provinces where Armenians were massacred, ordering
that ‘the bodies of the dead remaining on the roads not be thrown into ravines,
rivers or lakes, and instead be interred and their remaining possessions burnt’.”’
A further telegram sent by Behaeddin Sakir to Sabit Bey, Governor-General
of the vilayet of Kharput, reads as follows: ‘Are the Armenians shipped from
there exterminated? And are the dangerous persons about whose deportation
you have informed me indeed been destroyed or simply deported? My brother,
give me accurate information’.”!

8 Haoss, above n 11, 219; Ak¢am, above n 12, 293. The new Kemalist government later erected a
statue in the public square of Bogazhyan.

87 Dadrian, above n 8, 30. 88 Kazarian, above n 53, 10.

89 Kirakossian, 7he Armenian Genocide, above n 11, 168.

% Kirakossian, 169; Dadrian and Ak¢am, Judgment at Istanbul, above n 13, 277.

91 Dadrian and Ak¢am, Judgment at Istanbul, above n 13, 168.
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Evidence gathered by the Courts-Martial pointed to clear coordination and intent.
At the Yozgat trial, in a session on 22 February 1919, the prosecutor introduced
twelve cipher telegrams that demonstrated the word ‘deportation” meant ‘massacre’.”>
According to Dadrian, ‘[t]his critical piece of evidence was confirmed by Colonel
Halil Recayi, who during the course of his testimony at the 7th sitting (February 18)
explicitly admitted that he had received from Colonel Sahabeddin cipher telegrams
about the killing operations and that “deportation” in fact meant “massacre” (kesim)’.?
Dadrian records that ‘[t]he testimony of Colonels Sahabeddin and Recayi, and
others, the Attorney General concluded, confirmed the organised nature of the
Yozgat mass murder’.”*

The Key Verdict against the cabinet ministers and CUP leaders found that:

The evidence shows that the crimes of massacre which occurred in Trabzon, Yozgad, and
Bogazliyan, and which were verified as a result of the trials that were held in the Military
Tribunal, were ordered, planned and carried out by persons found among the leadership
of the CUP. Furthermore, as was presented during the defence[’s case], [although] there
were those who became aware of the crimes after their occurrence, the[-se persons] made
no effort whatsoever to prevent their repetition or stop the perpetrators of the previous

crimes.”

The indictment, based on the documentary evidence the Courts-Martial had
already received from the investigating committees, stated, in part:

July 1914 ... immediately after the military movements Talaat, Enver and Jemal put their secret
plans into operation. They formed Teshkilat-i Mahsoosé composed of criminals released from
jail who constituted the ‘core of the gang acting on special orders and instructions’. Prior to the
mobilisation it was rumoured that the gangs were to participate in the war... However, there is
incontrovertible evidence that they were formed to massacre the Armenians [ Zakvim-i-Vekdiyi,
April 2, 1919, N 3604].¢

The Tribunal also identified isolated incidents where the orders were disobeyed, as
with the case of Mazhar Bey, the vali of Ankara who replied to orders from Atif Bey,
‘No, Atif Bey, I am a governor, not a criminal. I give you my post, execute it your-
self.”?” The trials showed the consequences of disobedience—as noted by Dadrian,
in the trial of the Responsible Secretaries, ‘in at least three cases provincial Responsible
Secretaries had been able to effect the dismissal of governors who resisted orders
for massacres’, with one denounced as ‘the protector of the Armenians, or more
accurately. .. the governor-general of the infidels’.”®

Many documents, however, were destroyed. Kirakossian relates that ‘in the course
of the investigation [by the Courts-Martial] it became obvious that most important
material of the activity of the [Special] Organization and all the documents of the

92 Dadrian, above n 8, 35. 9 Dadrian, above n 8, 35. 94 Dadprian, above n 8, 35.

9 Dadrian and Akcam, Judgment at Istanbul, see above n 13, 327.

% Cited in Dadrian and Ak¢am, Judgment at Istanbul, see above n 13, 166.

7 Dadrian and Ak¢am, Judgment at Istanbul, see above n 13. Mazhar was to later head up the
Commission established by the Sultan to initiate investigations into the genocide.

9 Dadrian, above n 8, 43.
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Central Committee had been stolen’.”” Documents were burned and taken out of
Turkey.'%

(VII) Acknowledgement of Genocide

In the official indictment and the mandate of the Courts-Martial there is clear
acknowledgement of the planned massacres of the Armenians. This acknowledge-
ment was supported by media and parliamentary debate at the time. As Kirakossian
notes, with the signing of the Armistice and the resignation of Talat Pasa’s
government, ‘criticism of the Young Turks became the chief theme in the Turkish
press.'®! One newspaper, [nkilab, demanded the dissolution of the Majlis, the
Parliament: ‘It is impossible to appear before humanity and civilization hand in
hand with those who had worked with the organisers of the Armenian massacres’.!*

Another, Sazbah, wrote:

There is no way to renounce the reality we face today, a reality of endless misery and wretch-
edness. The government of Said Halim and Talaat nursed in their accursed hearts a horrible
plan: using the excuse of war to deport the Christians, and especially the Armenians, from
one province into another, to the Arabian desert, and in the course of deportation with
unspeakable, cannibalistic methods not even known in the middle ages or in the centuries
that followed murder not only grown-up men or boys of tender years, but also infants,
women, old men—to finally destroy and extinguish the Armenian race...Talaat Bey,
Minister of the Interior, gives orders and instructions from the Centre, organises gangs and
sends them to the provinces. The Ittihad Centre sends its members like Drs Nazim and
Shakir to Erzerum, Trebizond and other places as extraordinary plenipotentiaries to confer
with Hasan Tahsim and Jemal Azmi. As a result—outrages, methodically planned atrocities
and massacres conducted with the assistance of lawless elements and criminals specially
released from jail for the purpose.'®

With the establishment of the main trial, there was, as Dadrian and Akcam relate,
intense press coverage: ‘headlines in the Turkish press included such terms as
“Historical Day”, “Historical Judgment”, and “Incredible Indictment”’.1%
Immediately post-war, there was clear recognition of what had been done to the
Armenians. At the end of the war, in his opening speech to the Ottoman Senate
on 19 October 1918, the President, Senator Ahmed Riza, invoked the memory of
‘the Armenians who were savagely murdered’.’® Two days later, when challenged
on this, he described the mass murder of the Armenians as an ‘officially’ (resmen)

99 Kirakossian, 7he Armenian Genocide, above n 11, 168.

100 See further, Taner Akgam, ‘The Ottoman Documents and the Genocidal Policies of the
Committee of Union and Progress (Ittihat ve Terakki) toward the Armenians in 1915°, Genocide
Studies and Prevention, 1 (2006), 129-32.

101 Kirakossian, 7he Armenian Genocide, above n 11, 161.

1026 November 1918, cited in Kirakossian, above n 101, 158.

103 28 November 1918, cited in Kirakossian, above n 101, 158-9.
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sanctioned ‘state’ crime (devlet eliyle) requiring ‘some kind of intervention’ by the
authorities.'® This recognition even extended to when the Kemalists came into
power, once the Courts-Martial had been dissolved.

The testimony recorded in the transcripts of these trials provides an important
record of state complicity in the genocide of the Armenians. These corroborate
eyewitness testimony from consular officials present in Turkey during the war. US
Ambassador Henry Morgenthau noted in his memoir the candid conversations

that Turkish officials had with him:

The real purpose of the deportation was robbery and destruction; it really represented a new
method of massacre. When the Turkish authorities gave the orders for these deportations,
they were merely giving the death warrant to a whole race; they understood this well, and in
their conversations with me, they made no particular attempt to conceal the fact.'”

German Ambassador Metternich wrote in a dispatch in July 1916, one of many
written by the three German Ambassadors in Turkey throughout the war, despite
their military allegiance: “The Turkish government inexorably carried out her
plans, namely, the resolution of the Armenian question through the destruction of
the Armenian race’.!® The former Italian Consul-General in Trebizond, one of the
sites of the genocide, wrote of:

the ruthless searches through the houses and in the countryside; the hundreds of corpses
found every day along the exile road; the young women converted by force to Islam or
exiled like the rest; the children torn away from their families or from the Christian schools,
and handed over by force to Moslem families, or else placed by hundreds on board ship
in nothing but their shirts, and then capsized and drowned in the Black Sea and the River
Deyirmen Deré—these are my last ineffaceable memories of Trebizond, memories which
still, at a month’s distance, torment my soul and almost drive me frantic.!”

American media reports of the massacres occupied the front page in the New York
Times and other newspapers.''® The German missionary, Dr Johannes Lepsius,
who was present in Turkey as head of the Deutsche Orient-Mission from 1915
until 1917, documented the genocide, publishing a confidential albeit circulated
report that gathered together eyewitness accounts. Historian Arnold Toynbee
observed, in the Blue Book account published by the British government in 1916,
organized by member of the House of Lords Viscount Bryce and based on eyewit-
ness accounts, ‘[i]t was a deliberate, systematic attempt to eradicate the Armenian
population throughout the Ottoman Empire, and it has certainly met with a large
measure of success’.!!! Statements of the atrocities perpetrated based on eyewitness

1% Dadrian, above n 13, 110. 107 Morgenthau, above n 22, 309.

108 Cited in Dadrian, “The Documentation of the World War I Armenian Massacres’, above n 13,
568. Dadrian documents the extensive communication by the consular community during this period.
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Perspective (New Brunswick and London: Transaction Publishers, 1998), 49.

110" See Marjorie Housepian Dobkin, “What Genocide? What Holocaust? News from Turkey, 1915-1923:
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accounts of many diplomats stationed in Turkey at the time can also be found in
government archives.'!?

Yet with the political turmoil in the wake of the war, and the eventual change of
government, this acknowledgement turned to denial. The authoritative voice of law
was subverted. Those convicted were held up as martyrs. What had the potential to
shape the nation turned into a different kind of nation building. New borders of
memory were established, and the past thereby eliminated. It was a failed founda-
tional moment.

(VIII) Political Context of the Trials

The Courts-Martial operated in a period of great internal turmoil. The Ittihad
Party had been defeated, yet continued to operate insurgently. Further, the Civil
Service and the Ministries of War, Interior and Justice, together with the offices of
the Istanbul Police, were dominated by Ittihadists and actively impeded the work
of the Tribunal, including aiding the escape of some prisoners.'”® The enthusiasm
for holding the trials, and arresting suspects, was mixed. With one key escape early
on in the trials, that of Dr Resit Bey, who had been the governor of Diyarbekir and
oversaw the deportation of the Armenians from that province, a special session of
the Chamber was called. The President, Ahmet Riza Bey, convened the session in
the upper house to debate ‘the need for an Imperial Council to end government
indolence, conduct a house-cleaning in the cabinet and give the Sultan some
necessary warnings’.''* Meanwhile, in some provinces, progress was slow, with one
investigating magistrate in Trebizond noting in March 1919, ‘[n]one of my efforts
and none of the work I did produced results™.'"

The change of Grand Vizier from Tevfik Pasa to Damat Ferid Pasa sped up the
trials. As Kevorkian notes, ‘it was under his government that the Young Turks began
to be called to account for their deeds, that arrests were made with greater and greater
frequency, and that the Irtihadist organisations were challenged’.’'® More suspects
were arrested (Ferid Pasa was more willing than his predecessor to accept lists of
suspects from the British), and the first trial was concluded. The Grand Vizier was to
declare that the government’s aim was [t]o show the Victorious Powers that we are
opposed to the policies of the Union and Progress Party, to punish the war crimi-
nals, to eliminate some of those persons loyal to the CUP from the bureaucracy’.!”
There was also a sense that holding the trials was politically pragmatic. Internally, it

12 See Donald E. Miller and Lorna Touryan Miller, Survivors: An Oral History of the Armenian
Genocide (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1993), 18-28.

113 See Dadrian, above n 8, 31 and Dadrian, “The Documentation of the World War I Armenian
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impending arrest, allowing them time to escape: Akcam, above n 12, 291-2. Further, reports of
conditions inside the jails where suspects were kept and a failure at times to arrest suspects showed a
leniency given internally.
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would further discredit the Ittihad Party, and externally, the Allies would perhaps
see that responsibility lay with the Young Turk leadership, not the Turkish people

as a whole. The newspaper Alemdar wrote:

The only thing that would help us is to cry all over the civilised world that we will really
and actually exercise justice over the guilty. If Baghdad Square will not witness the gallows
of the criminals, then Paris [ie the Peace Conference] will become the place of judgement
of our state and nation.''8

In fact, Mehmed VI, the newly appointed Sultan after the war, had, in an interview
with a British correspondent, specifically asked that the following statement be
published: “The great majority of the nation is entirely innocent of the misdeeds
actributed to it. Only a limited number of persons are responsible.”'"”

In establishing the Courts-Martial, the Sultan’s government had thus hoped that
it would demonstrate that it was the Ittihadist Party, not the Turkish nation, that
was responsible for the Armenian massacres, and that the Allies would be lenient
at the Peace Conference.'® It was therefore critical that the trials establish the
systematic manner in which the massacres of the Armenians took place, and allocate
institutional and as well as individual responsibility. The Courts-Martial also opet-
ated as an attempt at consolidation of power by the Sultan and of marginalization of
the Ittihad Party.

Political instability continued throughout the duration of the Courts-Martial.
Trials were halted on 17 May 1919 due to the Greek occupation of Smyrna and
then resumed on 3 June. In the meantime, sixty-four prisoners were removed
by the British to the islands of Mudros and Malta, and forty-one prisoners were
released by the Ottoman government. The Kemalists, led by Mustafa Kemal who
was to be the leader of the new republic of Turkey, were on the ascendancy, in
part fuelled by events such as the occupation of the coastal port of Smyrna by
Greece and the occupation of Istanbul by the British. Damat Ferid Pasa resigned
in September 1919, resulting in a slower pace to the prosecutions again, with trials
deferred, including a prohibition on Armenians returning to their former homes.
When Parliament began sitting on 12 January 1920, almost all of the new deputies
were connected to the emerging Nationalist Movement, leading to a strong chal-
lenge in Parliament to the trials.?! In the face of this Nationalist challenge, and
the inability of the Allies to proceed with partition, the British made the decision
to occupy Istanbul, which they did on 16 March 1920. The Ottoman Parliament
went into recess and a new Parliament was convened in Ankara, in direct challenge
to the Ottoman Parliament and the leadership of Damat Ferid Pasa.'*

118 Cited in Kirakossian, 7he Armenian Genocide, above n 13, 172.

119 Cited in Kirakossian, above n 11, 160. 120 Dadrian, above n 8, 31.

121 See Akgam, above n 12, 298-9.

The government of Damat Ferid Pasa began handing the British names of the leaders of the
Nationalist Movement, as well as putting on trial, through the Courts-Martial, leaders of the
Nationalists—many were sentenced to death iz absentia, including Mustafa Kemal, with four executed
on 12 June 1920 for the attempted assassination of Damat Ferid Pasa. See Ak¢am, above n 12, 350.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



98 Pre-Histories: From von Hagenbach to the Armenian Genocide

(IX) Demise of the Courts-Martial

The ascendancy of Kemalism meant the demise of the Courts-Martial. With the
Treaty of Sévres and the occupation of Istanbul by the British, the Kemalists no
longer tolerated the Courts-Martial trials. As Willis notes, the occupation by
Greece of Smyrna on 15 May 1919 (allowed by the Council of Four) raised fears
that the Allies favoured permanent territorial annexations by Greece, the ancient
enemy of Turkey.!?® This further galvanized the Nationalist Movement led by
Mustafa Kemal against the government of Damad Ferid. It is said to have led
in part to the British taking those in custody to Malta. The Kemalists eventually
overthrew the Sultan’s government in October 1920 and ended the prosecutions
for the genocide of the Armenians.

As the process of supplanting the Sultan’s government and law proceeded, the
Courts-Martial became irrelevant. The British occupation of Istanbul led to
the end of Ferid’s government and a stronger political centre in Ankara led by
the Nationalists. On 29 April 1920, a bill was introduced in the new Kemalist
National Assembly in Ankara to declare the official decisions and decrees of the
Sultan’s Istanbul government null and void. On 7 June 1920, the Ankara govern-
ment enacted Law No. 7, which declared the Istanbul government, its treaties and
agreements, invalid as of 16 March 1920, when the Allies formally occupied the
city and assumed full control of it. On 11 August 1920, the new Kemalist
government in Ankara dissolved the Courts-Martial involving ‘proceedings con-
cerning the deportations’,'** a dissolution that became effective in October 1920
with the demise of Damad Ferid’s cabinet. The President of the Courts-Martial
and three other members were arrested on 14 November for ‘irregularities’ involving
Nusrets death sentence, and on 10 December 1920 the new President began to
release prisoners.'” On 3 January 1921, the Kemalist Ankara government decided
to have its Independence Court supplant the Courts-Martial in the judgment
of the crimes committed in Yozgat (Ankara province). On 13 January 1921, the
full Courts-Martial were abolished. On 25 April 1922, the last cabinet of the last
Grand Vizier was impelled by the Kemalists to declare military tribunals incompe-
tent to try ‘nationalists’, meaning adherents of Kemalism."”* On 11 July 1922, it
was reported in Terciiman-1 Hakikat, a daily newspaper, that the government had
abolished the Courts-Martial.

On 31 March 1923, a general amnesty was announced for all those convicted
by the Courts-Martial as well as by civilian courts.'”” The Military Appeals Court
overturned the 20 July 1920 verdict of the former Governor of Baiburt, Nusret
and declared both Nusret (found guilty and executed in the Baiburt trial) and
Kemal (found guilty and executed in the Yozgat trial) ‘national martyrs. On 25
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December 1920, the Ankara regime enacted Law No. 80/271, allocating a pension
for the family of Nusret. On 14 October 1922, Mehmed Kemal, executed on 10
April 1919 in the Yozgat trial, was proclaimed a ‘National Martyr’ by special legis-
lation enacted by the Turkish Grand National Assembly in Ankara.!?® The Grand
National Assembly held a ten-minute silence to honour the memory of Nusret,
naming a region, a school, and a street in Urfa after him, and a statue of Kemal was
erected in the public square of Bogazhyan.'?

When the Grand Vizier was called to present Turkey’s case before the Council of
Ten on 17 June 1919, he asked for clemency for Turkey, arguing that ‘the great trial
of the Unionists at Constantinople has proved the responsibility of the leaders of the
Committee [for war crimes committed]’.!** His appeals, however, were rebuffed.!?!

His request a short time later to the Allies to force the Germans to extradite Enver,
Talat, and Djemal (Cemal) to Turkey was also denied.'®

(X) Conclusion

The Special Military Tribunal established by the Ottoman state at the end of World
War I, the Courts-Martial, provided a record of the genocide of the Armenians.
In its use of extensive documentary materials and interrogation of key partici-
pants, it provided evidence of the manner in which the genocide was perpetrated.
Following the tradition of the Ottoman state in establishing court-martials, it drew
on established law to address the massacres perpetrated and associated crimes and
clearly addressed them as a crime of state. In one trial, a witness spoke of ‘doing
government business’, and in others, ministers and officials gave evidence that
‘deportation’ in reality meant ‘annihilation’.

The trials were in many ways a pragmatic political response to the situation in
which Turkey found itself in the wake of World War I, particularly the threat of
harsh sanctions. They also located the genocide of the Armenians amongst other
crimes such as bad governance and misappropriation of property. It was hoped that
a response to the massacres would bring some lenience and that this would also
solidify the government in a time of political turmoil. As such, the trials can be
viewed as a project of nation-building and an actempt to establish the parameters
of the post-war Ottoman state. These efforts were impeded by Allied incursions
into Turkey, by a civil service that attempted to boycott the trials, and overall by
an extremely fragile internal political situation. Despite this, the trials provided a
record and, critically, recognition of the genocide orchestrated by the Ottoman
state. While it only succeeded in a few actual sentences that were not in absentia
(which resulted in strong criticism from the Armenian press), it created an official
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record of the genocide, one that was mirrored by political and media commentary
at the time.

The record of these trials, however, was actively buried by the new Turkish state.
They have been largely hidden for years, resurrected mainly by a few scholars with
some access to the archives. Many documents have been destroyed, and the archive
is still largely closed. This has supported Turkey’s insistence for years that the
genocide did not happen. Yet despite these trials being actively hidden by Turkey,
the record of law is something that remains—both to counter the denial and to
provide a record of the genocide. It is a hidden story that can be resurrected. Law
produces records. It is the legitimacy of law, even in fragile political times, that
creates public and authoritative records and acknowledgement.

The Courts-Martial also show the limitations of law—particularly as a record of
history—when this history has been submerged under new nationalist priorities,
such as those of modern-day Turkey. Despite the clear and official acknowledgement
of the genocide provided by the post-war government and as found in the trial
verdicts, denialism has prevailed. The story of both the trials and the genocide has
largely remained hidden. Yet that the records of these trials exist, albeit fragmented
(it is unclear as to how much was destroyed by Turkey), allows for the record to
be upheld. This account provided by law provides some level of accountability.
While the political can subvert the legal record, the legal record remains.
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Justice for No-Land’s Men? The United States
Military Trials against Spanish Kapos in

Mauthausen and Universal Jurisdiction

Rosa Ana Alija-Ferndndez’

(I) Introduction

In 1947, five Spaniards—]Joaquin Espinosa, Laureano Nava, Indalecio Gonzdlez,
Moisés Ferndndez and Domingo Félez!—were tried before United States military
courts in occupied Germany. Their treatment and, in particular, the application of
universal jurisdiction to nationals of neutral states and stateless people, represent
an important ‘untold story’ of the post-war trials and provides an unusual precursor
to the development of universal jurisdiction in general. Their story illustrates also
the effects of the brutalizing industrialized evil implemented by Nazism and the
negative effects of industrialized justice carried out by the Allies at the end of
World War II. Life for inmates in concentration camps—where being a hero or a
villain depended to a great extent on a volatile fate—was too complex for men to
understand and so simplification and silence have become useful tools to absorb
it. As fighting against impunity after World War II was a laudable task, mistakes in
the administration of justice seemed more acceptable. Insignificant as these cases
might have been in the wider context of post-war justice, to shed light on them
now can help both to track the evolution of universal jurisdiction and remind
international criminal lawyers that fighting against impunity after mass atrocities

* Dreur. Lecturer, Universitat de Barcelona. The author wishes to thank Alfons Aragoneses, José
Luis Gonzélez and Sarah Deery for their helpful comments. This research has been carried out as part
of the research project DER2009-10847 (La exigibilidad del Derecho Internacional de los Derechos
Humanos en situaciones de crisis), funded by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation.

! Names in the official documents contain several spelling mistakes. For instance, the correct spelling of
Lauriano Navas should be Laureano Nava, while Indalecio Gonzélez's surname was spelled Gonzaless
in the documentation, and Domingo Félez was called Felix Domingo during the whole proceedings
(although he is correctly named at Joaquin Espinosa’s trial, where he acted as a witness). Here the
proper spellings will be preferred, although the original spelling will be kept when citing the name of
the cases or directly quoting the content of a document.
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requires quantity, but also quality considerations: due process must be upheld as
the only way to prevent injustice and victimization.

Former soldiers in the Spanish Republican Army fighting against Franco’s
fascism, Espinosa, Nava, Gonzdlez, Ferndndez and Félez fled to France after Franco’s
victory, where they joined the fight against Nazism.? Indeed, many veterans from
the Republican Army joined the French Army as members of the Foreign Legion
(Légion étrangére) and the so-called Marching Battalions of Foreign Volunteers
(Bataillons de marche des volontaires érrangers), created between 1939 and 1940, as
well as members of the Companies of Foreign Workers (Compagnies de travailleurs
étrangers).* Those in the Legion and the Battalions (some 15,000 people in total)
were combatants, while some 55,000 people in the Companies worked to fortify
the French defences along the German and Italian borders.’ In the period from 10
May to 20 June 1940, during the invasion of France, around 20,000 Spaniards were
captured by German troops and taken to concentration camps. Mauthausen was
the main destination for Spanish prisoners, to the extent that by 1941 they most
probably represented sixty per cent of the camp’s population.® More than seven
thousand veterans of the Spanish civil war were deported there during World War
IT; around 5,000 of them died due to mistreatment and starvation. Three thousand
more were deported to other camps, like Dachau, Buchenwald, Bergen-Belsen and
even Auschwitz and Treblinka.

Espinosa, Nava, Gonzélez, Ferndndez and Félez were working for the French
Army when they were captured by the Germans and taken first to prisoner-of-war
camps (Stalags)” and later to Mauthausen, from where they were transferred to its
satellite sub-camps (mainly Gusen—both 1 and 2—,Steyr and Wiener-Neudstadt).®
After the liberation of the camp by US troops on 5 May 1945, the five Spaniards
were accused of having held posts as Kapos in Mauthausen and, as a result, appre-
hended and taken to Dachau, where they were tried by military courts on the
basis of their participation in a joint criminal enterprise. Kapos were inmates

2 Many Spaniards fought in the European battlefields, both with the Allies and beside the Axis
troops. The last ones were integrated into the so-called ‘Blue Division” (Division Azul or Spanische
Blaue Division), a hybrid military unit, somewhere between a regular unit of the Spanish Army and
a voluntary unit (Emilio Sdenz Francés, Entre La antorcha y la esvdstica: Franco en la encrucijada de la
Segunda Guerra Mundial (Madrid: Actas, 2009), 88), that was sent to support the German efforts in
the new Russian front.

3 Luis Reyes, Espanoles en la Segunda Guerra Mundial (Madrid: Aldaba Ediciones SA, 1990), 11.

4 Most of those Companies, created in 1939 to solve the issue of the thousands of exiled republicans
arriving in France, were sent to the Maginot Line and to the French-Belgian border, some were sent
to the Alps and the rest were distributed throughout France.

> Eduardo Pons Prades, E/ Holocausto de los republicanos espanoles: Vida y muerte en los campos de
exterminio alemanes (1940—1945) (Barcelona: Belacqva, 2005), 41.

¢ David Wingeate Pike, Spaniards in the Holocaust: Mauthausen, the Horror on the Danube (New York,
NY: Routledge, 2000), 12.

7 However, it seems that neither Spaniards in the Companies nor in the French army were granted
prisoner-of-war (POW) status during their staying in Stalags, but instead they were treated as anti-Nazi
elements: Reyes, above n 3, 11-13. Butsee Benito Bermejo and Sandra Checa, Libro Memorial: Esparioles
deportados a los campos nazis (1940—1945) (Madrid: Ministerio de Cultura, 20006), 17-19.

8 For a list of sub-camps see Mauthausen Memorial [website], <http://en.mauthausen-memorial.at/
index_open.php> (accessed 24 February 2013).
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appointed by the SS to command work details (Kommandos). They were usually
selected because of their physical condition, but they were also sometimes chosen
because of their expertise concerning the tasks the team was meant to carry out.
Frequently mistreated by the SS, many chose sadism against fellow inmates as a
strategy to survive, while others used their position to protect other inmates from
excessive abuse.” Victims and tormentors at once, they were highly controversial
figures inside the camps whose very existence served to destroy social ties among
prisoners. '

Several objections can be made to the way proceedings were carried out, par-
ticularly in relation to process standards. Although military courts had general
jurisdiction over crimes committed in the zone of occupation under the control
of the United States, the fact that Spain had been a neutral state during the war
generated some hesitation concerning their authority to try the five men. The juris-
dictional question was finally answered in the affirmative, based on the principle of
universal jurisdiction, among other grounds. In this chapter it is argued that this
instance marks the first time universal jurisdiction was invoked to try nationals of
a neutral country, or even stateless people—given the very particular circumstances
surrounding Spanish Republicans in concentration camps—for war crimes. To that
end, section II offers an overview of the legal and jurisdictional framework of the
Dachau trials that determined the scope of the indictment and the trials against
the five Spaniards. Section III focuses on whether the alleged neutrality of Spain
during World War II acted as an obstacle to their prosecution and whether invoking
universal jurisdiction was thus needed or—as it seems—whether relying on such
a jurisdictional ground was more of a precautionary measure than a real problem
of lack of jurisdiction. Section IV argues that this was the first time that such a
ground was invoked to try stateless people, as in practice Spanish Republicans were
completely neglected by Franco’s government, who considered them not to be
Spaniards (nor did they receive any protection from any other country).

(II) US Military Courts’ Trials over the Joint Criminal
Enterprise in the Concentration Camp Mauthausen

Proceedings before US military courts in Dachau were authorized by Joint Chiefs
of Staff Directive 1023/10 of 8 July 1945 (JCS 1023/10),'" which instructed the

% Falk Pingel, ‘Social life in an unsocial environment. The inmates™ struggle for survival’, in Jane
Caplan and Nikolaus Wachsmann (eds), Concentration Camps in Nazi Germany: The New Histories
(New York, NY: Routledge, 2010), 59.

!9 On the role and position of the Kapos at concentration camps, see Eugen Kogon, Sociologia de
los campos de concentracion (Madrid: Taurus, 1965), 106-8; Wolfgang Sofsky, 7he Order of Terror:
The Concentration Camp (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1993), 132; Vincenzo and Luigi
Pappalettera, Los S.S. tienen la palabra. Las leyes del campo de Mauthausen reveladas por las Schutz-Staffeln
(Barcelona: Laia, 1969), 31.

! Joint Chiefs of Staff, Directive on the Identification and Apprehension of Persons Suspected of War
Crimes or Other Offenses and Trial of Certain Offenders, 1023/10 (JCS 1023/10). Draft in Telford
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commanders in chief of the Allies’ occupation forces to identify and apprehend
persons suspected of war crimes or other offences in their respective zones.'"
It further stipulated that the courts would have jurisdiction ratione materiae over
(a) atrocities and offences against persons or property constituting violations of
international law, including the laws, rules and customs of land and naval warfare;
(b) initiation of invasions of other countries and of wars of aggression in violation
of international laws and treaties; and (c) other atrocities and offences, including
atrocities and persecutions on racial, religious or political grounds, committed
since 30 January 1933."

Regarding their jurisdiction ratione personae, the directive specified that the
term ‘criminal’ was meant to include all persons, ‘without regard to their nationality
or capacity in which they acted, who have committed any of the aforementioned
crimes’, including those who (a) had been accessories to the perpetration of such
crimes; (b) had taken a consenting part therein; (c) had been connected with plans
or enterprises involving their commission; or (d) had been members of organizations
or groups connected with the commission of such crimes.'*

JCS 1023/10 was the jurisdictional basis for the US trials over crimes perpetrated
at concentration camps in Germany and Austria. Among these trials, two categories
can be distinguished: (1) the so-called ‘parent cases’, that is to say the initial trials
against the main leaders in the administration of each concentration camp whose
personnel were in US custody; and (2) the ‘subsequent cases’ against any other
official or employee involved in the criminal enterprise that each camp was found
to be. The trials against the five Spaniards fell into the latter category.

(1) The parent case: US v Altfuldisch et al

The parent-case system was intended to facilitate expeditious proceedings: an
initial trial concerning one concentration camp was held, and the findings in the
case were then used to try other participants in the camp in subsequent trials ‘without
having to re-establish the evidence’.’ The US military courts sitting in Dachau
held six concentration camp trials.'® The one concerning the Concentration Camp
Mauthausen, US v Altfuldisch et al, took place in the spring of 1946 and involved

Taylor, Final Report to the Secretary of the Army on the Nuernberg War Crimes Trials Under Control
Council Law No 10 (Washington DC: Government Printing Office, 1949), 244-5.

12 The general authority for criminal procedures against war criminals in Europe, though, is to be
found in the Moscow Declaration of 1 November 1943. JCS 1023/10 was later used as the basis for
Control Council Law No 10: Taylor, above n 11, 244.

13 JCS 1023/10, [2].

14 Exceptionally, only persons who had held high political, civil or military (including General Staff)
positions in Germany or in one of its allies, co-belligerents or satellites, or in the financial, industrial
or economic life of any of these countries, were considered to be accountable for invasions and wars
of aggression: /CS 1023/10, [2].

5 Tomaz Jardim, The Mauthausen Trial: American Military Justice in Germany (Cambridge, MA:
Harvard University Press, 2012), 49.

!¢ Concentration Camps Dachau, Buchenwald, Flossenbiirg, Mauthausen, Mittelbau-Dora/Nordhausen
and Miihldorf.
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sixty-one defendants accused of having committed war crimes. In this case, besides
the findings as to the charges and particulars, the court also entered the following
‘special findings’:"”

¢ Concentration Camp Mauthausen was essentially a criminal enterprise.
y

* It was impossible for anyone to be employed at or present in the camp without
acquiring definite knowledge of the criminal practices.

* Every military or civil employee or official connected with the camp, regardless
of his capacity, was guilty of the crime of violating the laws and usages of
war.!8
Given the finding that the mass atrocities which took place at the camp were crimi-
nal in nature and that those involved in them acted in pursuance of a common
design, military courts trying subsequent proceedings linked to the parent case
were directed to presume—subject to rebuttal by appropriate evidence—that those
shown by competent evidence to have participated in the mass atrocity knew of
the criminal nature of that enterprise."

The Deputy Judge Advocate for War Crimes stated that such special findings
were ‘no attempt to sentence any individuals as a result of a trial “in absentia”’.%
Equally, if additional participants were brought to trial for their complicity in
the mass atrocity, that would not mean ‘they have been previously tried because
of these findings’.?! Instead, they would have an opportunity to show that
they were not in Mauthausen. However, the fact that the special findings were
used to establish guilt in further proceedings regarding crimes perpetrated in
Mauthausen imposed on the defendants the burden of proof—indeed probatio
diabolica (‘devil’s proof’)—of their own innocence,? as they would have had to
show that:

[T]hey were not in the Mauthausen Concentration Camp, that, if they were there, they did
not know of the criminal nature of the operation, or that, if they did participate with know-
ledge of the criminal nature of the operation, the nature and extent of their participation was
negligible and that the criminal operation was not encouraged, maintained, or furthered to
any substantial degree by such negligible participation.?

'7"A court-martial ‘may characterise or explain the finding, (or sentence,) or accompany it with
animadversions, recommendations or other remarks: William Winthrop, Military Law and Precedents
(Washington DC: Government Printing Office, 2nd edn, 1920), 385.

8 US v Hans Altfuldisch (Review and Recommendations) (Deputy Judge Advocate’s Office, 7708
War Crimes Group, European Command, APO 178, Case No 000-50-5, March 1946) (Altfuldisch
Review), 4: ‘any official, governmental, military or civil, whether he be a member of the Waffen SS,
Allgemeine SS, or any guard, or civil employee, in any way in control of or stationed at or engaged in
the operation of the Concentration Camp Mauthausen, or any or all of its by-camps in any manner
whatsoever, is guilty of crimes against the recognized laws, customs, and practices of civilized nations
and the letter and spirit of the laws and usages of war, and by reason thereof is to be punished’.

19 Letter of the Theatre Commander, Mass Atrocity Subsequent Proceedings, 14 October 1946, file
AG 000.5 WCR-AGO, subject: “Trial of War Crimes Cases’, US Forces, European Theatre, [12].

2 Altfuldisch Review, above n 18, 17. 2 Altfuldisch Review, above n 18, 17-18.

22 Jardim, above n 15, 49. % Altfuldisch Review, above n 18, 18.
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Such reasoning by the Deputy Judge Advocate implied an extremely rigid
application of the common design charge, for it failed to take into consideration
how a person came to be present in the camp, and did not discriminate between those
who were military or civilian officials in the Nazi system and those who were inmates
in the camp. This led in 1951 to a review by War Crimes Board of Review No. 1 in
the case against Karl Horcicka and others (Case No. 000-50-5-32), where it was
held that an accused who was neither a member of the Waffen SS, Allegemeine
SS, a guard, or a civil employee’ nor ‘a governmental, military or civil official of
the camp’ was not within the class of persons presumed to be guilty by their mere
presence there.?

(2) The trials against the ‘Spanish Kapos’

The trialsagainst the so-called ‘Spanish Kapos’ were among the subsequent cases; they
targeted officials, guards and civil employees, who might have participated in the
day-to-day operations of the Concentration Camp Mauthausen or any of its sub-
camps. According to the special findings in the parent case, their culpability for
crimes against the laws and usages of the law was understood to be based on their
knowledge of the criminal acts that took place in the camp.

The presumption of having participated in a joint criminal enterprise is evident
in the charge sheet, which is remarkably vague by today’s standards. All five of the
defendants were accused of violations of the laws and usages of war. In the case against
Espinosa, three particular incidents formed the basis of the charges:*®

* A killing of two or more non-German Nationals, inmates of the Gusen I

Concentration Camp, the exact names and numbers of such persons being

> . . 1 .11 5 . ¢ . . >

unknown’ (the qualification of ‘killing’ was later substituted for ‘mistreating
by the court);?

* ‘Assaults upon approximately ten non-German Nationals, inmates of the
Gusen I Concentration Camp, the exact names and numbers of such persons
being unknown’ (again, modifications to this charge were made by the court,
which decided to disregard the specific number of ten victims);”

* Assaults upon two or more non-German Nationals, inmates of the Gusen 2
Concentration Camp, the exact names and numbers of such persons being
unknown’.

In spite of all the ‘unknown’ information, these charges referred, to some extent,
to specific criminal behaviours and incidents. That represents a very high level of

2 US v Karl Horcicka et al (War Crimes Board of Review No. 1) (Office of the Judge Advocate,
Headquarters, European Command, Case No 0000-50-5-32, 30 April 1948) (Horcicka Review), 2.

5 US v Joaquin Espinosa (Review and Recommendations) (Deputy Judge Advocate’s Office, 7708 War
Crimes Group, European Command, APO 407, Case No 000-Mauthausen-19, 28 January 1948),
(Espinosa Review), 1.

2 US v Joaquin Espinosa (Trial) (Military Government Court, Case No 000-Mauthausen-19, 9-12
May 1947) 718 (Espinosa Trial).

2 Espinosa Trial, above n 26, 8/8.
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precision compared to the charges in the case against Laureano Nava and others,
where the defendants were charged with having wrongfully encouraged, aided,
abetted, and participated in the subjection of non-German nationals ‘to killings,
beatings, tortures, starvation, abuses, and indignities, the exact names and numbers
of such persons being unknown, but aggregating thousands’, acting in pursuance of
a common design to do so0.?® The only particulars in the indictment were the places
where the charged acts had taken place (‘at or in the vicinity of the Mauthausen
Concentration Camp, at Castle Hartheim, and at or in the vicinity of the
Mauthausen Sub-camps’), the time frame (‘at various and sundry times between
January 1, 1942, and May 5, 1945’) and the victims’ potential nationality, origin
or status.”’ Beyond that, no particulars were provided.

Proceedings took place in Dachau. The trial against Joaquin Espinosa was held
from 9-12 May 1947, while the trial against Laureano Navas, Indalecio Gonzilez,
Moisés Ferndndez and Domingo Félez was held from 14-21 July 1947. Being
subsequent trials concerning the criminal operation carried out in Mauthausen,
the law to be applied in the two cases was to be subject to the special findings in
the parent case. The defence therefore had the burden of proving that these men
were not aware of the criminal nature of the operation carried out in Mauthausen
(rather improbable given that they were themselves inmates in the camp, although
some statements in the records indicate that lack of knowledge might have been
considered a potential line of defence®) or that the nature and extent of their
participation was negligible and in no way encouraged, maintained, or furthered
the criminal operation. Neither the fact that they themselves were victims of the
Nazi system nor the potential impact of the harsh living conditions on their behaviour
were considered as a mitigating, if not exonerating, factor. Indeed, in his closing argu-
ment in US v Lauriano Navas, the Prosecutor took for granted that the defendants
had been chosen as Kapos due to their criminal nature,* and superior orders was
not a valid defence here for in most of the cases the capo [sic] was in complete
charge of the detail as far as punishment was concerned’.” Instead, the defence
counsel, while assuming that Kapos were criminal prisoners, claimed that there was
no evidence that the accused ‘were criminals before they were put in a concentration
camp by the German authorities’.” Therefore, the whole discussion was focused

2 US v Lauriano Navas (Review and Recommendations) (Deputy Judge Advocate’s Office, 7708 War
Crimes Group, European Command, APO 407, Case No 000-50-5-25, 14 January 1948) (Navas
Review), 1.

2 ‘Poles, Frenchmen, Greeks, Jugoslavs, Citizens of the Soviet Union, Norwegians, Danes, Belgians,
Citizens of the Netherlands, Citizens of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, Turks, British Subjects,
stateless persons, Czechs, Chinese, Citizens of the United States of America, and other non-German
nationals who were then and there in the custody of the then German Reich, and members of the
armed forces of nations then at war with the then German Reich who were then and there surrendered
and unarmed prisoners of war in the custody of the then German Reich’: Navas Review, n 28 above.

3 See US v Lauriano Navas (Trial) (Military Government Court, Case No 000-50-5-25, 14-21
July 1947) 13/3 (Navas Trial) (testimony by Indalecio Gonzélez stating that he had never heard from
anyone in the camp that someone beat prisoners to death).

31 Navas Trial, above n 30, 16/2 (Prosecutor’s closing argument).

32 Navas Trial, above n 30, 16/4.

3 Navas Trial, above n 30, 16/4 (Defense Counsel’s closing argument).
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on the determination whether they would fit in the definition of Kapos as criminal
prisoners.

Furthermore, the cases do not seem to have been especially scrupulous regarding
basic due process standards. Particularly controversial was the issue of language, as none
of the defendants had a good command of either English or German, so translation
into Spanish was needed. Among those appointed as translators was a court reporter
who claimed that her Spanish was not good enough to perform as a translator in a
trial where the death penalty might be applied.* During the trials, it became evident
that written declarations were not always made or read in a language that the
witnesses and/or the defendants could understand.?® There were also complaints
regarding the ‘professionalism’ of some witnesses,*® as well as about the fact that,
after witnesses’ depositions, visitors attending the trials were leaking to other
witnesses information about what was going on in the room.*” Moisés Ferndndez
even claimed he had been mistreated during the interrogatories after his refusal to
plead guilty to two killings.?*

Such anomalies could probably have been avoided if Spain had become involved
in these trials. However, there is no evidence that the Spanish government either
showed any interest in the course of the proceedings or that the United States
informed the Spanish authorities about them. That lack of communication is in
no way surprising, given that Spain was clearly much more sympathetic to the
Axis States than to the Allies. In any case, the aforementioned irregularities did not
stop the courts finding four of the men (Espinosa, Nava, Ferndndez and Gonzélez)
guilty of the charge of violation of the laws and usages of the law, acting in pursu-
ance of the common design that had already been established in the parent case.’

All four admitted during the trial to having performed duties either as Oberkapo,
Kapo or assistant Kapo.*’ Joaquin Espinosa was specifically accused of several inci-
dents —including beatings allegedly resulting in death while acting as an assistant
Kapo (1942-1943) and a Kapo (1944—1945) in the ‘potatoes detail’ in Gusen. But
evidence was not sufficient to prove the most serious charges, so, in order to adjust
the charges to the proven facts, the court modified the wording of the indict-
ment by replacing the original reference to ‘killing’ with ‘mistreating’, although

3 The Washington Post published a letter to the editor signed with her name, criticizing ‘the callous
unconcern whether [the Spaniards] understood the proceedings’ and her assignment as a translator
in the Lauriano Navas case: Eve Fridell Hawkins, ‘Ilse Koch', 7he Washington Post, 27 September
1948, 12. However, inquiries on this issue concluded that she had never expressed any protest at the
time of her appointment or during the trial: letter from Colonel J.L. Harbaugh, Judge Advocate, to
Chief, War Crimes Branch, Civil Affairs Division, Department of the Army Special Staff, Request for
Information (US v Lauriano Navas et al, Case No. 000-50-5-25), October 1948, 3.

% See Navas Trial, above n 30, 4/15 (testimony by Pedro Gémez, witness for the Prosecution) and
11/15-11/16 (testimony by Moisés Ferndndez, defendant), Espinosa Trial, above n 26, 6/14-6/15.

36 Navas Trial, above n 30, 14/6. 57 Nawvas Trial, above, n 30, 4/1.

38 Navas Trial, above, n 30, 11/16.

3 According to the Orders on Review, the specific offence committed was ‘participation in
Mauthausen Concentration Camp mass atrocity’.

4 Navas Trial, above, n 30, 11/11 (Ferndndez), 13/11 (Gonzélez), 14/14 (Navas). As for Joaquin
Espinosa, see Espinosa Trial, above n 26, 6/6.
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according to the prosecutor such a crime did not exist.*! Espinosa received a
three-year sentence commencing on 5 May 1945, at Landsberg war crimes prison.

Indalecio Gonzélez, aka ‘Astoria’ or ‘Asturias’, was accused of having been an
Oberkapo who often beat prisoners, sometimes to death. He was sentenced to
death, and, although many petitions of clemency were received from the Spanish
Republican government in exile, he was hanged on 2 February 1949.

Laureano Nava was accused of having regularly beaten inmates while performing
duties as an assistant Kapo. Two prisoners were alleged to have died as a result of
the hard beatings, in spite of the fact that Nava was crippled in his right hand due
to a wound he had received in the Spanish Civil War. Sentenced to life imprisonment,
he requested a revision of the sentence. His lawyer proved that life imprisonment
had been based on the testimony of just two witnesses.*> In 1951 his sentence was
reduced to time served and he was released on 18 January 1952.

Moisés Ferndndez, aka ‘César’ or ‘Caesar’, was accused of having been an assistant
Kapo and having mistreated prisoners, allegedly causing the death of one of them.
He was sentenced to twenty years' imprisonment. Without the advice of a lawyer, he
put all his efforts into getting his case reviewed. In 1951 the sentence was reduced
to fifteen years on the basis that there was not enough evidence to support the sen-
tence. The Judge Advocate had supported a reduction after finding that Ferndndez
had committed, at best, a minor assault, which made the sentence excessive, con-
sidering the case as a whole and comparing it to similar cases.”® Attention was also
paid to his delicate health (he suffered from tuberculosis). Ferndndez died on 24
June 1952, before being released.

Domingo Félez, who had worked as a camp barber, was accused of marking
the inmates with letters that would indicate whether they were to be sent to the
crematory or to the gas chamber and of having struck an inmate once. He was
initially sentenced by the court to two years’ imprisonment (commencing 13 May
1945), but immediately released (on 28 July 1947), as he had already been in
prison for longer than the sentence period. Some months later, in January 19438,
the Deputy Judge reviewing the case considered the evidence insuflicient to show
that he had encouraged the common design or participated therein. Upon his
recommendation, the sentence was disapproved.®

4 Espinosa Trial, above n 26, 8/8.

2 US v Lauriano Navas (Review of the War Crimes Branch—Accused: Lauriano Navas) (Office of
the Judge Advocate, Headquarters, European Command, Case No 0000-50-5-25, 18 April 1951),
[4.b.2].

% In the report, the reviewing officer also recalled the aforementioned doctrine established by the
War Crimes Board of Review at US v Karl Horcicka—stating that the mere presence in the camp of the
alleged perpetrator, irrespective of his position there, was not enough to presume his guilt: Horcicka
Review, above n 24, 2—(US v Lauriano Navas (Review of the War Crimes Branch—-Accused: Ferndndez,
Moisés) (Judge Advocate Division, Headquarters, European Command, AFO 403, US Army, Case No
0000-50-5-25, 18 April 1951), [3.a.2]). Although no further indication as to whether Ferndndez fell
into one of the categories to which the presumption of guilt should apply, it might have influenced
the recommendation to reduce the sentence.

#“ Memorandum from AG 383 JAG to Director, War Criminal Prison, Release of prisoner in the
Case of the United States v Lauriano Navas, et al (Case No. 000-50-5-25), 15 March 1948.

% Navas Review, above n 28, 10.
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(IIT) The Trials against the ‘Spanish Kapos’:
A Challenge to US Military Courts’ Jurisdiction?

The trials against Joaquin Espinosa, on the one hand, and Laureano Nava, Indalecio
Gonzélez, Moisés Ferndndez as well as Domingo Félez, on the other hand, hold a
special interest because, not being nationals of an enemy country but of a neutral
state, they challenged the jurisdiction of the military courts.

However, whether Spain was a neutral country during World War II is a matter
of opinion. Indeed, Franco’s Nationalist regime formally adopted a position of
neutrality at the beginning of World War II, formalized in two agreements signed
as early as December 1936 with Italy and in March 1939 with Germany. But
when a German victory became likely, belligerence was considered by the Spanish
government, as a means to satisfy certain territorial aspirations.® In 1940, after
the defeats of the Netherlands and Belgium, Spain changed its neutral status into
one of ‘non-belligerence’, a qualified form of neutrality that in practice was a status
prior to belligerence.?” This concept was invented by Mussolini in 1939 to express
Italy’s support (short of participation in the war) for Germany.*® Only the German
refusal to meet the conditions imposed by Franco’s government in order for Spain
to fight by Germany’s side prevented Spain from taking the further step towards
belligerence. Later on, when the United States entered the war and it became obvi-
ous that this could have a negative effect on the Spanish interests,” a clear position
from Spain was needed: either join the Axis or adopt genuine neutrality.”® To that
end, on 1 October 1943, Franco announced in a speech that Spain had returned
to ‘watchful neutrality’.’!

% Franco’s government hoped that in exchange Germany would help Spain to expel the British
from Gibraltar and to expand in Northern Africa. See Rafael Garcia Pérez, Deuda, Comercio y Nuevo
Orden: Espana y el Tercer Reich durante la Segunda Guerra Mundial (1939—1945) (Madrid: Ed. de la
Universidad Complutense de Madrid, 1993), 291-3; Juan Carlos Jiménez Redondo, La politica
espafola en los anos de la Il Guerra Mundial’, Bulletin d’Histoire Contemporaine de ['Espagne, 22
(1995), 30. Plans were even made to invade Portugal, sce Gustau Nerin and Alfred Bosch, E/ imperio
que nunca existio. La aventura colonial discutida en Hendaya (Barcelona: Plaza & Janés, 2001), 41,
49; Manuel Ros Agudo, La gran tentacién: Franco, el imperio colonial y los planes de intervencion en la
Segunda Guerra Mundial (Barcelona: Styria, 2008), 269-79.

47 Manuel Espadas Burgos, Franquismo y politica exterior (Madrid: Rialp, 1987), 92. The practice
concerning non-belligerence during the Second World War is discussed at 92-5.

4 Edward R. Cumming, “The evolution of the notion of neutrality in modern armed conflicts’,
Military Law and Law of War Review, 17 (1978), 48.

4 'The participation of the United States meant increasing economical restrictions, a higher external
pressure over Franco’s government and the possibility of the Allies attacking the Atlantic islands with-
out Spain having means of defence: Jiménez Redondo, above n 46, 32-3.

50 Jiménez Redondo, above n 46, 32.

>! Angeles Egido Leén, Franco y la Segunda Guerra Mundial. Una neutralidad comprometida,
Ayer, 57 (2005), 122.
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(1) Overcoming Spanish ‘neutrality’ through universal jurisdiction

Debatable as it may be, Spanish ‘neutrality’ during World War II seems to have
caused some uneasiness in the Deputy Judge Advocate Office in charge of reviewing
the sentences and recommending them for approval. Even though the question
had not been raised by the defence in the trials, the review officer considered that
the jurisdictional problem merited discussion. The following argument was made:

War criminals, brigands, and pirates are the common enemies of all mankind and all
nations have an equal interest in their apprehension and punishment for their violations
of international law. Concerning this question...every independent state has the judicial
power to punish ‘piracy and other offenses against the common law of nations, by whom-
soever and wheresoever committed’.”

According to this reasoning, these cases were to be seen as typical examples of
universal jurisdiction exercised by a state in absence of any direct link with a crime
perpetrated neither in the territory of the judging authority nor by or against
nationals of that state.”® Given that war crimes were delicta juris gentium, whose
punishment was an issue of general interest to any country, all states had the juris-
diction to try and punish them.

There are some precedents for this in the aftermath of World War I1.>* The earliest
examples, though, concern German defendants or nationals of Axis States, as in the
Hadamar trial (8-15 October 1945), the Dachau parent case (15 November—13
December 1945), the Almelo trial (24-26 November 1945), and the Zyklon B case
(1-8 March 1946).

The Hadamar trial took place before a United States Military Commission
sitting at Wiesbaden (Germany). The defendants, German nationals, were accused
of having taken part in the deliberate killing, by injection of poisonous drugs, of
hundreds of Polish and Soviet nationals in a sanatorium in Hadamar, Germany.
Despite the fact that the crimes had been perpetrated by non-United States nationals,
outside United States territory, and against non-United States nationals, the Military
Commission decided to assume jurisdiction in the case. One of the reasons adduced
to take such decision was:

[TThe general doctrine recently expounded and called ‘universality of jurisdiction over war
crimes, . .. according to which every independent State has, under International Law, juris-
diction to punish not only pirates but also war criminals in its custody, regardless of the
nationality of the victim or of the place where the offence was committed, particularly
where, for some reason, the criminal would otherwise go unpunished.>

52 Navas Review, above n 28, 9. See also Espinosa Review, above n 25, 6.

53 Marc Henzelin, Le principe de luniversalité en droit pénal international. Droit et obligation pour
les états de poursuivre et juger selon le principe de l'universalité (Basel/Geneva/Brussels: Helbing &
Lichtenhahn/Faculté de Droit de Genéve/Bruylant, 2000), 29.

54 Henzelin, above n 53, 407.

> US v Alfons Klein (Trial) 1945, 1 War Crimes Law Reports 46, 53 (US Military Commission
appointed by the Commanding General Western Military District, USFET) (Hadamar Trial).
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This main reasoning was further supported by two other arguments: the United
States’ direct interest in punishing crimes against nationals of its allies, and the
assumption of its local sovereignty in the United States zone of occupation (therefore
deriving its jurisdiction both from the principle of territoriality and the principle
of active personality).

The principle of universal jurisdiction was also mentioned in the Dachau camp
trial to justify the jurisdiction of the United States military court over crimes against
non-members of its forces that had been committed before the United States took
control over the territory where they had been perpetrated.*® In this case, two of the
defendants were non-German (Johann Schoepp, a Romanian, and Dr Fridolin Karl
Puhr, an Austrian),” but that fact was not taken into consideration when invoking
the principle.

As far as the Almelo trial and the Zyklon B case are concerned, both took place
before British courts, sitting in Almelo, The Netherlands, and Hamburg, Germany,
respectively. In the Almelo trial, four German nationals were tried for the extra-
judicial killing of a British prisoner of war and of a Dutch civilian, as well as espionage
and war treason. The jurisdiction of the British court was established once more
on the basis of universal jurisdiction over war crimes.”® The universal jurisdiction
argument was again supplemented by the principle of the direct interest of the
judging state, British sovereignty over its zone of occupation, and the active per-
sonality principle. The Zyklon B case involved three German nationals accused of
supplying poison gas used to kill Allied nationals (although seemingly non-British)
interned in concentration camps, knowing that the gas was to be so used. Unlike
in the Hadamar and the Almelo trials, the main argument put forward to establish
British jurisdiction was British local sovereignty over its zone of occupation
(active personality and territoriality). Universal jurisdiction was in this case a
supplementary ground for jurisdiction, together with the state’s direct interest in
punishing the crimes perpetrated against Allied nationals.”

To be sure, there had been trials of neutral countries’ nationals, but no arguments
were made regarding universal jurisdiction. For instance, in the first Ravensbriick
trial, a Swiss citizen, Carmen Mory, was sentenced to death by a British military
court sitting in Hamburg.® However, the court did not invoke universal jurisdiction.
The most probable reason for this seems to have been that no complaints were
expected to be lodged by the Swiss government which was perfectly aware of the
steps taken in the proceedings against Mory. A report by Captain John Sigrid da
Cunha describing a meeting with a representative of the Swiss Ministry of Justice

¢ US v Martin Gottfried Weiss (Review of Proceeding of General Military Court) (Office of Judge
Advocate, Third US Army and Eastern Military District, Case No. 000-50-2, 15 November—
13 December 1945) (Weiss Review), 140.

57 (Weiss Review), above n 56, 2.

8 Prosecutor v Otto Sandrock (Trial) 1945, 1 War Crimes Law Reports 35, 42 (British Military
Court for the Trial of War Criminals, Court House, Almelo, Holland).

59" Prosecutor v Bruno Tesch (Trial) 1946, 1 War Crimes Law Reports 93, 103 (British Military Court,
Hamburg).

0 Prosecutor v Johan Schwarzhiiber (Trial) (Military Court held at No. 1 War Crimes Court,
Curiohaus, Rothenbaumhaussee, Hamburg, 5 December 19463 February 1947).
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supports this. According to Captain da Cunha, the Swiss government did not
object to Mory’s trial and sentence. Given the serious nature of the crimes alleged,
it was not ‘desired in any way to use diplomatic influence or action with a view to
actively intervening in the legal process’.®!

At least two more trials against Spaniards took place in France in 1947, just
weeks before the trial against Espinosa started. In neither trial was the problem of
jurisdiction raised. The first one was the trial of José Palleja Caralt by a military
court in Toulouse. Palleja Caralt was found guilty of having committed espionage.
According to the court, inasmuch as he had worked as a Kapo, he had been feed-
ing intelligence to Germany with a view to favouring its enterprises against France
(‘en vue de favoriser les entreprises de cette puissance contre la France'), in particular
by imposing over the inmates an inhumane work that benefited the enemy and
caused the death of many Frenchmen. He was sentenced to death on 11 March
1947.%2 The second trial, on 25 April 1947, saw Gregorio Lendinez Montes face
a military court in Paris on charges of murder and ill-treatment. Lendinez was
acquitted of all the charges.®® The records of Palleja’s appeal proceedings before the
Cour de Cassation show that the issue of his Spanish nationality was not contro-
versial.® Actually, the court held that crimes against the security of the state could
be perpetrated both by members of the French Army and by foreigners serving in
the army, according to a decree-law of 29 July 1939.9

In view of these precedents, it can be concluded that the ‘Spanish Kapos’ trials seem
to have combined for the first time neutrality and universal jurisdiction regarding
war crimes.

(2) A real need to invoke universal jurisdiction?

The interest that these two trials may have in tracking the history of universal
jurisdiction increases when one considers that there was no call for universal juris-
diction to legitimate the authority of US military courts to try the five Spaniards.
To begin with, JCS 1023/10 provided that anybody who had committed any of
the listed crimes was considered to be a criminal, regardless of his or her nationality.
It imposed no Axis nationality requirement for alleged war criminals. This did not

¢! Record of negotiations with regard to the trial of Carmen Mory, Capt. ].W. da Cunha, 4 September
1946 (UK National Archives, file WO 309/684). The representative of the Swiss Ministry of Justice
would have further expressed gratitude on the part of the Political Department of the Foreign Office
for the correctness of the British attitude in contacting and informing about the details and facts
of the forthcoming trial of a Swiss citizen, ‘thus avoiding in advance the possibility of diplomatic
repercussions’.

2 Prosecutor v José Palleja Caralt (Trial) (Tribunal Militaire Permanent de la 5¢éme Région, Toulouse,
25 April 1947).

& Prosecutor v Gregorio Lendinez Montes (Trial) (2éme Tribunal Militaire Permanent de Paris,
25 April 1947).

4 Prosecutor v José Palleja Caralt (Appeal) (Cour de Cassation de Paris, 23 July 1947), 1.

% Décret-loi portant codification des dispositions relatives aux crimes et délits contre la sireté extérieure

de I’Etat, 29 July 1939.
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go unnoticed by the Deputy Judge Advocate, who after invoking universal jurisdiction
in his review of the sentence, added that:

Military Government Courts have jurisdiction over the nationals of any country who are in
the United States Zone of Occupation, except as to certain classes of American and other
nationals, e.g., military personnel, which are not pertinent to the jurisdictional questions
here involved. Concerning jurisdiction over war crimes, no limitation is imposed.®

Theoretically, there also existed a number of additional grounds that could have
been used to justify the jurisdiction of US courts in these cases. For instance, juris-
diction could have been based on ‘the right of a belligerent, on the total breakdown
of the enemy owing to debellatio, to take over the entire powers of the latter, including
the power to make laws and to conduct trials’.” Such a power was assumed by the
four Allied powers occupying Germany in the ‘Declaration regarding the defeat of
Germany and the assumption of supreme authority with respect to Germany by
the Governments of the United States of America, the Union of Soviet Socialist
Republics, the United Kingdom and the Provisional Government of the French
Republic’, made in Betlin on 5 June 1945. As indicated above, the local sovereignty
of the Allied powers over each of their respective zones of occupation was one of
the reasons given to support British and US jurisdiction to try war criminals in the
Hadamar and Almelo trials, as well as in the Zyklon B case. Such special sovereignty
would have allowed them to prosecute crimes perpetrated in their zone of occu-
pation according to the principle of territoriality. A further reason cited in the
aforementioned cases which could have applied in the ‘Spanish Kapos’ cases was
the theory of the direct interest. This theory was adduced in the Hadamar trial to
justify the jurisdiction of a US military commission over crimes against non-US
nationals which were not committed in the US territory nor by US nationals.
As already mentioned,® the military commission answered in the affirmative not
only on the basis of universal jurisdiction over war crimes and the assumption of
supreme authority in Germany by the four Allied powers after debellatio, but also
the direct interest that the United States (and mutatis mutandi every Allied state)
had in punishing the perpetrators of crimes committed against nationals of allies
‘engaged in a common struggle against a common enemy’.%’

Finally, a slightly more convoluted basis for jurisdiction was the nationality of
the victims in Mauthausen. As the charges in Altfuldisch and Lauriano Navas indi-
cate, there were US citizens among the inmates in the camp. While this became
the core argument in favour of the military court’s jurisdiction in the parent case,”
in the ‘Spanish Kapos™ cases direct victims of the specific crimes committed were
not US nationals. However, in the same manner as guilt was established as a con-
sequence of the participation in the joint criminal enterprise, the factual elements

66 Navas Review, above n 28, 9.

¢ United Nations War Crimes Commission, Law Report of Trials of War Criminals (His Majesty’s
Stationery Office, 1949) vol 15, 27. See also Henzelin, above n 53, 405.

68 See section II.A. of this chapter. " Hadamar Trial, above n 55, 53.

70 Altfuldisch Review, above n 18, 12.
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in that wider context could also have been used to justify the jurisdiction of US
military courts in the subsequent trials.

Given the variety of grounds of United States jurisdiction, what makes the
references to universal jurisdiction in the ‘Spanish Kapos’ cases especially valuable is
that they provide precedents to support the existence of an international practice
with respect to this principle and its applicability to nationals of neutral states.

(IV) A Precedent of Universal Jurisdiction
Regarding Stateless Persons?

The particular circumstances surrounding the Spanish Republicans in Mauthausen
further suggest that they were part of the very first cases where universal jurisdiction
was invoked to try stateless persons. The Deputy Judge Advocate decided to justify the
authority of the court through universal jurisdiction because the defendants were
nationals of a neutral country. What he did not take into consideration, though,
was that Spaniards in concentration camps lacked protection from the Spanish
government, indeed from any other state, which in turn would mean that the five
defendants were de facto stateless persons.”!

(1) Spaniards who were not Spaniards

The legal status of the Spanish republicans who left Spain after the Civil War was
far from clear and confusion spread to the concentration camps where they were
interned. It is well-known that Nazis used triangles of different colours to classify
inmates. In most of the concentration camps (such as Dachau, Buchenwald-Dora,
Sachsenhausen, Bergen-Belsen or Ravensbriick),”? the Rotspanier (‘Red Spaniards’,
as they were called) wore the red triangle that marked them as political prisoners.
However, those in Mauthausen were marked with the blue triangle with the letter
S inside. Although blue was supposed to be given to ‘emigrants’ and usually identi-
fied foreign forced labourers, its attribution to Spaniards in Mauthausen has been
interpreted in different ways.”?

The most widespread theory is that the blue triangle was given to the exiled
Republicans because of Franco’s refusal to consider them Spanish citizens. The story
goes that, during a conversation between Joachim von Ribbentropp, Reich Minister
of Foreign Affairs, and Ramén Serrano Stfier, Spanish Minister of the Interior, in
September 1940, Ribbentropp asked Serrano Stufier what Germany was to do with
all the Republicans who had been taken prisoners. Serrano Stfier was said to have
answered that those people were reds, not Spaniards,’ thus clearing the way for the

71 Paul Weis, ‘The Convention Relating to the Status of Stateless Persons’, International and
Comparative Law Quarterly, 10 (1961), 260.

72 Montserrat Roig, Els catalans als camps nazis (Barcelona: Edicions 62, 5a ed, 1987), 130.

73> 'The Spanish Republicans and some stateless Russians were the only ones to wear the blue triangle
in Mauthausen: Wingeate Pike, above n 6, 15.

74 Roig, above n 72, 15.
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Nazis to do anything they pleased with them.” Unfortunately, there are no written
records of such a conversation.”® Furthermore, the dates do not match, for the first
convoy carrying Spaniards arrived at Mauthausen in August 1940.”7

Still, indications exist that Franco’s government was aware of the fact that there
were Spaniards in German concentration camps and nothing was done to assist
them. From August to October 1940, the German Embassy in Madrid sent
several notes verbales to the Spanish Minister of Foreign Affairs, asking whether the
Spanish Government intended to take charge of a thousand Red Spaniards under
arrest in France. The Spanish Government did not respond to this request.”® Also,
the Spanish Home Office did request information on the situation of Indalecio
Gonzélez after he had been sentenced to the death penalty, but there is no indication
of further action taken.”” Instead, the Republican government in exile sent many
petitions for clemency on Gonzalez’s behalf, but they were not taken into con-
sideration by US officers both because they ‘contained no new evidence or other
mactters which had any bearing on the case’ and because they could not locate the
senders (supposedly in Paris).®

Were the Spaniards stateless? The charges in Altfuldisch®' and in Lauriano Navas®?
include a list of national groups that had been subjected to alleged atrocities.®
Among them, reference was made to ‘stateless persons’, but surprisingly enough
not to Spaniards, in spite of the fact that they actually became a relevant group
in Mauthausen.?* The charges also refer to ‘other non-German nationals’, but that
seems to be a residual clause, inappropriate for such a large group of inmates as the
Red Spaniards were. To include them under the heading of stateless persons would

7> The preliminary report to United Nations on the issue of refugees assumed this version (Jacques
Vernant, Les réfugiés dans l'aprés-guerre: Rapport préliminaire d'un groupe d'étude sur le probléme des
réfugiés (Geneva: ONU, 1951), 166), although stating that it was the Spanish Minister of Foreign
Affairs who intervened (Serrano Stfier held that position from October 1940).

7¢ Roig, above n 72, 16-17. In an interview Roig asked Serrano Stfier whether he had talked about
this issue with Ribbentropp. Serrano’s answer was that he had dealt with the subject in passing for
somebody had commented on it on the outward journey, and the Nazis had told him that they were
not Spaniards but people who had fought against them in France: at 17. See David Wingeate Pike,
Espaioles en el Holocausto: Vida y muerte de los republicanos en Mauthausen (Barcelona: Mondadori,
2003), 42, quoting a letter by a Nazi official explaining that the Spanish government refused to repat-
riate the Red Spaniards already in 1940 (such reference is not in the original English version of this
work, above n 6).

77 Wingeate Pike, above n 6, 10. Wingeate Pike suggests that the decision to impose the blue trian-
gle on the Spaniards in Mauthausen was taken on the basis that Spain was not at war with Germany,
Spanish prisoners did not have a passport and their status was stateless, as well as to thwart their fight
against the Nazis (at 11). Instead, Bernadac describes the decision both as a joke and a big strategic
mistake by the administration of the camp (Christian Bernadac, Les 186 marches (Geneva: Famot,
1976), 71-2).

78 Daniel Diaz Esculies, Entre filferrades: Un aspecte de l'emigracié republicana dels Paisos Catalans
(1939-1945) (Barcelona: Edicions de la Magrana, 1993), 193—6. A facsimile of the notes is available
at Rosa Toran, Vida i mort dels republicans als camps nazis (Barcelona: Proa, 2002), 299-303.

7 Letter from Wade M. Fleischer, Chief, International Affaire Branch, to Judge Advocate,
22 August 1947.

80 Memorandum for Colonel Harbaugh, Inquiry from Secretary General, OMGUS, Concerning
the Case of Indalecio Gonzalez, 1 November 1948, [3].

81 Altfuldisch Review, aboven 18, 1. 82 Nawvas Review, above n 28, 1. 83 See above n 29.

8 See Wingeate Pike, above n 6, 12.
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therefore seem quite reasonable. On the other hand, the nationalities expressly
listed in the Altfuldisch and Lauriano Navas charge sheets referred only to Allied
states, which may have been a way to emphasize the interest of the United States
in trying crimes committed against nationals of Allied states. There would have
been no reason for Spain, considered to be a neutral country, to be on that list.
Unfortunately, absent an explanation for the selection of nationalities included in
the charges, no definitive conclusions can be drawn on the issue as to whether the
United States might at some point have considered Spaniards as stateless persons.

(2) Protecting Spanish refugees...inside the borders

As well as being abandoned by the Spanish government, the Republicans did not
receive much protection from other foreign states. France granted the Spanish
Republicans refugee status by a decree of 15 March 1945. This decree extended
the application of the Convention of 28 October 1933% to the Spanish refugees.
According to Article 2 of the decree, persons holding or having held Spanish
citizenship, not holding another citizenship, and who enjoyed neither de jure nor
de facto the protection of the Spanish government, would be considered Spanish
refugees.®® As a result, they were granted a special status, which included the right to
an identity and travel certificate, similar to the Nansen passport,®” and the right of
residence in France, which implied the right to not be expelled from the French ter-
ritory (except on national security or public order grounds) and of non-refoulement
to Spain.®® Also, they would have a specific legal status regarding their personal statute,
rights resulting from marriage, and access to court in equal conditions as French
nationals. However, the recognition of such rights did not mean that the Spanish
refugees could enjoy diplomatic protection from the French authorities.

Disregarded by the Spanish government and enjoying a rather limited refugee
status inside France that in no way included protection beyond the French bor-
ders, the five Spanish defendants in Dachau lacked any kind of protection from
their own country or a third one, what made them de facto stateless persons. If
this circumstance is to be taken into consideration, these two cases would then be
the first, and presumably the only cases, where universal jurisdiction was invoked
to try stateless persons for war crimes. Although—as already pointed out—such
an invocation was unnecessary because the court had jurisdiction regardless of the
nationality of the defendant.

8 Convention Relating to the International Status of Refugees, signed 28 October 1933, 159
LNTS 199.

8 Quoted in Comment, ‘In re Galvez', Revue Critique de Droit International Privé, 36 (1947), 301.

8 They were not provided with the Nansen passport for they were not considered to have lost the
Spanish nationality (Estatuto juridico de los refugiados esparioles (Paris: Imprenta Espafiola, 1945), 5-6).

88 Estatuto juridico de los refugiados esparioles, above n 87, 18.
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(V) Conclusions

In the years following World War II, subsequent cases of low-profile alleged war
criminals, like the ‘Spanish Kapos’ trials, could easily go unnoticed, the focus being
put on major war criminals’ accountability. Even at the domestic level these cases
were hidden. Propaganda by Franco’s government to discredit its enemies in the Civil
War or a complaint by the Republican government in exile to denounce the low
due process standards might have been expected. Nevertheless, silence concerning
these trials suggests that they made both sides uncomfortable, because they demon-
strated that Spaniards had been interned at concentration camps with Franco’s
government abandoning them to their fate, while at the same time casting doubt
on the Republican fight for democracy and freedoms. Distance and time allow
analysing these cases beyond the domestic limits imposed by the confrontation in
the Spanish Civil War. Instead, when looking at them from an international legal
approach, it becomes evident that the unusual circumstances surrounding these
two cases make them interesting in several ways.

To begin with, the framing of these cases as part of the joint criminal enterprise
undertaken in Mauthausen, as established in the parent case, shows how extremely
rigidly military courts applied the ‘common design’ theory of guilt in the aftermath of
World War II. Espinosa, Nava, Gonzélez, Ferndndez and Félez did not belong to the
Nazi military or civil administration that designed and put into effect the machinery
of Mauthausen. Rather, they were trapped in it. Victims of the Nazi system them-
selves, their conduct was arguably the result of a combination of self-preservation and
brutalization, perhaps to be expected given the harsh living conditions they had to
endure as inmates. However, the judgment did not take this factor into considera-
tion nor any other element related to it that could have allowed for a mitigation of
the sentence, if not for the exclusion of responsibility. Fortunately, the inflexibility
of this criterion was later tempered, which enabled a fairer approach when applying
the theory of joint criminal enterprise.

Another interesting feature of these trials is the remarkable disregard for basic due
process guarantees showed by the military courts trying these two cases. Although
it is not the aim of this analysis to establish the degree of meticulousness fol-
lowed by military courts and commissions trying war crimes in the years after
World War II, the due process point nonetheless warrants attention. The pressure
to punish thousands of alleged perpetrators likely led courts to put aside ‘burden-
some’ details such as due process in order to increase efficiency. However, it is also
true that these two cases were more difficult than most of the trials the military
courts carried out, for two reasons. One was language. The United States military
courts were supposed to try mainly German nationals, so, in the ‘Spanish Kapos’
trials, the lack of Spanish-speaking personnel lead to improvization. The other
complicating factor was that the defendants came from Spain, a ‘neutral’ country
(albeit with Axis sympathies) and one that did not seem to care about the destiny
of five people who had fought against the government in power. Therefore, no
serious cooperation with Spain was possible in order to provide the defendants

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



Justice for No-Land’s Men? The United States Military Trials 121

with lawyers or supervise the course of proceedings. Again, a calmer analysis of the
circumstances at the review level allowed for the correction of the mistakes made at
trial, which benefitted Laureano Nava, who had his sentence to life imprisonment
reduced after proving that it had been imposed on the basis of only two witness
testimonies.

The most remarkable contribution of these cases to international jurisprudence
concerns jurisdiction. The fact that the defendants were not nationals of an Axis
country but of a neutral state somehow seemed to challenge the authority of US
military courts. To overcome this hurdle, universal jurisdiction was invoked. This
seems to have been an exceptional use of the principle. In fact, considering that as
former members of the Republican Army, the five defendants did not get protec-
tion from Spain, or from any other country, they actually faced trial as de facto
stateless persons. Therefore, this was arguably the first time that the principle of
universal jurisdiction was used to justify the trial of stateless persons.

There is also a significant lesson to be learned from these cases when it comes
to the use of universal jurisdiction by third-country courts. The ‘Spanish Kapos’
cases are a puzzling example of the results yielded by an ‘industrial’ justice system
such as that set up to deal with the horrors of World War II. Scant consideration
of individual circumstances is an unfortunate feature of such a justice system. This
can only lead to injustice. The possibility of a serious miscarriage of justice might
go some way to explain why the United States’ main concern was to justify their
jurisdiction in order to avoid future claims as to the trials’ legitimacy. However,
a wider and more complex approach to the specific circumstances of the Spanish
defendants would have been desirable. Obviously, circumstances surrounding
the contemporary use of universal jurisdiction are very different: it is applied by
domestic courts sitting in countries that do not need to be rapidly reconstructed,
as Germany was in the aftermath of World War I, nor need justice be done expe-
ditiously. Nevertheless, it implies that foreigners will be tried by a court that may
not speak the language or may not know the context in which crimes were per-
petrated. As the ‘Spanish Kapos’ trials illustrates, great care must be taken when
dealing with universal jurisdiction cases in order to guarantee due process and
provide real justice.
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A Narrative of Justice and the
(Re)Writing of History: Lessons Learned
from World War II French Trials

Dov Jacobs

(I) Introduction

Issues of post-conflict justice, broadly defined as the study of how new political
regimes deal with the crimes of previous, were traditionally dealt with in a fragmented
way by different disciplines. While historians, sociologists and jurists from various
countries have studied these issues, discussions on post-conflict justice have only
relatively recently been taken up by international lawyers and have acquired
considerable momentum in the past decade.! This interest from international law
mirrored the development of a new discipline, that of transitional justice.?
However, despite the bridges that now exist between international law, and more
specifically international criminal law, and other disciplines, there is a surprisingly
low level of historical self-reflection among international criminal lawyers on their
core object of research, namely mass crimes and the difficulty of prosecuting them.
In other words, and to put it more bluntly, international criminal lawyers, and
more generally a number of transitional justice academics, often give the impression
of re-inventing the wheel on the methodological and conceptual difficulties facing
them. With the notable exception of the Nuremberg trials,? international criminal

* Assistant Professor in International Criminal Law, Leiden University.

! For a precursor and seminal work by international lawyers on this question, see D. Alexander
and Cherif Bassiouni (eds), Post-Conflict Justice (Boston, MA and Leiden: Hotei Publishing, 2002).

2 Neil Kritz (ed), Transitional Justice (Washington, DC: United States Institute of Peace, 1995) is
one of the first ‘codifications’ of this new field and Ruti Teitel, Transitional Justice (Oxford: Oxford
University Press, 2000) is considered to be the seminal book on the topic. For a discussion on the diffi-
culties of actually establishing transitional justice as a coherent new field of research, see Christine Bell,
“Transitional Justice, Interdisciplinarity and the State of the “Field” or “Non-Field”’, International
Journal of Transitional Justice, 3 (2009), 5.

3 See,amonga number of works on Nuremberg, D. Blumenthal and T. McCormack (eds), 7he Legacy
of Nuremberg: Civilising Influence or Institutionalised Vengeance? (Boston, MA and Leiden: Martinus
Nijhoff Publishers, 2008) and more recently Kevin Jon Heller, 7he Nuremberg Military Tribunals and
the Origins of International Criminal Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011).
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lawyers tend to draw little help from historical examples of how to deal with collective
crimes, and even less so of national examples.

This chapter will propose to do this in relation to the trials that took place after
World War II (WWII) in France to prosecute those deemed to have collaborated
with and actively promoted the agenda of the Nazi occupiers. The following sections
will therefore not be a comprehensive discussion of how France dealt with the
épuration of its private and public sector through a number of administrative and
judicial sanctions.* They will rather try to illustrate the issues that practitioners
today need to grasp when dealing with past atrocities. To do that, the chapter will
first deal with the challenges facing the new post-WWII government when trying to
set up the legal framework to try the collaborators (section II). It will then highlight
the difficulties of such judicial proceedings with two examples, the trials of political
leaders Pétain and Laval (section III). The chapter will conclude with some general
thoughts, most notably on the evasive question of historical truth (section IV).

(II) Dealing with Acts of Collaboration:
Setting up the Legal Framework

Having exposed the general context of the discussion (1), this section will present
the legal framework that was set up to try collaborators. This included both the use
of existing provisions of the Criminal Code (2) and the creation of a new offence,
that of indignité nationale, or national indignity (3).

(1) The general context

Discussions on how to deal with the épurarion of those Frenchmen who had
collaborated at one level or another with the occupiers started some months before
the end of war in committees specially created by De Gaulle. Two of those, the
Comité Général des Etudes and the Comité National Judiciaire, worked together to
produce a memo in February 1944 that outlined the legislation that could be put
in place after the liberation.’ As is often the case in such circumstances, the passions
of the five-year conflict and occupation created pressure on the committees to show
the utmost severity in relation to those who had helped the Nazis.® However, the

* The term ‘épuration’, which can be translated as ‘purge’ or ‘purification’, designates the general
policy of ‘cleaning up’ the country that took place in France after the war. It only partly corresponds
to the practice of lustration that has been promoted, most notably in the former soviet bloc, to deal
extra-judicially with former members of the regime and various human rights offenders. In this sense, it
is preferred to use the French term in the remainder of this chapter, because of its wider scope of applica-
tion and because of the light it sheds on the ‘moral’ state of mind of those who implemented this policy.

> Robert Aron, Histoire de Lépuration, Vol. 3(2) (Paris: Fayard 1969), 45-71. These committees
were also in charge of formulating post-war policies for dealing with the various lawyers and judges
who tried to minimise the effect of Vichy decisions during occupation.

¢ Such severity can be illustrated by the following draft proposal circulated at the time: ‘[W]ill be
sentenced to death whoever, by his words, writings or example will have helped the objectives of the
enemy to bring the French to collaborate in its actions’ (cited in Aron, above n 5, 80).
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preamble of the joint working document submitted by the committees indicated
that the drafters had decided to adopt a more balanced approach, and try to reconcile
the requirements of punishment with respect for the rights of the accused.”

One of the questions that had to be answered by the committees was the legal
basis for the trials. At the heart of this debate was the principle of nullum crimen sine
lege, a recognized principle of criminal law, and in the case of France, a principle that
had been strongly defended during the French Revolution. Indeed, the Declaration
of the Rights of Men and of the Citizens of 1789 famously provides that: ‘A person
shall only be punished by virtue of a law established and promulgated before the
offence.” The lesser-known Declaration of the Rights of Men and of the Citizens
of 1793 presented things in a more emphatic way:

No one ought to be tried and punished except after having been heard or legally summoned,
and except in virtue of a law promulgated prior to the offence. The law which would punish
offences committed before it existed would be a tyranny: the retroactive effect given to the
law would be a crime.’

This principle was enshrined in the French Criminal Code which was in force at
the time."

In light of this, the committees elaborated a normative framework that tried to
satisfy both the requirements of legality and the demand for punishment. It was
accepted that there were essentially two categories of collaborators: those who had
directly helped the occupants, to whom the existing Criminal Code was applicable;
and those who had indirectly helped the occupants, for whom a new legal frame-
work needed to be designed."!

(2) The application of the existing provisions of the
French Criminal Code

For the first category of collaborators, it was deemed that, to a large extent, the existing
provisions of the Criminal Code on treason and offences against the security of the

7 “The need for sanctions after the victory against the French who, in one way or another, pro-
vided help to the activities and the manipulations of the enemy is not in doubt. However, repression,
unfortunately necessary, must, whenever possible, reconcile two contradictory objectives. It must be
effective and swift to satisfy the national conscience and prevent spontaneous reactions that would
necessarily be rough and would risk being unfair; it must be fair, i.e proportional to the guilt and
organised in such a way as to allow to determine that guilt with accuracy and that respect for the rights
of the accused and the defence not be sacrificed’ (cited in Aron, above n 5, 82).

8 Article 8, Declaration of the Rights of Man and Citizen (1789), available in English at <http://
www.hrcr.org/docs/frenchdec.html> (accessed 3 March 2013).

9 Article 14, Declaration of the Rights of Man and Citizen from the Constitution of Year
I (1793), available in English at <http://www.columbia.edu/-iw6/docs/dec1793.html> (accessed 3
March 2013).

10" Although the formulation has changed in the course of several reforms in the past decades, the
principle remains the same and is today framed as ‘[cJonduct is punishable only where it constituted
a criminal offence at the time when it took place’ (Article 1121, French Criminal Code, available in
English at <http://195.83.177.9/codel/liste.phtml?lang=uk&c=33> (accessed 3 March 2013)).

1" Aron, above n 5, 83.
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state could be applied to acts committed during the war. More specifically, the general
framework of Article 75 of the Criminal Code was to be used. This Article provided
for the prosecution of acts of collaboration with a foreign power famously labelled as
‘intelligence with the enemy’.

Several interpretative ordinances were issued by the provisional government to
ensure the effectiveness of the application of the Criminal Code to the situation
of occupied France. These ordinances illustrate a clear will on the part of their
drafters to leave as little room as possible for acquittals. First, it was declared
that the provision of information relating to members of the résistance should
be considered as affecting national security as provided for by Article 83 of the
Criminal Code."

Second, it was considered that, because of the illegality of the Vichy regime
persons acting according to orders of the government, or in application of a leg-
islative measure, could not benefit from the traditional defences that would nor-
mally attach to such a situation ‘if the accused personally had the opportunity of
not executing the order and where his responsibility or his moral authority was
such that by refusing to act he would be serving the nation’."* Third, acts committed
against France’s allies could be assimilated to acts committed against the French
state itself, thus allowing the consideration of these acts under the relevant provisions
of the criminal code. The Ordinance of 26 June 1944 even went as far as to consider
that for the purposes of the application of the Criminal Code, the troops of Allied
forces were to be considered French troops.!

(3) Indignité nationale: A new offence to capture the
essence of the épuration

The second category of persons—those that could be considered to have indirectly
collaborated with the Nazis—gave rise to more difficulty than the first. On the
one hand these were acts that could not, even with a wide interpretation, fall
within the scope of the existing French Criminal Code. On the other hand, some
of these acts, even if they could be labelled as offences against national security,
would warrant a penalty that would be far too harsh in relation to the minor gravity
of the actions. In other words, applying the Criminal Code to all instances of
collaboration would be too lenient in some cases and much too severe in others."
Despite this, the drafters of the laws of épuration were reluctant to let the ‘small
fish’ get away because they had also, by their actions, or even inaction, contributed
one way or another to the dishonour of the country. In order to reflect this, there-
fore, the drafting committee provided the following solution, that of the creation
of a new offence of indignité nationale, defined in the proposal as ‘the situation
in which has placed himself a person who, directly or indirectly, had voluntarily

2 Ordinances of 17 and 31 January 1944.
13 Peter Novick, Lépuration Frangaise, 1944—1949 (Paris: Balland 1985), 234.
14 Novick, above n 13, 235. 15 Aron, above n 5, 83.
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helped Germany or its Allies, or affected the unity of the nation or the liberty or
equality of the French’.!¢

It goes without saying that this new offence raises some important questions
in relation to the legality principle, and the drafters of the Ordinance were aware
of these difficulties. How did they therefore justify the new law in relation to
non-retroactivity? One can identity three main justifications. First, the indignité
nationale did not constitute a sanction in the criminal sense, but was rather a series
of civil sanctions, such as the prohibition to be a state employee, and therefore did
not fall within the scope of application of the principle of non-retroactivity of crimi-
nal laws. This justification is certainly unconvincing in light of how modern human
rights law defines the scope of criminal sanctions,"” but appeared in the official
explanatory memorandum of the law that accompanied its adoption.'® The second
justification, while accepting that this indeed constituted a new offence, consid-
ered that it was acceptable because it provided for more lenient sentences than the
Criminal Code for persons who would be prosecuted under the former rather than
the latter, and therefore did not violate the principle of non-retroactivity which
allows for the retroactive application of more lenient laws.!” This explanation,
put forward, among others by famous jurist and future drafter of the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights René Cassin, is somewhat more elegant than the
first one, but is in fact equally unconvincing. Indeed, for one, it only applies to
cases that would fall within the scope of both the Criminal Code and the law on
indignité nationale. Persons who could not have been prosecuted under the stricter
provisions on national security cannot seriously be said to be benefitting from a more
lenient law, because without that law they would not have been prosecuted at all.
Second, technically this justification would only work if the new law replaced
the former one, which was not the case. It was perfectly within the powers of the
charging authorities to choose to prosecute under the Criminal Code, despite the
existence of the law on indignité nationale. The argument would be more accept-
able if, de minimis, the law had provided some form of immunity from prosecution
under the Criminal Code for persons held responsible under the new offence.

16

Peter Novick, above n 13, 237. The new offence was adopted by an Ordinance dated 26 August
1944.

17 For example, it is settled case-law of the European Convention on Human Rights that what is
‘criminal’, and therefore triggers the fair trial protections of Article 6 of the Convention and arguably
the protection against non-retroactivity of criminal laws and sanctions contained in Article 7, can-
not solely depend on the qualification under national law. Instead, the Court established a series of
independent criteria: (1) the classification of the offence in the national system; (2) the nature of the
offence; and/or (3) the severity of the penalty imposed (see Engel and others v Netherlands, Judgment,
8 June 1976, §82-3). Applying these criteria, the Court has more particularly found that the fair
trial protections apply in lustration cases, even when the national legislation might characterise such
proceedings as ‘civil’ rather than ‘criminal’ (Matyjek v Poland, Decision on Admissibility, 30 May
2006, §42-59). More specifically, the Court found that the prohibition of holding certain functions
or public office for a long period of time could be considered a sanction of sufficient gravity to warrant
the application of Article 6 (Matyjek v Poland, Decision on Admissibility, 30 May 2006, §54-6). In
light of this, there is little doubt that the French law on indignité nationale would be considered as a
‘criminal’ matter under the European Convention on Human Rights framework, thus imposing the
application of the non-retroactivity principle of Article 7 of the Convention.

18 Aron, above n 5, 94. 19 Peter Novick, above n 13, 250, n 15.
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The third justification, and probably the least convincing from a legal point of
view, in fact corresponds most neatly to the drafters” state of mind. For some, the
indignité nationale was not really an offence, but a fact, or more precisely a ‘state’ in
which a person found himself after having acted in a certain way. This state was not
to be technically determined by a judge, but rather certified as a given. The state
therefore pre-existed the legal concretisation and therefore could not violate the
non-retroactivity principle. This justification adequately highlights the teleology
of the épuration. Some people, through their actions, had brought shame not just
to themselves, but to France as a nation. It was therefore considered as legitimate,
if legally dubious, for the French Republic in return to declare that these citizens
were not worthy of the same rights as other citizens.

(ITI) Pétain and Laval: The Trials of the Leaders

The trials of Pétain and Laval illustrate the difficulties of trying the leaders of a former
regime, especially when undertaken by political opponents. Both these trials came
quite late in the process of épuration, to the concern and frustration of a number
of commentators who thought that logically, these trials should have come first
because without the condemnation of those who had led the country to collaboration,
the trial of all other collaborators did not make sense. However, for pragmatic
reasons, it was deemed that the new government could not afford to wait for the
complex issues surrounding the trial of such senior political figures to be resolved
before starting the process in the rest of the country. The trial of Pétain came first,
and took place from 23 July untl 15 August 1945. The trial of Laval followed
some time later, from 4 October until 9 October 1945.

Both trials followed the same format. They were held before the Haute Cour de
Justice (High Court), a special body set up within the Senate under the Constitution
of the Third Republic to try high public officials for acts against the state.? This
Court was abolished by the Vichy regime?*' and re-instated by the Provisional
Government by a November 1944 ordinance to try the high-ranking collabora-
tors.”?> However, the Provisional Government did not follow the previous rules
pertaining to the composition of the High Court. Rather than being composed of
members of the Senate, the Court had three professional magistrates®® and a jury
of twenty-four members.? It is interesting to note in relation to the composition
of the jury that half were drawn from the Parliament, while the other half were

20 Loi du 24 février 1875 relative a l'organisation du Sénat, Article 9.

2 Acte constitutionnel no 5 du 30 juiller 1940 relatif & la Cour supréme de justice.

22 Maurice Gargon, Le Procés Pétain, Compte-Rendu sténographique du Procés (Milan: De Vecchi
2007), 30.

# Judge Mongibeaux, First President of the Cour de Cassation, Judge Donat-Guigne, President
of the Criminal Section of the Cour de Cassation and Judge Picard, First President of the Appeals
Chamber. These three judges sat on both trials.

24 This derogatory composition of the High Court was raised, to no avail, by Pétain’s defence as a
challenge to the legality of the proceedings (Gargon, above n 22, 17).
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chosen from citizens who ‘during the war, demonstrated a patriotic and resistant
attitude towards the enemy’.> This composition certainly helps to explain the apparent
lack of impartiality of the proceedings.?

The study of these trials and the circumstances surrounding them highlights a
number of features that are common to proceedings of this nature in any transitional
setting. More specifically, one can identify the following issues of interest: the
symbolic dimension of the trials (1); the related desire of the accusers to (re)write
history (2); and finally the ambiguity of the process (3).

(1) The symbolic dimension of the trials

Trials of high-level leaders always carry a symbolic charge and situate themselves
at the crossroads of a number of extra-legal stakes of a political, sociological and
performative dimension.” The trials of Pétain and Laval were no different. However,
while both trials provided the opportunity for the new government to tell its own
story of the war,?® their symbolism was performed on different levels.

DPétain’s trial was in many respects more symbolic of the general failure of France.
DPétain represented the regime and its systemic illegality. In this sense, Pétain was in
a way just an excuse to point out that Vichy was an illegitimate government and
that De Gaulle represented the ‘true’ France that fought on. This collective dimen-
sion of the Pétain trial is illustrated by the will of the government to hold a trial in
absentia. Indeed, it appears that Pétain’s absence (he was being held in Germany)
was seen as a positive development rather than as an obstacle. Conducting the
proceedings without Pétain ‘would have allowed for the French justice to issue a
national judgment without the opportunity for the defendant to explain himself
or be represented’.?? The desire not to have Pétain present was all the more strong,
that a number of opinion polls done in the early months of 1945 showed that
French public opinion was not uniform in relation to what to do with the former
leader of the Vichy regime and that he was in fact a divisive figure.*® Pétain himself
clearly expressed his desire to face his responsibilities® and returned to France

% Gargon, above n 22, 9. 26 See section 11T (3) below.

¥ For comprehensive studies on the multi-faceted dimensions of war crime trials, see more particu-
larly: Mark Drumbl, Azrocity, Punishment and International Law (Cambridge: Cambridge Univeristy
Press, 2007); Mark Osiel, Mass Atrocity, Collective Memory and the Law (Piscataway, NJ: Transaction
Publishers, 1999) and Gerry Simpson, Law, War and Crime (Cambridge: Polity, 2007).

28 See section III (2) below.

2 Aron, above n 5, 451.

3 Roger Maudhuy, Les Grands Procés de la Collaboration (Saint-Paul; Souny, 2009), 207. (Describing
how, when Pétain walked into the court on the first day of the trial, those present rose, and the guards
stood to attention (garde & vous) out of respect). This risk of divisiveness was felt by De Gaulle himself,
who wrote in his memoirs that ‘[a]lthough it appeared to me necessary from a national and inter-
national point of view that the French judicial system issued a solemn verdict, I wished that some
incident would keep away from French territory this 89-year-old defendant, this leader previously
adorned with significant dignity, this old man in whom, during the catastrophe, a number of French
citizens had put their trust and for whom, despite everything, they still felt respect or pity’: Charles de
Gaulle, Mémoires, Tome III (Paris: Plon, 1959), 111.

3! In a letter to Hitder dated 5 April 1945, Pétain declared: ‘T cannot, without violating my honour,
let it be believed, as is suggested by some propaganda, that I sought refuge in a foreign land to escape
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through Switzerland in late April 1945 .3 The ambivalent public opinion found its
way in the actual judgment of the High Court, which, while condemning Pétain
to death, also expressed the ‘wish’ that he in fact not be executed. The judgment
itself only mentions Pétain’s age as the reason for this rather peculiar ‘wish’, but it
appears that in fact it was the result of a broader disagreement during the delibera-
tions, with the judges suggesting a term of five years of banishment and the death
penalty only being imposed by a one-vote majority among the jurors themselves.*

As a final testimony to the fact that for a number of people, it was the regime,
not the man himself that was on trial, it is interesting to read De Gaulle’s take on
the trial. While he considered that it was absolutely necessary to hold it because
Pétain ‘had symbolised what was the surrender and, even if he himself had not
exactly wanted it, the collaboration with the enemy’, he nonetheless recognised
that the man himself deserved some indulgence for the services he had rendered to
France over his life.** This attitude explains why De Gaulle eventually commuted
Pérain’s death sentence, following in this way the ‘wish’ expressed by the High
Court.

Such lenience was not extended to Laval. While Pétain represented treason in a
broad sense, Laval represented, in addition to treason, the more active spirit of col-
laboration. While French public opinion was divided on Pétain:

in 1945, [Laval] was still one of the most hated men in France. He is seen as the most
responsible of the debasement and troubles of the country: choice of collaboration and its
procession of compromises, temptation of military collaboration, forced labour, requisitioning,
police abuses. . . all sides agreed on his faults.”

In addition, his case was not helped by the fact that he had been dismissed by
Pétain in December 1940, only to be invited back as head of government in April
1942 at the urging of the Nazis, thus confirming the impression that he was a willing
agent of the occupant.

(2) The narrative goals of the prosecution

The way both trials were conducted highlights the motives behind the prosecution
case. The main goal was to provide a two-pronged narrative. On the one hand,
Pétain and Laval had wanted the defeat of France and had acted in that direction
before the war. On the other hand, the regime that was set up as a result was illegal
and illegitimate.

my responsibilities. It is in France alone that I can answer to my actions and I am the only judge of the
risks that this attitude could carry’: reproduced in Bénédicte Vergez-Chaignon, Histoire de Lépuration
(Paris: Larousse, 2010), 491.

32 It appears that upon hearing news of the arrival of Pétain in Switzerland, De Gaulle made infor-
mal requests to the Swiss government that they in fact refuse to extradite him, so that the trial in
absentia could take place, but that this was not followed with effect: Jacques Isorni, Pétain a sauvé la
France (Paris: Flammarion, 1964), 14.

% Maudhuy, above n 30, 214.

3 Charles de Gaulle, Discours et Messages, Vol. 2 (Paris: Plon 1974), 293—4.

¥ Bénédicte Vergez-Chaignon, Histoire de ['‘épuration (Paris: Larousse 2010).
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The first aspect of the story was necessary in the context of the narrative that
aimed at finding those responsible for the defeat. This is a natural tendency of any
regime. There is no luck in defeat, neither is the answer to be found in the success of
the enemy. Someone within the country is responsible. This is why a large portion
of both trials was devoted to identifying conduct before the war that might be read
as preparing for defeat at the hands of the Nazis. In relation to Pétain, the prosecution
argued that in the years preceding the war, he had organised a conspiracy to estab-
lish a dictatorship in France, inspired by Franco, and with the financial help and
promise of military support from the Nazis.*® This theory appears, in hindsight,
to be based on no tangible evidence. The accusation was based on the statement
of a person that had been found to be lying repeatedly in other instances” and,
according to one of the members of the jury at the time, no proof of such a
conspiracy was ever put forward during the rest of the trial.?® In fact, the judgment
itself, while it generally condemns Pétain for his collaboration with the Nazis, and
for the dubious choice of men to lead the country with him, also states that ‘even
if strong presumptions can be drawn against Pétain because he invited into his vari-
ous governments men that were part of factious movements, there is not sufficient
proof that there was between him and them a real conspiracy against the security
of the State’.?” As for Laval, he was, on the first day of his trial, asked to explain his
anti-war stance before the war which had been a ‘policy of annoyance, of reduction
of the war potential of France’,*’ and his declarations that predicted the victory of
Germany and the defeat of the United Kingdom.

The difference in approaches in both trials can be easily explained by the fact
that, while Pétain was essentially absent from political life in the years preceding
the war, and could therefore not be found to have made suspicious statements
pointing to a conspiracy, Laval was an active member of several governments and
had therefore a clear political position that he could be held accountable for in
hindsight.

The second aspect of the story was equally crucial for the new government, both
politically and legally. From a political perspective, it could not be accepted that
the French Republic had voluntarily relinquished power to Pétain and Laval. This
would lend the Vichy government a legitimacy that was not compatible with the
idea that the real government of France was represented by De Gaulle and his
supporters in exile. This is why both trials went to considerable length to show that
power was acquired by political manoeuvring. Interestingly, the date chosen for
what the prosecutor in the Laval trial called a ‘coup d'état’! was not Pétain’s acquisi-
tion of the full powers by the Assembly on 10 July 1940, but his accession to the
Presidency of the Council at the invitation of the then President of the Republic,
Reynaud, on 16 June 1940. This had the corollary effect of voiding the Armistice

that was signed on the 25 June, which was one of the main narrative goals of the

3% Gargon, above n 22, 33-4. 37 Aron, above n 5, 454. 3% Maudhuy, above n 30, 212.
% The full judgment is on file with the author. This finding of the High Court once again shows that

Pétain, as a person, was never in fact the real target of his own trial. See section III (1) of this chapter.
4 Gargon, above n 22, 44. 41" Gargon, above n 22, 12.
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new government, as explained by De Gaulle in his memoirs* and confirmed by
Delattre, one of the jury members for the Pétain trial: ‘[ The Trial] must be resituated
in its context: in 1945, in the eyes of the gaullistes, the armistice was a crime and
the main crime committed by Pétain.’*?

This narrative also had legal consequences. As previously outlined,* it allowed the
drafters of the laws of épuration to provide that a person could not raise as a defence
that he had acted in accordance with a law enacted under the Vichy Government.
Moreover, the nullity of the Armistice had equally far ranging consequences. For
one, it directly allowed the application of the provisions of the Criminal Code on
intelligence with the enemy. If the Armistice was legal and put an end to the war,
this could not be invoked.* Second of all, and more theoretically, it meant that De
Gaulle himself could not be prosecuted for his actions during the war that were in
contradiction to the terms of the Armistice.

(3) The ambiguities of the process

A common feature of both trials, and of many of the trials of the épuration, was the
difficulty of establishing a fair process. This difficulty had two dimensions: the first
one relating to the partiality of the proceedings and the second one, which is partly
linked to the first, relating to the role of the accusers during the war.

In relation to the partiality of the proceedings, it appears that the investigations
were hasty and incomplete. The Pétain trial had been prepared with the absence
of the accused in mind, and with therefore little work done on the provision of
defence rights because no opposition was expected. His return to France led to the
reopening of the file and the haphazard addition of a number of documents.*’
It even appears that some evidence was removed because it would not have resisted
examination by the defence.*® In the Laval trial, the accused complained repeatedly
that he was not allowed to request additional investigations to bolster his case, to
which the prosecutor amazingly and unashamedly responded that ‘the Pierre Laval
affair could have been brought to court without the need to have it preceded with
a judicial investigation, because, the investigation started the day of the accession
to power of Pétain and Laval, as his second-in-command’.# This was hardly an
indication of the fairness of the proceedings.

2 “What in the indictment appeared fundamental for me, was less so for many. For me, the capital
offence of Pétain and of his government was to have concluded with the enemy, in the name of France,
the so-called “armistice”’: reproduced in Aron, above n 5, 533.

4 Maudhuy, above n 30, 210. 4 Section II (2) of this chapter.

4 This was raised by Georges Suarez, a journalist sentenced to death for intelligence with the enemy.
The French Cour de Cassation found, however, with reference to the Hague Conventions, that an
armistice was only a suspension of hostilities and therefore still constituted a war for the purpose of
the application of Article 75 of the Criminal Code.

4 Aron, above n 5, 90. 47 Vergez-Chaignon, above n 35, 491.

4 Aron, above n 5, 453—4.

% Garcon, above n 22, 13. The Prosecutor repeated this statement in his closing arguments,
stating that no investigation was necessary to establish the obvious criminal nature of the acts of
Vichy: at 268-9.
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This lack of fairness was made more obvious by the passion surrounding the
trials, which surely influenced its active participants. In that respect, the Laval trial
stands out once again for its partiality. Two examples can be given. At the end of
the first day of hearings, when Laval was taken from the courtroom, someone in
the audience clapped. The Presiding judge asked for that person to be removed, at
which point, one of the jury members cried out ‘he deserves, like Laval, to receive
twelve bullets’. There were no consequences for the juror.’® Given the composition
of the jury which, as explained previously, contained individuals who had actively
fought against the Vichy regime during the war, such statement is not surprising.
However, any minimal attachment to notions of impartiality should at least have led
to the removal of this particular jury member. The second example can be found in
the prosecutor’s closing address, in which he lamented that Laval was not summarily
killed through an act of ‘popular justice’ when visiting Paris in August 1944.°!

In relation to the accusers, both Pétain and Laval pointed out repeatedly that
they were being tried by persons who had held their positions during the Vichy
Government. In his opening statement, one of Pétain’s lawyers pointed out that
Pétain was being judged by those who had sworn allegiance to him. These judges
had, during the period of the war, ‘rendered judgments and pronounced sentences
in the name of [Pétain], head of the French state; speaking in his name and in
application of the powers that he had conferred upon them, they ordered that the
representatives of the police forces execute the judgments they were issuing’. In this
context, how could the judges not be perceived as being partial?>* In a similar fash-
ion, Laval interrupted the opening statement of the prosecutor with the following
remark: ‘But you were all under the orders of the government at that time, you
who are judging me, magistrates, and you, General Prosecutor’.>® This perceived
partiality of the judges explains Pétain’s position at the outset of the trial, where he
declared in an opening statement that:

(It is the French people who, through its representatives, brought together in the parliament,
on the 10 July 1940, brought me to power. It is to this people that I came to answer to. The
High Court, as it is currently composed, does not represent the French people, and it is to it,
and only it, that the Maréchal de France and the Head of State speaks today.*

(IV) Lessons (to be) Learned

This final section will bring together the preceding analysis and try to draw some
general lessons both for the evaluation of the system of the épuration and, in line
with the objective outlined in the introduction, for situations that may arise today.
These lessons relate both to the legal dimension of post-conflict trials (1) and to the
narrative function of these trials (2).

> Gargon, above n 22, 99. >! Gargon, above n 22, 307. 52 Gargon, above n 22, 25.
>3 Gargon, above n 22, 13. > Gargon, above n 22, 41.
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(1) The legal dimension of post-conflict trials

What becomes apparent from this impressionistic overview of the way that France
dealt with the épuration of those who had collaborated with the Nazi occupiers, is
that those who conceived and implemented the legal framework were faced with
some universal dilemmas that required the balancing of a number of issues. As
indicated earlier, there was a need to satisfy the collective desire for vengeance with
the requirements of justice.

In relation to the applicable law, the analysis shows the difficulty in achieving
this balance. The trials required the setting up of a legal framework that had to
compromise the principle of legality and required, for it to be operational, some
creative reappraisal of the situation that existed at the time, as is the case with the
nullity of the Armistice.

These conclusions find an obvious echo in debates that have surrounded the
retroactive application of international criminal law. While the creation of the
International Criminal Court and its explicit application only to acts committed
after its entry into force® has alleviated some concerns in relation to this problem, the
issue still arose and arises in cases where ad hoc tribunals are created. The Nuremberg
Judgment famously held that the principle of legality was:

[Generally] a principle of justice. To assert that it is unjust to punish those who in defiance
of treaties and assurances have attacked neighbouring states without warning is obviously
untrue for in such circumstances the attacker must know that he is doing wrong, and so
far from it being unjust to punish him, it would be unjust if his wrong were allowed to go
unpunished.*

In other words, the principle of legality is merely a relative principle that needs to
give way to the requirements of justice. The way this issue was resolved in relation
to the Former Yugoslavia and Rwanda tribunals was to claim that the existence of
the crime under customary law satisfied the requirements of the principle of legal-
ity.”” This line of reasoning was validated at the European Court of Human Rights.

While this intellectual construction can be questioned in a number of ways,” the
increased codification of international crimes and their growing implementation in
national legal orders means that the issue is less likely to arise in the future. It is
nonetheless important to recall it as an illustration of the grey zone between law and

5 Article 11(1), Rome Statute.

56 The Judgment of the International Military Tribunal for the Trial of German Major War Criminals
(30 September and 1 October 1946), 217.

57 See Report Of The Secretary-General Pursuant To Paragraph 2 Of Security Council Resolution 808
(1993) UN Doc. §/25704, 3 May 1993 at §34 (‘In the view of the Secretary-General, the application
of the principle nullum crimen sine lege requires that the international tribunal should apply rules of
international humanitarian law which are beyond any doubt part of customary law’).

58 Kononov v Latvia, ECtHR Grand Chamber, 17 May 2010.

> From a very pragmatic perspective, the documentary and methodological complexities that a
number of international tribunals have been faced with when establishing the content of custom-
ary law in a number of cases makes the argument that the defendant should therefore have known
that his acts were criminal at the time highly theoretical. Only if he himself had at his disposal an
army of legal assistants to assess the national legislation of dozens of countries and the specific (and
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morality that more generally permeates the fields of human rights and international
criminal law.

In relation to the fairness of the proceedings, it becomes apparent from the
examples given that there is a very fine line between what is now being called ‘local
ownership’ of the process and partiality of the process. The thinly veiled call for
murder from the prosecutor in the Laval trial highlights the passion that accompa-
nies such proceedings. Moreover, the fact that the trials were conducted by judges
who had served under the Vichy regime is equally representative of the risks of
partiality. The study of such cases is therefore of interest for those studying the
interaction between national and international courts in prosecuting mass crimes,
and who are trying to find a balance between local ownership and the distance
necessary for the process to be deemed fair.

(2) The narrative function of post-conflict trials

Beyond the legal dimension, the most important insight that can be drawn from
the preceding discussion is how trials can be used to shape the narrative of a conflict.
As discussed, behind the laws of épuration and behind the legal proceedings of the
trials, lay a narrative that the new government wanted to promote. This narrative
was that of the lack of continuity of the French state during the Vichy regime.
Pétain had set up an illegal and illegitimate dictatorship, with the political, but also
intellectual support of a number of French citizens. The obvious objective of such
a narrative was to solidify the legitimacy of the new government of De Gaulle, and
even more importantly, its legitimacy as the continuance of the French Republic
throughout the war. Several comments can be made in relation to this narrative.

First of all, this is a clear example of re-writing of history with the benefit of hind-
sight. It is only with the victory of Germany, for example, that the pre-war fascist
musings of an intellectual such as Brasillach take on a premonitory and conspiratorial
dimension.®” Equally, had the communists not become such a political force during
the war, and the British such close allies, anti-communist and anti-British pronounce-
ments would not have been held against a certain number of accused in the épura-
tion trials.”!

Secondly, the trials are a somewhat clear example of the victor writing history to
fic his own narrative. The political and sociological reality of pre-war France was a

sometimes progressive) interpretations of a number of treaties and declarations of states, would the
reasoning have any validity. For a comprehensive and critical discussion of the principle of legality in
international criminal law, see Dov Jacobs, ‘Positivism and International Criminal Law: The Principle
of Legality as a Rule of Conflict of Theories” in Jean d’Aspremont and Jérg Kammerhofer (eds),
International Legal Positivism in a Post-Modern World, (Cambridge University Press, forthcoming).
Available at SSRN: <http://ssrn.com/abstract=2046311> (accessed 20 December 2012).

% On the trial of Robert Brasillach, see Alice Kaplan, 7he Collaborator: Trial and Execution of Robert
Brasillach (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2001).

" On the various offences that were established based on a certain opinion, see Frangois Rouquet,
Une Epuration Ordinaire (Paris: CNRS Editions 2011), 145-62.
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far more complex web of interests and tensions and the French defeat in 1940 was
the result of more than the policies of a few ‘traitors’.

Thirdly, it is a selective narrative. Indeed, in the same way that Nuremberg was
essentially (at least at the beginning) about crimes against peace, the trials of the
épuration, as illustrated by those studied in this chapter, were about treason and,
more specifically, the crime that was the capitulation to the Nazis in 1940. There is,
somewhat strikingly, very little mention of the Holocaust. The Laval indictment,
and only then in an annex, mentions the anti-Jewish law merely as an example of
the will of Laval in adapting the French regime to Nazi policy. The Pétain indictment
does not even mention the persecution of Jews and the Court seemed unconcerned
by the issue. When, after one week of discussions on the Armistice, a juror asked
whether there would be any evidence of crimes committed in relation to the Jewish
population, the prosecutor responded that:

We will hear here some representatives of associations of victims that came out safe and sound—
and I congratulate them for that—from the camps of Buchenwald, Dachau, etc. Their
testimony will constitute what I call ‘courtroom impression’ more than actual arguments,
because what matters in this trial, is to make a demonstration.®?

These findings highlight the complex relationship between trials and history. While
trials can be instrumental in historical work, they certainly cannot be considered as
establishing history, as is sometimes argued today. Even if some of the anomalies
of the post-war French trials are not reproduced in today’s trials, there is a limit to
the capacity of criminal trials to set a reliable (and complete) record of the past.®®
This difficulty is compounded by the fact that perceptions of history and expectations
of the outcomes of criminal trials are fragmented. The narrative of the trials was
not only selective, it was the selective choice of the new government, which only
represented a fraction of the variety of interests of the French population at the
time. In this sense, the ‘local ownership’ of the criminal process, as considered
previously, is made more complex by the possibly conflicting hopes of what the
process should achieve. This was illustrated by the difficulty experienced by the
jury in fully adhering to the prosecutorial strategy in the Pétain trial. It was also
impossible for journalists reporting on the trials to convey to their readership the
complexities of a narrative that was essentially political, when they were expecting
one that would mirror more closely their individual suffering.*

In light of this, while the initial reaction to the French trials, given the current
success of the ‘truth paradigm’, could be criticism, one can wonder, taking a step
back, whether truth is in fact such a relevant factor for the reconciliation that is
sought by the trials. Not only is truth a relative concept,® but over-reliance on

2 Vergez-Chaignon, above n 35, 495.

¢ Richard Ashby Wilson, Writing History in International Criminal Trials (Cambridge: Cambridge
University Press, 2011).

4 Vergez-Chaignon, above n 35, 492.

% Manuel Garcia-Carpintero and Max Kélbel (eds), Relative Truth (Oxford: Oxford University
Press, 2008).
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truth ignores the fact that national unity, which is one of the bases for reconciliation,
is based not on truth, but on broadly accepted myths. In France, the myth of the
résistance and the illegality of the Vichy regime was central to national identity. The
fact that it took fifty years for a French president to recognise that the acts of Vichy
were indeed the acts of France illustrates this.”® One must wonder if, at the time,
such a myth was not necessary for the country to move forward.

In other words, post-conflict periods must be seen in a diachronic rather than
synchronic dimension, where different periods might require different narratives
and institutional frameworks. France, again, exemplifies this. Following the initial
push for harsh treatment, a number of ‘softening’ initiatives were introduced in
subsequent years. A general amnesty was enacted in 1953.% Further, as mentioned
above, the strict anti-Vichy narrative promulgated during the trials eventually gave
way to a more nuanced historical record and the recognition that Vichy was also
part of French history. Insisting on some form of objectified truth can in some cases
lead to the reproduction of the societal tensions that were at the heart of the conflict
in the first place. Only a reasoned analysis of the importance of post-conflict
narratives, with their ambiguities, rather than an over-reliance on an illusory objective
truth, can help academics and practitioners advance in the direction of the desired
reconciliation.

 Declaration of President Chirac on the 16 July 1995, <http://www.nytimes.com/1995/07/17/
world/chirac-affirms-france-s-guilt-in-fate-of-jews.html?pagewanted=all&src=pm> (accessed 3 March
2013).

7 Aron, Histoire de L'épuration, above n 5, 45-71.
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The Bordeaux Trial: Prosecuting the
Oradour-sur-Glane Massacre

Frédéric Mégrer*

On 10 June 1944, a German column advanced towards the small village of Oradour-
sur-Glane in the department of Haute-Vienne, Limousin region, in the south-west of
France. It was composed of the 3rd company of the 1st battalion of Panzergrenadier
of the 4th SS-Panzer-Regiment ‘Der Fiihrer’ of the 2eSS-Panzer-Division ‘Das
Reich’. The division had left for Normandy almost as soon as news of D-Day had
arrived. The Limousin region had been the theatre of many FFI (Forces frangaises
de l'intérienr) attacks, which had led to bloody reprisals. In Tulle alone, ninety-nine
men had been hanged.

Oradour-sur-Glane was methodically surrounded. Villagers were ordered to
assemble in the village square with their identification papers. Those who tried to flee
were shot. Women and children were put on one side, men on the other. The men
were then dispatched to six different locations, in front of which heavy machine
guns were placed. At the sound of an explosion, they were gunned down, with the
shooters often aiming for their legs. Some were then finished off at point blank
range. The dead and dying were set on fire. At around the same time, the women
and children were locked into the village church. A canister of asphyxiating gas
was set up, which promptly exploded. The church was filled with black smoke.
The Germans shot indiscriminately. Grenades were thrown in. The bodies were
subsequently covered with straw and church chairs, and set on fire. The church bell
melted under the temperature. The rest of the village was systematically plundered
and set on fire.

Altogether, 648 people (245 women, 207 children including six below six months,
and 196 men) were killed, although only fifty could be identified. A dozen managed
to escape before being caught; five men managed to run away from a burning barn
after being shot. One woman survived the church massacre after jumping from a
church window, breaking her leg, and being shot by an SS soldier in the process (she

* Associate-Professor, Faculty of Law, McGill University; Canada Research Chair in the Law of
Human Rights and Legal Pluralism. I am grateful to Diane Le Gall and Anna Shea for their precious
research assistance.
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was found the next day). She had lost her husband, her son, her two daughters and
her seven-month-old grandson. The massacre was the worst in occupied France,
one of the worst in Western Europe and on a scale comparable to some of the most
dramatic mass executions of the Eastern Front.

In 1953, eight years after the massacre, the trial of Oradour-sur-Glane opened
before a military tribunal in Bordeaux, composed of one professional civilian
magistrate and six military adjuncts (who, according to law, had to be drawn in
majority from the ranks of the resistance). Twenty-one members of the third com-
pany, out of sixty-four who had been identified as having been involved and still
alive, were accused of being co-authors or accomplices to crimes of murder, acts of
barbarity, voluntary arson and plunder. The trial elicited a passionate response in
France and attracted considerable press interest. Of the twenty-one, fourteen were
Frenchmen from Alsace-Lorraine who had been conscripted into the SS, thirteen
by force. One German was sentenced to death, four to sentences of forced labour,
and one was acquitted. Of the Alsatians, only the volunteer was condemned to
death, nine to forced labour, and five to jail terms. Forced labour and prison
sentences ranged from five to twelve years. Under very tense circumstances, a law
of amnesty was voted by Parliament on 19 February 1953, which led to the libera-
tion of those Alsatians who had been forcefully conscripted. This chapter analyses
the legacy of the Bordeaux trial, a trial that is today somewhat forgotten even in
France, but which is remarkably modern in terms of the dilemmas it raised.

(I) Historiography and the Problem of Context

The telling of the Oradour massacre is a delicate historiographical exercise.! Apart
from the occasionally frankly revisionist writing, all accounts agree on the essentials
of what happened, even though all concede that some facts must necessarily be the
object of speculation. The survival of some key witnesses makes certain facts incon-
trovertible—for example, Mrs Marguerite Rouffanche provided a unique insight
into what happened in the church since she was its sole survivor—whilst the death
of many others means that some elements remain forever shrouded in mystery; the
vast majority of victims, but also many of the key perpetrators, died in the months
of combat that followed.

More significantly, all accounts must walk a fine conceptual line between focusing
entirely on the massacre and trying to contextualize it. Too lictle context will not
serve the needs of history, pedagogy or memory. The massacre was not a random
event in the sense of being entirely arbitrary. It fitted into a pattern of actions

! There is a vast literature, mostly in France, dedicated to the Oradour massacre, although far fewer
books on the Bordeaux trial itself. Leading examples of the latter on which this chapter draws are
Jean-Jacques Fouché, Oradour: la politique et la justice (Saint-Paul: Souny, 2004); Guillaume Javerliat,
Bordeaux 1953, le deuxiéme drame d’Oradour: entre histoire, mémoire et politique (Saint-Paul: PULIM,
2008); Jean-Laurent Vonau, Le procés de Bordeaux: les Malgré-Nous et le drame d’Oradour (Strasbourg: La
Nuée Bleue, 2003); Douglas W Hawes, Oradour—The Final Verdict: The Anatomy and Afiermath of a
Massacre (Bloomington, IN: Authorhouse, 2007).
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against civilians, for example, characteristic of the violence of Nazi occupying
troops, perhaps more common on the Eastern Front but increasingly transposed to
the Western fringes of Europe as well. To miss that element would not do historical
justice to the events of 10 June. Yet context is also tricky, and what one fits in that
loose category as having been somehow relevant can raise delicate questions about
what exactly was the meaning of that fateful day in 1944. There can also be such a
thing as too much context, if an episode becomes disconnected from the genealogy
of crimes against humanity, so particularized and over-explained by a sequence of
events as to be trivialized.

At any rate, the massacre was not, so to speak, committed in a day. Rather, it
was directly and indirectly linked to a complex series of circumstances. First and
foremost, perhaps, the massacre is linked to the history of occupation, of which
it constitutes one of the final, most desperate and bloodiest episodes. Germany
occupied the northern half of France in 1940, with the Vichy Government being
given formal authority over the southern zone as little more than a puppet regime.
Nazi troops operated in occupied territory, in a context where significant sections
of French society and the French ‘state’ were willing to cooperate with them, but
where they also encountered significant resistance from a minority and a sullen
opposition from many. The Limousin region was in that respect not unlike many
regions of occupied France. It had significant maquis? presence, yet there were also
many—including, most likely, the inhabitants of Oradour—who were simply
trying to get on with their lives. Almost from the beginning, occupation was a
ruthless affair, designed to subjugate and plunder the occupied areas.

A second element of context that seems crucial is the nature of the Waffen SS,
since it provides the crucial link between the two regions that would prove so central
to the Bordeaux trial: the Limousin and Alsace. The Waffen SS was the military
arm of the SS, which had originally been created as a protection group for Hitler
but had morphed into a veritable state within the state after his accession to power.
It was an elite corps that demanded absolute allegiance to the Fuhrer. By 1944,
the Waffen SS was not quite what it had once been as a fighting force, although it
proved in Oradour and elsewhere that it was certainly a murdering force. It had
suffered extensive casualties on the Eastern Front, where many of its regiments had
been decimated. Although it may seem paradoxical that an elite unit traditionally
based on rigorous selection of volunteers should have enrolled members forcefully
and against their will, such was the situation by 1943 that it had to be less ideologi-
cally and racially rigorous. Given the SS’s ambition to showcase Aryanism, it was
natural that in occupied territory it would look for recruits who conformed to its
racial stereotypes.

A third contextual element that is perhaps most problematic is Alsace. Some treat-
ments of the Oradour massacre focus on Alsace more than others, in ways that seem
to suggest that the crimes initially committed there by the Germans were the cause
of subsequent atrocities that occurred 500 miles to the south-west; others portray
Alsace as factually relevant but ultimately incapable of explaining something such

% Literally, ‘scrub’, where the Résistance retreated to operate against the Germans.
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as Oradour. This tension between those who place an emphasis on the problematique
of Alsace and those who do not is still felt today, either implicitly or explicitly, and
works on Oradour are still judged by many in the regions concerned on the basis of
which side of the line they fall on. It is, at any rate, this fine line that the Bordeaux
military court itself sought to tread, one that repeatedly threatened to engulf the trial
and that would test reconciliation and national unity in post-war France.

Alsace was long a part of the Holy Roman Empire, but had gradually become a
French province in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, particularly following
the French Revolution. In 1871, after the French defeat in the Franco-Prussian
War, it was annexed by the Prussians who proceeded to Germanize it. It was partly
over Alsace and its sister province, Lorraine, that World War I was fought between
France and Germany. Alsatians were conscripted by Germany in 1914, although
many managed to escape to the French lines and switch sides. Alsace was returned
to France in 1919 under the terms of the Treaty of Versailles following which it
underwent a rigorous process of Francization. The difference between Alsace and
the rest of France during World War II was that it was not merely occupied: it was de
facto annexed by Hitler to Germany in 1940, thus fulfilling an old German desire
for revenge, as well as fitting well with the Nazi idea of uniting all ‘Volksdeutsche
(ethnic Germans).

Needless to say, such forced national incorporation was in contravention of
international law. Extraordinarily, and even though the Armistice said nothing
to that effect, Maréchal Pétain, the World War I hero whose efforts largely led to
Alsace (and Lorraine) coming back into the French fold, hardly protested this incor-
poration into Germany. This led many Alsatians to feel betrayed by France. The
annexation was swift and brutal: civil servants were forced to swear allegiance to the
Reich; the French language was banned (including French names); membership in
the Hitler Youth was compulsory for those under eighteen and a border was set up
with France. A re-education and security camp was created at Schirmeck-Labroque
to deal with those resisting Germanization to which many suspected ‘francophiles’
were promptly sent, some on their way to further deportation.

(IT) The Court and its Procedure

Defence for the German accused argued that only an international tribunal
composed of the victors, the defeated and neutrals could judge them. Yet there
was little doubt that, in the spirit of Nuremberg, the crimes had been committed
in a specific location and should therefore be judged by domestic French courts.
France had been quite keen to prosecute Germans and in the years following the
war many had already been convicted.?> The French framework for the prosecu-
tions was attacked by the accused as incompatible with the London Agreement

3 Claudia Moisel, ‘Des crimes sans précédent dans Ihistoire des pays civilisés: I'Occupation
allemande devant les tribunaux francais, 1944-2001", Mémoires/Histoire, 1 (2006), 186.
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and the Nuremberg judgment. In rejecting this challenge, the Cour de Cassation,
the highest French jurisdiction, found that it ‘belongs to the French nation...to
ensure through its tribunals and according to its legal rules the repression of those
crimes that were committed on French territory, or against French nationals’. The
French ordinance of 1944 and the law of 1948 contravened no provision of inter-
national law, since neither the London Agreement nor the Nuremberg verdict
anticipated how crimes should be prosecuted in France, and in fact emphasized
that they should be judged in the countries where the crimes had been committed
‘according to the laws of these countries’.

A substantial amount of time had elapsed since 1944 when the trial began, which
created opportunities even as it raised problems. On the one hand, the atmosphere
was calmer than it would have been immediately after the war when thousands
were executed in France outside any judicial process as a result of the sombre
episode known as épuration. One Alsatian who had early on been identified as a
participant at Oradour was tried, condemned to death, and almost lynched by a
crowd in Limoges (he was subsequently released on appeal because he was a minor
at the time of the events, but was retried in 1953 before the military court on a new
legal basis). On the other hand, the passage of time meant that the overall political
context was less favourable to prosecutions, and that even though the suffering was
still very much alive in the Limousin (it arguably still is even today), some memories
of actual facts had begun to blur. The Bordeaux trial also raised what have become
familiar problems of pre-trial detention. Seven Germans and two Alsatians had, by
the time the trial began, been held for nine years, whilst those not detained had
gone on with their lives. The President of the tribunal was visibly irritated at trial
by how long the accused had had to wait for their day in court.

The trial was conducted in a classic inquisitorial vein, characteristic of the
French criminal procedure that has been somewhat less influential in contemporary
international criminal justice. The instruction (judicial investigation) had occurred
before the trial and led to a significant dossier d’instruction (judicial investigation
file). It had started early after the massacre, the Vichy Government having protested
to the Germans about the killings, and the Wehrmacht Command in France having
complained to the SS about them. However, its work had been marred by the fact
that it unfolded in a country in the midst of hostilities where questioning those
involved was out of the question, and evidence was rapidly being lost. Moreover,
the Wehrmacht had no jurisdiction over the SS, and even though SS General
Lammerding apparently initiated an investigation, it predictably led nowhere. The
investigation subsequently struggled to find those responsible in prisoner of war
camps throughout Europe.

The presiding judge was omnipresent, at times cajoling and at times threatening.
Prosecution and defence were consulted by him almost on a need basis. There was
much direct, unmediated contact between the judge and the defendants, none of
whom had the option to be silent. Interrogation of the defendants was on the basis
of the dossier d’instruction. It has been claimed that the judge’s first statement in the
courtroom was for the gendarme to ‘let the guilty enter’. Much of the defendants’
interrogation by the judge was devoted to verifying things that they had said to
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their interrogators (British and French) and which were in the dossier. Statements
made years earlier by the defendants to military police and which they had since
withdrawn were often held against them.

The defendants often claimed that they had never said some of the things that were
in the dossier, or that they had not read their deposition at the time of signing it.
There was evidence that some had consulted to come up with a common version that
would exonerate them. Many changed their version of events during the investiga-
tion and during trial. Some hinted at having been brutalized by their interrogators,
notably the British military police, but these claims were not pursued in court and
their defence lawyers did not even seek to exclude the evidence supposedly thus
obtained. They claimed that their recollection of events was sketchy, except when
it came to evidence that might exculpate them. With the passage of time, however,
some witnesses own recollections had blurred.

As in previous and subsequent war crimes trials, both defendants and victim
witnesses were tempted to make grand declarations about what they saw as the
issues at stake rather than simply answer the judges’ factual questions. Some of
the defendants or their counsel emphasized the price Alsace had paid to remain
French, whilst victims insisted that this issue was strictly irrelevant to what had
occurred in Oradour. The President of the tribunal ignored them or cut them off,
but it was hard not to get a sense of the deeper animosities and contradictions
implicit in the testimonies. For the rest, much of the trial was dominated by factual
issues and the complex attempt at reconstituting who had been where, when and
doing what. The fact that there were so few survivors made it very difficult to ascer-
tain who had done what, underscoring the sinister paradox that the more ruthless
of war criminals—those who left none behind to testify—might also be those who
stood the best chance of escaping conviction. Perhaps equally importantly, the trial
focused on who knew what in advance, with a view to establishing premeditation
or the lack thereof.

Contrary to the French tradition and because the court was a military one, victims
were not represented and could not avail themselves of the parties civiles institution.
Only a few seats were reserved for them, and they had none of the procedural rights
that would normally have been associated with parties civiles, such as addressing the
court or examining the investigatory file on which the case was based. Nonetheless,
they had been closely associated at the earlier investigative stage and the presiding
judge addressed them directly on several occasions, as if to recognize their huge
stake in the trial.

Another forty-four defendants were also tried i abstentia, although they were
hardly mentioned during trial and were seen as guilty by the prosecutor largely
under the Law of Collective Responsibility,* even if they did not individually
participate in killings. In some ways, this part of the proceedings would confirm
the worst suspicions about the in absentia procedure for a lawyer trained in the
common law tradition and wary of defendants effectively not in a position to
defend themselves: all were condemned to the death penalty. Nonetheless, had

4 See ‘Organizational Guilt’, Section VI below.
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any been caught subsequently (none were), they would have been entitled to a
retrial.

(IIT) Anti-Insurgency and Crimes against Humanity

To this day, the exact reason why the massacre was ordered remains unknown.
In part this merely illustrates its absolute gratuitousness and horror. However, it
did fit into a pattern of orders and strategies, quite characteristic of the ‘general
and systematic attack against civilian populations’ that has become the litmus
test for crimes against humanity. The head of the division, General Lammerding,
had been ordered to assist Wehrmacht units in the south-west to ‘rid the region
of its communist bands and lastingly impress the populations by acting with no
restraint whatsoever’. The massacre was committed against the background of the
Sperrle order, which instructed occupation troops on how to deal ruthlessly with
‘terrorist’ action. The Waffen SS had honed their murderous skills on the Eastern
Front, and their modus operandi in Oradour reflected a pattern long evident in
Ukraine or the Balkans that was being transposed on the Western Front as resist-
ance networks sprung into action after D-Day. In the days preceding the events,
the Germans had become increasingly impatient with attacks on troops and par-
ticularly the kidnapping by the French resistance of a German officer. This was in
the overall context of the Allied landing in Normandy and probably a realization
among the Germans that the tide was turning. The goal may have been to terror-
ize the population into submission, especially after an uprising in neighbouring
Tulle (the city had briefly, but precariously, been retaken from the Wehrmacht
and was brutally punished), and to limit guerrilla action against German columns.
Evidence presented at trial of exchanges between SS officials in the hours that pre-
ceded the massacre suggested a punitive expedition was in the making. Yet even
that explanation fails to be entirely convincing;: if reprisals or a warning had been
intended, why was so much effort put into hiding the crime rather than publiciz-
ing it as an example?

Why Oradour was chosen despite its lack of apparent link to the maquis also
remains unclear. It was at one point argued that it may have been confused with
Oradour-sur-Vayres, a neighboring village which was a significant centre for resist-
ance, although that thesis now tends to be discredited. In fact, rather than being
targeted because it was a maquis-supporting village, it may well have been chosen
precisely because the Germans knew it had no maquis, and would therefore prove
a particularly defenceless target. If nothing else, it was relatively small (for example,
compared to neighbouring Saint Junien, a town of 10,000) and thus made for a
feasible, well planned one-day murderous expedition. Another possible motivation
was that Oradour, as a relatively well-off village that had remained somewhat apart
from the war, was a prime plunder target.

These doubts about the precise motivation for the operation ultimately made it
hard to characterize it criminologically. Was it first and foremost a manifestation
of an excess of violence in war but nonetheless, even in a distorted way, part of the
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pursuit of war in that it responded to specific military incidents? Did it exemplify
the dangers of anti-insurgency warfare in a context where partisans had a tendency
to blend with the local population? Or was it more gratuitously sadistic and extermi-
natory—mote reminiscent, except for its lack of discriminatory or racist character, of
the Einsatzgruppen’s reign of terror behind Eastern lines?

Whilst there is no entirely satisfactory answer to these questions, victims provide
an interesting prism through which to address them. Victims were characteristi-
cally ambivalent about the testimony presented in court. In part, they did not
want Oradour to be simply presented as an act of folly, one entirely irreducible to
human rationality, because of the risk that folly might somehow excuse what
happened, and make the events less representative of German barbarity. In addition,
folly was not particularly credible given the number of individuals involved and
the meticulous organization of the massacre. It was important to victims’ perception
of that day’s evil that it had been premeditated.

However, nor did victims want the massacre to be attributed to even a distorted
military rationality. In fact, victims were wary of attempts to ‘explain’ the massacre
too much, in particular by those who would have drawn a link with maquis activity,
something that might have made it look more like an operation of reprisal than
an act of unprovoked barbarity. It was important in the public debate to make the
killing appear entirely unnecessary from a military point of view, even if that led
to some very twisted logic,’ if only because the massacre must have had some mar-
ginal chilling effect on the resistance (or could somewhat rationally be thought of
in that way by Nazi tacticians). In the end, Oradour had to be sufficiently planned
that it could not be dismissed as a psychopathic aberration, yet not so rational that
it might find apologists. This line between reason and folly was arguably one of the
finest navigated by the trial.

(IV) Collectivization and Moral Hierarchy

Although the focus of a trial such as the one in Bordeaux was to establish the guilt
or innocence of select individuals, and although survivors and relatives of victims
insisted that this was all there should be to it, it proved extremely hard to abstract
these individual issues from the complex ways in which they related to group respon-
sibility. The argument in Alsace was very much framed as one of that region’s own
grievances emerging from the war. Alsatian public opinion, of course, condemned
the massacre. The accused even had Pierre Zackenberg as their lead lawyer, an
Alsatian résistant who had been held by the Germans from 1942 to the end of the
war, and who could hardly be suspected of sympathy with collaboration. Moreover,

> For example, one of the most bizarre (and unconvincing) arguments heard in this context was that
Dresden and Hiroshima were not criminal because their very magnitude showed them to have been
necessary to the belligerents’ war effort, whereas localized, ‘incomplete’ massacres such as Oradour
betrayed something more sinister. See (disagreeing) Jean Pierre Maunoir, ‘Le Procés d’Oradour’, Revue
de droit international, de sciences diplomatiques et politiques (1953), 186.
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by a bizarre twist of fate, a number of Alsatians (nine, including two children,
to which should be added fourteen children from neighbouring Lorraine) were
among the victims at Oradour, having been evacuated there by the French authorities
prior to the outbreak of hostilities in 1939.

This did not prevent Alsatian public opinion from seeing considerable injus-
tice in the particular case that was unfolding in Bordeaux. The Alsatians thought
that they had equally been victims of the Germans and that the trial essentially
prosecuted victims. They could point to the fact that the German Gauleiter in
Alsace, Robert Wagner, had been convicted and executed for war crimes, partly
on the basis of the forced recruitment of 130,000 Alsatian men. Of those, 30,000
had died, 20,000 had disappeared, 10,000 were gravely wounded, and many of
the rest were traumatized forever by what they had seen and done on the Eastern
Front. No Alsatian family was immune from the consequences of forced enrol-
ment (one defence lawyer did not hesitate to compare the 600 victims of Oradour
to the 40,000 victims in Alsace). In fact, and by another curious twist of his-
tory, Karl Buck, the sadistic SS-Hauptsturmfiihrer and head of the Schirmeck
camp, was being tried in Metz simultaneously, further inflaming Alsace’s sense of
victimhood.

There was also a feeling that Alsace was doubly victimized by France, having been
largely abandoned to its Germanization by the Vichy Government, and then being
made to pay for some of the tragic events that followed. The Alsatians went as far
as to suggest that they were equally victims of Oradour-sur-Glane, something which
provoked considerable indignation in the Limousin, where forced recruitment was
seen as incommensurable with the wanton killing of the innocent. Nonetheless,
there was a deep-seated feeling of being ill-understood by the rest of France, and of
resentment for French society and the state for overlooking the tragic circumstances
of forced enrolment. For many in Alsace, the co-presence of malgré nous (literally
‘despite ourselves—this is how the French describe those forcibly conscripted into
the German army) and German SS in the docket in Bordeaux was tantamount to
prosecuting tormentor and victim simultaneously.

Foremost in the minds of many Alsatians was also a specific matter of what
one might call judicial aesthetics. It had proved very difficult to find or arrest the
German officers suspected of being most responsible for the massacre. It was not
immediately known after the war that the commander of the Das Reich division,
General Lammerding, was living in Diisseldorf, in the British-occupied zone. After
1948, the official British policy was to only extradite Germans accused of homicide.
At any rate, the French seemed to have failed to make a formal extradition request.
It has been argued since that Lammerding received CIA protection in exchange for
intelligence. At any rate Lammerding subsequently thrived as an entrepreneur in
Germany, his name adorning the trucks of his construction company. Similarly,
there were some doubts about how persistently French authorities had pursued
the extradition of Captain Kahn, commander of the third company. Defence law-
yers in Bordeaux claimed that he was hiding in Sweden, but that no demand for
extradition had been made by the French government. By contrast, the surviving
Alsatian members of the third company had been much easier to locate and the
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irony was that, even though their case may have been more ambiguous, no issue
of state cooperation or extradition arose in their case. This led to a widely shared
perception in Alsace that the forcefully conscripted foot soldiers were being made
to pay for the high ranking fugitive Nazi fanatics.

The net result was also that fourteen of the accused were from Alsace whilst only
seven Germans were in the dock. This gave the appearance that two thirds of those
involved in the crime were from Alsace. This ratio was largely accidental, and based
on who had been identified, who had survived and who could be arrested (a total
of fifty-two Germans had been indicted, and at least 150 had been involved). The
actual ratio on the day of the massacre was closer to one Alsatian for every five or
six Germans. Nonetheless the perception was very much that Alsatians were made
to bear a disproportionate share of the blame, something which only reinforced the
Alsatian sense of victimization. As in subsequent trials, it would prove very difficult
to shift attention away from this symbolism simply by insisting that the trial was
only about individual guilt.

(V) Joinder and Disjoinder

The perceived problem of having the malgré nous stand trial next to the German
SS translated into successive challenges to the trial all of which sought to juridi-
cally differentiate the situation of the Alsatians from that of the Germans. At the
outset, there had been hopes that the Alsatians would be tried entirely separately,
and in a different court than the Germans. The French war crime legislation (an
ordonnance) of 28 August 1944, which provided the framework for post-war pros-
ecutions, only applied to foreign nationals, as a result of the fiction that war crimes
could not be committed by French nationals in occupied France. The idea was that
French collaborators should fall under a different jurisdiction for treasonous acts.
In fact, one of the Alsatian accused (Grienenberger) claimed the protection of the
non bis in idem principle arguing that he had already been prosecuted for treason
in 1947.

At the same time, there was a strong preference for all the Oradour events to
be prosecuted in a single trial. In today’s parlance, one might say this made sense
from the point of view of transitional justice. If nothing else, it made sense from
the point of view of the prompt and diligent administration of justice. Whatever
other political considerations may have come into play, it was extremely difficult
to distinguish between ‘French’ and ‘German’ acts at Oradour, and certainly the
victims had faced a group of men all equally donning the SS uniform and, as far
as they were concerned, all equally murderous. Victims also strenuously argued
against the attempt to equate the prosecution of les douze (‘the twelve’) with that of
Alsace, insisting that only individual criminal liability was at stake. The Alsatians
might even gain from being judged side-by-side with the much more evidently
guilty German SS. Following a visit to Oradour by the French President Vincent
Auriol in 1947 and with the full support of the then very powerful Communist
Party, a new law was promised that would remedy the loophole. The law, adopted
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on 5 September 1948, made the repression of war crimes applicable to the French
as well, and made them susceptible to trial before a military court. The Cour de
Cassation rejected Grienenberger’s argument that he would be judged twice for
the same acts, since the treason accusation and the Oradour accusations under the
1948 law were entirely irreducible.

Having failed to obtain a separate trial before ordinary French courts, the
Alsatian counsel for the accused subsequently did everything they could to have
their case disjoined from that of the Germans. Some went as far as to suggest
that trying the Alsatians and Germans together amounted to fulfilling Hitler’s
annexionist project by showing them as intimately bound. The Cour de Cassation
refused the disjoinder in August 1950, and sent both Germans and Alsatians to
trial together. Several other attempts to obtain a disjoinder during the trial failed,
despite having obtained the support of the prosecutor (apparently under pressure
from Paris) and the neutrality of German counsel. Apart from the need to respect
the 1948 law, whatever criticisms had been levelled at it, the fear expressed by the
presiding judge was that disjoinder, albeit presented as a mere symbolic and proce-
dural move, would require the court to decide on the issue of forced enrolment (if
it had occurred, then the 1948 law might be inapplicable) and thus prejudge the
substance of the verdict (to which one might respond that joinder also seemed to
prejudge something).

Ultimately, however, the adoption of a 1953 law essentially reversing the 1948
law as far as the French accused were concerned (their personal participation had to
be proved henceforth and could not be assumed, whereas the Germans remained
under the less favourable regime of being presumed to have joined willingly and
participated in the crimes of their units) made the case for separation stronger. At
the trial, the fact that the German and Alsatian defendants sat on opposite sides
had already reinforced the sense that quite different predicaments were at stake.
Since the trial had already reached the pleading stage by the time the 1953 law was
adopted, securing the presence of the Alsatians at the Germans’ trial and vice-versa
seemed less important than when opportunities to confront versions might be nec-
essary. The presiding judge ultimately ordered a ‘division’ of the trial rather than a
full ‘disjunction,” which would have required retrials.

(VI) Organizational Guilt and the Reversal
of the Presumption of Innocence

The 1944 and particularly the 1948 law on which the trial was based was a highly
contentious piece of legislation. It seemed ideally suited to the circumstances of
Oradour and anticipated difficulties about establishing individual guilt given the
dearth of testimony about individual acts. Its key Article proclaimed that when
the war crimes enumerated in the earlier 1944 law ‘can be attributed to the col-
lective action of a group or military formation that belongs to an organization
declared criminal by the international military court (which included the Waffen
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SS)...then all individuals belonging to this formation or this group may be con-
sidered coauthors’.®
In addition, according to Article 2 of the law:

For the purposes of applying the previous article, acts are considered imputable to the col-
lective action of the relevant formation or group, war crimes committed by its members
in the same region, even in isolation or out of their own initiative when, because of their
importance, their gravity, their repetition, or the number of victims, these acts constitute
the elements of a collective action.”

This was ‘joint criminal enterprise’ (JCE)® avant la letzre, mixed in with organi-
zational guilt, a particularly tenuous and opportunistic construct from the point
of view of fundamental principles of criminal law, which would certainly appear
shocking by today’s even imperfectly liberal standards. The law, often designated as
the ‘Law of Collective Responsibility’, made little attempt to appear less extreme.
In truth, however, it merely generalized to Frenchmen a series of presumptions
introduced as early as 1944 for the prosecution of German war criminals. As long
as only Germans were involved, the French legal world had lived quite well with
the presumptions, which conformed to a sense of German willing participation in
both the war effort and some of the crimes that ensued. The presumptions were
destined to appear more unfair when the malgré nous were involved and part of
French public opinion became much more painfully aware of how exorbitant such
a provision was.

At the time the law provoked outraged reactions and was denigrated in the
Alsatian press. Within the legal field, none other than Henri Donnedieu de Vabres,
the French Prosecutor at Nuremberg, argued both in specialized law journals and
in the press that the law had misunderstood the intentions of the Nuremberg and
Tokyo tribunals when criminalizing organizations, which had never been to ignore
the principle of individual guilt and the presumption of innocence.” Several doctri-
nal articles at the time underlined the fragility of the law from a human rights point
of view, the feeling being that the law was at any rate largely superfluous given that
French law allowed for the possibility of convicting individuals for a crime they
had committed in reunion as part of a group with a common intention, even when
the precise circumstances of their participation could not be elucidated.!

¢ Loi No. 48-1416 of 15 September 1948 on war crimes (my translation).

7 Loi No. 48-1416 of 15 September 1948, above n 6.

8 A.M. Dannerand J.S. Martinez, ‘Guilty Associations: Joint criminal enterprise, command respon-
sibility, and the development of international criminal law’, California Law Review, 93 (2005), 75.

9 The judgment did make membership in certain ‘criminal’ organizations a crime, but only so long
as membership had been voluntary and the individuals had known that the crimes were committed.
The 1948 law essentially reversed the burden by considering that members of such organizations
were to be presumed to have joined willingly and to have known the crimes committed. Although
the language of the Nuremberg judgment remained superficially, in effect the 1948 law was much
harsher: Henri Donnedieu de Vabres, ‘Note, Cour de cassation, 3 aott 1950°, Recueil Dalloz, 40
(1950), 706.

!0 Maurice Patin, ‘La France et le jugement des crimes de guerre’, Revue de science criminelle et de

droit comparé (1951), 393.
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The biggest problem was the way in which the law seemed to depart from cardinal
principles of French criminal law concerning individual guilt, among which were
some of the very principles that the Vichy regime had strikingly departed from,
and whose pre-eminence had been re-established by the Libération. The notion of
collective guilt was also said to contravene the Universal Declaration of Human
Rights, the recently adopted European Convention on Human Rights, and the
principle of individual responsibility. Moreover, the law shifted the burden of
proof onto the accused rather than the prosecution. To make matters worse, it was
retroactive, in violation of French criminal law principles (and in ways that were
perhaps reminiscent of the Vichy regime’s own infamous legislation). Its adoption
certainly did not help legitimize the trial in Alsatian public opinion. Because of
the way it threw a broad mantle of opprobrium on a large class of individuals, it
seemed to echo France’s broad stigmatization of Alsace for the crimes.

Nonetheless, the law was found to be compatible with France’s international
obligations by the Cour de Cassation in 1950, upon challenge to the order send-
ing the defendants to trial before the Bordeaux military court. It was said to
merely implement what had been the London Charter (Articles 9 and 10) and the
Nuremberg Judgment’s recognition that certain organizations were per se criminal.
The international tribunal, in accordance with its mandate, had not shied from
recognizing that participation in several Nazi organizations was per se criminal,
even though that was not necessary for the conviction of any particular defend-
ant. In transferring into French law not only the provisions relating to the guilt of
organizations, but also the essence of the safeguards for non-criminal individual
members, the French legislator had conformed to its international obligations.'! At
any rate, no source of general international law mandated that domestic prosecu-
tions be carried out in any particular way, and considerable latitude was granted
to states who exercised their sovereignty in such matters.'? It may have mattered
also that the Nuremberg judgment was, strictly speaking, only concerned with a
‘participation in a criminal organization’ offence, whereas the French law dealt
with the repression of war crimes' (although if anything one might think this
made matters worse).

It is true that the law did ultimately provide a way to prove their innocence for
individuals who could establish that they had been forcefully enrolled and did
not participate in the crime, and not merely for those who could prove they had
‘opposed’ the crimes as had initially been suggested in Parliament, which would
have placed a very heavy burden on the defendants. In other words, aside from the

' Atany rate it was not for judges to ‘appreciate. . . the value of a text that has been regularly debated
by legislative assemblies and promulgated by the executive’. This points to the lack of constitutional
judicial review available to ordinary courts in France, let alone the possibility of reviewing a law’s
compatibility with international human rights law.

2 Donnedieu de Vabres nonetheless argued, probably rightly, that it was not open to the French
legislator to invoke the authority of the Nuremberg Judgment, and then to reinterpret one of its key
concepts (the criminality of certain organizations) in a way that was at odds with the tribunal’s own
interpretation: de Vabres, above n 9, 706.

13 Patin, above n 10, 400.
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issue of burden of proof; at least merely belonging to a group involved in crimes
was not sufficient for a conviction, provided one could prove the absence of an
actus reus (but how was one to prove conclusively that one had been forcefully
enrolled and not participated in the crimes one was accused of?). The presump-
tion of criminality was refutable. In addition, even within the framework of the
1948 law’s notion of collective responsibility, the Cour de Cassation made it clear
that the actual criminal acts of each participant had to appear in the indictment
(if nothing else, this would prove crucial for sentencing).'* The Cour de Cassation
also picked up the fact in 1950 that some of the defendants had been given insuf-
ficient time and means to collect evidence to rebut the 1948 law’s presumptions
and ordered a remedy.

Moreover, the law did not 0blige the judge to consider the impugned acts
collectively and was not exclusive of ordinary French law on criminal participation,
something which turned out to be crucial in due course. Throughout the trial, the
presiding judge, Nussy Saint-Saéns, seemed wisely committed to not using the 1948
law to make his case. By the time the law was abrogated (see below), there was
little choice for the prosecution but to try to prove some form of ordinary crimi-
nal participation rather than rely on the presumptions of collective responsibility.
Nonetheless, even the 1948 law’s refutable and optional presumptions of guile did
more to discredit the prosecutions in light of part of French public opinion and
legal intelligentsia than any other provision."

(VII) Orders, Forced Enlistment, Duress

Given the broad arsenal of presumptions available to the prosecution, the debate
quickly shifted to defences, in a way that was to resurrect some of the burning
issues at the heart of the national debate. Only one of the accused acknowledged
his participation in the massacre. Many of the others confessed to having been at
Oradour, but all claimed, to the presiding judge’s disbelief, that they had taken no
active part in the killing, and in some cases not even heard gunshots or explosions.
Rather, everyone had been standing guard outside the village or taken away sick.
Blame was placed by the malgré nous on Sergent Boos, the widely despised Alsatian
SS volunteer, and, of course, on the Germans themselves. Yet even as they sought
to minimize their own participation, legal defences were hinted at on several poten-
tially exculpatory overlapping levels.

At the most extreme, the argument could be made that the defendants were
only following orders. This was an argument most clearly made by the German
defendants. It was clear that the Company enforced harsh discipline and some of
the defendants, even among the Germans, could show that they had been on its

14" de Vabres, above n 9.

5 Donnedieu de Vabres, in particular, was sceptical that it made any difference that the presump-
tions were optional. Their very existence as tools of the judiciary offended the legal canon, went
against the idea of the judicial discretion (‘intime conviction’), and there was no guarantee that they
would not be used: Donnedieu de Vabres, above n 9, 706.
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receiving end. Some of the testimony heard on the defence side insisted on the
habits of blind obedience and practices close to brainwashing that the Hitler youth
inculcated to young recruits prior to their enrolment. A bizarre incident also threw
an unwelcome light on the events: a letter sent by SS General Lammerding from
his German retreat in which he argued that the Germans should be freed since they
had merely respected orders. Even the French prosecutor seemed to recognize that
an army could not function merely on the basis of some loose subordination, and
that discipline and obedience were the cornerstones of military life. The defence
insisted that soldiers could not be philosophers and could not inquire into the just-
ness of acts they were ordered to commit. Moreover, there was some evidence that
at least the subordinates may have been led to believe that the civilians were in fact
résistants or Résistance sympathizers'® and that any action undertaken in Oradour
was already covered by general orders. At any rate, by the time they might have
had an awakening of conscience, there would have been very little time to decide
to disobey, and even less to survive in doing so, so that disobedience was by any
standard unrealistic.

In spite of all this, the defence was bound to fail given the very strong Nuremberg
precedent and the idea that superior orders can never be a defence. The Lammerding
letter was wisely never produced in court by counsel for the German defendants,
and would probably have done little in terms of minimizing their guilt. The French
prosecutor insisted that due obedience did not extend to acts that were manifestly
illegal, such as the killing of women and children. The killings of Oradour went
far beyond any presumption of legality. Nothing had been found during the pro
forma searches carried out by the SS in the village (which probably had more to do
with looting than seriously looking for weapon caches) that could have suggested
to those present that they were involved in anything other than a wanton massacre,
and those who had any doubts should have shed them by the time it was clear that
hundreds of women and children were targeted.

Something more than merely following orders was therefore necessary, and
much was made of the fact that twelve of the Alsatians, like 130,000 of their peers,
had been forcibly enlisted. This involved a problematic conflation of the issue of
the personal responsibility of the defendants and the collective fate of Alsace as a
region, which counsel for the defence actively promoted. Compulsory military
service had been introduced in 1942. There was a lingering suspicion in France
that Alsatian SS members were not entirely hostile to the goals of Nazism (some-
thing which German propaganda certainly encouraged by presenting Alsatians as
SS volunteers), reinforced by the fact that a small minority had clearly volunteered
including, notably, Sergeant Boos, a defendant at the trial.

In reality, however, most of the Alsatian defendants and the Alsatian recruits in the
SS were hardly fanatical Nazis. Some had served with the French army in 1939-40.
Many went to extremes to avoid compulsory labour or service in the German military
or SS (self-mutilation was not unheard of). Several had accomplished minor acts of

16 The Résistance is the generic name given by the French already at the time to all efforts at overthrowing

German rule and ending occupation. It included efforts within France and outside it.
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resistance before and after being enlisted (smashing a window featuring a picture of
Hitder, for example, or warning people about to be arrested), and some may even
have been forced into the SS precisely because of their ‘Frenchness’. In fact, forced
enrolment was organized in Alsace largely because of the disappointing number of
Alsatians volunteering for the SS (at most 2,000). Francophile sentiment ran strong
in the region. The malgré nous were treated harshly by their German superiors and
Alsatian volunteers because of their supposed lack of genuine Nazi sympathies and
a suspicion that they were always on the verge of deserting (hence the apparent
instruction that they never be left alone). Indeed the German General Staff had
objected to including Alsatians in the Wermacht on account of their unreliability.
Their weapons were apparently often checked after military action to verify that they
had been used. Once captured in Normandy, one of the accused had subsequently
participated with the Free French in the invasion of Germany and, for the trial, two
had to be repatriated from Indochina where they were fighting for France.

The argument was that the initial element of compulsion made the subsequent
following of orders a defence since constraint (other than general and habitual
respect for the law) was involved at the outset. Indeed, the 1948 Law of Collective
Responsibility anticipated as one possible defence that the accused ‘bring proof
of having been forcibly drafted’. This was all the more so since forced enrolment
was itself a war crime. Hence the malgré nous could be regarded as themselves
victims of a crime, a situation that evokes the status today of child soldiers accused
of war crimes. It is worth highlighting the nature of that constraint. In annexed
Alsace-Lorraine, the young were forced to join the Hitler youth, to attend the Reich
school of Germanization, to enrol into the army, and were drilled Prussian-style.
New recruits were given German nationality. Furthermore, the re-education camp
in Schirmeck was available to deal with recalcitrants and torture them into sub-
mission. Crucially, Wagner also implemented the system of Sippenhaf, ie reprisals
against the family based on the idea of ‘blood’ or ‘clan’ responsibility. Many of the
defendants knew of men in Alsace whose entire family had been deported after
they refused to serve in the SS. This led to a culture of blind obedience.

Of the fourteen Alsatians tried in 1953, twelve had been forcefully enrolled at
the age of seventeen or eighteen, so that some today would count as child soldiers.
In fact, the Alsatian who had been condemned to the death penalty in 1946 for
his participation in at least one murder at Oradour was eventually acquitted on the
basis that he was not eighteen at the time. Because the 1948 law did not, unlike
ordinary French law, anticipate a specific regime for minors, they were tried with
those who were adults at the time before the Bordeaux military court. Nonetheless
their youth and immaturity were frequently mentioned as factors that would have
made them extremely vulnerable to pressure and intimidation. Witnesses testified
in Bordeaux about how difficult it would have been for anyone to oppose orders
or desert the SS. It was repeatedly argued that one could not expect teenagers to
be heroes and to sacrifice their lives rather than follow an order to kill. Moreover,
given the contempt in which SS (especially French SS) were held in the region, it
would likely have been difficult for them to surrender safely to the maquis (the
malgré nous who deserted on the Eastern Front invariably ended up in gulags
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where they were treated harshly). This vision of particularly harsh conditions being
brought to bear on young shoulders was given renewed credibility by the fact that
several of the witnesses testifying in the accuseds’ favour were résistants in good
standing, especially Alsatian résistants, who knew very well the risks they or others
had taken to escape German enrolment.

Yet one of the characteristics of these Alsatian testimonies was that few seemed
to have anything to do directly with the actual facts of Oradour, and were instead
awkwardly about a much more general problem occurring far removed from the
scene of the crime. Moreover, the circles of the French resistance were wary of the sug-
gestion that ‘collaboration’ was acceptable as long as it had been coerced, and that
forced enrolment might provide a blanket defence. After all, one might be initially
coerced to join an organization yet later, through peer pressure or group bonding,
become one of its enthusiastic executioners. At the very least one ought to be able
to prove continuing pressure beyond the initial pressure of forced enrolment.

As many as 40,000 Alsatians had managed to escape compulsory military service
by fleeing to France or Switzerland. Alphonse Adam, the head of the Alsatian student
resistance, was executed as a result of his refusal to join the SS. The veterans’
association of Lorraine, the region neighbouring Alsace, insisted that desertion
had always been an option, perhaps to better distinguish themselves from the
Alsatian malgré nous. One might argue that this was particularly so in the case of
the third company which, contrary to normal SS practice, had had the ‘chance’
of being deployed in their own country, a terrain which would presumably have
been more hospitable for them than, say, Soviet Russia. The South West Federation
of the Forces Frangaises Combatantes emphasized, rightly or not, that there were
plenty of local maquis to which the SS could have deserted. Indeed, at least one
Das Reich member had escaped to the maquis after Oradour and had subsequently
died fighting for France’s liberation. It seemed impossible to entirely exclude the
possibility of moral choice, and the fact that it could be rational or simply brave
rather than implausibly heroic.

Pointedly, the Alsatians were asked why if; as they professed, they hated being
in the SS, they had failed to desert; or, even more problematically, why they
stayed when their work consisted only in persecuting civilians, but in some cases
fled when faced with the harsh reality of combat in Normandy. The line between
constraint and /ibre arbitre was also a tenuous one. After all, it may well have
been, as their lawyer suggested and as the German press insisted much later on
when the Alsatians were amnestied, that not even the German indictees had
joined the SS freely. This argument in defence of the Germans tended to weaken
the same argument being made in favour of the Alsatians, for the obvious reason
that it was not something that French and international post-war public opinion
was willing to contemplate (it would have unravelled the one thing on which all
agreed: Nazi monstrosity). Moreover, the gap between forced enrolment months
or years carlier and the commission of atrocities one June day in 1944 simply
seemed too large to sustain a convincing defence that the crimes were entirely
unintentional. Staying and complying with orders to participate amounted to
endorsing the massacre. At best, the prosecutor argued, forced enrolment should

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



154 European Histories I: Prosecuting Atrocity

be an extenuating circumstance relevant for sentencing, not one that would
exclude guilt.

Alternatively, the argument was made that the defendants were not only (or really)
following orders, as much as responding to a threat of death if they refused to execute
them. The defence of superior orders, in that case, really becomes a defence of duress,
which could nullify intent even more effectively than forced enrolment. It was a
defence that was and continues to be anticipated by Article 64 of the French Criminal
Code. There was certainly evidence that refusal to obey an order during operations
might lead to a court martial and an execution, possibly immediately. However, again
the issue of desertion ‘at the earliest possible moment’ arose. It was viewed as inher-
ently risky but certainly not more so than remaining with a unit destined for the
Eastern Front or Normandy. Moreover, there was damning evidence during the trial
of the third company having gone quite happily to the massacre (including hints of an
orgy of drinking and, possibly, rape in the night that followed), and having executed it
with a cruelty against specific victims that belied any notion of duress. Although this
evidence was not related to any specific defendants, it did nothing to improve their
individual cases.

(VIII) Sentencing

In terms of sentencing, it appears that lack of direct participation in some of the worst
killings (firing squads, church massacre, individualized killing), young age, forthright-
ness with the tribunal, remorse and contrition were all considered mitigating factors
resulting in simple prison sentences, which in some cases amounted to very litde,
given time already served. Conversely, rank (particularly the German and the Alsatian
non-commissioned officers), direct participation in killings and unrepentance led
straight to death sentences or forced labour convictions. Overall the sentences of the
Alsatians were marginally less harsh than those of the Germans for comparable facts,
and were adopted by a majority of judges rather than unanimously, a nod at least in
the direction that their situation was not quite comparable (although of course not
enough of a nod from the Alsatian point of view).

In that respect, it seems that the tribunal judged German failure to stand up to their
superiors and disobey orders more harshly than it did the malgré nous. The suggestion
may have been that Alsatian presence among SS ranks was based on pure coercion
making a gesture of defiance highly implausible; whereas it may be that the Germans
were seen as having more of a special responsibility given that they were operating
among their own. Yet even this distinction (which was not explicated and is merely
proposed hypothetically here) is peculiar in its generality. Surely some Germans might
be able to argue that their being in the SS was largely based on a similar type of coer-
cion, a point raised by some in the Bundestag at the time.!” Moreover, if one was
serious about one’s war crimes justice cosmopolitanism, should it really have made

17 Norbert Frei, Adenauers Germany and the Nazi Past: The Politics of Amnesty and Integration
(New York, NY: Columbia University Press, 2002), 139.
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much of a difference, sheer duress being equal, that one was a national or not of the
country behind the crimes? The Alsatians’ fate may have been a cruel one, but if
anything their claim to having been radically victimized by the Nazis might have been
stronger had at least some risen up in Oradour at the point of being asked to commit
the most Nazi-like of acts.

A peculiar twist nonetheless made the sentences of the malgré nous much harder
to stomach: the Germans had all been detained since the end of the war and were
therefore close to liberation when time already served in pre-trial detention was
discounted (the majority were in fact freed soon after the verdict). Conversely,
the Alsatians, who had all appeared as free men and had gone on with their lives
since the end of the war, faced the beginning of lengthy sentences. Predictably,
the sentences left all French sides profoundly unhappy. Alsace was convinced that
the Court had largely failed to hear its arguments, and that a few of its sons were
scapegoated and further victimized. Limousin public opinion found the sentences
completely inadequate, the expectation being that only the death penalty could
have made sense of the horror of the crimes committed. The misunderstanding
was complete and created considerable political strains.

(IX) Politics and Amnesty

The Bordeaux trial presents a unique case in which debates in Court were paralleled
before the French Parliament in almost real time, in ways that challenged the sep-
aration of power between the legislature and the judiciary. The Law of Collective
Responsibility had itself been adopted with the Oradour massacre in mind, a law
almost tailor-made for the Bordeaux trial and the claims of victims. Once the trial
had begun, however, the powerful Alsace incorporés de force organizations, relayed
by local elected officials and Alsatian members of Parliament, successfully lobbied
for the Law of Collective Responsibility to be debated anew. There were in other
words two parallel tracks, one judicial and one parliamentary, dealing with the
exact same questions. Debates were launched in Parliament following court deci-
sions, as though the legislature sought to intervene in judicial proceedings. Whereas
arguments on Alsatian martyrdom could only be secondary in the courtroom, they
received a full airing in Parliament. The Alsatian members of parliament proposed
an amendment to the 1948 law. The Communists, who emerged from the war and
occupation as some of the most reliable 7ésistants, were almost alone in opposing
any changes.

Geographically, the fact that the trial occurred in Bordeaux, within a bus ride
of Oradour, meant that considerable local pressure came to bear, sometimes in
the form of protests outside the courtroom. The judge made it known via the
press present in the courtroom that he disapproved of such demonstrations, and
thought that they did not help the victims. However, the general context was one
of popular and political pressure on both sides. The trial was also intensely covered
by the media in a way that was relatively new at the time.
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Ultimately, the pressure of the Alsatian members of Parliament carried the day
and the Law of Collective Responsibility was abrogated, in the midst of the trial,
by 372 votes to 279. This gave rise to the curious and quite unique situation where
a trial was deprived, in mid-course, of the very instrument on which it had partly
been based. The trial continued because the law still needed to go through vari-
ous stages to become formally binding and because ordinary French criminal law
remained an option to convict the accused. However, there is little doubt that the
trial’s vitality had already been fatally compromized, and that future developments
were already contained in this turning of Parliament against its own creature.

The result of the vote only reinvigorated Alsatian efforts to bring the trial to
a halt. Général de Gaulle weighed in favour of more understanding for Alsace.
A mere ten days after the verdict, an amnesty was adopted in the Assembly by 319
votes for, 211 against and fifty-five abstentions, the only of its kind in the history
of the French legal system. It was a considerable victory for Alsace, which in the
space of a year had managed to obtain the vote of two laws nullifying the Bordeaux
trial. It is best understood as a pacifying measure designed to further a form of
regional reconciliation in France. Politically, such had been the Alsatian reaction
to the initial verdict that some feared that it would reinforce the region’s autono-
mist aspirations—and some promoters of the amnesty subtly raised that prospect.
National reconciliation was hailed as the overriding goal by the centre right. This
was not the only initiative that seemed to have reconciliation as a superior goal: the
lack of diligence with which French authorities pursued the extradition of the
German officers at large could also be attributed to the onset of the Cold War and
a desire to move closer to Germany.

The amnesty was criticised by victims who were left with an extremely bitter taste
in their mouths and the impression of having been betrayed. It also represented
an unprecedented meddling by the legislature with a court decision. It was feared,
although this probably proved unfounded, that the amnesty law had handed
former collaborators a new defence of having been coerced into collaboration.
The fact that the two defendants who had been sentenced to death (the Alsatian
volunteer and the German Sergeant) were pardoned did nothing to restore faith in
the justice system. By 1958, all were free men.

(X) Legacy and Epilogue

Perhaps one of the most interesting aspects of the Bordeaux trial was the reverbera-
tions it created in France, and the way every judicial stage had a tendency to spill
beyond the courtroom. Following the initial condemnation of the malgré nous,
for example, Alsace reacted strongly. In Strasbourg, a 6,000-strong demonstration
was organized, replicated by several smaller events elsewhere in Alsace; the Place
de Bordeaux was renamed; the Monument aux Morts was draped in black. Local
elected officials claimed they would cease to sit and carry out their functions until
Alsace’s honour had been restored.
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Yet the reaction of Oradour to the amnesty was in some ways even more drastic.
In 1945, Général de Gaulle had visited the village and decided it should have
a special place in French national memory. The old village was to be preserved
and granted a special status in French law, whilst a new Oradour would be built
next to it. The Oradour authorities clearly supported the project and conceived of
themselves as guardians of its legacy. Following the Bordeaux verdict, however, the
village engaged in a decades-long symbolic retaliatory action against the French
state: it sought the return of the commemorative site from the government; the
association of survivors and the village sent back the medals that they had received;
state officials were denied access to commemorations (no French President was
received there until Frangois Mitterand); the village refused to transfer the ashes of
the martyrs to the crypt built by the state for that purpose. Perhaps most strikingly,
a list of all the members of Parliament who had voted for the amnesty was dis-
played prominently at the entrance of the village for several years below the phrase
Oradour, souviens toi! (Oradour, remember!). Thus did the village drape itself in its
pride and for several years manifest its extreme repulsion at the outcome of the trial
through various retaliatory measures.

These reactions are no doubt part of the fabric of transitional justice, even though
they are not formally juridical. Only a legally pluralist sensitivity to how non-legal
gestures inform the normative outcomes of transitional justice processes can make
sense of what is at stake. Although there has been some subsequent reconciliation
with the French state, the issue is still a tense one, as shown by a succession of inci-
dents in the last decades.

More than fifty years later, criminal justice finally caught up with Heinz Barth,
the sole surviving Nazi officer implicated in the massacre, who had been found in
East Berlin in 1983 under an assumed name. It seems that the German Democratic
Republic (GDR) at the time saw that a prosecution might buttress its anti-Nazi
credentials against those of the German Federal Republic. On trial, Barth admitted
that he had initiated the shooting and personally killed about fifteen people. But
he argued that as an officer he was forced to follow orders. He was sentenced to life
imprisonment but was freed fourteen years later on medical grounds. He would go
on to live another ten years.

In 2003, a French man, Vincent Reynouard was condemned by the Tribunal
Correctionnel de Limoges to one year imprisonment for ‘apology of war crimes’
(denialism) following the publication of a book that challenged key aspects of the
Oradour-sur-Glane massacre, including the fact that it had been planned.

Since 2004, a former Bordeaux defence lawyer has sought a revision of the judg-
ment on the basis that the amnesty law, whilst it expunged the crime, did not render
null and void the legal findings. The reasoning is that if the French Parliament could
amnesty those convicted one week after the trial, then the judiciary should also follow
suit, its own decisions having been cast into doubt by the legislature.

In 2004, a Corréze organization unsuccessfully opposed the Senate’s 2008
Draft Law Implementing the Rome Statute on the grounds that it anticipates a
thirty-year limitation period, which would amount to a second amnesty for those
responsible for the massacre.
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In 2010, two Alsatian malgré nous organizations sued Hébras, one of only two
surviving victims of Oradour, for claiming in a book he had published on the
massacre that among the massacre’s executioners were ‘some Alsatians supposedly
forcibly enrolled in SS units’. The Strasbourg Tribunal de Grande Instance rejected
the claim. Subsequently Hébras received anonymous hate mail claiming that he
‘did not deserve his identity card, whereas the Alsatians fought and paid dearly
with their blood to become French again’.

Then on 5 December 2011, the German police, at the request of the German
Federal War Crimes Office, carried out searches in the houses of six elderly
Germans who had been identified as having participated in the massacre following
the release of GDR political police documents. The searches do not seem to have
yielded any leads further linking these individuals to Oradour, and the last two
surviving victims have tended to dismiss such late German activism as coming far
too late for justice.

These distant legal judicial and political ripples, whilst minor, testify to the difficulty
of ever ‘moving out of” or ‘beyond’ transitional justice, and the very long legal trail
of frustration, pain and antagonism that a blundered judicial process can produce.

(VI) Conclusion

The Bordeaux trial is a stark illustration of some of the well-known challenges of
carrying out criminal trials for atrocities, even in a country otherwise dedicated
to prosecuting those responsible, as post-war France surely was. It suggests the
importance of unintended effects in even the most scripted and well-intentioned
judicial proceedings. The trial meant to condemn Nazi barbarity, the one thing
on which all seemed to agree; for that purpose it benefited from a tailor made law
that was to have made justice if not swift at least severe. Instead it mostly ended up
raising some difficult questions about France, Alsace, forced incorporation, duress,
and justice between communities; all issues for which, to make matters worse, the
Bordeaux tribunal turned out to be ill-equipped to address.

It was in the end almost impossible to bridge the gap between two narratives of
what had happened: on the one hand a vision of irredeemable crime, made per-
haps even worse by the fact that the Alsatians had been involved in killing fellow
citizens; on the other hand, a vision of a tragedy which led young men to commit
reprehensible acts, but as a result of a sophisticated machinery of persecution and
violence that left them little choice and made them into emblems of a region’s
tragic experience of the war. The trial was so caught up in demands for recognition
of collective suffering that it could not mediate without leaving at least one side
unhappy. Perhaps the only thing that everyone agreed on was the evil of the Nazis,
but even that did little to cement national consensus.

Ultimately, the Oradour victims were sacrificed for the sake of a hypothetical
national unity and the need to move on with a reconciliation process that was simply
decreed unilaterally from above. Parliament reasserted its democratic prerogatives
but in a way that was so heavy handed and opportunistic that its actions seemed
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destined to antagonize. The judiciary, after being given what seemed to be a free
hand to try those responsible, was twice reined in: first by having the law on which
the trial had been based pulled from under its feet; and then, when it nonetheless
successfully managed to convict those responsible under ordinary French law, having
its entire effort reduced to nothing through amnesty.

Here was the one trial that could not fail: abominable acts, a polity ripe for
justice, a strong international framework—yet which foundered on the rock of
radically incompatible narratives, and served only to open up further abysses of
misunderstanding. Even radical evil, it seems, could have its reasons and, recast
as merely the absence of heroism, it may have suddenly looked strangely familiar
to a France that had itself been deeply compromised in collaboration—forced or
not. As such, the whole effort is a familiar caution about the limits of criminal
justice within transitional justice processes when it operates from uncertain com-
mon premises and is asked to precede rather than follow collective exercises of
soul-searching. Thus stands the Bordeaux trial, a particularly French tragedy, yet
one that contains a more general lesson on the disheartening powerlessness of
humanity in the presence of moral disasters.
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8
Capitalism’s Victor’s Justice? The Hidden

Stories Behind the Prosecution of

Industrialists Post-WW1I

Grietje Baars*

(I) Introduction

It is well known that in the ‘subsequent trials’” held in Nuremberg by the US mili-
tary, the directors of three of Germany’s largest industrial combines (and one bank)
were prosecuted for their roles in the Nazis' aggressive wars and the Holocaust.
What has remained largely hidden is how the rapidly changing geopolitical land-
scape influenced the decision to try industrialists for their war responsibility, the
articulation of the ‘economic case” at the International Military Tribunal (IMT),
the conduct of the industrialists” trials at the US Military Tribunals at Nuremberg
(NMT) and eventually the early release and rehabilitation of the convicted busi-
ness leaders. The US and USSR had at one point both understood World War II
(WWII) as a war of economic imperialism in which industrialists had played a
key role—both in planning and waging. With the commencement of the Cold
War this idea became a point of sharp ideological divide. The economic story of
WWII gradually moved over to ‘hidden history’ in the West, while remaining
visible only in the German Democratic Republic and Soviet discourse. Likewise,
the omission of zaibatsu leaders from the Tokyo International Tribunal hid the
Allies’ expressed conviction that also the war on the Eastern front had been one of
economic imperialism. Over time, the way international conflict is conceptualized
and explained in mainstream Western (legal) discourse has changed, as has the
role that international criminal law (ICL) is accorded in world politics, and whose

* Drs (Utrecht), LLM (UCL), PhD (UCL), Lecturer (City University London, UK). This chapter
draws on my PhD, entitled ‘Law(yers) Congealing Capitalism: On the (Im)possibility of Restraining
Business Involvement in Conflict through International Criminal Law’ (2012), and specifically, on
research carried out during my time as a Visiting Researcher at Das Franz-von-Liszt-Institut for
International Criminal Law, Humboldt University, Berlin (guest of Prof. Florian Jefberger). I am
grateful to Catherine Redgwell, Kamil Majchrzak, Immi Tallgren, loannis Kalpouzos, Mark Kilian,
Gerry Simpson, Kevin Jon Heller and all participants of the ‘Hidden Histories” workshop for their
comments and support. All errors and omissions are mine alone.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



164 European Histories II: Americans in Europe

accountability is sought through ICL. Together, these facts reflect capitalism’s hid-
den victor’s justice.

In contrast to mainstream liberal-legal and positivist accounts of ‘Nuremberg’,’
in this chapter I tell the story—in particular the specific story of the ‘economic
cas¢’ and the industrialists—as situated in the material context and relations of
the time. Doing so shows the direct effect of specific turns of events not only on
the legal processes, but also on how ICL was interpreted and applied. Through a
historical materialist reading of Nuremberg, we can explain, for example, how the
NMT trials turned from an ostensible morality play to a performance of théitre
de labsurde.

It is hoped that through highlighting the processes and contradictions at
Nuremberg this chapter will give impetus to investigating precisely how current
use of ICL also seeks to ‘spirit away” economic causes of contemporary conflict and
thus forms an integral element of capitalist imperialism.?

Section II begins with an examination of the Allied (effectively, US and USSR?)
consensus on the nature of WWII as imperialist, on the role of the industrialists in
Hitler’s aggressive war, the formulation of the ‘economic case’ and the indictment,
trial and judgment at the IMT. I tell this history focusing on the US perspective
because the main international trial was very much a US-directed affair.* It served
to simultaneously legitimize and showcase the US’s role as the rising hegemon of
the ‘free world’. While the US leadership’s desire to prosecute industrialists and
discipline the German economy played an instrumental role in its decision to hold
subsequent trials at Nuremberg,® the appetite for this declined with the turna-
round in US foreign and economic policy that gradually materialized after WWII.
Section III traces this turnaround—the start of the Cold War—and its impact on
US political and economic involvement in Europe. In Section IV, I go on to show
how this turnaround manifested itself in the conduct and outcomes of the trials

! See, eg, those contained in Guénaél Mettraux, Perspectives on the Nuremberg Trial (Oxford: Oxford
University Press, 2008). Among the off-mainstream accounts are, Florian Jefberger, ‘Die I.G. Farben
vor Gericht: Von den Urspriingen eines “Wirtschaftsvolkerstrafrechts™’, Juristenzeitung, 19 (2009),
924; Florian Jeflberger, ‘On the Origins of Individual Criminal Responsibility Under International
Law for Business Activity: IG Farben on Trial’, Journal of International Criminal Justice, 8 (2010), 783;
J. A. Bush, ‘The Prehistory of Corporations and Conspiracy in International Criminal Law: What
Nuremberg Really Said’, Columbia Law Review, 109 (2009).

2 According to Arthur, the task of the legal academic ‘is that of tracing...both the relationships
that are expressed in the legal superstructure and those that it ideologically spirits away’: C. Arthur,
‘Introduction’ in E. Pashukanis, Law and Marxism: A General Theory (London: Ink Links, Ltd,
1978), 31.

3 T use ‘US’, ‘USSR’ etc as shorthand for the leading members of the government at any given
moment—in other words, the momentary ‘winners’ of the constant competition between various
sectors of a state administration (for a similar approach, see Nikolai Bukharin, lmperialism and World
Economy (London: Bookmarks, 2003), 137).

4 See, eg, Telford Taylor, Anatomy of the Nuremberg Trials: A Personal Memoir (New York, NY: Little,
Brown & Company 1992), 634 and generally, . Hirsch, “The Soviets at Nuremberg: International
Law, Propaganda and the Making of the Postwar Order’, American Historical Review, 113 (2008), 730.

> Taylor, above n 4, 161; Bush, above n 1, 1112-29; Donald Bloxham, Genocide on Trial: War
Crimes Trials and the Formation of Holocaust History and Memory (Oxford: Oxford University Press,
2001), 24.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



Capitalisms Victors Justice? 165

of the industrialists at Nuremberg. Section V compares the US trials to the largely
forgotten post-WWII international trials of industrialists by the French, British
and Soviet military tribunals, and with the decision of the Military Tribunal for
the Far East not to indict Japanese zaibatsu leaders. Finally, Section VI connects
the aftermath of the trials, the ‘McCloy clemency’ and subsequent reinstatement
of most of the industrialists to their former positions, with contemporary debates
around ICL, the economic causes of conflict and ‘corporate impunity’.

(IT) The Economic Causes of WWII at the International
Military Tribunal at Nuremberg

The “Trial of the Major War Criminals at Nuremberg’ commenced at a moment
when the role of the German industrial combines in Hitler’s aggressive war was
emphasised by US political leaders in public statements, declarations and reports.
The US leadership considered the aggressive, expansive war to have been orches-
trated by the ‘unholy trinity’ of corporatism, Nazism and militarism,° for the mar-
kets and resources of the neighbouring countries, and indeed, with the eventual
aim of ‘world conquest’.” The American administration had scrutinized the nature
and activities of German industry in this respect since the beginning of the war. In
his memoirs, Josiah Dubois (a State Department lawyer who was to become the
lead prosecutor in the /G Farben case) tells of travelling the Western Hemisphere
with Bernard Bernstein of the Treasury Department in the early 1940s to seek out
and freeze IG Farben’s financial interests.® The German industrial and banking
giants had been discussed in depth in the US Senate, for instance in the Kilgore
Committee, and formed a major site of investigation for the Office of Strategic
Services (OSS), the forerunner of the Central Intelligence Agency.’” German
chemicals giant IG Farben appears to have been a main object of interest for the

¢ Telford Taylor in Flick, below n 51, 32. See also, Jackson's June 1945 Report—this report con-
tained the ‘basic features of the plan of prosecution’ written at the request of the US President by
the (then) US Representative and Chief Counsel for War Crimes: Justice Jackson’s Report to the
President on Atrocities and War Crimes; 7 June 1945, available from Yale Law School, 7he Avalon
Project: Documents in Law, History and Diplomacy [website], <http://avalon.law.yale.edu/imt/imt_
jack01.asp>, (Jackson June 1945 Report) (accessed 27 February 2013).

7 This view is expressed, for example, in the US Congress, Senate, Committee on Military Affairs,
Cartel Practices and National Security, Hearings Before a Subcommittee of the Senate Committee
on Military Affairs, 78th Cong., 2nd Sess., 1944. Vol. 16; IG Farben Material Submitted by the War
Department, 79th Cong. (1945) (Bernstein Farben Report), 941 and 953-57; Christopher Simpson
(ed), War Crimes of Dresdner and Deutsche Bank: Office of the Military Government (US) Reports
(Teaneck, NJ: Holmes & Meier Publishers, Inc., 2001) (original report produced November 1946).

8 Josiah Dubois, 7he Devils Chemists: 24 Conspirators of the International Farben Cartel who
Manufacture Wars (Boston, MA: The Beacon Press, 1952), 14-15.

% See, eg, Office of the US Chief of Counsel for the Prosecution of Axis Criminality, Staff Evidence
Analysis (Gen. Thomas), Fundaments for a History of the German War and Armament Economy
(1944), Cornell Donovan Archive, Vol. 11, 6.15; Office of Strategic Services, Research and Analysis
Branch, German Military Government over Europe: Economic Controls in Occupied Europe,
Washington 28 August 1945, Cornell Donovan Archive, Vol. CVIIL
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Americans. The OSS investigated the concealment of ownership of IG Farben
subsidiaries operating in Allied jurisdictions, the identity and role of the German
bankers and financiers and the precise mechanisms of economic warfare employed
by the Reich.' Intensive investigation into the global span of the IG Farben cartel
led the US leadership to fear that German imperialism would not be confined
to the European continent.!' In 1945 the Congressional Subcommittee on War
Mobilization, chaired by Senator Kilgore, heard evidence to the effect that one
of Farben’s key objectives was to drive the US out of the European market. It also
learnt how IG Farben managed to exclude US companies from acquiring necessary
resources on the Latin American market and so significantly curbed US war pro-
duction and thus military potential.'? Through US subsidiaries, IG Farben gathered
important intelligence on US war production and through ingenious patenting
and subcontracting arrangements it excluded American industry from important
military technologies.’® The US investigation found that, besides Standard Oil,
dozens of US companies had agreements with IG Farben—and this was without
counting Farben-owned subsidiaries.' Bernstein’s Farben Report quotes Farben
witnesses who profess to have been fully aware of, and in complete agreement with,
Hitler’s plans for aggressive war, with Farben director Von Schnitzler even going
so far as to state ‘IG Farben [was] completely responsible for Hitler’s policy’."> As
a household name, producing both Aspirin and Nylon stockings and present in
every American home, Farben spoke to the imagination of the American public.'®
There can be little doubt that this played a role in the US governments later deci-
sion to prosecute the Farben directors.

Furthermore, the Finance Division of the Office of the Military Government of
the US (OMGUYS) (which had its headquarters in the former IG Farben complex
in Frankfurt) produced a series of reports totalling over 10,000 pages detailing
the investigations into German banks and other financial institutions."” Together,
the sources paint a picture of highly sophisticated and effective economic warfare

10 See, eg, US Group CC/Finance Division, ‘Preliminary Report: Concealment of Ownership
of Some L.G. Farben Selling Companies’, Cornell Donovan Archive, Vol. V11, Section 13.18. The
OSS investigation was led by Franz Leopold Neumann, a German intellectual and who had fled to
New York in the 1930s with other Frankfurt School members Otto Kirchheimer and Herbert Marcuse.
His 1944 book Behemoth: The Structure and Practice of National Socialism served as the blueprint for
the US leadership’s understanding of the Nazi ‘apparatus’ (Franz Leopold Neumann, Behemoth: The
Structure and Practice of National Socialism (London: Octagon Books 1963)). Other US authors had
also analysed—already during WWII—Germany’s ‘industrial offensive’, see, eg, Joseph Borkin and
Charles Welsh, Germany’s Master Plan: The Story of Industrial Offensive New York, NY: Duell, Sloan
and Pearce 1944). Borkin was economic advisor to the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice
in Washington (T. Arnold, ‘Introduction’, in Borkin and Welsh (eds), Germany’s Master Plan, xvi), and
responsible for this office’s investigation into IG Farben during WWIL. See further Joseph Borkin, 7he
Crime and Punishment of IG Farben (New York, NY: The Free Press, 1978).

" Donny Gluckstein, A Peoples History of the Second World War: Resistance Versus Empire
(London: Pluto Press, 2012), 10.

12 Bernstein Farben Report, above n 7, 947, 952; US Congress, Senate, Committee on Military
Affairs, above n 7; 79th Cong. (1945), Part 10, IG Farben Exhibits (Kilgore Farben Exhibits).

13 Bernstein Farben Report, above n 7, 945. 14 Bernstein Farben Report, above n 7, 993.

!5 Bernstein Farben Report, above n 7, 957. 16 Dubois, above n 8, 3.

17" Simpson, above n 7, 1.
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carried out by the German industrial leaders in collusion with military and Nazi
leaders.'® The Soviet leadership shared this understanding of imperialism; respon-
sible for WWII was a band of ‘ “unconscionable adventurers and criminals”—com-
prising the Nazi party and military leaders as well as the directors of the larger
banks and corporations’.’” There was broad agreement on the imperialist nature of
Germany’s aggressive war and the role of the constellation Eisenhower was later to
call ‘the military-industrial complex’.?* With WWII typified as a quarrel between
Allied and Axis governments about who should dominate the world economy,!
it appears Hitler’s economic objectives troubled the US and USSR more than the
Holocaust and the other atrocities carried out by the Nazis.??

In a number of places this US/USSR meeting of minds led to concrete articu-
lation and action.”? Among the sites where the Allies’ understanding of the eco-
nomic causes of the war were clearly articulated and responded to was the Potsdam
Agreement.? This agreement, concluded on 2 August 1945 by the USSR, USA,
and UK leaderships, de facto incorporated the ‘Morgenthau Plan'—the plan for
a pastoralized Germany drawn up by US Secretary of State Henry Morgenthau.”
The Potsdam Agreement stipulated the destruction of Germany’s future war poten-
tial through the ‘decartellization’: breaking up of the main German cartels through
expropriation of physical property but also share ownership including ownership
of foreign subsidiaries of German companies, demolition of factories and ship-
ping off of heavy machinery to the Allies in the form of reparations in kind.?
Significant parts of the Potsdam Agreement were carried out by the US and other

'8 Some authors follow an ‘agency theory” approach to argue that Hitler was a mere puppet in the
employ of German industrialists but the better view is one of control by the German elites from
all three sectors, which, particularly after the ‘nazification’ of industrial leadership and according
of military ranks to industrialists, became difficult to distinguish clearly and can be said to have
formed a ‘state-capitalist trust’ (see, eg, Bukharin, above n 3, 127). For an overview of theories of ‘war
responsibility’ between ‘primacy of politics’ and ‘primacy of economics’ see Norbert Frei and Tim
Schanetzky (eds), Unternehmen im Nationalsozialismus: Zur historisierung einer Forschungskonjunktur
(Géttingen: Wallstein Verlag, 2010).

1 Jorg Osterloh, ‘Die Monopole und ihre Herren: Marxistische Interpretationen’, in Frei and
Schanetzky, above n 18, 36 (my translation).

20 Eisenhower farewell address (17 January 1961), Press release containing the text of the address,
Duwight D. Eisenhower: Presidential Library and Museum [website], <http://www.eisenhower.archives.
gov/research/online_documents/farewell_address.html> (accessed 26 February 2013).

2 Indeed, ‘the belief of ordinary people, that the issue was fascism versus anti-fascism, was largely
irrelevant for rulers on both sides of the Axis/Allied divide’: Gluckstein, above n 11, 9.

2 Bloxham, above n 5, 57-90; Kevin Jon Heller, 7he Nuremberg Milizary Tribunals and the Origins
of International Criminal Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011), 4.

2 See, eg, Section V of the Yalta (Crimea) Conference Agreement reached on 11 February 1945
between Stalin, Churchill and Roosevelt, published in A Decade of American Foreign Policy: Basic
Documents, 1941-49 (Washington, DC: Government Printing Office, 1950).

2 Potsdam Agreement of 2 August 1945 between the USSR, the USA and the UK (Potsdam
Agreement): Yale Law School, 7he Avalon Project: Documents in Law, History and Diplomacy [website],
<http://avalon.law.yale.edu/20th_century/decadel7.asp> (accessed 27 February 2013).

% Hans Morgenthau, Germany is Our Problem (New York, NY: Harper & Brothers, 1945).

2 Potsdam Agreement, Part IIB (Article 12) and Part ITI.
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Allied occupation authorities in Germany.”’ In the Eastern Soviet Occupation
Zone most industries were nationalized.?

In the execution of the plan, ‘Morgenthau Boys—young German-speaking
mainly Jewish men who had fled to the US during the war—were deployed to
Germany by OMGUS to investigate the state of industry after the war, and to
interview the key industrialists in each sector.?” In the immediate post-war period
hundreds of industrialists were interned by the Allies, with the British for example
detaining 120 business leaders in the banking, chemical, electrical and automobile
sectors from the Ruhr area in the autumn of 1945.%°

It is in this context, where the emphasis was on disabling Germany’s potential
as a competing empire, that the US and the other Allies decided to hold an inter-
national trial at Nuremberg.

(1) The IMT and the ‘economic case’

The international trial to be held at the IMT formed a cornerstone of the Allies’
post-WWII policy. It was the main public spectacle, or ‘morality play’, aimed at
justifying the sacrifice of Allied manpower and resources. It also papered over the
Allies’ own failure to act sooner and more effectively against aggressive Nazism, to
stop the Holocaust and also its failures with regard to Jewish refugees.’' Moreover,
the role of ‘Nuremberg’ was to help establish US moral authority as the rising
superpower.”? Henry Stimson, who is credited as the main driver for trials within
the US government, ‘saw the moralist agenda of outlawing war as one way to
ensure greater security for an American-dominated economic empire’.* To
achieve this objective, the main international trial at Nuremberg had to produce
an historical record of war responsibility.** There was to be an emphasis on the

¥ See, eg, the Military Government of Germany, ‘Control of IG Farben’, in Special Report of
Military Governor US Zone (1 October 1945) which details the measures taken to disable Farben’s
‘war potential’.

# A. Hilger, ‘Die Gerechtigkeit nehme ihren Lauf’? Die Bestrafung deutscher Kriegs—und
Gewaltverbrecher in der Sowjetunion und der SBZ/DDR’, in Norbert Frei (ed), Transnationale
Vergangenbeitspolitik: Der Umgang mit deutschen Kriegsverbrechern in Europa nach dem Zweiten
Weltkrieg (Gottingen: Wallstein Verlag, 2006), 180.

2 K. Majchrzak, interview with Peter Weiss, 12 October 2008, Berlin. Peter Weiss, now
Vice-President of Board of the Centre for Constitutional Rights in New York, in this interview relates
his own experience as one of the ‘Morgenthau Boys’.

% Tim Schanetzky, ‘Unternehmer: Profiteure des Unrechts’, in Norbert Frei (ed), Hitlers Eliten nach
1945 (Munich: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 2003), 74.

3! Richard D. McKinzie, interview with Josiah E. Dubois, 29 June 1973, Camden, NJ: Harry
S. Truman Library and Museum [website], <http://www.trumanlibrary.org/oralhist/duboisje.htm>
(accessed 27 February 2013) (Dubois Interview).

32 Elizabeth Borgwardt, A New Deal for the World: America’s Vision for Human Rights (Cambridge,
MA: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 2005). Cf. Martii Koskenniemi, ‘Between
Impunity and Show Trials’, Max Planck UNYB, 6 (2002), 10.

3 Borgwardt, above n 33, 75.

3 Famously, Robert Jackson, IMT Opening Address, International Military Tribunal, The Trial of
German Major War Criminals by the International Military Tribunal Sitting at Nuremberg Germany
(commencing 20 November 1945).
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totality of the war rather than on the detail.*> Chief Prosecutor Robert Jackson
stated:

Our case against the major defendants is concerned with the Nazi master plan, not with
individual barbarities and perversions which occurred independently of any central plan.
‘The groundwork of our case must be factually authentic and constitute a well-documented
history of what we are convinced was a grand, concerted pattern to incite and commit the
aggressions and barbarities which have shocked the world.*

What became known as the ‘economic case’ was included as part of the over-
arching conspiracy charge. The Soviets agreed with the US on the importance of
holding individuals responsible for aggressive war.?” The shared understanding of
the nature and causes of WWII as described above persisted at the IMT trial. The
‘Leitmotif of the IMT trial was exposing Nazism, militarism, economic imperial-
ism in an “orgy of revelation”’.%

In the US’s official view, what had enabled WWII to be started, and thus all its
atrocities to be committed, had been the ‘captur[e of] the form of the German
state as an instrumentality for spreading their [Nazi] rule to other countries’.> This
was to be reflected in the choice of defendants:

Whom will we accuse and put to their defence? We will accuse a large number of individu-
als and officials who were in authority in the government, in the military establishment,
including the General Staff, and in the financial, industrial and economic life in Germany
who by all civilised standards are provable to be common criminals.®

The Soviet representative at Nuremberg, Aron Trainin stated that the industrial-
ists and financiers’ ‘political position is clear: these were the masters for whom the
Fascist State machine was zealously working’, adding, ‘the German financial and
industrial heads must also be sent for trial as criminals’.4!

From the very start it was clear that the ‘economic case—the part of the pros-
ecution dealing with the economic causes of, and motivations for, the war and
the responsibility of economic actors and policy-makers—would be key in the
Nuremberg Trial.*? Frankfurt School intellectual Franz Neumann was employed
by the prosecution team, and his book Behemoth: The Structure and Practice of

3 A delicate balance had to be drawn between showing the barbarity of the Nazis and retaining pop-
ular support for the trial. The film made about the trial, Nuremberg: Its Lessons for Today, was prevented
from being finished and shown in the US, apparently because it was feared it would affect popular
support also for the Marshall Plan (below). The film was recently finished: Schulberg Productions and
Metropolis Productions, Nuremberg: Its Lessons for Today [website], <http://www.nurembergfilm.org/>
(accessed 27 February 2013).

3 Jackson Negotiations Report, Part III, above n 6.

37 Hirsch, above n 4, 701. See also, Franz Leopold Neumann, “The War Crimes Trials’, World
Politics, 2 (1949), 135, 139.

3 Bloxham, above n 5, 203.

3 Jackson Negotiations Report, Part I1I, above n 6.

4 TJackson Negotiations Report, Part ITI, above n 6.

4 Aron Naumovich Trainin (Andrey Yanuaryevich Vishinksi, ed), Hitlerite Responsibility under
Criminal Law (London: Hutchinson & Co. Ltd, 1945), 84, 85.

42 See, eg, Bush, above n 1, 1110-15.
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National Socialism—which emphasized the role of economic actors in causing
WWII—was a must-read for Nuremberg prosecutors.”’ The leading defendant at the
IMT was Hermann Géring, Hider’s second-in-command, who had been in charge of
readying the German economy for war. For the US prosecution, the key issue to be
addressed was ‘the Nazi plan to dominate the world and to wage aggressive war’,% as
had been partly discovered through the Kilgore Farben investigations.

When Justice Jackson and his staff commenced work in preparation for the trial,
four indictment-drafting committees were established each dealing with a different
core aspect of the war for which charges were to be brought. Committee One (Britain)
dealt with the aggressive war charge; Committee Two (USSR) with war crimes and
crimes against humanity in the East; and Committee Three (France) with equivalent
crimes in the West. The Americans would prepare the ‘common plan and conspiracy’
charge.® The latter charge was to cover the pre-WWII story of Nazism, Hitler’s sei-
zure and exploitation of power, his plans and steps to occupy much of Europe, and
his design to attack the United States. As the first count of the indictment, it would
comprise the basic narrative of the case as a whole. This committee was headed by
Justice Jackson himself. As a vital part of this charge, the ‘economic case’ was entrusted
to American lawyer Frank Shea.”” Shea produced a memorandum in which he pro-
posed for prosecution Hjalmar Schacht (former head of the Reichsbank and Minister
of Economics, who had provided the financing for war production), Fritz Sauckel (a
primary figure in the foreign forced labour programme), Albert Speer (an architect
and later Minister of Armaments and Munitions), Walter Funk (Schacht’s successor)*®
as well as Alfried Krupp and six other German industrial and financial leaders. Shea
considered the guilt of the industrialists and financiers lay in the fact that ‘they had
given Hitler the material means to rearm Germany, with full knowledge that Hitler
planned to use these armaments to carry out a program of German aggrandizement
by military conquest’.*’

From the mid-1930s the German economy had been geared towards heavy
industry, which comprised the mining of coal (Germany’s main natural resource)
and the manufacture of iron and steel products. These industries were controlled
by small number of large industrial and mining combines including Krupp, Flick,
Thyssen, the state-owned Reich-Werks-Hermann-Géring and IG Farben. By a law
of 15 May 1933, individual enterprises were compulsorily combined into cartels,
while by a law of 30 January 1937, enterprises with a capital of less than 100,000
marks were subject to liquidation, and henceforth only companies with a capital
of not less than 500,000 marks were permitted.”® The concentration of capital in
fewer hands gave rise to a powerful group of financial and industrial magnates.*!

4 Above n 7, and Bush, above n 1, 1108, fn 36. 4 Bloxham, above n 5, 6.
% Taylor, above n 4, 79-80. 4 Taylor, above n 4, 80.
47 Taylor, above n 4, 90-2. 4 Nazi Conspiracy and Aggression, Vol. I, Ch. VIII.

# Taylor, above n 4, 81 (emphasis in original).

>0 Trainin, above n 41, 83.

U United States v Friedrich Flick et al (Flick), US Military Tribunal Nuremberg, Judgment of 20
August 1947, in Trials of War Criminals Before the Nuremberg Military Tribunals Under Control Council
Law No. 10, Vol. VI, Prosecution Opening Statement, 35-6.
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Other aspects of the ‘economic case’ in the IMT Indictment included war crimes
and crimes against humanity. Géring and the other defendants had to a greater or
lesser extent been involved in the ‘aryanization’ of industries in the occupied coun-
tries in the expansion of the German Lebensraum. This involved the expropriation
of foreign businesses and resources, as well as the recruitment and deployment of
around five million slave labourers, part of whom had been work-to-death labour
supplied by the Nazi extermination camps.*

The economic case gathered criticism from the start, with one critic arguing it
was not the US’s job to ‘reform European economics’ or ‘turn a war crimes trial into
an anti-trust case’.”” The gradual change in attitude vis-d-vis Nuremberg must be
seen in the context of the change in US leadership at this crucial time. On 12 May
1945 Roosevelt died and was succeeded by Truman—a more business-oriented
leader:

Of the 125 most important government appointments made by President Truman in the
first two post-war years, 49 were bankers, financiers and industrialists, 31 were military
men and 17 lawyers, mostly with Big Business connections. The effective locus of govern-
ment seemed to shift from Washington to some place equidistant between Wall Street and
West Point.>*

The prosecution list was whittled down to twenty-four defendants.’® In relation
to the ‘economic case’, only the former ministers Sauckel, Funk and Speer were
indicted, with Schacht, the ‘redoubtable banker™® and Krupp as the sole industri-
alist, despite the fact that the prosecution teams, supported by OMGUS staff, had
gathered much evidence to support the ‘economic case’.”’

The retention of Krupp, the ‘main organiser of German industry’, in the indict-
ment made him the pars pro roro for German industry. However, there was disa-
greement among the different teams of lawyers working on the indictment as to
whether Gustav Krupp, the man who had run the Krupp concern undl 1941, or
Alfried Krupp, his son, who had been the company’s executive director before
becoming sole owner in 1943, was the intended defendant. Eventually, Gustav the
elder was selected, but his British captors, by way of a ‘catastrophic blunder’, failed
to discover until days before the trial was to commence that he was—at 80 years
of age—rtoo ill and demented to stand trial.”® The US immediately requested the
court replace Gustav with his son Alfried on the indictment. The prosecution of at
least one Krupp family member was in the public interest, explained in the words
of Justice Jackson:

The Krupp influence was powerful in promoting the Nazi plan to incite aggressive warfare
in Europe. Krupps were thus one of the most persistent and influential forces that made this

52 Office of United States Chief of Counsel for Prosecution of Axis Criminality, I Nazi Conspiracy
and Aggression 349 (1946), esp. ‘Chapter VIII—Economic Aspects of the Conspiracy’ (Economic
Aspects).

> Taylor, above n 4, 81.

>4 Howard K. Smith, 7he State of Europe (New York, NY: Knopf, 1949), 83, 95.

55 Partly also due to British efforts to keep the list short and the trial brief (Taylor, above n 4, 90).

°¢ Taylor, above n 4, 591. >7 Economic Aspects, above n 53. >8 Taylor, above n 4, 630.
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war...Once the war was on, Krupps, both Von Bohlen and Alfried being directly respon-
sible therefor, led German industry in violating treaties and international law by employ-
ing enslaved labourers, impressed and imported from nearly every country occupied by
Germany ... Moreover, the Krupp companies profited greatly from destroying the peace of
the world through support of the Nazi program. .. The United States respectfully submits
that no greater disservice to the future peace of the world could be done than to excuse the
entire Krupp family.”

The request was rejected. Apparently the British objected on the grounds that
allowing it would delay the start of the trial.° Although what might have been
the first ever international trial of an industrialist was thus curtailed, its shadow
was still present at Nuremberg. The IMT decided against formally trying Krupp
in absentia, but did retain the charges against him in the indictment,®' which were
read out in court on the first day of the trial. Moreover, the case against Krupp
was still explicitly made, for example in the US Prosecution team’s presentation on
Count One on day four of the trial.®

In addition, the economic case more generally featured prominently in the evi-
dence presented by the US team at Nuremberg. Prosecutor Sidney Alderman, for
example, presenting on the aggressive war charge cited the ‘Hossbach Notes™ in
evidence to show that Hitler himself had also conceptualized the war as one of
economic imperialism—the objective was conquest of a sufficient living space for
food production for the German people plus the dominance of global trade and
commerce.®

Where the trial had focused on Géring’s role as, ‘in theory and in practice. . . the
economic dictator of the Reich’,* the IMT Judgment illustrates this role while
strongly implicating the absent industrialists. The judges recount how, in November
1932, a petition signed by leading industrialists and financiers had been presented
to President Hindenburg, calling upon him to entrust the Chancellorship to
Hitler.®> Subsequently, according to evidence submitted to the Tribunal:

> Answer of the United States Prosecution to the Motion on Behalf of Defendant Gustav Von
Krupp Von Bohlen, 12 November 1945, Trials of War Criminals before the Nuremberg Military
Tribunals under Control Council Law No. 10, 134ff.

€ Order of the Tribunal Rejecting the Motion to amend the Indictment, dated 15 November 1945,
in I TWC, 146, and see, Memorandum of the British Prosecution on the motion, in I Zrials of War
Criminals before the Nuremberg Military Tribunals under Control Council Law No. 10, 139. They had
promised instead to cooperate on a second international trial in which Krupp could be tried (Donald
Bloxham, Genocide on Trial: War Crimes Trials and the Formation of Holocaust History and Memory
(Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003), 24).

¢ Indictment of the International Military Tribunal, I 7he Trial of German Major War Criminals by
the International Military Tribunal Sitting at Nuremberg Germany 27, 1947 (IMT Indictment).

62 Nuremberg Trial Proceedings, Volume II, Day Four—Continuation of Colonel Storey’s
Presentation on Count 1, 222-3 and see the underlying prosecution file, a summary of which is pub-
lished in Nazi Conspiracy and Aggression, Volume 2, Chapter XVI, Part 13.

¢ Nuremberg Trial Proceedings, Volume II, Day Five—Sidney Alderman’s Presentation on
Aggressive War, 261-5.

¢ IMT Judgment in International Military Tribunal, Judgment of 1 October 1946, in I 7he Trial
of German Major War Criminals by the International Military Tribunal Sitting at Nuremberg Germany
171, 1947 (IMT Judgment), 183.

¢ IMT Judgment, 177.
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On the invitation of Goering, approximately 25 of the leading industrialists of Germany,
together with Schacht, attended a meeting in Berlin on 20 February 1933. This was shortly
before the German election of 5 March 1933. At this meeting Hitler announced the con-
spirators’ aim to seize totalitarian control over Germany, to destroy the parliamentary sys-
tem, to crush all opposition by force, and to restore the power of the Wehrmacht. Among
those present at that meeting were Gustav Krupp, four leading officials of the I.G. Farben
Works, one of the world’s largest chemical concerns; Albert Vogler, head of United Steel
Works of Germany; and other leading industrialists.®

At this meeting, Géring opened an election fund (into which the industrialists
contributed) to support Hitler in the March elections. Géring predicted these
elections would be Germany’s last.®”

A month after the meeting between Goéring and the industrialists, Krupp
submitted to Hitler—on behalf of the Reich Association of German Industry—a
plan for the reorganization of German industry. Krupp is cited in the Judgment as
having stated that the plan was ‘characterised by the desire to coordinate economic
measures and political necessity’, and that ‘the turn of political events is in line
with the wishes which I myself and the board of directors have cherished for a long
time’.® The industrialists’ plan was adopted.®’

So while the US administration’s support for the economic case waned, its legal
officers still followed through on the initial sentiment. The IMT Judgment
surmised, ‘[i]n this reorganization of the economic life of Germany for military
purposes, the Nazi Government found the German armament industry quite will-
ing to co-operate’.”’ Moreover, the Judgment related how industrialists picked the
rich fruits of aggressive war and participated directly in the Holocaust. This was
exemplified by Krupp’s extensive use of slave labour at his plant in Essen, where
‘punishments of the most cruel kind were inflicted on the workers’.”!

The lingering wish (strongest among the US Prosecution team) to actually
prosecute industrialists became one of the reasons the US went ahead with the
‘subsequent proceedings’ at the NMT.”? Both Robert Jackson and his successor
as Chief Prosecutor, Telford Taylor, pushed hard for the opportunity to try rep-
resentatives of all sections of the German elite, including members of relevant
professional groups, including the industrialists. However, by now the tide was
irrepressibly turning, and the US lawyers started to face more resistance from
the US government—supported in this respect by the increasingly hostile home
media.”

% Economic Aspects, above n 52.

¢ IMT Judgment, above n 64, 184. Schacht was acquitted (Soviet judge Nikitchenko dissenting), as
the Court found his knowledge of an impending aggressive war not proven beyond reasonable doubt
(IMT Judgment, above n 64, 506-7). On the impact of Schacht’s acquittal on the industrialists” cases,
see Bush, above n 1, 1124.

¢ IMT Judgment, above n 64, 183. ¢ Economic Aspects, above n 52.

70 IMT Judgment, above n 64, 419. 71 IMT Judgment, above n 64, 462.

72 Above n 8; Bush above n 1, 1239.

7> See, eg, Donald Bloxham, ‘British War Crimes Trial Policy in Germany, 1945-
1957: Implementation and Collapse’, Journal of British Studies, 42 (2003), 97.
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(IIT) The Turnaround: From Germany is our Problem
to Germany is our Business

In the spring of 1947 clearer signs started appearing of a changing Allied policy
towards Germany, from one where Germany was to be publicly castigated and
disabled (in trials and through economic policies as envisaged in the Morgenthau
Plan) to one where Germany was to be rehabilitated into the world community
of states and its economy rebuilt.”* Here I focus on how this change (effectively,
the start of the Cold War) was reflected in the US leadership’s decision-making
regarding the industrialists’ trials, and subsequently (Section IV) on the clearly
perceptible impact it had in the proceedings and the decisions of the tribunals.

Individual members of the US administration disagreed strongly on appro-
priate US policy towards Germany.”” Morgenthau relates how already during
WWII orders were given to the military to spare German industrial plants.”®
In his memoirs, Dubois describes a secret State Department memorandum set-
ting out its ‘post-war program’ relating to in kind reparations payments from
Germany.”” Such reparations could form a public justification for sparing, and
where necessary rebuilding, Germany’s productive capacity, as well as retain-
ing US-German trade ties. However, the programme remained secret as at that
point public and key political support was still behind the pacific, ‘pastoral-
ized” Germany as proposed in Morgenthau’s plan. Morgenthau, sensing support
for his plan waning, reinforced his stance by publishing it as a book entitled
Germany is our Problem.”®

Over time, however, Morgenthau lost ground.” Dubois tells of seeing a second
secret memorandum, circulated within the US delegation at Potsdam. According
to this memo, the US goal now was ‘rebuilding a strong Germany as a buffer
against Communism’.** While the Potsdam Agreement (and occupation directive
JCS1067, on which much of Potsdam was based)®! mirrored the Morgenthau Plan,
Dubois states, ‘of course, it was never followed through. The US officials did do just

74 See generally, John Gimbel, ‘On the Implementation of the Potsdam Agreement: An Essay on
U.S. Postwar German Policy’, Political Science Quarterly, 87 (1972), 242—69.

7> Generally, see Gimbel, above n 74. According to Maguire, the US Nuremberg Prosecution staff
‘included a disproportionate number of Harvard Law School graduates, former New Dealers, and
liberal democrats’: Peter Maguire, Law and War: International Law and American History (New York,
NY: Columbia University Press, 2010), 117.

76 H. Schild (ed), Das Morgenthau Tagebuch—Dokumente des Anti-Germanismus (Leoni am
Starnberger See: Druffel Verlag, 1970), 64.

77 Dubois Interview, above n 31, 13. 78 Morgenthau, above n 25; Schild, above n 76, 64.

7 Exceptions made to Law No.56 to allow for the rehabilitation of German industry are
detailed in: Office of the Military Government for Germany (US), Special Report of the Military
Governor: Ownership and Control of the Rubr Industries, November 1948.

80 Dubois Interview, above n 31, 34.

81" Directive to Commander-in-Chief of United States Forces of Occupation Regarding the Military
Government of Germany, April 1945 (JCS1067); US Department of State, Foreign Relations of
the United States: European Advisory Commission: Austria, Germany, Vol. III (Washington DC: US
Government Printing Office 1945), 484; and generally, Dubois Interview, above n 31.
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what Morgenthau was afraid of, and in effect what the State Department memo-
randum recommended’.®? A strong, indentured economy was more attractive than
a pastoralized state. Shortly after Potsdam Morgenthau was ‘in effect.. . fired by
Truman’.%?

The turnaround was not complete at this point, though, and elements of the plan
persisted for some time. For example, the work of the OMGUS Decartelization
Branch—staffed by, the ‘Morgenthau Boys'®“—continued for two years after Henry
Morgenthau’s departure. Many items of machinery were shipped to the United
States and the other Allies by way of reparations payment. The IG Farben Control
Commission, which was run by all four occupation powers, split the Farben cartel
into forty-seven parts, including the four sections that had only come together
years before: Hoechst, Agfa, Bayer and BASE® The entire German economy came
to be strictly controlled by the occupation authorities. OMGUS passed anti-cartel
laws that considered any enterprise with more than 10,000 employees prima facie
in violation.®® Secret programmes were underway to control and harvest German
scientific development. Thousands of industrial patents, as well as hundreds of
scientists were transferred to the US in ‘Operation Paperclip’.¥”

The ‘Restatement of Policy on Germany’ was US Secretary of State James Byrnes’
public announcement of the turnaround on 6 September 1946. In his speech,
Byrnes raised the issue of the political and economic future of Europe: ‘Germany
is a part of Europe and recovery in Europe, and particularly in the states adjoin-
ing Germany, will be slow indeed if Germany with her great resources of iron
and coal is turned into a poorhouse’.®® In this statement Byrnes effectively echoed
Soviet Foreign Minister Molotov’s speech on Germany’s economic future at the
Paris Peace Conference in July 1946. However, unlike Molotov, Byrnes omitted
mention of the industrialists’ role in WWII, a notion that by then was starting to
disappear from “Western’ discourse, and would disappear all but completely after
the subsequent trials.®

In March 1947 Truman announced the “Truman Doctrine’ promising economic
support to those ‘states resisting attempted subjugation’ (read: to communism).”
Soviet representative Zhdanov responded with the ‘two camps’ speech in which
he repeated the view that capitalist imperialism, personified in the directors of

8 Dubois Interview, above n 31, 32, 33.

8 J. Blum (ed), From the Morgenthau Diaries, Vol. 3 (Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin 1967), 400—
20, 451; Dubois Interview, above n 31, 25.

8 Richard D. McKinzie, interview with Bernard Bernstein, 23 July 1975, New York, NY: Harry
S. Truman Library and Museum [website], <http://www.trumanlibrary.org/oralhist/bernsten.htm>
(accessed 27 February 2013); Bernstein Farben Report, above n 7.

8 ‘Control of 1G Farben’, Special Report, above n 27. 8 Special Report, above n 85.

8 Nazi War Crimes and Japanese Imperial Government Records Interagency Working Group, Final
Report to the United States Congress, April 2007.

8 US Department of State, Documents on Germany 1944—1985 (Washington DC: Department of
State, 1985), 91-9.

% Vyacheslav Mikhaylovich Molotov, Speeches of V.M. Molotov, Minister for Foreign Affairs of the
USSR and Head of the Soviet Delegation at the Conference (London: Soviet News, 1946).

% John Merriman, A History of Modern Europe, Vols. 1 & 2 (New York, NY: 3rd edn, W.W. Norton
& Co 2009), 119.
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the cartels, was the true perpetrator of WWIL! By this point hunger was wide-
spread in Germany?® and there was real fear Germans would turn to communism.
Acheson remarked that the US was at ‘the point where we see clearly how short
is the distance from food and fuel either to peace or to anarchy’.” In July 1947
JCS1067 was replaced with JCS1779, which codified the turn in US policy and
stated that ‘[a]n orderly, prosperous Europe requires the economic contributions
of a stable and productive Germany’.”* German and generally Western European
recovery took off, largely through the Marshall Plan announced on 5 June 1947,
which aimed to modernize Western European industry and remove barriers to
trade among European countries and between Europe and the US.” According to
the US leadership, the objective of the Marshall Plan was only in part humanitar-
ian—rather, it was ‘chiefly...a matter of national self-interest’.”” The Plan both
stimulated the dollar and US industry and services (as the aid largely took the form
of financing of purchases to be made from US corporations) and provided leverage
for building ‘political and economic stability’.”® For example, Marshall Aid was
used to pressure French and Italian governments not to appoint communists to
ministerial posts.” Combining this with a leadership position in the International
Bank for Reconstruction and Development, the International Monetary Fund and
the nascent international trade regime, the US was able to remake the economic
configuration of the world in its image.'®

When Marshall presented Molotov at the Paris Economic Conference with
a plan to stimulate only agricultural development in Eastern Europe, Molotov
walked out of the meeting in one of the first major public clashes of the Cold
War. On the Eastern side, the Cominform, the coordinating mechanism for all
communist parties, was inaugurated in September 1947 as the successor to the
Comintern, and Zhdanow was installed as its chair. Zhdanow also expressed
opposition to the Marshall Plan, which to communists (in Western and Eastern
Europe alike) enabled American imperialism through the medium of US

o' H. Wentker, Die juristische Aufarbeitung von NS-Verbrechen in der Sowjetischen Besatzungszone
und in der DDR (Baden-Baden: Kritische Justiz, 2002), 63.

2 Lucius Clay, Decision in Germany (London: William Heinemann, 1950), 262-84.

% D. Acheson, ‘The Requirements of Reconstruction’, address made before Delta Council
at Cleveland, MS on 8 May 1947, Department of State Bulletin (18 May 1947), 992 (Acheson
Reconstruction).

% Directive to the Commander in Chief of United States Forces of Occupation of Germany (JCS
1779), Germany 1947-1949, 33—41, Department of State Bulletin (27 July 27 1947), 186-93.

% G. Marshall, ‘European Initiative Essential to Economic Recovery’, remarks by the Secretary of
State at Harvard University on 5 June 1947, Department of State Bulletin (15 June 1947).

9% Merriman, above n 90, 1120-1. 97 Acheson Reconstruction, above n 93, 992.

% Acheson Reconstruction, above n 93, 992-3. 9 Merriman, above n 90, 1120.

100 See Ernest Mandel, 7he Meaning of the Second World War (New York, NY: Verso, 1986), at
168: ‘US imperialism could restrain itself because it had a way out economically. The option it chose
in 194648 was to concentrate its efforts on the political and economic consolidation of capitalism
in the main imperialist countries, and to grant them sufficient credit and space for development to
initiate a world-wide expansion of the capitalist economy, on the basis of which capitalism would be
politically and socially stabilised in its main fortresses.’
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corporations.'”' Soviet power in Eastern Europe grew as Soviet troops took con-
trol of the Czech government in January 1948 and in June 1948 blocked foreign
trains and truck routes into Berlin, in protest against US, British and French
plans for a self-governing Western German zone. The latter sent shockwaves
through the US trial teams at Nuremberg and some made the decision to take
their families home.!?> West German commentator Friedhelm Kroll summarizes
the Umorientierung (turnaround) as follows: “With the re-formation of political
camps during the Cold War and the open warfare in Korea, the involvement of
the young Federal Republic into the Western alliance weighed heavier than crime
and punishment of Nazi crimes.”’®® East German commentators accused the US
of ‘liquidating Potsdam’.!"*

It is against this backdrop that we must imagine the efforts of US lawyers such
as Jackson and Taylor to persuade the US political leadership to allow further tri-
als.’® That these took place at all can partly be brought down to the tenacity of
these lawyers.!” Justice Jackson, in his report on the IMT Judgment, reminded the
US government that:

The war crimes work that remains to be done, is to deal with the very large number of
Germans who have participated in the crimes [and who] remain unpunished. There are
many industrialists, militarists, politicians, diplomats, and police officials whose guilt does
not differ from those who have been convicted except that their parts were at lower levels
and have been less conspicuous.'”’

Jackson noted that his successor, Brigadier General Telford Taylor, had already
‘prepared a programme of prosecutions against representatives of all the important
segments of the Third Reich including a considerable number of industrialists and
financiers, leading cabinet ministers, top SS and police officials, and militarists’.!®
The initial proposal had been for a second international trial.'” British Foreign
Secretary Orme Sargeant, however, feared that such a trial would become a ‘battle

19 United States Economic Cooperation Administration, A Report on Recovery Progress and United
States Aid (February 1949), 142—4 and generally, Chapter VI: ‘Communist Opposition to the ERP’,
141-50.

102 Dubois, above n 8, 338.

103 Friedhelm Kroll, ‘Fall 10: Der Krupp-Prozess’, in G. and R. Blasius (eds), Der Nationalsozialismus
vor Gericht: Die alliierten Prozesse gegen Kriegsverbrechen und Soldaten 1943—1952 (Frankfurt: Fischer
Taschenbuch Verlag, 1999), 176.

104°S. Kahn, ‘Preface’, in Richard Sasuly, /G Farben (Berlin: Volk und Welt, 1952), 6.

105 On US domestic opposition to trying Nazis, see Maguire, above n 75, 119-20; Bush, above n
1, 1230-1.

106 Bloxham, above n 60, 55.

197 TJackson Report to the President of October 7°, 1946, attached to Reporr of Roberr H. Jackson,
United States Representative to the International Conference on Military Trials (London, 1945) (Jackson
Final Report).

108 Jackson Final Report, 435.

199 Telford Taylor, Final Report to the Secretary of the Army on the Nuernberg War Crimes Trial
Under Control Council Law No. 10 (Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1949),
22-7. For Jackson’s view on international versus US military trials, see Jackson Final Report, above
n 108. For commentary see Heller, above n 22, 9-24; Bush, above n 1, 1123-9; Donald Bloxham,
“The Trial that Never Was”: Why There Was No Second International Trial of Major War Criminals
at Nuremberg, /. Hist. Assn, 87 (2002), 46-7.

This is an open access version of the publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-
NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial
reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in
any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact academic.permissions@oup.com



178 European Histories II: Americans in Europe

between capitalism and communism’.'"® Jackson’s response shows industrialists
were the prime target of further trials: ‘[I]f [the other Allies] were unwilling to take
the additional time necessary to try industrialists in this case. .. [t]he quickest and
most satisfactory results will be obtained, in my opinion, from immediate com-
mencement of our own cases according to plans which General Taylor has worked
out’.'"! This is what happened.

In the trials of the industrialists at the US NMT we can see the change in
the broader geopolitical landscape and US attitude reflected. On a very practical
level, for example, General Clay was ordered by JCS1779 to ‘make every effort to
facilitate and bring to early completion the war crimes program’.'? In 1947 he
put direct pressure on Taylor to wrap up the NMT trials—before they had even
begun.'® Taylor’s original plan to prosecute up to four hundred individuals had to
be revised to 177.

The wish—and decision—to try individual industrialists in this changing
landscape may seem contradictory at first glance. It is less so when we contrast
the idea of trying them with what actually happened in the trials and decisions,
as L illustrate in the next section. Below the surface, a deeper US need can be dis-
cerned: the need to reassure American industrialists, perhaps counter-intuitively
through these trials, that production for the Korean and other, potentially aggres-
sive, wars would not lead to their prosecution.'" From this perspective, the
Tribunals’ task was to distinguish culpable involvement with an evil regime from
innocent ‘business’.'”

(IV) The Trials of the Industrialists: From Morality Play to
Théitre De Labsurde

The trials at the NMT were based on Control Council Law No. 10 (CCL10) of
December 1945, which authorized each of the four German Occupation Zone
Commanders to arrest suspected war criminals and to establish ‘appropriate tribu-
nals’ for their trial.!'® Of the trials carried out by the Allies and eventually also the
German courts,'” those of the US, which took place in the same Nuremberg court-
house as the IMT trial, are by far the best documented and most widely known.

19 Donald Bloxham, Genocide, the World Wars, and the Unweaving of Europe (Middlesex: Vallentine,
Mitchell and Co., 2008), 149.

1 Jackson Final Report, above n 109, 436. 12 JCS 1779, [10].

113 Clay, above n 94, 252. 114 Dubois, above n 10, 21.

115 Dubois, above n 10, 20. See also, Jeflberger, ‘Die I.G. Farben vor Gericht’, above n 1; Jeberger,
‘On the Origins of individual criminal responsibility under international law for business activity: IG
Farben on Trial’, above n 1.

¢ Control Council Law No. 10 (CCL10), Article IT 2, 20 December 1945, reprinted in Taylor,
Final Report, above n 109, 250.

17" As per CCL10, Article III, the French, British and Soviet commanders granted German courts’
jurisdiction.
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It is these trials that are now once again cropping up in the literature around busi-
ness and international criminal law,'*® and indeed in recent legal practice.'"’

My task in this section is to show how the realignment of the geopolitical
landscape and internal dynamics of the US state-capitalist trust manifested them-
selves directly in the trials and their aftermaths. Of the trials held at the NMT,
this occurs most clearly in the #rials of the industrialists. Here, the recent realign-
ment manifests in four distinct, interrelated ways. First, the trials were marked
by excessively conciliatory language employed by the judges towards, or about,
the defendants. Second, facts and charges that were admitted by the defendants
were considered ‘not proven’ or ignored by the judges, and third, the necessity and
superior order defences were allowed to be used in ways specifically contradicting
the main IMT decision and CCL10. Apart from the liberal application of exculpa-
tory legal doctrines, the NMTs in the industrialists’ cases were generous in other
areas. For example, the NMTs accepted the defendants’ ignorance regarding the
plans for aggressive war and the fact of the Holocaust. Finally, these factors added
up to the passing of very light sentences when compared to similar CCL10 con-
victions. Moreover, it was in the aftermath of the trials, in the extrajudicial review
of sentences carried out by High Commissioner for Germany McCloy'* and the
reinstatement of many of the industrialists in their old positions, that capitalism’s
victor’s justice was sealed.

As a general point, it can be said that the trials turned from a morality play into
théitre de l'absurde. Théitre de l'absurde, a genre that emerged in the early post-war
years, is characterized by a lack of formal structure or logical dialogue in the after-
math of a sudden loss of meaning or purpose. For example, Samuel Beckett’s
Waiting for Godot (1952) represents the impossibility of purposeful action and the
paralysis of human aspiration."”! Below, I give only some representative examples
from the three industrialists’ trials, the Flick case,'?? Farben'?® and Krupp.'** There
are many more.'? I have added some factual context to each of the examples so

18 See, eg, K.R. Jacobson, ‘Doing Business with the Devil: The Challenges of Prosecuting Corporate
Officials whose Business Transactions Facilitate War Crimes and Crimes Against Humanity’, Aér Force
Law Review, 56 (2005), 167; G. Skinner, ‘Nuremberg’s Legacy Continues: The Nuremberg Trials’
Influence on Human Rights Litigation in US Courts under the Alien Tort Statute’, Albany Law
Review, 71 (2008), 321. Many recent works on Nuremberg perpetuate incorrect or incomplete facts
about the trials (Bush, above n 1, 1237).

9" See, eg, the Nuremberg Scholars Amicus brief in support of the petitioners in Kiobel v Royal
Dutch Petroleum, USSC 10-1491.

120 Under Military Ordinance No. 7 (which established the tribunals) Article XVII (a), the Military
Governor was authorized to reduce, mitigate or otherwise alter (but not raise) a sentence passed by the
tribunals. While General Clay reviewed and confirmed sentences, his successor McCloy constituted a
clemency board which would re-review sentences without involving or even informing the judges and
prosecutors (see Maguire, above n 75, 166-8).

121 The Oxford Dictionary of Literary Terms (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008), 1-2.

122 United States v Friedrich Flick et al (Flick), above n 51.

'2 United States v Carl Krauch et al (Farben), Trials of War Criminals before the Nuremberg Military
Tribunals under CCL10, Vol. VII.

124 United States v Alfried Krupp et al. (Krupp), Trials of War Criminals before the Nuremberg Military
Tribunals under CCL10, Vol. IX.

125 G. Baars, ‘Law(yers) Congealing Capitalism: On the (Im)possibility of Restraining Business
in Conflict through International Criminal Law’, Doctoral Thesis (University College London,
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as to illustrate the role the leaders of these companies were said to have played in
WWII and the Holocaust.

(1) Excessively conciliatory language

Throughout the three judgments, examples of the judges™ use of excessively con-
ciliatory language can be found, which stands in stark contrast with the language
of the prosecution. The first example here is from the Flick case. Friedrich Flick
and five other officials of the Flick Concern were accused of participation in the
deportation of thousands of foreigners including concentration camp inmates and
prisoners of war to forced labour in inhuman conditions including in the Flick
mines and plants; spoliation contrary to the Hague Conventions of property in
occupied France and the Soviet Union; participation in the persecution of Jews
in the pre-war years through securing Jewish industrial and mining properties in
the ‘Aryanization’ process, and knowing participation (of defendants Flick and
Steinbrinck) in SS atrocities through membership in the ‘Circle of Friends of
Himmler (a select group of industrialists and SS officers).'*® The Flick group of
enterprises included coal and iron mines, steel producing and fabricating plants.
It was, at the time, the largest steel combine in Germany, rivalled in size only by
Krupp AG.'?” Chief Prosecutor Telford Taylor opened this first industrialist case to
be tried by the Americans with the nature of industry’s responsibility:

What we are here concerned with is no mere technical form of participation in crime, or
some more or less accidental financial assistance of the commission of crimes. The really
significant thing.. . is the fact that the defendants assisted the SS and the Nazi regime with
their eyes open and their hearts attuned to the basic purposes which they were subsidising.
Their support was not merely financial. It was part of a firm partnership between these
defendants and the Nazi regime that continued from before the Nazi seizure of power to

the last days of the Third Reich.!?

The final judgment in the Flick case (and the other industrialists’ cases) stands in
stark contrast to this indictment. On the count of participation in the SS crimes
through membership of the Himmler Circle, Flick and Steinbrinck were found
guilty. As one of its most absurd proposals, the Tribunal suggested, that rather than
forming an active part of the deliberations about the upcoming aggressive war, the
defendants may just have attended the Himmler Circle’s meetings for its ‘excellent
dinner’.'”

Moreover, the Tribunal attempted to show how Flick and company—despite
attending these regular dinners—had not had the required knowledge to render
them guilty of war crimes and crimes against humanity in relation to the killings
and other atrocities carried out in the Nazi extermination camps. It recounted how:

2012) includes detailed treatment of the Ministries Case and Pohl as well as the other zonal trials (at
119-74).
126 Flick, above n 51, 3 (Indictment).
127 Flick, above n 51, 34 (Opening Statement for Prosecution). 128 Flick, above n 51, 104.
129" Flick, above n 51, 1218 (Judgment).
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[iln 1936 [Himmler] took members of the Circle on an inspection trip to visit Dachau con-
centration camp which was under his charge. They were escorted through certain buildings
including the kitchen where they tasted food. They saw nothing of the infamous atrocities
perhaps already there begun. But Flick who was present got the impression that it was not
a pleasant place.!®

Again, this section bears an excessively conciliatory tone, which here interferes
with the finding of knowledge with regards to the facts of the Holocaust, which
had been deemed (including by the IMT) common knowledge among the German
people at the time.'!

The other ‘reconciliation’ that appears in the trials is that between German
and US industry. Farben prosecutor Dubois had been instructed by the US War
Department, before taking up his role, not to charge the Farben defendants with
aggressive war.'”? The US Government feared DuPont and other US industrial-
ists’ reaction. However, Dubois went ahead with the charge. It is clear from their
statements that the industrialists on trial were aware of criticism of the trials voiced
by US business leaders in the media—in particular, since Farben had had close
relationships with Standard Oil, this trial had been watched closely by the home
public.'? The defendants were aware that the US in changed political times would
come to rely on its own industrialists, evidenced in Krauch’s closing statement:

When I heard the final plea of the prosecution yesterday, I often thought of my colleagues
in the United States and in England and tried to imagine what these men would think,
when they heard and read these attacks hurled at us by the prosecution. For after all, they,
too, are scientists and engineers; they had similar problems. They, like us, were called upon
by the state to perform certain duties. That was true then, before the world war, and that is
true now, as we know from information received from the United States. A citizen cannot
evade the call of the state. He must submit and must obey.!?4

Seemingly in agreement with Krauch, the Tribunal acquitted the defendants of the
charge of conspiracy to wage wars of aggression, finding that they had acted merely
like ordinary citizens, who, although the majority of them supported the waging
of war in some way, were not the ones who planned the war and led a nation. The
Tribunal placed itself in opposition to the IMT on the role of industrialists, hold-
ing that the Farben defendants merely followed their leaders and offered no contri-
bution to the war effort greater than any other normally productive enterprise.'®
Most controversially, the Tribunal stated ‘[w]e reach the conclusion that com-
mon knowledge of Hitler’s plans did not prevail in Germany, either with respect
to a general plan to wage aggressive war, or with respect to specific plans to attack

130 Flick, above n 51, 1218 (Judgment). B IMT Judgment, above n 64, 480.

132 Dubois, above n 8, 20. 133 Taylor, Final Report, above note 109, 79.

134 Farben, above n 123 1055 (Final Statements by the Defendants: Krauch). Krauch’s lawyer had
also said, ‘T have to harp again on the old subject: that is, did not other countries and other peoples
act in the same way? Replace IG by I.C.I. (Imperial Chemical Industries) for England, or du Pont for
America, Montecatini for Italy, and at once the similarity will become clear to you’: at 921 (Closing
Statements for Defendant Krauch).

135 Farben, above n 125, 1126.
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individual countries’.'*® Here we can see another direct contradiction of the IMT,
both regarding Germans’ general knowledge and the Farben defendants” specific
knowledge.'”” As briefly noted above, the IMT had detailed the planning and strat-
egy meetings of Himmler’s circle of Friends, of which Farben defendant Buetefish
had been a part (with Flick and Rasche, amongst others).'3

The Farben Tribunal played down the common interest between the industrial
and political leaders. In support of the claim that the Farben leaders were well
aware of, and perhaps more directly involved in planning the aggressive war for
their own purposes, the prosecution had produced a letter in which Krauch argued
for the takeover of neighbouring countries’ industries, ‘peaceably at first™:

It is essential for Germany to strengthen its own war potential as well as that of its allies to
such an extent that the coalition is equal to the efforts of practically the rest of the world.
This can be achieved only by new, strong, and combined efforts by all of the allies, and by
expanding and improving the greater economic domain corresponding to the improved
raw material basis of the coalition, peaceably at first, to the Balkans and Spain.'?

Contrast this with the Tribunal’s view:

The defendants may have been, as some of them undoubtedly were, alarmed at the acceler-
ated pace that armament was taking. Yet even Krauch, who participated in the Four Year
Plan within the chemical field, undoubtedly did not realise that, in addition to strengthen-
ing Germany, he was participating in making the nation ready for a planned attack of an
aggressive nature.'%

Eventually the Tribunal concluded summarily on the further evidence submitted
to it: “This labour has led to the definite conclusion that Krauch did not knowingly
participate in the planning, preparation or initiation of an aggressive war.!4! If
Krauch’s level of knowledge did not suffice to find him guilty, then DuPont and
the other US industrialists could rest assured.

(2) Facts and charges admitted considered not proven or ignored
by the judges

One of the most absurd features of the trials was how certain facts and charges that
were admitted in court by the defendants were considered ‘not proven’ or ignored
by the judges. The Farben case was by far the most absurd case in this respect.'* In
this case the way facts and law are twisted, and the tone of the judges’ statements,
almost give the impression that the judges believed themselves to be involuntary
actors in a play.'®® The judgment stands in stark contrast to evidence reported

136 Farben, above n 125, 1107. 137 See, eg, IMT Judgment, above 64, 480.
138 See also, Farben, above n 123, 1200. 139 Farben, above n 123, 1116.
140 Farben, above n 123, Vol. VIII, 1114. Y1 Farben, above n 123, 1117 (emphasis added).

142
143

For a sustained critique, see Dubois, above n 8, 338-56.

This impression is raised in the private papers of Judge Hebert: see, eg, Paul Hebert, ‘Draft
Dissent’, Nuremberg Trials Documents (1948), Louisiana State University Law Centre Digital
Commons, <http://digitalcommons.law.lsu.edu/nuremberg_docs/1> (accessed 27 February 2013).
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in the US Congress and presented during the trial.'* Von Schnitzler’s extensive
admissions made in interrogations'®> eventually ‘did not mean anything, not even
against himself’.!%

On the slave labour charge, only in the Auschwitz context did the Tribunal
find some evidence of the Farben defendants’ initiative, but the area of criminal
liability was still constructed very narrowly. Having considered many potential
locations for a new synthetic rubber plant, on the recommendation of defendant
Ambros, the small Polish village of O$wigcim was selected.'¥” This became the site
for Farben’s main manufacturing plant, as well as for the Auschwitz concentration
and extermination camp. Ambros visited the camp at Auschwitz in the winter of
1941-2 in company with some thirty important visitors (perhaps the Himmler
Circle), and ‘he saw no abuse of inmates and thought that the camp was well
conducted’."*® Once again, in the face of the overwhelming evidence presented at
the IMT and NMT in relation to Auschwitz (including, for example, that as of
the beginning of 1942 ‘the smell of death emanating from the crematorium would
pucker the nose of anyone within half a mile’''®), it appears odd for the judgment
to adopt such description uncritically.

“Work-to-death labour'™® at Farben’s Auschwitz factory is described by the
Tribunal in its judgment euphemistically as ‘[t]hose [workers] who became unable
to work or who were not amenable to discipline were sent back to the Auschwitz
concentration camp or, as was more often the case, to Birkenau for extermina-
tion in the gas chambers’.”" Also, it is noted, ‘[tlhe plant site was not entirely
without inhumane incidents’.’>> Nevertheless the Tribunal adds, ‘[i]t is clear that
Farben did not deliberately pursue or encourage inhumane policy with respect to
the workers. In fact, some steps were taken by Farben to alleviate the situation.
It voluntarily and at its own expense provided hot soup for the workers on the site
at noon’."? When utilizing free ‘work-to-death labour’, however, this appears lit-
tle like generosity and even less an exculpatory factor for the Farben defendants.
The fact remained, as stated by the Tribunal, that ‘the labour for Auschwitz was
procured through the Reich Labour Office at Farben’s request. Forced labour was
used for a period of approximately three years, from 1942 until the end of the
war’ . Only five of the twenty-four defendants were found guilty under count
three. Dubois’ final comment on the Tribunal’s ‘greatest exaggeration’ in the case
of defendant Ilgner was, ‘[t]he tribunal rewrote into innocence even the aggressive
deeds he admitted, raising the clear implication that any society could be filled
with such men with no danger whatever to the peace of the world’."> As well as
falling into the current category of absurdism, the Tribunal also alludes to the next

144 See, eg, Bernstein Farben Report, above n 7. 145 See Osterloh, above n 19, 75.

146 Farben Indictment, above n 123, 47-9; Dubois, above n 8, 339.

197" Farben, above n 123, 1180. 148 Farben, above n 123, 1181.

1499 Dubois, above n 8, 341.

150 Dubois notes worker deaths amounted to over 50,000: Dubois, above n 8, 342.

15U Farben, above n 123, 1183. 152 Farben, above n 123, 1184.

153 Farben, above n 123, 1185 (emphasis added). 154 Farben, above n 123, 1185.
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category, that of finding the defendants had simply, innocently, been doing as they
were told, or carrying on ‘business as usual’ in unusual circumstances.

(3) Howling with the wolves: Necessity used as a defence contrary
to Nuremberg principles

Flick described his ostensible agreement with Nazi ideology as self-protective
‘howling with the wolves’.!”® The Tribunal accepted the view that the defendants
(except Flick and Weiss) acted under necessity,"”” forced by the ‘reign of terror’
employed by the Nazi regime:

The Reich, through its hordes of enforcement officials and secret police, was always ‘pre-
sent’, ready to go into instant action and to mete out savage and immediate punishment
against anyone doing anything that could be construed as obstructing or hindering the
carrying out of governmental regulations or decrees.!

This blanket interpretation of necessity could well be used to excuse any crime
committed under order or decree of the Nazis. The Flick judgment in this aspect
stands in sharp contrast to other non-industrialist decisions of the NMT."*

The generous use of necessity as a complete defence in these cases appears to
be aimed at circumventing the bar on use of the ‘superior orders’ defence as a
fundamental principle at Nuremberg.'®® CCL10 states, ‘[t/he fact that any person
acted pursuant to the order of his Government or of a superior does not free him
from responsibility for a crime, but may be considered in mitigation’.'®" At the
IMT, ‘the true test [for such mitigation], which is found in varying degrees in the
criminal law of most nations, is not the existence of the order, but whether moral
choice was in fact possible’.'®* Farben defendant Schneider had told interrogators
that no one in government forced Farben to build the factories at Auschwitz or
to operate them.!®* The rubber quota had been set by Krauch himself and Farben
produced in excess of government requirements.'* Yet, the Tribunal found ‘[t]here
can be but little doubt that the defiant refusal of a Farben executive to carry out
the Reich production schedule or to use slave labour to achieve that end would

15¢ Telford Taylor, ‘Nuremberg Trials: War Crimes and International Law’, International Conciliation,

450 (1949), 304.

157 The NMTs do not employ a uniform understanding of the concept of necessity, which is also
at times used interchangeably with ‘duress’. For an overview, see, E. Van Sliedregt, 7he Criminal
Responsibility of Individuals for Violations of International Humanitarian Law (The Hague: TMC Asser
Press 2003), 279-83.

158 Flick, above n 51, 1200.

159 For example in the Einsatzgruppen case necessity was understood to require an ‘imminent, real
and inevitable threat’ (US v Oblendorf et al. VII Trials of War Criminals before the Nuremberg Military
Tribunals under Control Council Law No. 10, 91).

10 Nuremberg Charter, Article 8. See, for example IMT Judgment, above n 65: ‘Superior orders,
even to a soldier, cannot be considered in mitigation where crimes as shocking and extensive have been
committed consciously, ruthlessly and without military excuse or justification’: at 493 (in relation to

Keitel).
161 CCL10, Article 114(b). 192 IMT Judgment, above n 64, 447.
163 Dubois, above n 8, 341. 164 Dubois, above n 8, 341.
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have been treated as treasonous sabotage and would have resulted in prompt and
drastic retaliation’.'®®

In his dissent on the charges of slave labour, Judge Hebert disagreed with the
necessity finding in the strongest terms, concluding that Farben directors had initi-
ated rather than followed orders, and that Farben directors” will coincided with the
government. Hebert called the Tribunal’s finding of a Nazi threat to Farben ‘pure
speculation’.'¢¢

In the Krupp case we can see a remarkable variation of the IMT’s reasoning
on economic imperialism. Here, the Prosecution did not argue that the Krupp
defendants were part of the ‘Nazi conspiracy’ in the meaning of the IMT decision,
but that they had been part of a ‘Krupp conspiracy’. This was a manifestation of

something altogether bigger:

Nazism was, after all, only the temporary political manifestation of certain ideas and atti-
tudes which long antedated Nazism, and which will not perish nearly so easily. In this case,
we are at grips with something much older than Nazism; something which fused with
Nazi ideas to produce the Third Reich, but which has its own independent and pernicious
vitality.'®”

To ensure Krupp’s own continually increasing profitability, it was said to have
driven the state and military to colonial expansion.'*® Dismissing the charge, Judge
Wilkins considered that Krupp’s expansionism since the 1920s merely meant
Krupp had acted i the firm’s financial interest as behoves a businessman.'® From
the condemnation of the state-corporate economic imperialism in the IMT (see
above) to this decision, it appears the NMT came full circle: Krupp’s ‘conspiracy’
was simply business as usual.'”?

The Krupp Tribunal then considered the remaining spoliation and forced labour
charges. The Tribunal found, in contrast to the Farben decision (above), in terms
of knowledge with regard to the Krupp firm’s activities at Auschwitz that the per-
secution of Jews by the Nazis was ‘common knowledge not only in Germany but

throughout the civilised world’ and that the firm’s officials, could not 7oz have
known.!”!

165 Farben, above n 123, 1174.

16 Farben, above n 123, 1306 (Judge Hebert's Dissenting Opinion on Count Three of the
Indictment).

167 See Krupp, above n 124, 412 (Judge Wilkins’ Separate Opinion on Counts 1 and 4).
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' Krupp, above n 124, 412. See also, Taylor, above n 156, 309.
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(4) ‘Sentences light enough to please a chicken thief’

Compared to sentences in cases where similar facts were alleged and established,
the industrialists in Flick and Farben received, as Dubois put it in his comment on
the Farben judgement, ‘sentences light enough to please a chicken thief’.'”* Flick
was sentenced to seven years imprisonment, Steinbrinck to five, and Weiss to
two-and-a-half, while the other three defendants were acquitted on all counts.'”
In his report, Taylor calls the Flick judgment ‘exceedingly (if not excessively) mod-
erate and conciliatory.’'74 In the Farben case, Krauch was sentenced to six years,
Ambros to eight, and the others received sentences between one-and-a-half and
eight years. Four were acquitted. The defendant Ilgner was considered innocent
even of the aggressive deeds he had admitted.!”” By comparison, in the Jfustices
case, that same week, four life sentences were imposed, and in the Poh/ case against
the SS Economic and Administrative Office (who had handled the logistical and
administrative side of slave labour) four death sentences were imposed, and no
prison sentence below ten years with four of twenty or more.'”® Dubois surmises,
‘no doubt [the Farben judges] were influenced somewhat by our foreign policy’."””

The comparatively heavy sentences in Krupp ranged between six and twelve years
for ten defendants, and three years for one, and included the forfeiture of Alfried
Krupp’s real and personal property.'”® After the IMT’s ‘Krupp snafi’, Taylor had
commented that ‘Alfried Krupp was a very lucky man, for, had he been named, he
would almost certainly have been convicted and given a very stiff sentence by the
International Military Tribunal’.'”” With this in mind, the Krupp defendants’ trial
seems ‘amicable’ indeed.'®

The NMT also convicted one banker, Rasche, the director of the Dresdner
Bank, as part of the Ministries case.'®' His trial also featured the four factors of the
NMT théitre de l'absurde."® The popular German conception of his role is encap-
sulated in the saying, ‘Wer marschiert da hinter dem ersten Tank? Das ist Doktor
Rasche von der Dresdner Bank.’'®

The NMT trials of the industrialists left both prosecutors and judges with much
agonized soul-searching, evidenced in their writing on the matter.!® According

172 Dubois, above n 8, 339. 173 Krupp, above n 124, 1223.

174 Taylor, above n 156, 187. 175 Dubois, above n 8, 355.
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177 Dubois, above n 8, 357. 178 Krupp, above n 124, 1450.
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180 This is the term used in Jefberger, ‘Die I.G. Farben vor Gericht, above n 1 and Jeflberger, ‘On
the Origins of Individual Criminal Responsibility’, above n 1.

88 United States v Ernst Weizsaecker et al (Ministries) in Trials of War Criminals before the Nuremberg
Military Tribunals under Control Council Law No. 10, Vol. XIV.

182 Heller comments on the ‘unprincipled lenience’ of the tribunal towards Rasche, based on his
status as a private businessman (Heller, above n 22, 5, 288-9).
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lation). I am grateful to Fabian Schellhaas, PhD Candidate, Humboldt University Faculty of Law for
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to Dubois, Judge Hebert had been writing a dissenting opinion on the Farben
aggressive war charge up to the very last day, stating that ‘by the time we reached
the end [of the trial] I felt that practically every sentence of the indictment had
been proved many times over’.'®> According to Dubois, Hebert probably changed
his mind about submitting his dissent out of fear of communism, considering the
trend of events in 1948.'% Taylor also considered the evidence against Farben,
especially on the aggressive war charge, to have been the strongest of all the indus-
trialist trials.!® In the opinion Hebert eventually filed, six months after the major-
ity judgment, he states: “The issues of fact are truly so close as to cause genuine
concern as to whether or not justice has actually been done because the enormous
and indispensable role these defendants were shown to have played in the building
of the war machine which made Hitler’s aggression possible.’'s®

What I have 